JMIR Mental Health

Journal Impact Factor (JIF) (2023): 4.8 Volume 9 (2022), Issue 11 ISSN 2368-7959 Editor in Chief: John Torous, MD, MBI

Contents

Original Papers

Barriers to and Facilitators of Engaging With and Adhering to Guided Internet-Based Interventions for Depression Prevention and Reduction of Pain-Related Disability in Green Professions: Mixed Methods Study (e39122)	
Lina Braun, Johanna Freund, Janika Thielecke, Harald Baumeister, David Ebert, Ingrid Titzler.	3
Health Needs for Suicide Prevention and Acceptance of e-Mental Health Interventions in Adolescents and Young Adults: Qualitative Study (e39079)	
Lisa Blattert, Christoph Armbruster, Eva Buehler, Andrea Heiberger, Patrick Augstein, Sarina Kaufmann, Birgit Reime, Rural Suicide Prevention Study Group	28
Cost-Utility and Cost-effectiveness of MoodSwings 2.0, an Internet-Based Self-management Program for Bipolar Disorder: Economic Evaluation Alongside a Randomized Controlled Trial (e36496)	
Mary Chatterton, Yong Lee, Lesley Berk, Mohammadreza Mohebbi, Michael Berk, Trisha Suppes, Sue Lauder, Cathrine Mihalopoulos.	37
Positive Affective Recovery in Daily Life as a Momentary Mechanism Across Subclinical and Clinical Stages of Mental Disorder: Experience Sampling Study (e37394)	
Leonie Ader, Anita Schick, Claudia Simons, Philippe Delespaul, Inez Myin-Germeys, Thomas Vaessen, Ulrich Reininghaus.	63
Development of the First Episode Digital Monitoring mHealth Intervention for People With Early Psychosis: Qualitative Interview Study With Clinicians (e41482)	
Ana Stefancic, R Rogers, Sarah Styke, Xiaoyan Xu, Richard Buchsbaum, Ilana Nossel, Leopoldo Cabassa, T Stroup, David Kimhy	76
The Implementation of Measurement-Based Care in the Context of Telemedicine: Qualitative Study (e41601) Jen Van Tiem, Elizabeth Wirtz, Natalie Suiter, Amanda Heeren, Lindsey Fuhrmeister, John Fortney, Heather Reisinger, Carolyn Turvey	119

Viewpoint

Review

Implementation of e–Mental Health Interventions for Informal Caregivers of Adults With Chronic Diseases: Mixed Methods Systematic Review With a Qualitative Comparative Analysis and Thematic Synthesis (e41891)

Chelsea Coumoundouros, Erika Mårtensson, Giulia Ferraris, Justine Zuidberg, Louise von Essen, Robbert Sanderman, Joanne Woodford. . . 9 2

Original Paper

Barriers to and Facilitators of Engaging With and Adhering to Guided Internet-Based Interventions for Depression Prevention and Reduction of Pain-Related Disability in Green Professions: Mixed Methods Study

Lina Braun¹, MSc; Johanna Freund^{2,3}, MSc; Janika Thielecke^{2,3}, MSc; Harald Baumeister¹, Prof Dr; David Daniel Ebert³, Prof Dr; Ingrid Titzler², MSc

¹Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Institute of Psychology and Education, University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany

²Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Institute of Psychology, Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, Erlangen, Germany

³Department of Sport and Health Sciences, Professorship for Psychology and Digital Mental Health Care, Technical University Munich, Munich, Germany

Corresponding Author:

Lina Braun, MSc Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy Institute of Psychology and Education University of Ulm Lise-Meitner-Str. 16 Ulm, 89081 Germany Phone: 49 731 50 32814 Email: <u>lina.braun@uni-ulm.de</u>

Abstract

Background: Internet-based interventions (IBIs) are effective for the prevention and treatment of mental disorders and are valuable additions for improving routine care. However, the uptake of and adherence to IBIs are often limited. To increase the actual use of IBIs, it is important to identify factors for engaging with and adhering to IBIs.

Objective: We qualitatively evaluated barriers and facilitators regarding a portfolio of guided IBIs in green professions (farmers, gardeners, and foresters).

Methods: Interview participants were selected from 2 randomized controlled trials for either the prevention of depression (Prevention of Depression in Agriculturists [PROD-A]) or the reduction of pain interference (Preventive Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for Chronic Pain in Agriculturists [PACT-A]) in green professions. The intervention group in PROD-A (N=180) participated in an IBI program, receiving access to 1 of 6 symptom-tailored IBIs. The intervention group in PACT-A (N=44) received access to an IBI for chronic pain. Overall, 41 semistructured qualitative interviews were conducted and transcribed verbatim. Barriers and facilitators were identified via inductive qualitative content analysis, with 2 independent coders reaching almost perfect intercoder reliability (Cohen κ =0.92). A quantitative follow-up survey (30/41, 73%) was conducted to validate the results. Subgroup analyses were performed based on intervention characteristics.

Results: We identified 42 barriers and 26 facilitators, which we assigned to 4 superordinate categories related to the intervention (20 barriers; 17 facilitators), work (4 barriers; 1 facilitator), individual (13 barriers; 8 facilitators), and technical (5 barriers; 0 facilitators) aspects. Key barriers (identified by at least 50% of the interviewees) were *time-consuming work life* (29/40, 73%) and *time-consuming private life* (23/40, 58%). Similarly, the most frequently identified facilitators included *presence of motivation, curiosity, interest and perseverance* (30/40, 75%), *flexible time management at work* (25/40, 63%), and *support from family and friends* (20/40, 50%). Although agreement with barriers in the quantitative follow-up survey was rather low (mean 24%, SD 11%), agreement with facilitators was substantially higher (mean 80%, SD 13%). Differences in agreement rates were found particularly between intervention completers and noncompleters. Completers agreed significantly more often that perceived IBI success; being motivated, curious, interested, and perseverant; and having a persisting level of psychological strain have been

facilitating. Noncompleters agreed more often with experiencing the e-coach contact as insufficient and technical problems as hindering for intervention completion.

Conclusions: Based on these results, strategies such as customization of modules for more flexible and adaptive use; video chat options with the e-coach; options to facilitate social support by family, friends, or other participants; or using prompts to facilitate training completion can be derived. These approaches could be evaluated in further quantitative research designs in terms of their potential to enhance intervention use in this occupational group.

Trial Registration: German Clinical Trials Register DRKS00014000, https://tinyurl.com/3bukfr48; German Clinical Trials Register DRKS0001461, https://tinyurl.com/ebsn4sns

(JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e39122) doi:10.2196/39122

KEYWORDS

internet-based intervention; depression; chronic pain; barriers and facilitators; qualitative research; uptake; adherence; farmers; gardeners; foresters

Introduction

Background

The effectiveness of internet-based interventions (IBIs) is well established for depression treatment [1,2] and prevention [3]. IBIs can also be applied to effectively reduce disease-related disability in chronic somatic conditions such as chronic pain [4-7]. Guided IBIs for the treatment of mental and somatic disorders based on cognitive behavioral therapy have even been shown to be equally effective as face-to-face therapy [8].

However, low treatment adherence can be a limiting factor for treatment effectiveness in IBIs [9,10]. In quantitative studies, various factors were found to be possible predictors of intervention adherence, including guidance [11], the use of persuasive design elements [12,13], or individual factors such as planning [14]. Thus, much research in recent years has focused on optimizing IBIs to facilitate intervention adherence in participants [11,15-17], and barriers to IBI use might vary depending on different intervention aspects such as guidance level, focus on specific symptoms, or type of intervention.

Furthermore, participant characteristics such as female sex [18,19] and higher age [10,18] were identified as potential predictors of higher intervention adherence, whereas results for other characteristics such as education level are inconsistent [18,19]. As intervention adherence seems to vary systematically with some participant characteristics, this might indicate different requirements for the intervention in accordance with target groups. Thus, identifying these specific requirements to address them in IBIs could be a promising approach.

Although qualitative insights into the relevant factors for the use of and adherence to IBIs are scarce for specific treatment indications such as reduction of pain interference in chronic pain or addressing specific health problems (eg, insomnia, anxiety, and diabetes) as a risk factor for the development of depression, some insights already exist regarding IBIs aimed at the prevention or treatment of depression. Qualitative studies on the use of IBIs for prevention of depression in the workplace, treatment of depression comorbid with cardiovascular risk factors, or stress reduction in the workplace with different levels of guidance, each identified on a personal level, barriers such as lack of time, high stress levels or competing priorities, and low motivation because of negative mood or anxiety [20-22].

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e39122
```

At a program level, barriers regarding content complexity and redundancy, program functionality, and perceived dangers such as privacy of the IBI were mentioned in a depression-prevention context targeting workers who were at high risk for depression [22]. Furthermore, aspects such as lack of personalization, lack of perceiving the IBI as therapy, or lack of new learnings because of known content were described with regard to an unguided IBI for depression treatment without therapeutic support [21]. Therefore, there is still a research gap to bridge regarding the identification of barriers to the use of a portfolio of guided IBIs to specifically address different health complaints as risk factors for the development of depression or pain-associated disability.

Barriers to and facilitators for the use of IBIs might even vary depending on the population being targeted. In rural contexts, specifically, barriers to mental health seeking have been reported to be higher than barriers to physical health seeking [23]. Furthermore, stigma against depression and lower agreement about depression treatment have been shown to be more prominent in rural than in urban contexts [24]. At the same time, the use of IBIs might be more acceptable to rural than to urban populations, as some studies have reported that rural populations have a lower preference for face-to-face contact than urban populations and are especially appreciative of autonomy and confidentiality aspects of IBIs, as indicated by a systematic review [25].

In the rural context, farmers seem to be especially at risk for mental disorders such as depression because of diverse risk factors such as financial strain, dependency on weather conditions, government regulations, high work demands, or psychosocial difficulties [26-30]. Furthermore, the prevalence of musculoskeletal pain symptomology is higher in farmers than in nonfarmers because of physical strain in agricultural activities [31,32]. Thus, pain interference with work and everyday activities can be assumed to be an additional burden in this occupational group. Thus, a research gap exists in identifying barriers to and facilitators of IBI use in the occupational group of farmers who are at risk for depression or are burdened with chronic pain.

Guided IBIs have been investigated in the specific occupational group of green professions, including farmers, gardeners, and foresters, as part of the model project "With us in balance,"

XSL•FO RenderX

initiated by a social insurance in Germany regarding their effectiveness in reducing depressive symptomology (Prevention of Depression in Agriculturists [PROD-A]; trial registration: DRKS00014000) and pain interference (Preventive Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for Chronic Pain in Agriculturists [PACT-A]; trial registration: DRKS00014619) in 2 separate randomized controlled trials (RCTs) [33,34]. The first effectiveness results of a tailored IBI program aimed at the prevention of depression by targeting various risk factors revealed low intervention adherence in this target group, with only 22.2% of the intervention group completing at least 80% of the intervention modules 9 weeks after randomization [35], 51.5% at 6-month and 55.6% of the intervention group at 12-month follow-up [36]. These results are low in comparison with an average completer rate of 67.5% in guided IBIs for depression treatment [37] as well as a completer rate of 74.3% in an RCT evaluating a guided IBI for depression prevention in adults with subthreshold depression, each for the completion of at least 80% of the respective IBI [38]. This indicates challenges in the use of IBIs in this occupational target group. Therefore, determinants of uptake and adherence in this specific target group need to be investigated to successfully implement IBIs as part of routine health care [39].

Objectives

To the best of our knowledge, there has been no research regarding barriers to and facilitators for the use of IBIs in the specific target group of green professions. In a first step of this mixed methods study, we aimed to uncover barriers to and facilitators for the uptake of and adherence to IBIs based on a qualitative content analysis of semistructured qualitative interviews conducted in this specific occupational group. In a second step, we contrasted agreement rates to the identified barriers and facilitators collected in a follow-up questionnaire with the number of mentions based on the qualitative interviews to validate the factors identified in the interview sample. In a third step, we exploratively investigated differences in agreement rates to the identified barriers and facilitators between groups with different treatment indications and in intervention completers versus noncompleters.

Methods

Study Setting and Design of the RCTs

Semistructured qualitative interviews were conducted as part of a mixed methods evaluation in the context of the 2 RCTs, PROD-A [33] and PACT-A [34]. Both RCTs are part of a preventive model project of the social health care insurance for farmers, gardeners, and foresters (Sozialversicherung für Landwirtschaft, Forsten und Gartenbau) in Germany called *"With us in balance"* and thus evaluate both the entire portfolio of IBIs provided to the target group of green professions. Both studies aimed to evaluate the clinical and cost-effectiveness of guided IBIs in green professions compared with enhanced treatment as usual. PROD-A evaluates a program of 6 IBIs for indicated prevention of depression in participants with at least subthreshold depression, whereas PACT-A evaluates an IBI for the reduction of pain-related disability in participants with chronic pain symptomology for a duration of at least 6 months. Participation was accessible to entrepreneurs, collaborating spouses, family members, and pensioners working in green professions aged ≥ 18 years with sufficient insurance status. Recruitment for both RCTs started in January 2018 using a combined recruitment strategy based on a joint web-based screening and was completed for PROD-A (N=360) in April 2019; for PACT-A, recruitment was prematurely terminated in July 2020 because of overall low recruitment success (N=89 instead of the planned N=256). Further details on the RCTs can be found in the corresponding study protocols [33,34].

Ethics Approval

Both trials were approved by the Ethics Committee of the University of Ulm and registered in the German Clinical Trials Registry (DRKS00014000 and DRKS0001461). Informed consent was provided by all participants in both RCTs.

The IBIs

PROD-A evaluated a tailored IBI program consisting of 6 different IBIs aimed at the prevention of depression or at risk factors for depression. The trainings were provided by an external service company (GET.ON Institute). The IBI program included the training GET.ON Mood Enhancer, aiming at depressive symptoms in general [40], as well as GET.ON Mood Enhancer Diabetes specifically for patients with comorbid diabetes [41]. Further trainings were GET.ON Stress focusing on issues with perceived stress [42], GET.ON Recovery for insomnia [43], GET.ON Panic focusing on panic and agoraphobic symptoms [44], and GET.ON Be clever-drink less thematizing problematic alcohol consumption [45]. PACT-A evaluated the training GET.ON Chronic Pain that focused on chronic pain symptomology [46] and aimed to improve pain-related disability based on acceptance and commitment therapy.

Participants in both intervention groups went through the following 3-step process: (1) participating in a psychodiagnostic web-based assessment to determine relevant symptom areas and risk factors, (2) having an initial contact with their assigned personal e-coach (trained and qualified psychologists, psychologists in training for psychotherapy, or trained psychotherapists) via telephone or internal messaging function, and (3) starting the training phase in the assigned IBI. For PROD-A participants, the initial contact was used for a shared decision-making process to choose the most suitable IBI, whereas PACT-A participants were directly assigned to GET.ON Chronic Pain.

All 7 IBIs contained 6 to 8 modules, with the recommendation to complete 1 module per week. The IBIs were guided by e-coaches, who gave feedback to participants on each completed module either via telephone or in written form on the intervention platform. The *training phase* was followed by a *consolidating phase*, in which participants could have short monthly contact with their e-coach for up to 12 months. IBIs were customized by the external service provider to the occupational group of green professions by adapting personas and examples to the agricultural context and including corresponding photo material. Further intervention details can

```
XSL•FO
```

be found in the corresponding study protocols of PROD-A [33] and PACT-A [34].

Design of the Mixed Methods Study

A qualitative interview study was conducted with participants of the respective intervention arms of both RCTs, each of whom used 1 of the 7 guided IBIs. Recruitment and data collection of interview participants were either conducted by the study team of the Friedrich-Alexander-Universität (for PROD-A) or by the study team of the University of Ulm (for PACT-A). Additional informed consent was obtained from all interview participants. Semistructured interviews were conducted based on an interview guide addressing perceived barriers to and facilitators for the uptake of and adherence to the IBIs. The same interview guide was used for all participants, as the interview items were applicable to participants of both RCTs, and the qualitative data analysis was aimed at addressing the pooled transcripts from both RCTs. The interview questions were embedded in a broader interview guide addressing different topics pertaining to the use of the IBIs beforehand. The results are reported according to the COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) guidelines [47], as detailed in Multimedia Appendix 1. A quantitative follow-up survey was conducted to validate the results of the qualitative interview study. Interview participants were invited to report whether they agreed with the identified barriers and facilitators. Finally, statistical comparisons between specific subgroups (ie, treatment indication and completer status) were made based on the quantitative agreement rates.

Recruitment and Data Collection Procedure

Recruitment for the qualitative interviews started in June 2019 (PACT-A) and August 2019 (PROD-A), as enrollment for both RCTs was either already completed or nearly completed (intervention groups—PROD-A: N=180; PACT-A: n=42 of overall n=44). Participants who had previously agreed to be contacted for further studies (PROD-A: n=161; PACT-A: n=39) received a standardized invitation letter via email. The recommended period for the completion of the assigned IBI had expired for all invited RCT participants at this point. Informed consent was received from 17% (27/161) of PROD-A participants and 49% (19/39) of PACT-A participants, and an appointment for the qualitative interview was scheduled.

Interview conduct was based on purposeful theoretical sampling [48], aiming to recruit an interview sample with maximum

variation regarding participant characteristics, particularly sex, occupational role, completer status, and type of IBI received. Participants were defined as intervention completers if they had completed all available intervention modules in their respective IBI until the interview was conducted. Participants not reaching this criterion were categorized as noncompleters. The interviews were concluded after 41 interviews (PROD-A: N=22, PACT-A: N=19).

Interviews were conducted via telephone by 3 master's degree candidates (Manuela Gasde, Andrea Riedel, and Saskia Locker) based on an interview guide and supervised by researchers Johanna Freund and Lina Braun. Interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim based on an extended manual detailing transcription rules [49]. Personal details were anonymized [50] and participants were referenced with their study ID numbers. PROD-A participants did not receive compensation, whereas PACT-A participants received an expense allowance of \notin 20 (US \$22) for participating in the interview. The interview participants were invited to a quantitative follow-up survey for the validation of the identified themes. Participation in the follow-up survey was not compensated.

Interview Guide

The interview items for answering the research question regarding relevant barriers and facilitators for the use of and adherence to IBIs were formulated by following the interview guide of a qualitative interview study conducted in a different application context [51]. The interview items were adapted to the context of IBIs and target groups and formulated using an inductive exploratory approach, aiming to generate broad and unconstrained information about possible barriers and facilitators for the use of IBIs in the specific target group of green professions. The chosen inductive exploratory approach was the most suitable one, as there is, to our knowledge, no theoretical framework describing barriers to and facilitators for the use of a tailored IBI portfolio in such a specific occupational target group. Furthermore, this approach allowed us to address different aspects regarding the broad portfolio of IBIs against the occupational context of green professions. The interview guide contained instructions for interview conduct and formulated 5 main items, each with subordinate items entailing prompts for specific aspects (called "memos"), follow-up questions for further elaboration (called "hang-on") as well as filter questions to guide and standardize interview conduct for specific cases. The interview guide is featured in Table 1.



Table 1. Interview items for evaluating barriers and facilitators for the use of and adherence to the internet-based interventions.

Item number	Interview item
1 ^a	How would you rate the training offer overall? What do you think of the offer?
1.1 ^b	To what extent was the internet-based training suitable for you and your needs?
1.2 ^b	To what extent were there aspects of the internet-based training that were not suitable for you and your needs?
2 ^a	What helped you to "stick with" the internet-based training?
2.1 ^c	Were there certain aspects that made it easier for you to continuously participate in the internet-based training?
2.2 ^b	What personal circumstances made it easier for you to participate in the internet-based training?
2.3 ^b	What professional circumstances made it easier for you to participate in the internet-based training?
3 ^{a,d}	If you have ever been unable to engage with the internet-based training: what prevented you from engaging with the training and its content?
3 ^{a,e}	You dropped out of the internet-based training after lesson (add number). What prevented you from engaging with the training and its content?
3.1 ^c	What else prevented you from engaging with the content of the internet-based training?
3.2 ^b	Specifically, was there anything that bothered you about the guided internet-based training that made you not want to engage with it?
3.3 ^b	What personal circumstances prevented you from participating in the internet-based training?
3.4 ^b	What professional circumstances prevented you from participating in the internet-based training?
3.5 ^{b,e}	You have just described various problems. What was the decisive reason that you dropped out of the training?
4 ^a	You just described that in (paraphrase situation) it was difficult for you to engage with the internet-based training. What would have helped you engage with the internet-based training in that situations?
4.1 ^c	What else helped you?
4.2 ^b	What else could have helped you in the internet-based training itself?
4.3 ^b	Was there anything in your personal environment that could have helped you or someone who could have supported you?
4.4 ^b	What role do friends and family play in supporting you to participate in the training?
4.5 ^b	What positive reactions do you remember?
4.6 ^b	What negative reactions were there?
4.7 ^b	Was there anything in your professional context that could have helped you or someone who could have supported you?
5 ^a	Imagine you would participate in an internet-based training again. Imagine also that you could wish for an internet-based training that would be exactly suitable for your needs. What would the ideal internet-based training look like for you?
5.1 ^c	How would the internet-based training need to be designed to make you feel that you are basically capable of doing the internet-based training regularly and stick with it until completion?
5.2 ^c	How would your private and professional environment have to be organized to make you feel that you are basically capable of doing the internet-based training regularly and stick with it until completion?

^aMain question.

^bMemo.

^cHang-on.

XSL•FO RenderX

^dFilter question for completers.

^eFilter question for noncompleters.

Data Analysis

Qualitative Analysis

Qualitative content analysis was conducted based on 40 verbatim interview transcripts from both RCTs, using inductive category development [52]. One transcript had been excluded beforehand

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e39122

because it could not be objectively verified based on data from the intervention platform that the IBI was actually started by the participant and the reliability of his statements was doubtful. The codes were derived from the raw material with regard to the research question, using the procedure described as follows:

- 1. The 40 transcripts were divided into 10 equal portions of material, consisting of 4 interviews in each portion. The selection of the transcripts was balanced for participant characteristics, predominantly for sex, occupational role, completer status, and treatment indication (ie, PROD-A and PACT-A).
- 2. The first 10% of the material was independently inspected by 2 coders (Sophie Pausch and Lea Beywl) who generated codes from the material based on the research question. The generated codes were discussed until both coders agreed on a preliminary code system. This preliminary code system was then complemented by code definitions and exemplary statements from the interviews. Then, the current code system was discussed and reflected upon in a consensus meeting between the coders and the supervisor (Lina Braun) to resolve questions, reach a consensus on differing viewpoints, and ensure that the coding was done in accordance with the research question. Subsequently, the code system was adapted by Sophie Pausch.
- 3. This iterative procedure was then repeated by including the next portion of 4 interviews in the raw material. Both coders independently reviewed and modified the preliminary code system based on the new material, taking into account the already coded material. The coders discussed their adaptations and agreed on a preliminary modified code system. This version of the code system was discussed once again in a consensus meeting with the supervisor Lina Braun and was modified according to the consensus reached. The iterative coding procedure was then continuously repeated by extending the coding material to the next 4 interviews in each coding pass.
- 4. After the seventh iteration (ie, after 28 of the 40 interviews were included in the coded material), the coding system was additionally reviewed in detail by Lina Braun to ensure a distinct code allocation and a differentiated abstraction level of the code system. Sophie Pausch included this feedback in the revised code system.
- 5. After the eighth coding pass with an additional 10% portion of interviews, with overall 32 interview transcripts being included in the iterative development of the code system, it was concluded that theoretical saturation had been reached, as no inherently new category was added.
- 6. Coding rules were parallel to the development of the code system (steps 2 to 5) continuously developed, discussed, and finalized in the consensus meetings.
- 7. On the basis of the finalized code system and coding rules, the complete material, that is, the 40 interview transcripts, were independently coded by 2 coders (Sophie Pausch and Lea Beywl) in 1 pass. As no necessity for further consensus meetings arose during the coding process, coder independence during the final coding process was maintained. The intercoder reliability was exceptionally

high (Cohen κ =0.92) and can be classified as almost perfect [53] based on the Brennan-Prediger coefficient κ [54].

8. To ensure communicative validity [55] of the identified themes, we presented them to the interviewed participants after the completion of the data analysis in a web-based follow-up survey. The themes were presented based on definitions but without quotations, and participants were instructed to rate whether they agreed with the hindering and facilitating factors described.

Verbatim transcription and qualitative data analyses were conducted using the data analysis tool MAXQDA (version 2018.2; VERBI Software GmbH) [56].

Quantitative Analysis

For sociodemographic comparisons, 2-tailed *t* tests were conducted for continuous variables and Fisher exact tests were conducted for categorical variables. Furthermore, explorative subgroup analyses for completer status and treatment indication were conducted based on dummy-coded quantitative variables from the quantitative follow-up survey. Subgroup analysis based on Fisher exact test was conducted for each barrier and facilitator based on the frequency of agreement to each factor for each group in the quantitative follow-up survey. Fisher exact test was chosen because of its robustness in small sample sizes and its cell counts often being <5 [57]. For all analyses, 2-sided *P* values were reported with P<.05 being used for assuming statistical significance. Quantitative analyses were conducted using SPSS Statistics (version 26; IBM Corp) [58].

Results

Participant Characteristics

Participant characteristics were analyzed for the total interview sample of 41 interviewees as well as subgroups of completers and noncompleters, as detailed in Table 2. Intervention use was analyzed with a focus on representativeness in relation to the main trials, which is why the interview sample was assembled to include at least one participant per IBI. The intervention use of the interview participants was in line with the overall intervention use in the PROD-A RCT, with GET.ON Stress being the IBI assigned most often along with GET.ON Mood Enhancer and GET.ON Recovery [35,36]. The ratio of interview participants who completed all intervention modules (completers) until the time of the interview to participants who did not complete all intervention modules (noncompleters) was 3:2. By contrast, the ratio of completers to noncompleters until the 12-month follow-up in the main trials (ie, PROD-A and PACT-A) was approximately 1:1. Multimedia Appendix 2 displays participant characteristics of the interview subsamples of PROD-A and PACT-A along with the total intervention samples of both RCTs to show the degree of representativeness of the interview sample for the main studies.



Braun et al

Table 2. Comparison of the characteristics of completers and noncompleters of the interview	/ sample ((N=41))
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------	--------	---

	All interview participants	Completers ^a (n=24)	Noncompleters ^b (n=17)	$t \text{ test } (df)^{c}$	P value ^d
Sociodemographic characteristics		-		·	
Sex (male), n (%)	17 (41)	8 (33)	9 (53)	N/A ^e	.34
Age (years), mean (SD)	55.88 (7.86)	54.71 (8.36)	57.53 (6.99)	1.14 (39)	.26
In a partnership or married, n (%)	39 (95)	23 (96)	16 (94)	N/A	>.99
Education, n (%)					.67
Low	18 (44)	10 (42)	8 (47)	N/A	
Middle	13 (32)	9 (38)	4 (24)	N/A	
High	10 (24)	5 (21)	5 (29)	N/A	
Occupational role, n (%)					.91
Entrepreneur	16 (39)	9 (38)	7 (41)	N/A	
Contributing spouse	12 (29)	7 (29)	5 (29)	N/A	
Contributing family member	5 (12)	3 (13)	2 (12)	N/A	
Pensioner or spouse of pensioner	6 (15)	3 (13)	3 (18)	N/A	
Incapacitated for work	2 (5)	2 (8)	0 (0)	N/A	
Study affiliation, n (%)					.54
PROD-A ^f	22 (54)	14 (58)	8 (47)	N/A	
PACT-A ^g	19 (46)	10 (42)	9 (53)	N/A	
Type of internet-based intervention, n (%	6)				.58
GET.ON Mood Enhancer	5 (12)	2 (8)	3 (18)	N/A	
GET.ON Stress	11 (27)	7 (29)	4 (24)	N/A	
GET.ON Recovery	2 (5)	2 (8)	0 (0)	N/A	
GET.ON Panic	1 (2)	1 (4)	0 (0)	N/A	
GET.ON Be Clever—Drink Less	2 (5)	2 (8)	0 (0)	N/A	
GET.ON Mood Enhancer Diabetes	1 (2)	0 (0)	1 (6)	N/A	
GET.ON Chronic Pain	19 (46)	10 (42)	9 (53)	N/A	
Period between baseline and interview (n	nonths), n (%)				.11
<6	2 (5)	0 (0)	2 (12)	N/A	
6-12	14 (34)	7 (29)	7 (41)	N/A	
>12	25 (61)	17 (71)	8 (47)	N/A	

^aCompleters were defined as interview participants who completed all intervention modules until the time of the interview.

^bNoncompleters were defined as interview participants who had not completed all intervention modules until the time of the interview. ^{c}t test was used only for continuous variables.

 ^{d}P value is based for continuous variables on a 2-tailed t test and for categorical variables on an exact Fisher test.

^eN/A: not applicable.

^fPROD-A: Prevention of Depression in Agriculturists.

^gPACT-A: Preventive Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for Chronic Pain in Agriculturists.

Qualitative Findings

Qualitative analysis identified 42 barriers and 26 facilitators that were categorized into the following main categories: (1) *intervention-related factors,* with the subcategories *training content* (barriers: 7/42, 17%; facilitators: 6/26, 23%) and *training realization and design* (barriers: 13/42, 31%; facilitators: 11/26, 42%); (2) *work-related factors* (barriers:

4/42, 10%; facilitators: 1/26, 4%); (3) *individual-related factors* (barriers: 13/42, 31%; facilitators: 8/26, 31%); and (4) *technical-related factors* (barriers: 5/42, 12%; facilitators: 0/26, 0%).

Overall, 2 barriers (1) *time-consuming work life* (29/40, 73% of interviewees) and (2) *time-consuming private life* (23/40, 58%) as well as 3 facilitators, *flexible time management at work*

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

(25/40, 63%); presence of motivation, curiosity, interest, and perseverance (30/40, 75%); and support from family and friends (20/40, 50%), were mentioned by at least 50% (20/40) of the interviewed sample and thus identified as key themes. Most of the identified factors represent a broad range of different aspects that can hinder or improve the participation in an IBI. Furthermore, 55% (22/40) of barriers and 62% (16/26) of facilitators were mentioned by at least 10% (4/40) of the interviewees and thus are listed as major themes with definitions and exemplary statements in Tables 3-6. The remaining barriers (20/42, 48%) and facilitators (10/26, 38%) that were reported by <4 interviewees (<10%) are summarized in Multimedia Appendix 3 as we assumed these factors to be of less relevance

to the target group. Of these, 15% (6/40) of barriers and 27% (7/26) of facilitators were addressed by only 1 interviewee each.

On an average, interviewees named 6 barriers (SD 2.8; range 2-14) and 5 facilitators (SD 2.7; range 1-10). Intervention completers (n=24) named on average 6 barriers (SD 2.9; range 2-14) compared with noncompleters (n=16) reporting on average 7 barriers (SD 2.5; range 2-12). This difference was not statistically significant (t_{38} =1.1; P=.27). Furthermore, intervention completers named on average 6 facilitators (SD 2.5; range 2-10), compared with noncompleters reporting on average 4 facilitators (SD 2.5; range 1-9). This difference was statistically significant (t_{38} =-2.4; P=.02).



Braun et al

Table 3. Major themes of the qualitative results for the intervention-related barriers and facilitators pertaining to internet-based intervention (IBI) content from participants' perspectives (mentioned by at least 4 participants; N=40).

Categories	Participa	ints	Definition	Supporting quotations
	Values, n (%)	Number of excerpts ^a		
Intervention-related ba	arriers, II	BI content (n=	=5) ^b	
Unhelpful content	11 (28)	18	Participants perceived the IBI content as unhelpful, uninformative, and uninteresting.	"Well, there was one or the other exercise thatI liked less or where I had less interest in itwhen there are several exercises, that there is always a favorite and there is one that you don't like so much." [Interview 26]
Impersonal or stat- ic content	10 (25)	23	The content of the IBI (eg, specific exercises and questions) was perceived to be static, as in not being tailored to the participant, not ad- dressing personal problems not, or not provid- ing the option to select or deselect topics.	"It's not very personal, it's a machine." [Interview 5]
Missing key topics or unappealing fo- cus	5 (13)	11	Participants mentioned that key topics were missing (eg, IBI content on dealing with aging in the green professions and IBI content with movement and sports exercises) or that they found the focus of the IBI (eg, on psychologi- cal support) to be unappealing.	"For my needs, I'm telling you, I was concerned with chronic pain, not psychological support." [In- terview 4]
Level of require- ments being per- ceived as too high or low	5 (13)	8	The level of requirement was perceived as too low (eg, if IBI contents were already known before the start of the IBI) or too high (eg, if the person was severely ill).	"I think it fit for mild cases who only feel over- whelmed now and then Whether it is fitting for someone who is on the verge of burnout, I dare to doubt that." [Interview 30]
Difficulty in identi- fying with exem- plary personas	4 (10)	4	Participants reported difficulties in identifying with the exemplary personas described in the IBI modules.	"In the first two lessons, there was always a refer- ence to these people that you introduced. One of them was pushed by a bull Well, I don't know if I could be pulled down like that by such an acci- dent" [Interview 4]
Intervention-related fa	cilitators,	IBI content	(n=4) ^c	
Helpful content	14 (35)	20	Participants perceived the content to be helpful, informative and interesting.	"I found, the information about the disease VERY helpful or, well. I found it informative and educa- tional!" [Interview 29]
Engagement with one's problems	12 (30)	15	Participants found it helpful to reflect on themselves and their problems, to become aware of their problems, and to do something good for themselves.	"It just did me good to deal with myself again. That I, umconsciously do something for myself." [In- terview 38]
E-coach support	6 (15)	9	Participants perceived the personal contact, the exchanges with the e-coach and the feedback from the e-coach as helpful.	"The contact with the e-coach helped. That you al- ways get feedback, questions andnotice that the [incomprehensible] are appreciated, which you have done" [Interview 34]
Perceiving the IBI as a further health care approach	5 (13)	7	Participants perceived the IBI as a new, even- tually promising treatment option.	"I think it's a super great thing because you just don't get anywhere with other things and it's a good way to A) deal with the issue and B) deal with broader issues too." [Interview 13]

^aTotal number of excerpts, including multiple mentions from the same persons.

^bFactors related to the IBI content (eg, specific exercises), that made it difficult to participate in the IBI.

^cFactors related to the IBI content (eg, specific exercises), that made it easier to participate in the IBI.



Braun et al

Table 4. Major themes of the qualitative results for the intervention-related barriers and facilitators pertaining to internet-based intervention (IBI) realization and design from participants' perspectives (mentioned by at least 4 participants; N=40).

8		r r r	····· (·······························						
Categories	Participa	nts	Definition	Supporting quotations					
	Values, n (%)	Number of excerpts ^a							
Intervention-related ba	Intervention-related barriers, IBI realization and design (n=6) ^b								
IBI modules being too long	16 (40)	28	The IBI modules and the time needed to com- plete them were perceived as too long, and shorter and more frequent IBI modules would have been preferred.	"Only the length was too much at once. It's better to have short lessons more often than to sit at them for an hour and even longer or two hours each time. That's too much in terms of length, yes,in terms of required time." [Interview 11]					
Limited or compli- cated access to IBI content	10 (25)	16	Participants perceived the access to the contents of the IBI as limited or complicated and reported not having been able to access specific contents directly (eg, access to already completed exercis- es, questions, and audio files).	"which was a bit inconvenient that you then al- ways had to go to the next page within a lesson. Especially in the post-processing, where I knew there was this one point. But I had to look through all these pages before I got to that point" [Inter- view 23]					
Insufficient person- al e-coach contact	10 (25)	15	The e-coach contact was perceived as not person- al enough because of little use of the feedback option via telephone or the lack of face-to-face conversations and the resulting anonymity. Par- ticipants expressed the wish for more personal conversations, explanations regarding the IBI, and overall more telephone contact.	"Maybe this, what do you call it, this anonymity Well, I'm not really in favor of this anonymity. I would have preferred a conversation with eye contact." [Interview 14]					
Lack of flexibility regarding IBI use	8 (20)	14	Participants perceived IBI use as inflexible as they felt tied down to a specific place to work with the IBI because of writing and reading on the computer, the internet connection require- ments, and needing to sit in the office for long periods.	"The high effort to surf around on the Internet and that I could only do it here in the office." [Inter- view 22]					
Insufficient video and audio mes- sages	6 (15)	7	The number of video and audio messages was perceived as limited or the content of the video and audio messages was perceived as unappeal- ing.	"That there are more video or audio messages Just that I don't have to read it, yes?! That it would have been more like watching TV, then it would have been even better, you know?!" [Inter- view 31]					
Too few reminder emails	4 (10)	5	Participants found there were too few prompts or reminder emails with requests to complete the IBI.	"Maybe I would have needed more hints. Well, not hints, but prompts. It is perhaps sometimes annoying when you are reminded again and again, but I think that would have been helpful for me" [Interview 38]					
Intervention-related fa	cilitators,	IBI realizati	on and design (n=5) ^c						
Independency re- garding time	13 (33)	22	Participants perceived the option to participate in the IBI modules with flexibility of time (eg, opportunity to take a break and to cache) as helpful.	"What was suitable was that you could do it whenever you wanted. That you weren't tied to certain times, I thought that was very good." [In- terview 11]					
Flexible options in terms of IBI con- tent	7 (18)	7	Participants found the flexibility to omit different topics of each IBI module (eg, tasks) or addition- al information if not needed to be helpful.	"There were always elective options There was something about ruminating thoughts or some- thing else, where you had the choice, do you want to have some information on that, or not. I liked that, to be able to say in advance 'No, I don't need that now'" [Interview 34]					
Reminder emails	5 (13)	6	The regular reminder emails with prompts to continue the IBI were perceived as helpful.	"but these reminders after a certain time, that was already quite good." [Interview 6]					
Appealing design and presentation	4 (10)	5	Participants perceived the design and presenta- tion of the IBI as appealing.	"That it [the IBI] is very well presented, that practical, that it was very comprehensible." [Inter- view 38]					

XSL•FO RenderX

Braun et al

Categories Participants		nts	Definition	Supporting quotations	
	Values, n (%)	Number of excerpts ^a			
Flexible IBI use from home	4 (10)	4	The option of flexibility to participate in the IBI modules from home and not needing to go to the city was perceived as helpful.	"And that's why I find online training so valu- able I don't have to get in the car and drive half an hour into town to get to therapy or anywhere else, and I don't have to shower beforehand. If need be, I can sit there in my stable clothes and go back to the stable afterwards" [Interview 28]	

^aTotal number of excerpts, including multiple mentions from the same persons.

^bFactors related to IBI realization and design (eg, composition, structure, and organization) that made it difficult to participate in the IBI. ^cFactors related to IBI realization and design (eg, composition, structure, and organization) that made it easier to participate in the IBI.

Table 5. Major themes of the qualitative results for the work-related barriers and facilitators from participants' perspectives (mentioned by at least 4 participants; N=40).

Categories	Participants		Definition	Supporting quotations	
	Values, n (%)	Number of excerpts ^a			
Work-related barriers (r	n=2) ^b				
Time-consuming work life	29 (73)	69	Participants experienced the tasks in everyday work life as time-intensive and inflexible be- cause of weather influences, seasonal tasks, and work peaks and thus, as challenging for IBI ^c participation.	"So actually, only operational work that isvery time-intensive and can't be postponedharvest- ing work or something like that, where yousay that HAS TO BE now. Now there is simply no time at all for three days." [Interview 34]	
Lack of staff leading to high workload	4 (10)	5	The (unforeseen) shortage of staff was experi- enced as aggravating for the workload, and thus, as challenging for IBI participation.	"This is a very special case, we don't have an apprentice this year and so there's a lack of manpower at all corners and then there's the bad conscience again because the work doesn't get done." [Interview 17]	
Work-related facilitators (n=1) ^d					
Flexible time man- agement at work	25 (63)	34	Flexible time management at work (eg, because of self-employment, pension, lease of land, downsizing of the company, low workload, and season) made it easier to participate in the IBI.	"Yes, simply that you are self-employed, that you can arrange your work freely." [Interview 20]	

^aTotal number of excerpts, including multiple mentions from the same persons.

^bFactors related to the work life that made it difficult for the participants to take part in the internet-based intervention.

^cIBI: internet-based intervention.

^dFactors related to the work life that made it easier for the participants to take part in the internet-based intervention.



Braun et al

Table 6. Major themes of the qualitative results for the individual-related barriers and facilitators from participants' perspectives (mentioned by at least 4 participants; N=40).

Categories (barriers) Participants		nts	Definition	Supporting quotations
	Values, n (%)	Number of excerpts ^a		
Individual-related barr	riers (n=9)) ^b		
Time-consuming private life	23 (58)	47	Participants perceived their private life as time- consuming because of household chores, hob- bies, family, and friends, such that there was limited time available to work on the IBI ^c .	"That I was so busy privately, that I had no head for it. Primarily I had to take care of others to keep that going and myself I had to put aside. That was the only reason." [Interview 38]
Lack of support from family and friends	17 (43)	32	Participants experienced family and friends (initially) as not being supportive, accepting, helpful, or motivating regarding their IBI partic- ipation.	"You know, now when I say I have an appoint- ment with the family doctor, right?! To take blood. Then that's alright. The environment knows that this has to be done now. But if I then sit down at the computer for an hour or ninety minutes and do something like that, well! Thenthis is so negatively valued." [Interview 31]
Limiting mental or cognitive factors	12 (30)	15	Limiting mental or cognitive factors (eg, exhaus- tion, tiredness, and difficulty in concentrating) were perceived as challenging.	"Either I was too tired or I had worked too much." [Interview 36]
Lack of possibility of retreating to re- flect on the IBI	10 (25)	12	Participants reported the lack of the possibility of retreating to a private and quiet space to re- flect on the IBI as challenging.	"Predominantly it was a problem of time or just that there was too much hustle and bustle, so that you couldn't really go back to it, or just actually hunkered down in a room where it was quiet." [Interview 13]
Lack of computer skills or technical affinity	8 (20)	9	The lack of computer skills or technical affinity or the dislike of technical devices were perceived as challenging.	"That is quite concretely that I don't really like to sit at the computer and don't like to or rather would like to get away from surfing the Internet." [Interview 29]
(Self-made) time or performance pressure	7 (18)	7	Participants experienced (self-made) time pres- sure or performance pressure (eg, regarding the IBI and regarding the job) as challenging.	"Yes, sometimes I didn't progress as fast as I wanted, so I probably put myself under a bit of pressure there, but that had nothing to do with the training, because it's the same for everyone" [Interview 13]
Lack of perceived IBI success	6 (15)	12	Participants experienced no improvements be- cause of the IBI (eg, no pain reduction or im- provement in well-being) or reported that they did not consider the IBI to be promising for achieving improvements.	"The decisive point was actually thatI thought that the training would be of no use to me" [In- terview 39]
Lack of motivation	6 (15)	6	Participants reported experiencing a lack of motivation or such a low level of psychological strain, that there was no motivation to work with the IBI.	"Sometimes you're just not motivated, let's say you don't feel like it or want to do something else, that you don't always want to deal with it. Yes, but then that's a sign that you're doing so well, that the pressure of psychological strain is no longer there" [Interview 21]
Limiting somatic factors	4 (10)	6	Somatic factors (eg, chronic physical pain and pain caused by sitting for a long time) made it difficult to take part in the IBI.	"Yeah, because I'm in such massive pain and the painkillers didn't work and then you can't concen- trate, not when there are so many, SO many questions that are actually always the same." [In- terview 11]
Individual-related facil	litators (n	=6) ^d		
Presence of motiva- tion, curiosity, in- terest, and persever- ance	30 (75)	39	Participants reported experiencing motivation, curiosity, and interest relating to the next mod- ules or the feedback from the e-coach or referred to their own attitude to follow through on something that they started.	"Curiosity about the next lesson. And also, curios- ity about the feedback from the e-coach." [Inter- view 29]

Braun et al

Categories (barriers) Participants		nts	Definition	Supporting quotations	
	Values, n (%)	Number of excerpts ^a			
Support from fami- ly and friends	20 (50)	46	The participants perceived support and accep- tance from family and friends (eg, regarding the IBI use and regarding private and work life) as helpful.	"The family that has accepted everything and also notices, when you feel better or that you're not so, let's say, dissatisfied or whining, let's say, so in that respect it's already good now." [Interview 15]	
Perceived IBI success	19 (48)	34	Participants reported that it was helpful to ob- serve improvements in everyday life, or to at least have the hope for success (eg, reduction of pain and improvement of well-being).	"The results I have felt for myself in my everyday life." [Interview 22]	
Flexible time man- agement in private life	17 (43)	22	Flexible time management in private life (eg, because of living alone) was perceived as help-ful.	"Yes, maybethat the children are simply already more grown up. Well with small children, who then scream all the time, I don't think that would have worked." [Interview 20]	
Scheduling of fixed time slots for the IBI	6 (15)	6	The scheduling of fixed time slots (eg, midday) for the IBI was perceived as helpful.	"Yes, I think it's better if you just set cer- taintimes, that you say, Monday evening at 8 or 9 pm I will do now one lesson" [Interview 20]	
Possibility of re- treating to reflect on the IBI	4 (10)	5	Participants reported the possibility of retreating to a private and quiet space to reflect on the IBI as helpful.	"That I have my quiet, closed computer work- place. Where I have a place of retreat, so to speak, which is otherwise a workplace, but that I have used for this" [Interview 21]	

^aTotal number of excerpts, including multiple mentions from the same persons.

^bFactors related to the private life or personal factors that made it difficult for the participants to take part in the internet-based intervention.

^cIBI: internet-based intervention.

^dFactors related to the private life or personal factors that made it easier for the participants to take part in the internet-based intervention.

Quantitative Follow-up Survey

In total, 73% (30/41) of the interview participants responded to the quantitative follow-up survey and rated whether they agreed with the barriers and facilitators that we had extracted from the interviews. Overall agreement with the identified barriers was relatively low, with a mean of 24% (SD 11%; range 7%-47%). At least 40% (12/30) of the participants agreed that the barriers (1) extensive questioning, (2) missing key topics or unappealing focus, (3) IBI modules being too long, (4) the wish for continuing possibility to participate in follow-up modules or IBIs, and (5) lack of a platform for exchanges with other participants hindered their participation in the IBI.

However, the agreement with the identified facilitators was very high, with a mean of 80% (SD, 13%; range 53%-97%). At least 90% (27/30) of the participants agreed that the factors (1)

possibility of working independently on the IBI modules, (2) independence regarding time, (3) flexible IBI use from home, (4) free-of-charge treatment offer, (5) appealing IBI structure and composition, (6) optimal organization, and (7) comprehensible wording facilitated their participation in the IBI.

Overall, the agreement rates for most of the identified barriers (32/42, 76%) and for all the facilitators were higher than the proportion of participants mentioning these in the interviews. Indeed, 27% (7/26) of facilitators that were mentioned by a single interview participant attained high agreement rates ranging between 60% (18/30) and 97% (29/30) in the follow-up survey. Figures 1-3 show the agreement rates in the quantitative follow-up survey for the barriers and facilitators compared with the number of participants mentioning these factors in the interviews.



Figure 1. Comparison of quantitative and qualitative results regarding intervention- and work-related barriers. IBI: internet-based intervention.





Figure 2. Comparison of quantitative and qualitative results regarding individual- and technical-related barriers. IBI: internet-based intervention.





Figure 3. Comparison of quantitative and qualitative results regarding intervention-, work-, and individual-related facilitators. IBI: internet-based intervention.



Subgroup Analysis Based on Quantitative Follow-up Survey

Subgroup Analysis for Completers and Noncompleters

A number of significant differences in agreement with relevant barriers and facilitators were found based on survey data, depending on the completer status. Noncompleters (8/30, 27%) reported agreement with the barrier *insufficient personal e-coach contact* (4/8, 50% vs 2/22, 9%; *P*=.03) and the technical-related barrier *no automatic unlocking of the next module* (3/8, 38% vs

0/22, 0%; P=.01) more often than completers (22/30, 73%). Completers reported agreement with the following factors as facilitating for training use significantly more often than noncompleters: having *perceived IBI success* or hope for IBI success (20/22, 91% vs 4/8, 50%; P=.03); having a personal attitude characterized by the *presence of motivation, curiosity, interest, and perseverance* with regard to training use (21/22, 95% vs 4/8, 50%; P=.01); and having a *persisting level of psychological strain* (16/22, 73% vs 2/8, 25%; P=.03). Figure 4 shows the relevant barriers and facilitators for completers versus noncompleters.



Braun et al

Figure 4. Significant group differences in perceived barriers and facilitators based on completer status in the quantitative follow-up survey (%). IBI: internet-based intervention.



Subgroup Analysis for Different Treatment Indications

On the basis of a comparison of the different treatment indications leading to study inclusion, interviewees who received a pain-specific IBI (14/30, 47%), as indicated by their chronic pain symptomology (ie, PACT-A), agreed with having technical difficulties more often than interviewees who received a symptom-oriented tailored IBI (16/30, 53%) because of being at risk for depression (ie, PROD-A). This was specifically indicated by the barriers dependency on others regarding training use (4/14, 29% vs 0/16, 0%; P=.04), problems with log-in (4/14, 29% vs 0/16, 0%; P=.04), and different email addresses and log-in details (6/14, 43% vs 1/16, 6%; P=.03). Furthermore, perceived IBI success (16/16, 100% vs 8/14, 57%; P=.005) as facilitator was reported more often by interviewees who received a symptom-oriented tailored IBI for depression than by interviewees who received a pain-specific IBI. In addition, interviewees who received the pain-specific IBI agreed less often with e-coach support being facilitating (9/14, 64% vs 16/16, 100%; P=.01) for training use. Significant differences in agreement rates to barriers and facilitators among interviewees with different treatment indications are shown in Multimedia Appendix 4. Descriptive statistics and Fisher exact test results for all comparisons can be found in Multimedia Appendix 5.

Discussion

Principal Findings

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate barriers and facilitators for the use of and adherence to IBIs among interviewees working in green professions. Using qualitative content analysis, we were able to identify a wide range of possible barriers and facilitators with regard to a tailored intervention approach taking into account 7 different symptom-specific IBIs and risk profiles for depression and pain interference. Overall, 42 barriers and 26 facilitators were identified across 4 superordinate categories relating to interventional, work-related, individual, or technical aspects.

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e39122
```

RenderX

Insights were reached regarding the comparison of barriers and facilitators perceived in completers and noncompleters in particular.

Comparison With Prior Work

Qualitative content analysis suggested that time restrictions in work and private life were elementary barriers from the interviewees' perspective. This is consistent with a systematic review (3 qualitative and 3 quantitative studies) describing lack of time as a key barrier to adherence to IBIs for various psychological conditions (eg, coping with tinnitus, bipolar disorder, and unipolar depression) and target groups (eg, carers of persons with cancer and persons affected by disasters) [19]. Furthermore, lack of time was identified in different workplace settings as a barrier with regard to an internet intervention for stress management supported by optional guidance [20] as well as for the use of an internet-based depression prevention program with participants who were at risk for major depression [22]. As interviewees strongly agreed with barriers, such as extensive questioning and IBI modules being too long, this reflects the apparently high burden for some participants; thus, IBIs might require adjustments against the background of time restrictions in work and private life. The incompatibility of the time-consuming processing of extensive text contents with the personal situation of the participant was previously described as a potential factor for nonadherence in a qualitative study of nonadherers of an internet-based psychological treatment [59].

Nonetheless, a previous study reported that the use of IBIs seems to be associated with fewer barriers such as time constraints than participation in face-to-face treatment [60]. In farming populations, work life can be especially time-consuming depending on the season, which negatively affects the capacity for mental health help seeking [61,62]. Thus, technology-based alternatives have been suggested as low-threshold alternatives to facilitate mental health help seeking in farmers [63] and in rural areas [64]. Indeed, some interviewees reported flexible IBI use from home or flexibility in terms of time as helpful for IBI use, as well as the possibility of working independently on the IBI modules. These facilitators, as well as flexible options

in terms of IBI content and IBI selection based on one's own preference, found exceptionally high approval in the follow-up survey. Furthermore, barriers, such as limited or complicated access to training content, the option to repeat individual training units, missing key topics, or unappealing focus, which have received high approval ratings, reflect the need for more flexibility regarding training length and content in the interview sample. This indicates the importance of autonomy of the participants in their training conduct, which was identified as an important factor for adherence to an internet-based depression treatment in a blended care setting in a previous qualitative study [65]. It might also be related to the need for a sense of control by being able to complete the IBI flexibly and to return as often as necessary, as reported in a qualitative study of completers of an internet-based depression treatment [21] and is also relatable from the perspective of therapists reporting limited customizability and individualization of IBIs to be a barrier in blended therapy for depression [66].

Furthermore, interviewees emphasized flexible time management at work as a key facilitator, highlighting a new aspect that, to our knowledge, has not been previously identified. Flexibility of intervention use has been reported as both a facilitating and a hindering factor in a workplace setting if prioritization of time fails or temporal and spatial boundaries between work and treatment get blurred [20]. As we interviewed entrepreneurs, contributing spouses and family members, or pensioners working in their own business, this facilitator might have a specific meaning for self- or family-employed persons in this occupational target group.

Moreover, perceived support from family and friends was suggested by interviewees as a key facilitator. This factor has been described previously in terms of sense of belonging being a motivating aspect for continuing a depression treatment in a blended-therapy setting [65]. In traditional farming, family relationships play an important role, as farming families live and work together on joint premises [27]. Accompaniment by family has been shown to substantially increase health care use in farm workers [67], underlining the importance of family support against the background of lower use of professional help regarding mental health problems among farmers compared with nonfarmers [68]. Thus, involving the entire farming family in an IBI might be beneficial for increasing adherence, specifically in this occupational group. This would be in line with a different health care initiative already targeting the entire farming family [69] and with the statement of the interviewees that they missed exchanges with other IBI participants, which, to our knowledge, was identified for the first time in IBI research. Nevertheless, this seems to be in line with data from male farmers who reported seeking informal support from close confidants for self-help [70]. However, as some participants reported lack of support from family and friends, involving the farming family or close friends may not be indicated in every case and might also be a potential stressor.

Interviewees suggested the presence of motivation, curiosity, interest, and perseverance in using the IBI as another key facilitator for intervention completion. Similarly, interest in an IBI and willingness, and motivation to participate in it have previously been identified as facilitating factors by

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e39122
```

psychotherapists in a blended depression treatment [66]. Motivational and volitional aspects have been proposed as prerequisites for the uptake of and adherence to IBIs based on the Health Action Process Approach model that describes their central role in health behavior change [71]. So far, a systematic review based on qualitative data found mixed results regarding motivation and readiness to change as potential predictors of intervention adherence [19].

Against the background of low overall adherence rates in green professions for the IBIs in question [35,36] as an example of the actual use of IBIs in a pragmatic setting, a comparison of intervention completers and noncompleters regarding their agreement rates to the identified barriers and facilitators was conducted. The comparison analysis revealed that completers agreed significantly more often with the aspect of hope for or perceived training success. In the literature, this factor has already been described as noticing an improvement [21] or having hope of recovery [65] as facilitating persistence with the intervention. The affirmed motivational aspects in completers are in line with the previously discussed theoretical assumption that motivational factors such as interest and willingness to persist seem likely to drive adherence to IBI. Regarding the noncompleters, they agreed significantly more often that the e-coach contact was not personal enough. This mirrors the importance of the role of a stable therapeutic relationship in training adherence, as shown in previous qualitative studies [20,21,65,72]. A qualitative interview study with Australian farmers, their partners, and general practitioners suggested that a good relationship with health care professionals might be critical for the uptake of and adherence to treatment protocols and that for this to happen, it may be crucial that health professionals are agriculturally literate and able to personalize farmers' care through practical advice [63]. This has also been described as the lack of "farm credibility" of service providers being a barrier for the use of mental health services in farmers [62]. As IBIs were already adapted in an initial step in terms of content and design to the agricultural setting, further steps might comprise more participant inclusion in further adaptation of intervention design and content, as already practiced in an Australian IBI for farmers conveying mental health and well-being strategies based on acceptance and commitment therapy [73], or the offering of special training courses for e-coaches working in this occupational setting to improve "farm credibility."

In addition, we compared interviewees included in the main trial because of chronic pain (ie, PACT-A) with interviewees included in the main trial because of psychological complaints indicating depression risk (ie, PROD-A) in terms of their perceived barriers to and facilitators for the use of their indicated IBI to determine potential differences. Interviewees included because of chronic pain agreed to experiences of training success or e-coach support being helpful less often than interviewees included because of being at risk for depression. As the presence of chronic pain symptoms is the main difference between these 2 interviewed groups, known factors such as high treatment resistance and long-term chronic pain symptomology [74] might be a possible explanation. Furthermore, a comparison of agreement rates in the follow-up survey suggested that

XSL•FO RenderX

interviewees included because of chronic pain reported technical difficulties and dependency on others as barriers for training use more often. This might be associated with the significantly higher average age of interviewees in PACT-A compared with PROD-A, as previous research has already shown that digital literacy tends to be higher in younger age groups [75]. Similarly, low digital literacy along with poor connectivity in rural areas was identified as a barrier to the use of IBIs among Australian farmers based on an interview study [63]. Overall, the interview results suggest that digital literacy may be restricted to some of the interviewees at hand. To our knowledge, no research exists pertaining to the extent of digital literacy in persons occupied in green professions in Germany in general, despite the face validity of the assumption that digital literacy might be lower in the green sector than in the general population. This would be in line with a recent article suggesting that digital literacy may be lower in rural areas than in urban areas [76]. At least a few years ago, limited internet literacy and access were reported as being among the most important barriers to the implementation of IBIs for depression in routine care expected from the perspective of different stakeholders across 8 European countries [77]. Lack of internet access and computers along with a lack of familiarity with technology, internet, and media were reported as barriers from the perspective of an interview sample of general practitioners [78] as well as low technical affinity from the perspective of an interview sample of therapists, both with regard to the use of blended internet-based therapy for patients with depression in general [66]. Thus, improving access to high-speed internet in rural or remote areas along with the promotion of digital literacy in general might be helpful measures to break down barriers in the use of health care technologies in green professions.

Limitations and Strengths

This mixed methods study has several limitations. First, the interview sample was not representative of the population of green professions. We aimed to recruit a heterogeneous interview sample taking into account sex, occupational role, IBI type, and completer status to achieve the best representativeness possible. However, the self-selection of the participants regarding interview and survey participation was evident, as the sample of noncompleters was reduced from 41% (17/41) in the interview sample to 27% (8/30) in the follow-up survey. Thus, there is a noticeable underrepresentation of noncompleters in both RCTs, where approximately every second intervention participant at the 12-month follow-up did not complete the intervention (PROD-A: 85/171, 50%; PACT-A: 23/42, 55%). Overall, this might have led to a bias regarding the results of qualitative data analysis in favor of possibly fewer reported barriers. Furthermore, this might have favored an overestimation of the approval rates regarding the identified facilitators in the follow-up survey. Indeed, the approval rates of the identified facilitators were higher than those of the identified barriers, even though considerably more barriers than facilitators were identified overall. Second, the subgroup analyses performed were of purely explorative character, as there were no a priori hypotheses defined, there was no power calculation conducted beforehand, and the sample size of 30 was very small with regard to quantitative analyses. Thus, these

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e39122

subgroup analyses merely provide an opportunity to gain an idea of possible factors influencing the engagement with and adherence to IBIs in this specific occupational group. Further studies need to be conducted based on a priori power calculations to systematically investigate the identified barriers and facilitators as predictors of engaging with and adhering to IBIs. Third, there is possibly a bias because of the inclusion of interviewees from 2 different study populations with different treatment indications, and thus, a bias because of the overrepresentation of interviewees who received GET.ON Chronic Pain compared with those who received other IBI types. This might have facilitated a stronger focus on barriers and facilitators specific to the use of this IBI experienced by participants with chronic pain symptoms in comparison with those at risk for depression. Therefore, we carried out a comparative analysis of these 2 subpopulations to unravel and highlight potential differences in perceived barriers to and facilitators for the use of their corresponding IBIs because of different treatment indications and underlying symptoms of primarily somatic versus mental nature.

This study has also several strengths. First, the coded interview material was exceptionally extensive, consisting of 40 interviews overall, and thus, allowed for a comprehensive identification of possible barriers and facilitators. Second, the purposeful sampling procedure and the resulting heterogeneity of the interview sample enabled us to identify a wide range of barriers and facilitators of potential relevance. Owing to increased recruitment efforts, the perspective of noncompleters, in particular, could be taken into account. This may have resulted in the identification of substantially more barriers than facilitators, based on the qualitative interviews. Against the background of limited intervention adherence experienced in this occupational group [35,36], these results provide first insights into possible obstacles and enable to derive implications for facilitating intervention adherence. Third, the intercoder reliability was exceptionally high, reflecting the high methodological standards of the qualitative coding procedure. Fourth, by using a mixed methods approach, we were able to conduct explorative quantitative comparisons among different subgroups to evaluate possible divergences in the identified barriers and facilitators depending on completer status or treatment indication. Thus, this approach enabled us to achieve a more differentiated view of barriers and facilitators for training use and an idea about the possible relevance of individual factors.

Conclusions

Different implications for promoting green profession workers' engagement with and adherence to IBIs are imaginable based on the findings of this study. On the basis of the insights on the facilitators, we can conclude that the following factors pertaining to the IBIs worked particularly well from the perspective of the interview sample: (1) flexible use independent of time and location, (2) flexible options in terms of IBI content, (3) appealing design and presentation, (4) appealing structure and composition, (5) optimal organization, (6) overall helpful content, and (7) support of the e-coach. We derived the following options to further improve the use of IBIs in the occupational group of green professions based on insights into

XSL•FO RenderX

the identified barriers: the implementation of (1) supportive strategies like the scheduling of fixed time slots for the IBI or tools such as push messages to facilitate training completion; (2) options to involve the entire farming family or friends and colleagues and to enable exchanges between participants, for example, via implementation of a forum, chat functions, or even group sessions with the e-coach; or (3) enabling face-to-face interaction with the e-coach via video chat on demand. Further ideas encompass (4) the customization of intervention modules in terms of intervention content and length to allow for more flexible and adaptive use or (5) the introduction of the option to flexibly access and repeat specific content. Thus, in future studies, these factors should be compared with existing theoretical frameworks and then jointly investigated using quantitative study designs and methods in terms of their ability to improve intervention uptake and adherence in the specific target group of green professions.

Acknowledgments

The German insurance company Sozialversicherung für Landwirtschaft, Forsten und Gartenbau provided a financial contribution to the Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg and Ulm University as an expense allowance. The Sozialversicherung für Landwirtschaft, Forsten und Gartenbau had no role in study design, data analyses, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. The authors would like to thank the study participants for taking part in the semistructured interviews and the students—Andrea Riedel, Lea Beywl, Manuela Gasde, Saskia Locker, and Sophie Pausch—for assisting in participant recruitment, interview conduct, transcription, and coding.

Authors' Contributions

DDE and HB obtained funding for this study. LB developed the study design and the interview guide for the evaluation of barriers and facilitators and was responsible for the recruitment of interview participants from Preventive Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for Chronic Pain in Agriculturists (PACT-A), the coordination of the interview conduct, and the collection of interview data for PACT-A participants. JF and JT were responsible for the recruitment of interview participants from Prevention of Depression in Agriculturists (PROD-A), the coordination of the interview conduct, and the collection of interview data for PROD-A participants. LB was responsible for the evaluation method and the development of the code system and also supervised and contributed to qualitative data analysis and interpretation, performed the quantitative analysis, and drafted the manuscript. IT supervised the design and conduct of the qualitative interview study and the further writing of the manuscript. IT, HB, DDE, JF, and JT critically revised the article and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

IT reports having received fees for lectures and workshops in an e-mental health context from training institutes for psychotherapists. She was the research and implementation project lead of the trial site, Institute for Health Training Online (GET.ON), for the European implementation research project ImpleMentAll (November 2017 to March 2021), funded by the European Commission. HB reports receiving consultancy fees and fees for lectures and workshops from chambers of psychotherapists and training institutes for psychotherapists in an e-mental health context. DDE reports receiving consultancy fees and serving on the scientific advisory board for several companies, such as Minddistrict, Lantern, Novartis, Sanofi, Schoen Kliniken, IdeaMed, German health insurance companies (BARMER and Techniker Krankenkasse), and a number of federal chambers for psychotherapy. He is a stakeholder at the Institute for Health Training Online (GET.ON), which aims to implement scientific findings related to digital health interventions in routine care.

Multimedia Appendix 1

COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research) checklist. [DOCX File, 39 KB - mental v9i11e39122 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Comparison of participant characteristics of the interview subsamples in terms of study affiliation and intervention arms of the randomized controlled trials Prevention of Depression in Agriculturists (PROD-A) and Preventive Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for Chronic Pain in Agriculturists (PACT-A). [DOCX File , 26 KB - mental v9i11e39122 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Overview of the minor themes of the qualitative results for the identified barriers and facilitators (each mentioned by fewer than 4 participants).

[DOCX File, 31 KB - mental_v9i11e39122_app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e39122

JMIR Ment Health 2022 | vol. 9 | iss. 11 |e39122 | p.22 (page number not for citation purposes)

Significant differences in barriers and facilitators between Prevention of Depression in Agriculturists (PROD-A) and Preventive Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for Chronic Pain in Agriculturists (PACT-A) interviewees based on the agreement rates in the quantitative follow-up survey.

[DOCX File, 23 KB - mental_v9i11e39122_app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Descriptive statistics and Fisher exact test results of subgroup comparisons pertaining to completer status and study affiliation based on the agreement rates for the identified barriers and facilitators in the quantitative follow-up survey. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 31 KB - mental_v9i11e39122_app5.xlsx]

References

- Königbauer J, Letsch J, Doebler P, Ebert D, Baumeister H. Internet- and mobile-based depression interventions for people with diagnosed depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord 2017 Dec 1;223:28-40. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.07.021] [Medline: 28715726]
- 2. Moshe I, Terhorst Y, Philippi P, Domhardt M, Cuijpers P, Cristea I, et al. Digital interventions for the treatment of depression: a meta-analytic review. Psychol Bull 2021 Aug;147(8):749-786. [doi: 10.1037/bul0000334] [Medline: 34898233]
- 3. Reins JA, Buntrock C, Zimmermann J, Grund S, Harrer M, Lehr D, et al. Efficacy and moderators of Internet-based interventions in adults with subthreshold depression: an individual participant data meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Psychother Psychosom 2021;90(2):94-106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000507819] [Medline: 32544912]
- 4. Lin J, Paganini S, Sander L, Lüking M, Ebert DD, Buhrman M, et al. An Internet-based intervention for chronic pain. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2017 Oct 13;114(41):681-688 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2017.0681] [Medline: 29082858]
- 5. Baumeister H, Paganini S, Sander LB, Lin J, Schlicker S, Terhorst Y, et al. Effectiveness of a guided Internet- and mobile-based intervention for patients with chronic back pain and depression (WARD-BP): a multicenter, pragmatic randomized controlled trial. Psychother Psychosom 2021;90(4):255-268. [doi: 10.1159/000511881] [Medline: 33321501]
- 6. Carpenter KM, Stoner SA, Mundt JM, Stoelb B. An online self-help CBT intervention for chronic lower back pain. Clin J Pain 2012 Jan;28(1):14-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/AJP.0b013e31822363db] [Medline: 21681084]
- Buhrman M, Syk M, Burvall O, Hartig T, Gordh T, Andersson G. Individualized guided Internet-delivered cognitive-behavior therapy for chronic pain patients with comorbid depression and anxiety: a randomized controlled trial. Clin J Pain 2015 Jun;31(6):504-516. [doi: 10.1097/AJP.00000000000176] [Medline: 25380222]
- Carlbring P, Andersson G, Cuijpers P, Riper H, Hedman-Lagerlöf E. Internet-based vs. face-to-face cognitive behavior therapy for psychiatric and somatic disorders: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Cogn Behav Ther 2018 Jan;47(1):1-18. [doi: 10.1080/16506073.2017.1401115] [Medline: 29215315]
- Donkin L, Christensen H, Naismith SL, Neal B, Hickie IB, Glozier N. A systematic review of the impact of adherence on the effectiveness of e-therapies. J Med Internet Res 2011 Aug 5;13(3):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1772] [Medline: 21821503]
- 10. Fuhr K, Schröder J, Berger T, Moritz S, Meyer B, Lutz W, et al. The association between adherence and outcome in an Internet intervention for depression. J Affect Disord 2018;229:443-449. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2017.12.028</u>] [Medline: <u>29331706</u>]
- 11. Zarski AC, Lehr D, Berking M, Riper H, Cuijpers P, Ebert DD. Adherence to Internet-based mobile-supported stress management: a pooled analysis of individual participant data from three randomized controlled trials. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jun 29;18(6):e146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4493] [Medline: 27357528]
- 12. Kelders SM, Kok RN, Ossebaard HC, Van Gemert-Pijnen JE. Persuasive system design does matter: a systematic review of adherence to web-based interventions. J Med Internet Res 2012 Nov 14;14(6):e152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2104] [Medline: 23151820]
- McCall HC, Hadjistavropoulos HD, Sundström CR. Exploring the role of persuasive design in unguided Internet-delivered cognitive behavioral therapy for depression and anxiety among adults: systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. J Med Internet Res 2021 Apr 29;23(4):e26939 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26939] [Medline: 33913811]
- 14. Zarski AC, Berking M, Reis D, Lehr D, Buntrock C, Schwarzer R, et al. Turning good intentions into actions by using the health action process approach to predict adherence to internet-based depression prevention: secondary analysis of a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jan 11;20(1):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8814] [Medline: 29326097]
- 15. Lin J, Faust B, Ebert DD, Krämer L, Baumeister H. A Web-based acceptance-facilitating intervention for identifying patients' acceptance, uptake, and adherence of internet- and mobile-based pain interventions: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018 Aug 21;20(8):e244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9925] [Medline: 30131313]
- Baumeister H, Seifferth H, Lin J, Nowoczin L, Lüking M, Ebert D. Impact of an acceptance facilitating intervention on patients' acceptance of Internet-based pain interventions: a randomized controlled trial. Clin J Pain 2015 Jun;31(6):528-535. [doi: 10.1097/AJP.000000000000118] [Medline: 24866854]



- 17. Eckert M, Ebert DD, Lehr D, Sieland B, Berking M. Does SMS-support make a difference? Effectiveness of a two-week online-training to overcome procrastination. A randomized controlled trial. Front Psychol 2018 Jul 5;9:1103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01103] [Medline: 30026713]
- Karyotaki E, Kleiboer A, Smit F, Turner DT, Pastor AM, Andersson G, et al. Predictors of treatment dropout in self-guided web-based interventions for depression: an 'individual patient data' meta-analysis. Psychol Med 2015 Oct;45(13):2717-2726. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291715000665] [Medline: 25881626]
- 19. Beatty L, Binnion C. A systematic review of predictors of, and reasons for, adherence to online psychological interventions. Int J Behav Med 2016 Dec;23(6):776-794. [doi: 10.1007/s12529-016-9556-9] [Medline: 26957109]
- 20. Carolan S, de Visser RO. Employees' perspectives on the facilitators and barriers to engaging with digital mental health interventions in the workplace: qualitative study. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Jan 19;5(1):e8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.9146] [Medline: 29351900]
- Donkin L, Glozier N. Motivators and motivations to persist with online psychological interventions: a qualitative study of treatment completers. J Med Internet Res 2012 Jun 22;14(3):e91 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.2100</u>] [Medline: <u>22743581</u>]
- 22. Eccles H, Nannarone M, Lashewicz B, Attridge M, Marchand A, Aiken A, et al. Barriers to the use of web-based mental health programs for preventing depression: qualitative study. JMIR Form Res 2021 Jul 15;5(7):e16949 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16949] [Medline: 34264195]
- Fennell K, Hull M, Jones M, Dollman J. A comparison of barriers to accessing services for mental and physical health conditions in a sample of rural Australian adults. Rural Remote Health 2018 Feb;18(1):4155 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.22605/RRH4155] [Medline: 29451985]
- 24. Jones AR, Cook TM, Wang J. Rural-urban differences in stigma against depression and agreement with health professionals about treatment. J Affect Disord 2011 Nov;134(1-3):145-150. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.05.013] [Medline: 21665289]
- 25. Vallury KD, Jones M, Oosterbroek C. Computerized cognitive behavior therapy for anxiety and depression in rural areas: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jun 5;17(6):e139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4145] [Medline: 26048193]
- 26. Hounsome B, Edwards RT, Hounsome N, Edwards-Jones G. Psychological morbidity of farmers and non-farming population: results from a UK survey. Community Ment Health J 2012 Aug;48(4):503-510. [doi: 10.1007/s10597-011-9415-8] [Medline: 21556782]
- Lunner Kolstrup C, Kallioniemi M, Lundqvist P, Kymäläinen HR, Stallones L, Brumby S. International perspectives on psychosocial working conditions, mental health, and stress of dairy farm operators. J Agromedicine 2013;18(3):244-255. [doi: 10.1080/1059924X.2013.796903] [Medline: 23844791]
- Torske MO, Hilt B, Glasscock D, Lundqvist P, Krokstad S. Anxiety and depression symptoms among farmers: the HUNT study, Norway. J Agromedicine 2016;21(1):24-33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/1059924X.2015.1106375] [Medline: 26488439]
- 29. Daghagh Yazd S, Wheeler SA, Zuo A. Key risk factors affecting farmers' mental health: a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 Dec 2;16(23):4849 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph16234849] [Medline: 31810320]
- 30. Kallioniemi MK, Simola AJ, Kymäläinen HR, Vesala HT, Louhelainen JK. Mental symptoms among Finnish farm entrepreneurs. Ann Agric Environ Med 2009;16(1):159-168 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19572488</u>]
- Osborne A, Blake C, Fullen BM, Meredith D, Phelan J, McNamara J, et al. Prevalence of musculoskeletal disorders among farmers: a systematic review. Am J Ind Med 2012 Feb;55(2):143-158. [doi: <u>10.1002/ajim.21033</u>] [Medline: <u>22069159</u>]
- 32. Fethke NB, Merlino LA, Gerr F, Schall Jr MC, Branch CA. Musculoskeletal pain among Midwest farmers and associations with agricultural activities. Am J Ind Med 2015 Mar;58(3):319-330. [doi: <u>10.1002/ajim.22398</u>] [Medline: <u>25345841</u>]
- 33. Braun L, Titzler I, Ebert DD, Buntrock C, Terhorst Y, Freund J, et al. Clinical and cost-effectiveness of guided internet-based interventions in the indicated prevention of depression in green professions (PROD-A): study protocol of a 36-month follow-up pragmatic randomized controlled trial. BMC Psychiatry 2019 Sep 9;19(1):278 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-019-2244-y] [Medline: 31500602]
- 34. Terhorst Y, Braun L, Titzler I, Buntrock C, Freund J, Thielecke J, et al. Clinical and cost-effectiveness of a guided internet-based Acceptance and Commitment Therapy to improve chronic pain-related disability in green professions (PACT-A): study protocol of a pragmatic randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open 2020 Sep 3;10(9):e034271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-034271] [Medline: 32883721]
- 35. Braun L, Titzler I, Terhorst Y, Freund J, Thielecke J, Ebert DD, et al. Effectiveness of guided internet-based interventions in the indicated prevention of depression in green professions (PROD-A): results of a pragmatic randomized controlled trial. J Affect Disord 2021 Jan 1;278:658-671. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.066] [Medline: 33096333]
- 36. Braun L, Titzler I, Terhorst Y, Freund J, Thielecke J, Ebert DD, et al. Are guided internet-based interventions for the indicated prevention of depression in green professions effective in the long run? Longitudinal analysis of the 6- and 12-month follow-up of a pragmatic randomized controlled trial (PROD-A). Internet Interv 2021 Sep 14;26:100455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100455] [Medline: 34900605]

- 37. van Ballegooijen W, Cuijpers P, van Straten A, Karyotaki E, Andersson G, Smit JH, et al. Adherence to Internet-based and face-to-face cognitive behavioural therapy for depression: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2014 Jul 16;9(7):e100674 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100674] [Medline: 25029507]
- Buntrock C, Ebert D, Lehr D, Riper H, Smit F, Cuijpers P, et al. Effectiveness of a web-based cognitive behavioural intervention for subthreshold depression: pragmatic randomised controlled trial. Psychother Psychosom 2015;84(6):348-358. [doi: 10.1159/000438673] [Medline: 26398885]
- 39. Freund J, Titzler I, Thielecke J, Braun L, Baumeister H, Berking M, et al. Implementing Internet- and tele-based interventions to prevent mental health disorders in farmers, foresters and gardeners (ImplementIT): study protocol for the multi-level evaluation of a nationwide project. BMC Psychiatry 2020 Aug 27;20(1):424 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-020-02800-z] [Medline: 32854660]
- 40. Buntrock C, Ebert DD, Lehr D, Cuijpers P, Riper H, Smit F, et al. Evaluating the efficacy and cost-effectiveness of Web-based indicated prevention of major depression: design of a randomised controlled trial. BMC Psychiatry 2014 Jan 31;14:25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-14-25] [Medline: 24485283]
- 41. Nobis S, Lehr D, Ebert DD, Berking M, Heber E, Baumeister H, et al. Efficacy and cost-effectiveness of a web-based intervention with mobile phone support to treat depressive symptoms in adults with diabetes mellitus type 1 and type 2: design of a randomised controlled trial. BMC Psychiatry 2013 Nov 15;13:306 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-13-306] [Medline: 24238346]
- 42. Ebert DD, Lehr D, Smit F, Zarski AC, Riper H, Heber E, et al. Efficacy and cost-effectiveness of minimal guided and unguided internet-based mobile supported stress-management in employees with occupational stress: a three-armed randomised controlled trial. BMC Public Health 2014 Aug 7;14:807 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-807] [Medline: 25099533]
- 43. Thiart H, Lehr D, Ebert DD, Sieland B, Berking M, Riper H. Log in and breathe out: efficacy and cost-effectiveness of an online sleep training for teachers affected by work-related strain--study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials 2013 Jun 11;14:169 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-14-169] [Medline: 23759035]
- 44. Ebenfeld L, Kleine Stegemann S, Lehr D, Ebert DD, Jazaieri H, van Ballegooijen W, et al. Efficacy of a hybrid online training for panic symptoms and agoraphobia: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials 2014 Nov 4;15:427 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-15-427] [Medline: 25370504]
- 45. Schaub MP, Blankers M, Lehr D, Boss L, Riper H, Dekker J, et al. Efficacy of an Internet-based self-help intervention to reduce co-occurring alcohol misuse and depression symptoms in adults: study protocol of a three-arm randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open 2016 May 25;6(5):e011457 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011457] [Medline: 27225652]
- 46. Lin J, Lüking M, Ebert DD, Buhrman M, Andersson G, Baumeister H. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of a guided and unguided internet-based Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for chronic pain: study protocol for a three-armed randomised controlled trial. Internet Interv 2015 Mar;2(1):7-16. [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2014.11.005]
- 47. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- Palinkas LA, Horwitz SM, Green CA, Wisdom JP, Duan N, Hoagwood K. Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. Adm Policy Ment Health 2015 Sep;42(5):533-544 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y] [Medline: 24193818]
- 49. Dresing T, Pehl T. Praxisbuch Interview, Transkription & Analyse Anleitungen und Regelsysteme für qualitativ Forschende. 8th edition. Marburg, Germany: Eigenverl; 2018.
- 50. Kruse J. Qualitative Interviewforschung: Ein integrativer Ansatz. 2nd edition. Weinheim, Germany: Beltz Juventa; 2015.
- 51. Schäfer B. Barriers and facilitators of home exercises. The perspective of patients with chronic low back pain. Physioscience 2017;13(01):17-24. [doi: 10.1055/S-0035-1567153]
- 52. Mayring P. Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse. Grundlagen und Techniken. 11th edition. Weinheim, Germany: Beltz; 2015.
- 53. McHugh ML. Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. Biochem Med (Zagreb) 2012;22(3):276-282 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23092060]
- 54. Brennan RL, Prediger DJ. Coefficient kappa: some uses, misuses, and alternatives. Educ Psychol Meas 1981;41(3):687-699. [doi: 10.1177/001316448104100307]
- 55. Mayring P. Einführung in die qualitative Sozialforschung: Eine Anleitung zu qualitativem Denken. 6th edition. Weinheim, Germany: Beltz Verlag; 2016.
- 56. MAXQDA. VERBI Software. Berlin, Germany: VERBI Software; 2018. URL: <u>https://www.maxqda.com/about</u> [accessed 2022-10-17]
- 57. Field A, Miles J, Field Z. Discovering Statistics Using R. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications; 2012.
- 58. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows. IBM Corp. Armonk, NY, USA: IBM Corp; 2019. URL: <u>https://www.ibm.com/in-en/</u> analytics/spss-statistics-software [accessed 2022-10-17]
- 59. Johansson O, Michel T, Andersson G, Paxling B. Experiences of non-adherence to Internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy: a qualitative study. Internet Interv 2015 May;2(2):137-142. [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2015.02.006]

- 60. Casey LM, Wright MA, Clough BA. Comparison of perceived barriers and treatment preferences associated with internet-based and face-to-face psychological treatment of depression. Int J Cyber Behav Psychol Learn 2014;4(4):16-22. [doi: 10.4018/ijcbpl.2014100102]
- 61. Vayro C, Brownlow C, Ireland M, March S. 'Farming is not just an occupation [but] a whole lifestyle': a qualitative examination of lifestyle and cultural factors affecting mental health help seeking in Australian farmers. Sociol Ruralis 2019;60(1):151-173. [doi: 10.1111/soru.12274]
- 62. Hagen BN, Sawatzky A, Harper SL, O'Sullivan TL, Jones-Bitton A. "Farmers aren't into the emotions and things, right?": a qualitative exploration of motivations and barriers for mental health help-seeking among Canadian farmers. J Agromedicine 2022 Apr;27(2):113-123. [doi: 10.1080/1059924X.2021.1893884] [Medline: 33618614]
- 63. Vayro C, Brownlow C, Ireland M, March S. "Don't ... break down on Tuesday because the mental health services are only in town on Thursday": a qualitative study of service provision related barriers to, and facilitators of farmers' mental health help-seeking. Adm Policy Ment Health 2021 May;48(3):514-527. [doi: 10.1007/s10488-020-01085-4] [Medline: 32930922]
- 64. Griffiths KM, Christensen H. Internet-based mental health programs: a powerful tool in the rural medical kit. Aust J Rural Health 2007 Apr;15(2):81-87. [doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1584.2007.00859.x] [Medline: 17441815]
- 65. Wilhelmsen M, Lillevoll K, Risør MB, Høifødt R, Johansen ML, Waterloo K, et al. Motivation to persist with internet-based cognitive behavioural treatment using blended care: a qualitative study. BMC Psychiatry 2013 Nov 7;13:296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-13-296] [Medline: 24199672]
- 66. Titzler I, Saruhanjan K, Berking M, Riper H, Ebert DD. Barriers and facilitators for the implementation of blended psychotherapy for depression: a qualitative pilot study of therapists' perspective. Internet Interv 2018 Jan 16;12:150-164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.01.002] [Medline: 30135779]
- 67. Georges A, Alterman T, Gabbard S, Grzywacz JG, Shen R, Nakamoto J, et al. Depression, social factors, and farmworker health care utilization. J Rural Health 2013 Aug;29:s7-16. [doi: 10.1111/jrh.12008] [Medline: 23944282]
- 68. Brew B, Inder K, Allen J, Thomas M, Kelly B. The health and wellbeing of Australian farmers: a longitudinal cohort study. BMC Public Health 2016 Sep 15;16:988 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3664-y] [Medline: 27634298]
- 69. Brumby SA, Willder SJ, Martin J. The sustainable farm families project: changing attitudes to health. Rural Remote Health 2009;9(1):1012 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19292570</u>]
- 70. Roy P, Tremblay G, Robertson S. Help-seeking among male farmers: connecting masculinities and mental health. Sociol Ruralis 2014;54(4):460-476. [doi: 10.1111/soru.12045]
- 71. Schwarzer R, Hamilton K. Changing behavior using the Health Action Process Approach. In: Hagger MS, Cameron LD, Hamilton K, Hankonen N, Lintunen T, editors. The Handbook of Behavior Change. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; 2020:89-103.
- 72. Freund J, Buntrock C, Braun L, Thielecke J, Baumeister H, Berking M, et al. Digital prevention of depression for farmers? A qualitative study on participants' experiences regarding determinants of acceptance and satisfaction with a tailored guided internet intervention program. Internet Interv 2022 Aug 9;29:100566 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2022.100566] [Medline: 36039069]
- 73. Gunn KM, Skaczkowski G, Dollman J, Vincent AD, Short CE, Brumby S, et al. Combining farmers' preferences with evidence-based strategies to prevent and lower farmers' distress: co-design and acceptability testing of ifarmwell. JMIR Hum Factors 2022 Jan 11;9(1):e27631 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27631] [Medline: 35014963]
- 74. Borsook D, Youssef AM, Simons L, Elman I, Eccleston C. When pain gets stuck: the evolution of pain chronification and treatment resistance. Pain 2018 Dec;159(12):2421-2436 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001401] [Medline: 30234696]
- 75. Neter E, Brainin E. eHealth literacy: extending the digital divide to the realm of health information. J Med Internet Res 2012 Jan 27;14(1):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1619] [Medline: 22357448]
- 76. Sui W, Facca D. Digital health in a broadband land: the role of digital health literacy within rural environments. Heal Sci Inq 2020 Aug 10;11(1):140-143. [doi: 10.29173/hsi294]
- 77. Topooco N, Riper H, Araya R, Berking M, Brunn M, Chevreul K, E-COMPARED consortium. Attitudes towards digital treatment for depression: a European stakeholder survey. Internet Interv 2017 Jan 25;8:1-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2017.01.001] [Medline: 30135823]
- 78. Titzler I, Berking M, Schlicker S, Riper H, Ebert DD. Barriers and facilitators for referrals of primary care patients to blended internet-based psychotherapy for depression: mixed methods study of general practitioners' views. JMIR Ment Health 2020 Aug 18;7(8):e18642 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18642] [Medline: 32673213]

Abbreviations

RenderX

COREQ: Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research IBI: internet-based intervention PACT-A: Preventive Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for Chronic Pain in Agriculturists PROD-A: Prevention of Depression in Agriculturists RCT: randomized controlled trial

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e39122

Edited by J Torous; submitted 29.04.22; peer-reviewed by G Skaczkowski, A Notenbomer; comments to author 02.06.22; revised version received 01.08.22; accepted 06.08.22; published 09.11.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Braun L, Freund J, Thielecke J, Baumeister H, Ebert DD, Titzler I Barriers to and Facilitators of Engaging With and Adhering to Guided Internet-Based Interventions for Depression Prevention and Reduction of Pain-Related Disability in Green Professions: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e39122 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e39122 doi:10.2196/39122 PMID:36350684

©Lina Braun, Johanna Freund, Janika Thielecke, Harald Baumeister, David Daniel Ebert, Ingrid Titzler. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 09.11.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Health Needs for Suicide Prevention and Acceptance of e-Mental Health Interventions in Adolescents and Young Adults: Qualitative Study

Lisa Blattert¹, MSc; Christoph Armbruster², MSc; Eva Buehler³, MSc; Andrea Heiberger⁴, MSc; Patrick Augstein⁵, MSc; Sarina Kaufmann⁶, MSc; Birgit Reime⁷, MPH, SCD; Rural Suicide Prevention Study Group⁷

¹Scientific Institute of Office-Based Haematologists and Oncologists (WINHO), Köln, Germany

²Section of Health Care Research and Rehabilitation Research (SEVERA), Medical Center, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany

³Department of Chemistry and Didactics, University of Education Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

⁴Research Methods in Health Sciences, Faculty of Mathematics, Natural Sciences and Technology, Freiburg University of Education, Freiburg, Germany ⁵Infection Management, City of Leverkusen, Leverkusen, Germany

⁶Case Management, Clinical Centre Schwarzwald-Baar, Villingen-Schwenningen, Germany

⁷Department of Applied Health Sciences, Furtwangen University of Applied Sciences, Furtwangen, Germany

Corresponding Author:

Lisa Blattert, MSc Scientific Institute of Office-Based Haematologists and Oncologists (WINHO) Vor den Siebenburgen 2 Köln, 50676 Germany Phone: 49 221933191918 Email: <u>blattert@winho.de</u>

Abstract

Background: Adolescence is a phase of higher vulnerability for suicidal behavior. In Germany, almost 500 adolescents and young adults aged 15-25 years commit suicide each year. Youths in rural areas are characterized by a higher likelihood of poorer mental health. In rural areas, appropriate support for adolescents and young adults in mental health crises is difficult to access. The general acceptability of digital communication in youths can make the provision of an eHealth tool a promising strategy.

Objective: The aim of this study was to explore the health needs regarding suicide prevention for adolescents and young adults in rural areas of Germany and Switzerland and to identify characteristics of suitable e-mental health interventions.

Methods: This study reports on a qualitative secondary analysis of archived data, which had been collected through formative participatory research. Using 32 semistructured interviews (individually or in groups of 2) with 13 adolescents and young adults (aged 18-25 years) and 23 experts from relevant fields, we applied a deductive-inductive methodological approach and used qualitative content analyses according to Kuckartz (2016).

Results: Experts as well as adolescents and young adults have reported health needs in digital suicide prevention. The health needs for rural adolescents and young adults in crises were characterized by several categories. First, the need for suicide prevention in general was highlighted. Additionally, the need for a peer concept and web-based suicide prevention were stressed. The factors influencing the acceptability of a peer-driven, web-based support were related to low-threshold access, lifelike intervention, anonymity, and trustworthiness.

Conclusions: The results suggest a need for suicide prevention services for adolescents and young adults in this rural setting. Peer-driven and web-based suicide prevention services may add an important element of support during crises. By establishing such a service, an improvement in mental health support and well-being could be enabled. These services should be developed with the participation of the target group, taking anonymity, trustworthiness, and low-threshold access into account.

(JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e39079) doi:10.2196/39079



KEYWORDS

suicide prevention; e-mental health; peer support; adolescents and young adults; health needs; acceptance; qualitative data analysis; suicide; mental health; teens; adolescent; young adult; vulnerable; behavior; Germany; rural; intervention; formative; digital; online

Introduction

Background: Prevalence of Mental Illness, Suicide, and Suicidal Ideation

Globally, mental illness and suicide are growing public health concerns [1,2]. Worldwide, more than 700,000 people die by suicide every year. Suicide is the fourth leading cause of death in young people aged 15-29 years [3]. Although the global suicide rate is 0.6 per 100,000 persons among adolescents aged ≤ 14 years [4], it reaches 7.4 per 100,000 persons among adolescents aged 15-19 years [5]. Risk factors for suicide in adolescents and young adults (AYA) include relationship breakdown, trauma, abuse, and a broken home combined with a low level of coping capability [6].

In Germany, almost 500 AYA aged 15-25 years commit suicide each year [7]. The suicide rate (per 100,000 inhabitants) in 2019 reached 0.6 deaths in adolescents aged \leq 14 years, 4.1 deaths in those aged 15-19 years, and 6.2 deaths in young adults aged 20-24 years. This finding means that about 1 in 5 deaths between the ages of 15-24 years can be attributed to suicide (18.6% in those aged 15-19 years and 21.2% in those aged 20-24 year) [8].

Gender differences are expressed by 67.7% (105/155) male compared to 32.3% (50/155) female suicides in those aged 15-19 years and by 79.3% (260/328) male compared to 20.7% (68/328) female suicides in those aged 20-24 years [7]. Girls and young women are characterized by a higher prevalence of suicidal ideation than boys and young men of the same age (19.8% vs 9.3%). This difference in prevalence is also reflected in the percentage of suicide attempts (10.8% female vs 4.9% male suicide attempts). Repeated suicide attempts were assessed as 37% for males and 50% for female adolescents aged 15-19 years who already had made at least one attempt. In general, boys choose more lethal suicide methods than girls [9].

Another previous study [10] comparing suicidal ideation rates in cohorts of German university students between 2016 and 2020 reached 2 main findings: (1) suicidal ideation was more common in German students in 2020 than in the years before, and (2) depression levels were higher in 2020 than in 2016. The findings point to the substantial burden of the COVID-19 pandemic on young people. The authors emphasize that helplines and web-based counseling for depression and suicidal ideation should be promoted to the public and the potential support by e-mental health interventions for people who have suicidal behavior should be used and expanded [10].

Specifically in the context of rural areas, youths are characterized by a higher likelihood of poorer mental health. In Switzerland, living in a rural area was associated with an increased risk for suicide among adolescents aged 10-18 years [11]. In the United States, the incidence of suicide was higher in rural adolescents than in urban youths, and this gap has

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e39079

increased over time. Fewer youth-serving mental health or suicide prevention facilities were available in rural areas [12-14]. Poor coping skills combined with alcohol abuse have been found more often among adolescents in rural areas in Australia [15]. Compared to a representative German sample, young adolescents from rural areas in Germany had significantly lower levels of self-esteem [16]. Spatial data on youth suicide in Germany have not been published yet, and the situation of youths with mental health issues in rural areas is largely unknown.

Conventional Intervention Methods and Their Barriers in Rural Areas

Many AYA experience difficulties accessing mental health care and counseling [17], which has always been an issue in rural communities [18]. Independent of place, the stigma, shame, and helplessness related to mental illness and suicidal behavior seem to be a serious barrier for seeking treatment [19,20]. Further obstacles are the lack of accessible and acceptable mental health services and long wait times for initial consultations and therapy [21,22]. In addition to the already mentioned barriers to the use of psychosocial care in rural areas, another aspect is worth highlighting. Young people in rural areas are often dependent on their working parents to accompany them to (medical) appointments, as psychosocial care institutes are often far away from the place of residence, which can additionally cause the feeling of being a burden [23]. These issues may be exacerbated in rural areas.

Digital Solutions and Acceptance

To reach rural AYA effectively and comprehensively, a growing body of literature recommends the implementation of more affordable, accessible, and acceptable health services and support via e-mental health care solutions [24,25]. e-Mental health is defined by Christensen et al [26] as mental health services providing (1) information, (2) screening, (3) assessment and monitoring, and (4) intervention and social support, available or enhanced via the internet and related technologies.

e-Mental health has the potential to counteract the barriers of conventional offers by being available at times convenient for the client [19,27-29]. Most adolescents have access to the internet and feel competent using it [29,30]. The general acceptability of digital communication in youth can make the provision of an eHealth tool a promising strategy [19,21,31]. However, relatively few studies have addressed which of the various types of e-mental health services are accepted by rural AYA in crises and by experts who are relevant for the implementation of such services.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to explore in a rural context whether there are health needs for suicide prevention among AYA and what type of e-mental health tool would be accepted by rural AYA and relevant experts.

XSL•FO RenderX

Methods

Recruitment and Data Collection

A qualitative research design was applied to comprehensively understand the need for an eHealth suicide prevention measure for children and AYA and to explore the acceptance of such an intervention. This study reports on a qualitative secondary analysis of archived data, which had been collected through formative participatory research [32]. The analysis consists of several projects differing in research aims such as the development of a digital suicide prevention application for youths or a strength, weakness, opportunities, and threats analysis of a nonprofit collaboration for suicide prevention for youths in a rural area. Above these particular aims, each of the parts was characterized by the broader aim to explore the need for (web-based, peer oriented) suicide prevention at rural sites in the south of Germany and Switzerland. The total data covering the overlapping aim have not been analyzed before.

The data were required to inform subsequent e-mental health intervention development. This participatory work aimed to explore local understandings of mental health and crisis intervention needs experienced by AYA. We were explicitly seeking the views not only of AYA themselves but also of experts in this field, acknowledging the potential of perceived local norms in designing a suitable intervention. The archived data presented a window into the social experience of AYA in small communities in Southwest Germany in the era just before the COVID-19 pandemic appeared. The area is characterized by a heterogeneous regional structure that includes metropolitan areas (eg, Stuttgart and Freiburg), peripheral zones, and the rural periphery (eg, Black Forest). Due to technological industries and tourism, this region is one of the most affluent areas in Germany.

Both expert interviews and interviews with the target group were conducted [33]. To gain as much interdisciplinary understanding of the topic as possible and to gather a rich and profound range of content, interviewees from different disciplines and occupational groups were acquired [34]. The interview guidelines had been tailored according to the role of the interviewee [35]. For instance, the experts were asked how they perceive the use of mental health services or support services for AYA in crisis situations compared between urban and rural areas. Regarding the peers, we aimed to identify the requirements for effective e-mental health services and the acceptance of web-based counseling compared to conventional offers. The target group were asked when and how they were confronted with the issue of suicidality and what possibilities they see to counteract the stigmatization of suicidality and mental illness.

The total number of the secondary data set was 38. We divided our AYA sample by age, and 2 AYA were excluded due to being underage. This study reports on AYA aged 18-25 years. Further demographics were not part of the study due to concerns regarding anonymity in this rural area. Therefore, our study is based on 32 single or tandem interviews separated according to experts and peers with 36 individuals in total (28 single interviews and 4 tandem interviews) and lasting from 22 to 85 minutes. The sample is shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Professional background and personal experience of the study sample (N=36).

Interviewee	Professional background and personal experience	Sample, n (n _{female} , n _{male})	Interview, n (n _{single} , n _{tandem})
Experts	 School social workers Liaison teachers Staff from crisis counseling centers University psychologist Grief counselor Managing director of a professional self-help app for depression Staff of the regional health care system 	23 (20, 3)	21 (19, 2)
Peers	AYA ^a	9 (6, 3)	7 (5, 2)
Target group	AYA who were diagnosed with a mental illnessAYA with suicidal ideation or past suicide attempt	4 (2, 2)	4 (4, 0)
Total	N/A ^b	36 (28, 8)	32 (28, 4)

^aAYA: adolescents and young adults.

^bN/A: Not applicable.

Data Analysis

Coding and data analysis were performed by an interdisciplinary research team, composed of 6 researchers from the fields of health sciences, social work, and psychology. Interview transcripts were analyzed in accordance with the qualitative content analysis following Kuckartz [33]. This is a rigorous qualitative method offering a reliable structure to the analysis of the interview transcripts. Coding was conducted in an iterative process [36]. We searched across the data and identified themes

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e39079
```

RenderX

following the 7 phases of the analysis outlined by Kuckartz [36]. (1) Familiarizing ourselves with the data—individual transcripts were read and reread, and points of interest were noted. (2) Developing main topical categories—a list of initial codes was devised first from a deductive approach based on our research questions. In this step, we assigned preliminary themes based on the literature review and the interview guide, and then searched for passages referring to the need for peer-driven and web-based suicide prevention. We then continued analyzing from an inductive approach to ensure that further main topics

in the data were captured. This step was followed by (3) the initial coding process—coding the entire interview material using the main categories; (4) compiling all of the passages assigned to each of the main categories; (5) inductive determination of subcategories; (6) final coding of the entire material using the elaborate category system; and (7) simple and complex analysis. Codes of similar content were summarized to form subcategories. These subcategories in turn were grouped according to content, forming main categories. At each stage of the process, the researchers met to discuss codes and themes and resolve any discrepancies, verifying and refining the results.

Ethics Approval

The study was approved by the ethics committee of the Furtwangen University of Applied Sciences (Proposal 20-073).

Results

In all, 7 main categories were extracted from the qualitative data analysis: need for suicide prevention in general, need for a peer concept, need for web-based suicide prevention, low-threshold access, lifelike intervention, anonymity, and trustworthiness.

Need for Suicide Prevention in General

The rural region, where the interview took place, was characterized as a more conservative area where the dominating motto was that "here, the world is still all right." Youths were expected to get along better in these communities than in the "anonymous" cities. According to the experts we interviewed, AYA in crises can feel very lonely in this setting. Suicide rates as well as suicide attempt rates demand intervention: "When one sees how high the NEED among adolescents is, especially when looking at the number of suicide attempts" (Expert 1). Further, suicidal behavior is perceived as a "cry for help" from the young person:

...behind the numbers there are...fates and these fates are very different, but have one thing in common, that these young people were in a desperate situation and don't really want to die. Only they don't want to live like that anymore and don't see any alternative. And, every suicide attempt is a cry for help and unfortunately many calls for help then end in death, because the young people already consider this very carefully. "What do I do, how do I do it?" There are even these forums on the internet about setting a date for suicide. [Expert 6]

Need for Peer Concept

Relevant characteristics of the supporting individuals are whether they are trained, whether they have experience with suicide and life crises, and whether they belong to the peer group: "[I think] that a peer hopefully understand peers better than anyone else, older, more studied" (Expert 7). Professional support can be augmented; it requires experience with the relevant social situations as well as a person who can relate with someone where they are at eye level with each other: Then of course the eye-level with peers, that there are no adults...but also in the language of the young people...at eye-level, I think there are more adolescents to address. [Expert 6]

Need for Web-Based Suicide Prevention

Young people have high expectations of service providers. Due to social and technological changes, they expect faster and always-accessible psychological care. The barrier to leave the house or to move to a counseling center can be addressed by support that is available independent of time of day, appointments, and accessibility:

We—adolescents are on mobile phones most of the time, and that's way better than going to some psychologist or someone else, just to make an appointment. Until you get one, I find such a quick help nearby is good. [AYA 1]

There is an expanded need for alternative forms and concepts of intervention, especially for AYA. To counteract the lack of adequate support services in rural settings, the experts suggested web-based interventions: "As the target group of adolescents and children is addressed, this online consultation is just what exactly is in demand at the moment. We adolescents are daily on our phones " (AYA 5). This view is supported by another expert: "But of course, the digital offers are definitely a solution" (Expert 2).

To develop and implement an e-mental health intervention, such as an app, relevant characteristics have to be identified to promote the acceptance and use of this app in children and AYA. Experts and adolescents described several aspects of the acceptance of e-mental health such as low-threshold access, lifelike intervention, anonymity, and trustworthiness.

Low-Threshold Accessibility

The adolescents themselves mentioned that they often do not know how to get professional help in difficult situations and first look for information on the internet. It is often desired to list possible contact points in the app (AYA 6 and Expert 12). The experts confirmed a large service gap in relation to suicide prevention that may lead to "waiting lists" (Experts 3, 4, and 8 and AYA 3) in finding appointments in appropriate intervention services: "Since 2009, the demand is so high that we can no longer take everyone" (Expert 10). A psychologist described the temporally "limited possibilities...[of conventional counseling centers. Some of them are accessible only] a few hours a week...[and] do not have the setting for something like that, to address [the need]" (Expert 11). In addition, the problem of accessibility was expressed by a social worker who cares for adolescents in suicidal crises:

Then there are offices which are outsourced and only partially staffed and where you have to collect exact information, when there is anyone reachable, maybe Tuesday morning from 10 to 12 a.m. or so and I assume that it is for young people a lot harder because they are struggling to go anywhere anyway. [Expert 9]



The experts report that an important determinant for the acceptance and use of an app is low-threshold access:

...common advantages are, of course, that it is accessible from anywhere, that it is, low-threshold and, in some ways, less judgmental or, more free or, more free apps should be used for suicide prevention... [Expert 9]

Mobile apps and web-based advice offer users help in a simple and practical way. Nowadays, most adolescents have a smartphone and can be reached anywhere via the internet. Digital and technological advances (AYA 5) are being continuously developed. Youths in need of help can access and interact with a mobile app independent of time and place:

Of course it's the great thing when you say you have some online service or something...or an app where everyone can access it, no matter where I am. Or also independent of the time. [Expert 1]

It would definitely be easier to find help by using a mobile app or accessing web-based advice than to make a phone call (AYA 2). An expert from a web-based counseling service had the experience "that it happens more often with the young people also by email that it is somehow again a smaller threshold than to have to call us" (Expert 1).

Lifelike Intervention

Due to this trend toward digitalization, smartphones are socially established and available to a large extend, especially among youths: "Because everyone has a mobile phone anyway and most of them are on it almost all the time anyway" (Expert 3). Although the older generations prefer personal conversations, young people spend a lot of time writing messages: "Well, the script-based is much more common than calling somewhere or something. Why do they use their smartphones, to write" (Expert 9).

In view of this, lifelike intervention should be integrated into their everyday life or their living space. As the target group always has the mobile phone at their disposal, it is already known that "The internet is principally our habitat" (AYA 5). Lifelike interventions should therefore serve the medium that the respective target group, in this case adolescents, already use in their everyday lives intensively.

Anonymity

Due to the fact that suicidality still is a taboo and that those affected are afraid of stigmatization and discrimination, they often avoid talking about their problems and renounce the use of therapies and preventive measures: "Many do not dare to go to someone and say they have depression or they are bullied or anything else" (Expert 3). e-Mental health interventions can be accessed on an anonymous basis, which can increase the use and acceptance of suicide prevention. Particularly among the target group of children and adolescents, the protection of anonymity seems to have a high priority. Based on anonymity, it is easier for adolescents to open up and develop trust: "I think that it is a great advantage of online counseling, because this trust works much more easily, because this anonymity is there" (Expert 1). Especially, male adolescents may benefit from anonymous web-based interventions, as young men appear to be particularly vulnerable and have higher rates of suicide:

...they do not even have to reveal whether they are male or female, but it runs anonymously and they can hide behind it and, it can be said, it's like a camouflage hideout with a small hole. Then they contact the outside, so us and besides they are well protected and out of this protection I think they are also more courageous and approachable. [Expert 6]

Anonymity has a strong impact on young people's behavior as they gain trust more easily and become more cooperative and self-confident.

Trustworthiness

Essentially, there is the problem that "there are a thousand apps and you think so…That it is not seen as professional help. Probably. You don't know who developed it, why you developed it and who is behind it" (AYA 2). This can be counteracted by increasing the trustworthiness of web-based counseling. Ratings are important when using an app, and the users try to select the best fitting e-mental health interventions and to build up a basis of trust in the app and the offer:

...I think I have to read through some references on the internet before I would trust them I say now but I find a good idea in every case that somebody is there for such a person so how it reaches the individual is then I think more personal... [AYA 3]

An expert suggested that a well-respected person in local life, who is accepted by the target group, should be used as a kind of "role model" or patron. "If, for example, a famous person, a doctor, a professor, talks about it and says that it helps you and will recommend it as well" (AYA 2), more young people might also be encouraged to get this help. The factor of trustworthiness is strongly influenced by the particular person who is in charge of the individual seeking help: "if I just had an app and write and if [I get] a trained [professional] one who answers me that has no idea...how trustworthy is that or how safe can you be" (AYA 4).

In summary, experts as well as AYA have reported health needs in digital suicide prevention. The acceptance of an e-mental health intervention in the vulnerable group of rural adolescents may be increased by low-threshold access, lifelike intervention, as well as anonymity and trustworthiness.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This is the first study investigating the need and acceptability of e-mental health among AYA in rural areas in Germany and Switzerland. The interviews reflected that there is a high need for improvement in the area of e-mental health suicide prevention. Based on 32 qualitative interviews (with 36 individuals), 4 subcategories were extracted that may enhance the acceptability for suicide prevention. These included *low-threshold access, lifelike and authentic intervention, anonymity*, and *trustworthiness*. The results of this study indicate that these AYA often feel powerless and "lost" in the mental

health care system and that pathways of help in critical situations are often unclear. Suicidality still is a taboo and those affected may be afraid of stigmatization and discrimination by society and may hesitate to seek help and professional support [18,27,37]. They avoid talking about their problems and refrain from therapies and preventive measures. Pauwels et al [19] and Kennedy et al [17] also found that the stigmatization and fear of exclusion may hamper the use of suicide prevention assistance, especially in male adolescents.

Another important result is the large gap in suicide prevention services due to long wait times. In difficult situations, psychiatric intramural care can be the only available option, and adolescents in rural settings may be even more afraid of being admitted to a psychiatric hospital away from their home. Our results confirm the studies of Nübling et al [21] and Pisani et al [22] in terms of a lack of psychotherapists and difficulties in the accessibility of demand-oriented care for suicidal children and adolescents. Our results support the idea of improving e-mental health intervention measures to get fast and always-accessible psychological support. In this framework, the particular content and strategy of support could be designed by a professional and peer team in the background, whereas the communication with the help-seeking adolescent can be conducted by a peer. In addition, our study confirms that young people feel accepted and supported by their peers [38]. However, although some studies found support for the positive consequences of peer support for adolescents in crises, there are not enough randomized studies yet to promote the peer concept in general [39-41].

e-Mental health can provide a simple and practical way for those seeking help. Due to increasing digitalization, most AYA have a smartphone with internet access and use it frequently [30]. Thus, the widespread use of smartphones enables low-threshold access that makes it easier for young people to find help with e-mental health. Compared to traditional analog support services, e-mental health offers young people the advantage of not having to seek help in their personal environment. In our sample, web-based counseling experts pointed out that it can be more convenient and familiar for rural young people to write an email instead of calling their doctors, therapists, and other service providers, who may be difficult to reach. This finding supports the work of other studies [28,29] that stress the high acceptance of mobile apps and point out that anonymity and low-threshold access via the internet can improve the use of suicide prevention

services. These characteristics may be of utmost importance in rural areas where sociocultural barriers—such as a fear of gossip, a preference for self-reliance, and informal sources of help (eg, friends and family)—as well as the general reluctance to acknowledge mental health problems along with limited mental health literacy may additionally hamper help seeking. Geographic and financial barriers such as limited availability of transport can contribute to difficulties associated with help seeking in rural settings [19-22]. Web-based services may improve rural young people's use of the broader mental health system in general.

Strength and Limitations

We collected several interviews of experts and adolescents from various demographic and occupational backgrounds, providing a basic picture of the expressed needs of rural AYA and experts involved. From a methodological perspective, we summed up a heterogeneous sample and were able to form special subcategories for more detailed analysis through the inductive procedure. Although all the researchers have extensive knowledge in the field of public health and health promotion, only 3 of them are experts in suicide prevention, so the approach to the data was largely unbiased. A limitation is that the interviewees stemmed from only 1 local region (Southwest Germany and a small part of Switzerland). Furthermore, it can be noted that there is an assumption that the use and extent as well as the acceptance of the digital world are ubiquitous, which is not always the case. In sum, the study indicates a need for further research in digital suicide prevention.

Conclusion

The results suggest a need for suicide prevention services for adolescents in this rural setting. Peer-driven e-mental health suicide prevention for AYA may add an important element of support during crises in this age group. These offers should be developed with participation from the target group, taking anonymity, trustworthiness, and low-threshold access into account. Further studies with rural adolescents will be needed, in particular to explore usage and effectiveness.

e-Mental health intervention in general may provide an opportunity to raise mental health awareness. In summary, these findings may add an important contribution to public health approaches aimed at improving the mental health and well-being of AYA living in rural areas.

Acknowledgments

Rural Suicide Prevention Study Group (collaborative author) included the following collaborators: Fatma Aydinözü, Helen Berweiler, Judith Brenneisen, Franziska Eberhardt, Lara Kim Ehlert, Dafina Gashi, Adelheid Glott, Sonja Gscheidle, Lara Hübener, Toni Hübener, Lisa-Marie Klotzbücher, Henrike König, Selina Kühn, Nadeschda Lampel, Saskia Rosina Masur, Mona Meffle, Pia Evelyn Meier, Natalie Perkuhn, Gülsah Tarcan, Patrick Warth.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

XS	•	F	0
Rer	d	er	·Χ

- 1. Turecki G, Brent DA, Gunnell D, O'Connor RC, Oquendo MA, Pirkis J, et al. Suicide and suicide risk. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2019 Oct 24;5(1):74. [doi: 10.1038/s41572-019-0121-0] [Medline: 31649257]
- Fond G, Llorca P, Boucekine M, Zendjidjian X, Brunel L, Lancon C, et al. Disparities in suicide mortality trends between United States of America and 25 European countries: retrospective analysis of WHO mortality database. Sci Rep 2016 Feb 17;6:20256 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/srep20256] [Medline: 26883796]
- 3. Suicide worldwide in 2019: global health estimates. World Health Organization. 2021 Jun 16. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/</u> publications-detail-redirect/9789240026643 [accessed 2022-10-26]
- 4. Dervic K, Brent DA, Oquendo MA. Completed suicide in childhood. Psychiatr Clin North Am 2008 Jun;31(2):271-291. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.psc.2008.01.006</u>] [Medline: <u>18439449</u>]
- 5. CO4.1: teenage suicide (15-19 years old). Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 2011 Oct 28. URL: https://www.oecd.org/els/family/48968307.pdf [accessed 2021-12-02]
- Scherr S. Begriffsdefinitionen und Modellvorstellungen von Suizidalität und Depression. Article in German. In: Depression – Medien – Suizid: Zur empirischen Relevanz von Depressionen und Medien f
 ür die Suizidalit
 ät. Wiesbaden, Germany: Springer Fachmedien; 2016:43-97.
- Anzahl der Suizide 2020: nach Altersgruppen. Article in German. Statistisches Bundesamt (Destatis). 2021 Nov 04. URL: <u>https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Gesundheit/Todesursachen/Tabellen/sterbefaelle-suizid-</u> <u>erwachsene-kinder.html</u> [accessed 2021-12-02]
- Unfälle, Gewalt, Selbstverletzung Tabellenband Ergebnisse der amtlichen Statistik zum Verletzungsgeschehen 2019. Article in German. Statistisches Bundesamt (Destatis). 2021 Mar 15. URL: <u>https://www.destatis.de/DE/Themen/</u> <u>Gesellschaft-Umwelt/Gesundheit/Gesundheitszustand-Relevantes-Verhalten/Publikationen/Downloads-Gesundheitszustand/</u> <u>unfaelle-gewalt-kinder-tabellenband-xlsx-5230001.html</u> [accessed 2021-12-02]
- 9. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Kinder- und Jugendpsychiatrie, Psychosomatik und Psychotherapie (DGKJP), Plener PL, Groschwitz RC, Kapusta ND. Leitlinie Suizidalität im Kindes- und Jugendalter. Nervenheilkunde 2017;36(04):227-232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1627009]
- Brailovskaia J, Teismann T, Friedrich S, Schneider S, Margraf J. Suicide ideation during the COVID-19 outbreak in German university students: comparison with pre-COVID 19 rates. J Affect Disord Rep 2021 Dec;6:100228 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadr.2021.100228] [Medline: 34632441]
- Steck N, Egger M, Schimmelmann BG, Kupferschmid S, Swiss National Cohort. Suicide in adolescents: findings from the Swiss National cohort. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2018 Jan 29;27(1):47-56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00787-017-1019-6] [Medline: 28664290]
- Graves JM, Abshire DA, Mackelprang JL, Amiri S, Beck A. Association of rurality with availability of youth mental health facilities with suicide prevention services in the US. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Oct 01;3(10):e2021471 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.21471] [Medline: 33090222]
- Fontanella CA, Hiance-Steelesmith DL, Phillips GS, Bridge JA, Lester N, Sweeney HA, et al. Widening rural-urban disparities in youth suicides, United States, 1996-2010. JAMA Pediatr 2015 May;169(5):466-473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.3561] [Medline: 25751611]
- Kegler SR, Stone DM, Holland KM. Trends in suicide by level of urbanization United States, 1999-2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2017 Mar 17;66(10):270-273 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6610a2] [Medline: 28301448]
- Chan GCK, Leung J, Quinn C, Kelly AB, Connor JP, Weier M, et al. Rural and urban differences in adolescent alcohol use, alcohol supply, and parental drinking. J Rural Health 2016 Jun;32(3):280-286. [doi: <u>10.1111/jrh.12151</u>] [Medline: <u>26450773</u>]
- Stöcklin L, Loss G, von Mutius E, Weber J, Genuneit J, Horak E, GABRIEL study group. Health-related quality of life in rural children living in four European countries: the GABRIEL study. Int J Public Health 2013 Jun;58(3):355-366. [doi: 10.1007/s00038-012-0410-9] [Medline: 23255065]
- Kennedy AJ, Versace VL, Brumby SA. Research protocol for a digital intervention to reduce stigma among males with a personal experience of suicide in the Australian farming community. BMC Public Health 2016 Nov 29;16(1):1204 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3874-3] [Medline: 27899094]
- 18. Forrest S. Suicide and the rural adolescent. Adolescence 1988;23(90):341-347. [Medline: 3044016]
- Pauwels K, Aerts S, Muijzers E, de Jaegere E, van Heeringen K, Portzky G. BackUp: development and evaluation of a smart-phone application for coping with suicidal crises. PLoS One 2017 Jun 21;12(6):e0178144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178144] [Medline: 28636617]
- 20. Christensen H, Batterham PJ, O'Dea B. E-health interventions for suicide prevention. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2014 Aug 12;11(8):8193-8212 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph110808193] [Medline: 25119698]
- 21. Nübling R, Bär T, Jeschke K, Ochs M, Sarubin N, Schmidt J. Versorgung psychisch kranker Erwachsener in Deutschland: Bedarf und Inanspruchnahme sowie Effektivität und Effizienz von Psychotherapie. Psychotherapeutenjournal 2014 Dec 15;13:389-397 [FREE Full text]
- 22. Pisani AR, Wyman PA, Gurditta K, Schmeelk-Cone K, Anderson CL, Judd E. Mobile phone intervention to reduce youth suicide in rural communities: field test. JMIR Ment Health 2018 May 31;5(2):e10425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10425] [Medline: 29853439]

- 23. Bowman S, McKinstry C, Howie L, Hepworth G, McGorry P. Perceptions of rural high school teachers on the frontline of youth suicide. Aust J Rural Health 2022 Oct;30(5):608-618. [doi: 10.1111/ajr.12894] [Medline: 35767662]
- 24. Köhnen M, Dirmaier J, Härter M. Potentials and challenges of e-mental health interventions in mental health care. Article in German. Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr 2019 Mar;87(3):160-164. [doi: 10.1055/a-0853-2568] [Medline: 30891717]
- 25. Brown LJ, Jones GM, Bond MJ. E-health: psychosocial challenges for South Australian rural mental health consumers. Rural Remote Health 2019 Aug;19(3):5103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.22605/RRH5103] [Medline: 31394040]
- 26. Christensen H, Griffiths K, Evans K. e-Mental health in Australia: implications of the internet and related technologies for policy. ResearchGate. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth Department of Health and Ageing; 2002 May. URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/237249653 e-Mental Health in Australia Implications of the Internet and Related Technologies for Policy [accessed 2022-10-26]</u>
- Neufeld SAS, Dunn VJ, Jones PB, Croudace TJ, Goodyer IM. Reduction in adolescent depression after contact with mental health services: a longitudinal cohort study in the UK. Lancet Psychiatry 2017 Feb;4(2):120-127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30002-0] [Medline: 28087201]
- 28. Spranger J, Zepp F. Basiskonzepte der Kinder- und Jugendmedizin. Article in German. In: Hoffman GF, Lentze MJ, Spranger J, Zepp F, Berner R, editors. Pädiatrie: Grundlagen und Praxis. 5th ed. Heidelberg, Germany: Springer Berlin; 2020.
- 29. Povey J, Mills PPJR, Dingwall KM, Lowell A, Singer J, Rotumah D, et al. Acceptability of mental health apps for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians: a qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2016 Mar 11;18(3):e65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5314] [Medline: 26969043]
- 30. Feierabend S, Rathgeb T, Reutter T. Ergebnisse der JIM-Studie 2018: jugend, information, medien. Media Perspekt 2018;12:587-600 [FREE Full text]
- Till B, Tran US, Voracek M, Niederkrotenthaler T. Beneficial and harmful effects of educative suicide prevention websites: randomised controlled trial exploring Papageno v. Werther effects. Br J Psychiatry 2017 Aug;211(2):109-115. [doi: <u>10.1192/bjp.bp.115.177394</u>] [Medline: <u>28522433</u>]
- 32. Heaton J. Reworking Qualitative Data. London, UK: SAGE Publications; 2004.
- 33. Kuckartz U. Einführung in die Computergestützte Analyse qualitativer Daten. 3rd ed. Wiesbaden, Germany: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften; 2009:978-973.
- 34. Kaiser R. Einleitung. Article in German. In: Qualitative Experteninterviews: Konzeptionelle Grundlagen und praktische Durchführung. Wiesbaden, Germany: Springer Fachmedien; 2014:1-20.
- 35. Flick U, von Kardorff E, Steinke I. Article in German. In: Qualitative Forschung: Ein Handbuch. 12th ed. Reinbek bei Hamburg, Germany: Rowohlt Taschenbuch Verlag; 2017:e.
- 36. Kuckartz U. Article in German. In: Qualitative Inhaltsanalyse: Methoden, Praxis, Computerunterstützung. 3rd ed. Weinheim; Basel, Germany: Beltz Juventa; 2016.
- 37. Batterham PJ, Calear AL, Christensen H. Correlates of suicide stigma and suicide literacy in the community. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2013 Aug;43(4):406-417. [doi: 10.1111/sltb.12026] [Medline: 23556504]
- 38. Walker RL, Ashby J, Hoskins OD, Greene FN. Peer-support suicide prevention in a non-metropolitan U.S. community. Adolescence 2009;44(174):335-346. [Medline: <u>19764270</u>]
- Ali K, Farrer L, Gulliver A, Griffiths KM. Online peer-to-peer support for young people with mental health problems: a systematic review. JMIR Ment Health 2015 May 19;2(2):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.4418] [Medline: 26543923]
- Naslund JA, Aschbrenner KA, Marsch LA, Bartels SJ. The future of mental health care: peer-to-peer support and social media. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 2016 Apr;25(2):113-122 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1017/S2045796015001067</u>] [Medline: <u>26744309</u>]
- Alvarez-Jimenez M, Gleeson JF, Rice S, Gonzalez-Blanch C, Bendall S. Online peer-to-peer support in youth mental health: seizing the opportunity. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 2016 Apr;25(2):123-126 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1017/S2045796015001092</u>] [Medline: <u>26880239</u>]

Abbreviations

AYA: adolescents and young adults



Edited by J Torous; submitted 27.04.22; peer-reviewed by B Holtz, G Jones; comments to author 20.05.22; revised version received 31.07.22; accepted 03.08.22; published 23.11.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Blattert L, Armbruster C, Buehler E, Heiberger A, Augstein P, Kaufmann S, Reime B, Rural Suicide Prevention Study Group Health Needs for Suicide Prevention and Acceptance of e-Mental Health Interventions in Adolescents and Young Adults: Qualitative Study JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e39079 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e39079 doi:10.2196/39079

PMID:<u>36416884</u>

©Lisa Blattert, Christoph Armbruster, Eva Buehler, Andrea Heiberger, Patrick Augstein, Sarina Kaufmann, Birgit Reime, Rural Suicide Prevention Study Group. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 23.11.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.


Original Paper

Cost-Utility and Cost-effectiveness of MoodSwings 2.0, an Internet-Based Self-management Program for Bipolar Disorder: Economic Evaluation Alongside a Randomized Controlled Trial

Mary Lou Chatterton^{1,2}, PharmD; Yong Yi Lee^{2,3,4}, PhD; Lesley Berk⁵, BA (Hons), MA (ClinPsych), PhD; Mohammadreza Mohebbi⁶, PhD; Michael Berk⁵, MBBCHIR, MMED Psych, PhD; Trisha Suppes^{7,8}, MD, PhD; Sue Lauder⁹, BSocSci, BAppSci (Hons), MPsych, PhD; Cathrine Mihalopoulos^{1,2}, PhD

¹Institute for Health Transformation, Deakin University, Geelong, Australia

²School of Public Health and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia

³School of Public Health, The University of Queensland, Herston, Australia

⁴Queensland Centre for Mental Health Research, Brisbane, Australia

⁵Institute for Mental and Physical Health and Clinical Translation, School of Medicine, Deakin University, Geelong, Australia

⁶Biostatistics Unit, Faculty of Health, Deakin University, Geelong, Australia

⁷VA Palo Alto Health Care System, Palo Alto, CA, United States

⁸Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, School of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States

⁹Cairnmillar Institute, Hawthorn East, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Mary Lou Chatterton, PharmD Institute for Health Transformation Deakin University Locked Bag 20001 Geelong, 3220 Australia Phone: 61 03 52278409 Email: mchatter@deakin.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Internet-delivered psychosocial interventions can overcome barriers to face-to-face psychosocial care, but limited evidence supports their cost-effectiveness for people with bipolar disorders (BDs).

Objective: This study aimed to conduct within-trial cost-effectiveness and cost-utility analyses of an internet-based intervention for people with BD, MoodSwings 2.0, from an Australian health sector perspective.

Methods: MoodSwings 2.0 included an economic evaluation alongside an international, parallel, and individually stratified randomized controlled trial comparing an internet-based discussion forum (control; group 1), a discussion forum plus internet-based psychoeducation (group 2), and a discussion forum plus psychoeducation and cognitive behavioral tools (group 3). The trial enrolled adults (aged 21 to 65 years) with a diagnosis of BD assessed by telephone using a structured clinical interview. Health sector costs included intervention delivery and additional health care resources used by participants over the 12-month trial follow-up. Outcomes included depression symptoms measured by the Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS; the trial primary outcome) and quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) calculated using the short-form 6-dimension instrument derived from the 12-item version of the short-form health survey. Average incremental cost-effectiveness (cost per MADRS score) and cost-utility (cost per QALY) ratios were calculated using estimated mean differences between intervention and control groups from linear mixed effects models in the base case.

Results: In total, 304 participants were randomized. Average health sector cost was lowest for group 2 (Aus \$9431, SD Aus \$8540; Aus \$1=US \$0.7058) compared with the control group (Aus \$15,175, SD Aus \$17,206) and group 3 (Aus \$15,518, SD Aus \$30,523), but none was statistically significantly different. The average QALYs were not significantly different among the groups (group 1: 0.627, SD 0.062; group 2: 0.618, SD 0.094; and group 3: 0.622, SD 0.087). The MADRS scores were previously shown to differ significantly between group 2 and the control group at all follow-up time points (P<.05). Group 2 was dominant (lower costs and greater effects) compared with the control group for average incremental cost per point decrease in MADRS

RenderX

score over 12 months (95% CI dominated to Aus \$331). Average cost per point change in MADRS score for group 3 versus the control group was dominant (95% CI dominant to Aus \$22,585). Group 2 was dominant (95% CI Aus \$43,000 to dominant) over the control group based on lower average health sector cost and average QALY benefit of 0.012 (95% CI –0.009 to 0.033). Group 3, compared with the control group, had an average incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of dominant (95% CI dominated to Aus \$19,978).

Conclusions: Web-based psychoeducation through MoodSwings 2.0 has the potential to be a cost-effective intervention for people with BD. Additional research is needed to understand the lack of effectiveness for the addition of cognitive behavioral tools with the group 3 intervention.

(JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e36496) doi:10.2196/36496

KEYWORDS

economic evaluation; cost-effectiveness; cost-utility; clinical trial; bipolar disorder; psychoeducation; cognitive behavioral therapy; internet intervention; mania; depression; psychiatry; neuroscience; mental disorders

Introduction

Background

Bipolar disorder (BD) is a complex mental health condition with multiple and varying states ranging from elevated mood (mania or hypomania) to feelings of hopelessness and sadness (depression) [1]. It consists of several related diagnoses representing a spectrum of illness, including bipolar type I, bipolar type II, cyclothymia, and bipolar not elsewhere classified. The global prevalence of bipolar spectrum disorders is estimated at 0.741% of the adult population, and BD is associated with significant disability and costs to both health care systems and society [2-4].

The primary therapy for BD consists of mood stabilizing lithium, antipsychotics, medications, including and anticonvulsants [5-13]. Psychosocial therapies, including psychoeducation and cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT), are recommended as add-on therapy to medications to reduce relapse through improved medication adherence, identification of early warning signs, self-management, and family communication [14,15]. Psychosocial therapies delivered through traditional face-to-face methods have been shown to be effective and cost-effective adjunctive treatments to pharmacotherapy for people with BD [16-18] and other mental health diagnoses such as anxiety and depression [19].

Objectives

Internet-delivered psychosocial therapies can overcome several barriers faced when seeking mental health care, such as geographic location, a limited number of service providers, and the cost of treatment. Internet-delivered psychosocial therapies have been shown to be effective and cost-effective for the treatment of depression and anxiety [20,21]. However, the evidence to support the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of internet-based psychosocial therapies for people with BDs is limited [18,22]. To fill this gap, the MoodSwings 2.0 randomized controlled trial (RCT) was conducted to investigate the efficacy of an internet-based self-guided psychosocial intervention for people with BD [23]. This analysis reports on the within-trial economic evaluation of MoodSwings 2.0 from an Australian health sector perspective.

Methods

Overview

This economic evaluation was conducted alongside the RCT of MoodSwings 2.0 (ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02118623 [Australia] and NCT02106078 [United States]) that recruited study participants on the web from anywhere in the world. The RCT was run from 2 study sites located in Geelong, Victoria, Australia, and Palo Alto, California, United States. Details of the study conduct and analysis of the primary study outcomes have been described elsewhere [23].

In brief, adults (aged 21-65 years) with a diagnosis of BD type I, BD type II, or BD not elsewhere classified assessed by telephone using the Structured Clinical Interview for Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition, were eligible. Additional eligibility criteria included access to emergency care, visiting a health care provider at least twice per year for BD treatment, access to the internet and a computer, fluency in English, competence to provide informed consent, and willingness to provide emergency contact details. Once consent was obtained and inclusion and exclusion confirmed, we randomized participants on the secure website to 1 of 3 conditions:

- Group 1: discussion forum only (control)
- Group 2: discussion forum plus psychoeducational modules
- Group 3: discussion forum and psychoeducational modules plus CBT-based interactive tools

Two-step block randomization was used and coded into the website during development. Research staff members were unable to view the randomization code.

For 12 months from randomization, all participants had access to the MoodSwings 2.0 website and their study arm–specific asynchronous peer discussion forum. Moderators screened discussion posts and edited or deleted those with personal contact information, profanity, or distressing content. Group 2 participants were additionally able to access 5 psychoeducational modules delivered biweekly, followed by 4 booster modules delivered at 3, 6, 9, and 12 months. The psychoeducation modules were adapted from a face-to-face clinician-facilitated manualized program, previously evaluated in randomized evaluations [24-26]. The participants randomized to group 3



XSL•FC RenderX

were able to access the discussion forum, psychoeducation modules, and interactive CBT-based tools. This included development of a life chart, thought monitoring, simple motivational interviewing techniques, self-reflection, problem solving, identification of personal triggers, and a relapse-prevention plan [27].

Ethics Approval

This analysis was undertaken with data collected as part of the RCT approved by the institutional review board at Stanford University (Stanford, California, United States; project ID 21897) as well as the human research ethics committees at Barwon Health (Geelong; EC00208, project ID 11/73) and Deakin University (Geelong; EC00213, project ID 2021-072). The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committees.

Costs

The recommendations for economic analyses within an international trial suggest that resource use is costed with local unit costs, followed by analysis of heterogeneity [28]. This method requires country-specific unit costs from collaborators. As this study recruited participants on the web from multiple countries, local unit costs were difficult to source. The trial was managed from Australia and the United States, and an Australian health sector perspective was adopted for the economic evaluation. Health sector costs included the costs to deliver the interventions as well as the costs of other health services used by participants during the trial period (refer to Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 [29]).

A microcosting approach was used to estimate the cost to deliver the 3 interventions. We estimated the personnel time required to monitor the internet-based forums as well as time for debriefing with a supervisor. Personnel costs were calculated by multiplying estimated hours by the average wage rate of a research assistant or supervisor, both with 25% added to account for employer overhead costs (eg, space and administrative overheads).

The cost of 2 desktop computers required for research assistants to monitor the internet-based forums was estimated based on an annual lease cost of Aus 800 (Aus 1=US 0.7058) per computer multiplied by the estimated time required to conduct the study (2.24 years).

The development and maintenance cost of the MoodSwings 2.0 website was provided by the study team as a single estimate. This total cost was apportioned across the 3 internet-based interventions based on complexity. The average health sector cost for each intervention group was then calculated based on the number of trial participants.

Information on participant health service use was captured through a self-report resource use questionnaire, the Cornell Service Index [30], at baseline and 3-, 6-, 9-, and 12-month follow-ups. The Cornell Service Index questionnaire asked about the number and types of medical, psychological, acute care, and support services accessed by study participants in the preceding 3 months. Standard Australian unit costs were applied. Intervention costs were added to the 3month health service

XSL•FO

costs; next, all health care service use costs over the 3- to 12-month follow-ups were summed.

All costs were presented in 2018-19 Australian dollars (Aus \$). Discounting was not applied because the study time horizon was 12 months.

Outcomes

Self-report outcome measures were administered at baseline and 3-, 6-, 9-, and 12-month follow-ups, including the Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS), Young Mania Rating Scale, and the short-form health survey, 12-item version (SF-12). The MADRS score was a coprimary outcome measure that achieved statistically significant differences among the groups. It was used as an outcome measure for the cost-effectiveness analysis.

The SF-12 was used to measure participants' health-related quality of life at each assessment time point. A preference-based scoring algorithm using British general population preference weights was applied to calculate utility values at each time point based on 6 questions from the SF-12 (short-form 6-dimension [SF-6D] instrument) [31]. Quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) were then calculated from the SF-6D utility values using the area under the curve method [32]. The use of QALYs in an economic evaluation is also referred to as a cost-utility analysis [33].

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted using Stata software (version: 17.0; StataCorp LLC). Base case analyses were conducted on an intention-to-treat basis, including all participants with a baseline assessment. Missing cost and utility data were reported using descriptive statistics. The investigation of relationships between complete cost and outcome data with demographic and clinical variables was undertaken using logistic regression analysis.

Costs and utility values were reported at each time point by randomized group using descriptive statistics (mean and SD). The base case analysis used linear mixed effects models to evaluate between-group differences in postbaseline health sector costs, SF-6D utility values, and QALYs. Health sector costs and SF-6D utility values at each follow-up were regressed on time, baseline value, and treatment allocation with adjustment for baseline covariates specified a priori (baseline cost or utility, sex, and national origin). The model accounted for autocorrelation because of repeated measures across follow-ups and used an unstructured covariance matrix that allows all variances and covariances to be distinct.

Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios (ICERs) were calculated as the mean difference in total health sector costs between 2 randomized groups divided by the mean difference in MADRS scores. The 12-month follow-up was considered the primary time point for comparison in the main efficacy analysis, and this time point was adopted for the cost-effectiveness analysis. A nonparametric bootstrap procedure with 1000 iterations was used to calculate CIs around ICERs. Cost-effectiveness planes were constructed by plotting the 1000 bootstrapped incremental costs and incremental MADRS scores.

The incremental cost-utility ratio was calculated by dividing the mean difference in total health sector cost by the mean difference in QALYs. A nonparametric bootstrap procedure with 1000 iterations and the reordered bootstrap percentile method (1000 iterations) was used to estimate 95% CIs around each average incremental cost-utility ratio [34]. An intervention was considered cost-effective if the resulting ICER fell below the generally accepted Australian willingness-to-pay threshold of Aus \$50,000 per QALY [35]. The resulting bootstrap iterations were also used to construct cost-effectiveness planes and acceptability curves to represent the uncertainty in the ICER.

Sensitivity analyses were undertaken to test the assumptions regarding missing data, including complete case analysis and multiple imputation for missing data at follow-up [36]. Missing total cost and outcomes data (utility values and MADRS scores) at each time point (3-, 6-, 9-, and 12-month follow-ups) were imputed through a resampling method using single imputation nested in bootstrapping [37]. This method generated a single call to the multiple imputation function in Stata, with chained equations and predictive mean matching, to produce a complete data set. The costs and outcomes were then analyzed with generalized linear models (GLMs) for each bootstrap resample. After the generation of 1000 bootstrap resamples, the reordered bootstrap percentile method was used to estimate 95% CIs around each average ICER [34]. In these sensitivity analyses the mean difference in total health sector costs over the 12-month follow-up among the randomized groups was estimated using GLMs [38] with the gamma family and identity link. The mean difference in QALYs among the randomized groups was estimated using GLMs with inverse gaussian family and identity link. All statistical models were estimated with adjustment for baseline covariates specified a priori (baseline cost or utility, sex, and national origin). The choice of family for each GLM was based on results from modified Park tests [38]. The link for each model was chosen based on a combination of Pearson correlation, Pregibon link, and modified Hosmer-Lemeshow tests [38].

An additional sensitivity analysis was conducted by estimating the intervention cost from population-level rollout. The average cost per study participant for variable cost items (personnel and computers) was added to the average cost of website development and maintenance per potentially eligible Australian with a diagnosis of BD. To provide a conservative estimate of potential users of the MoodSwings 2.0 program, the number of people with BD seeking care was estimated by multiplying the age- and sex-based prevalence of BD by Australian demographic statistics for the population aged 25 to 65 years in June 2018 [2,39]. The estimate was then multiplied by the percentage of people with BD using health care services for their mental health (67.7%) based on an Australian population-based mental health survey [40].

A threshold analysis was also undertaken to estimate the group 2 intervention cost required for the total cost to be the same as group 1 (control).

Results

Participant Characteristics

A total of 322 people provided consent and were screened for eligibility, with 304 (94.4%) participants randomized (refer to Figure S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1 [23]). There were no significant differences in baseline characteristics across the randomized groups (Table 1).

Self-reported resource use from the Cornell Service Index questionnaire and quality of life from the SF-12 were completed by 91.4% (278/304) of the participants at baseline, 39.5% (120/304) at 3-month, 33.9% (103/304) at 6-month, 35.5% (108/304) at 9-month, and 29.3% (89/304) at 12-month follow-ups (Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1). Overall, of the 304 participants, there were 84 (27.6%) with complete costs and QALYs over the 5 data collection points during the 12-month study period. Comparisons of participants with complete and incomplete data over the entire 12-month period found that sex was the only variable related to incomplete data; however, this may be due to the high percentage of female participants enrolled in the trial (228/278, 82%). It is unlikely that these data were missing not at random, given the similar patterns of missing cost and utility data that were observed across participants; as well as the qualitative differences between missing cost and utility data and their underlying values. On the basis of our exploratory analyses of missing data mechanisms, it was inferred that incomplete cost and utility data were missing at random. Multiple imputation was consequently used to account for missing data, while incorporating sex as a covariate.



Chatterton et al

Table 1. Baseline demographic characteristics of participants randomized to group 1 (control), group 2 (psychoeducation), or group 3 (cognitive behavioral therapy).

	Group 1 (control; n=102)	Group 2 (n=102)	Group 3 (n=100)	Overall sample (N=304)
Age (years), mean (SD)	39.86 (10.62)	38.65 (11.85)	39.93 (11.15)	39.47 (11.19)
Sex, female, n (%) ^a	77 (75.5)	79 (77.5)	72 (72)	228 (82)
Country, n (%) ^a				
United States	41 (40.2)	37 (36.3)	29 (29)	107 (38.5)
Australia	32 (31.4)	35 (34.3)	26 (26)	93 (33.5)
Other	23 (22.5)	23 (22.5)	32 (32)	78 (28.1)
Bipolar type, n (%)				
Ι	50 (49)	62 (60.8)	55 (55)	167 (54.9)
II	41 (40.2)	36 (35.3)	38 (38)	115 (37.8)
Not elsewhere classified	11 (10.8)	4 (3.9)	7 (7)	22 (7.2)
Working, n (%) ^a	45 (48)	42 (44.7)	48 (55.2)	135 (49.1)
Full time	26 (27.7)	22 (23.4)	28 (32.2)	76 (27.6)
Part time	16 (17)	14 (14.9)	12 (13.8)	42 (15.3)
Casual	3 (3.2)	6 (6.4)	8 (9.2)	17 (6.2)
Studying, n (%) ^a	19 (20)	19 (20)	25 (28.7)	63 (22.7)
Full time	5 (5.3)	2 (2.1)	10 (11.5)	17 (6.1)
Part time	14 (14.7)	17 (17.9)	15 (17.2)	46 (16.6)

^aOf the 304 participants, only 278 (91.4%) completed the sex and national origin questions, 275 (90.5%) completed the work status questions, and 277 (91.1%) completed the study status questions.

Costs

Table 2 details the resources required, unit costs, and total costs for intervention delivery across the randomized groups. The average cost to deliver the control group intervention was estimated at Aus \$421 per randomized participant. Group 2 and group 3 delivery costs were estimated at Aus \$645 and Aus \$714 per randomized participant, respectively.

The average health sector costs at each time point and totaled over the 12-month follow-up are detailed in Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1. The average health sector costs were not significantly different among the groups at baseline or over the 4 individual follow-up periods, except for a significant difference between group 2 and group 3 at 6-month follow-up (P=.01). The total average health sector cost, including the intervention cost, was lower for group 2 (Aus \$9431) than for the control group (Aus \$15,175), but this difference was not statistically significant. The total average health sector costs, including the intervention delivery costs, were comparable for group 3 and group 1 (control).

Table S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1 provides the average costs and SDs for participants who completed all Cornell Service Index questionnaires between 3 and 12 months by service use category across the randomized groups. The largest difference among the groups was noted for acute care costs between group 2 (mean Aus \$1015, SD Aus \$2206) and group 1 (mean Aus \$6040, SD Aus \$15,152).



Table 2. Intervention costs, in Australian dollars (Aus \$1=US \$0.7058), by randomized group.

Item	Group 1 (control; n=102; forum only)	Group 2 (n=102; forum + psychoeducation)	Group 3 (n=100; forum + psychoe- ducation + CBT ^a tools)	Overall sample (N=304)
Website development and mainte- nance	22,800.00	45,600.00	51,600.00	120,000.00
Desktop computers	1204.59	1204.59	1,180.97	3590.14
Personnel				
Research assistant (monitoring)	14,778.81	14,778.81	14,489.03	44,046.65
Research assistant (debriefing)	1477.88	1477.88	1448.90	4404.66
Supervisor (debriefing)	2689.53	2689.53	2636.79	8015.85
Total intervention cost	42,950.80	65,750.80	71,355.69	180,057.29
Average cost per trial participant	421	645	714	592

^aCBT: cognitive behavioral therapy.

Health Outcomes

The average MADRS scores were significantly different between group 2 and group 1 (control) at all follow-up time points ($P \le .05$), with a mean difference ranging between 3.6 (95% CI –0.001 to 7.2; 9-month follow-up) and 5.5 points (95% CI 1.8-9.2; 6-month follow-up; Table 3 and Table S5 in Multimedia Appendix 1 [23]). The only significant difference in MADRS scores between group 3 and group 1 (control) was

at 6 months with a mean difference of 4.8 points (95% CI 1.0-8.5; P=.01).

The average SF-6D utility value was 0.63 at baseline across the randomized groups. From baseline to 12-month follow-up the average QALYs per group were not significantly different, with mean QALYs of 0.627 (SD 0.062) in group 1, 0.618 (SD 0.094) in group 2, and 0.622 (SD 0.087) in group 3 (Table S6 in Multimedia Appendix 1).



Table 3.	Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios	(ICERs), in Australian dollars	(Aus \$1=US \$0.7058), b	by follow-up period and randomiz	ed group
----------	---------------------------------------	--------------------------------	--------------------------	----------------------------------	----------

	Health care costs, mean difference (95% CI)	MADRS ^a score, mean difference (95% CI)	Cost per point change in MADRS score (ICER)
Comparison of group 2 vs group 1 (cont	rol)		
3-month follow-up	-19 (-1677 to 1640)	4 (0.1 to 7.9)	Dominant ^b
6-month follow-up	-1300 (-4721 to 2210)	5.5 (1.8 to 9.2)	Dominant
9-month follow-up	-879 (-4688 to 2929)	3.6 (-0.001 to 7.2)	Dominant
12-month follow-up	-659 (-3488 to 2170)	3.8 (0.01 to 7.6)	Dominant
Total 3 to 12 months	-2858 (-10,909 to 5194)	3.8 (0.01 to 7.6) ^c	Dominant (dominated ^d to 331)
Comparison of group 3 vs group 1 (cont	rol)		
3-month follow-up	113 (-3804 to 4030)	1.1 (-2.8 to 4.9)	103
6-month follow-up	-348 (-4639 to 4944)	4.8 (1.0 to 8.5)	Dominant
9-month follow-up	-601 (-3957 to 2754)	2.5 (-1.2 to 6.2)	Dominant
12-month follow-up	743 (-3957 to 2754)	3.6 (-0.4 to 7.5)	206
Total 3 to 12 months	-94 (9422 to 9235)	3.6 (-0.4 to 7.5) ^c	Dominant (dominant to 22,585)
Comparison of group 2 vs group 3			
3-month follow-up	581 (3747 to 4888)	-1.9 (-6.9 to 3.1)	Dominated
6-month follow-up	4339 (940 to 7738)	-1.1 (-5.7 to 3.5)	Dominated
9-month follow-up	466 (-2853 to 3784)	0.3 (-5.0 to 4.4)	1553
12-month follow-up	2423 (-845 to 5691)	0.7 (-5.7 to 3.5)	3461
Total 3 to 12 months	7798 (-2,303 to 17,900)	0.7 (-5.7 to 3.5) ^c	11,140 (dominant to 147) ^e

^aMADRS: Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale.

^bLess costly and more effective.

^cThe 12-month follow-up was used because this was the time point prespecified as the primary outcome comparison.

^dMore costly and less effective.

^eThe results are spread across all 4 quadrants of the cost-effectiveness plane, making the CI difficult to interpret.

Cost-effectiveness and Cost-Utility

The average incremental cost per point improvement in MADRS scores for group 2 versus group 1 (control) was dominant at each follow-up time point and when summed over the study period (Table 3 and Figure 1). Dominant refers to the scenario when average incremental costs were lower and average incremental effects were higher for the intervention compared with the control group. The 95% CI ranged from dominated (higher incremental cost and negative incremental effect) to Aus \$331 per point improvement in MADRS score.

The average costs per point improvement in MADRS score for group 3 versus the control group range from dominant (6- and 9-month follow-ups) to Aus \$206 (12-month follow-up). Combining costs over the entire study follow-up leads to the group 3 intervention being dominant (less costly and more effective), with a wide CI from dominant to Aus \$22,585 per point improvement in MADRS score (Table 3 and Figure 2).

The average costs per point improvement in MADRS score for group 2 versus group 3 range from Aus \$1553 (9-month follow-up) to dominated (more costly and less effective at 3- and 6-month follow-ups). Over the entire 12-month period, the

RenderX

average ICER was Aus \$11,140 per point change in MADRS score, with a wide spread of bootstrap iterations across all 4 quadrants of the cost-effectiveness plane making it difficult to interpret the CI (Table 3 and Figure 3).

The base case cost-utility analysis found that group 2 would be considered the dominant strategy compared with the control group based on the lower average health sector cost and an average QALY benefit of 0.012. The 95% CI for the average incremental cost-utility ratio ranged from Aus \$43,000 per QALY to dominant (Table 4 and Figure 4); the lower CI was a result of lower costs and lower incremental QALYs. There was a 79% probability that the psychoeducation modules would be cost-effective at the threshold of Aus \$50,000 per QALY.

The base case average incremental health sector cost for group 3 compared with the control group was estimated at –Aus \$94 with an average benefit of 0.002 QALYs resulting in a dominant average ICER (95% CI dominated to –Aus \$19,978; Table 4 and Figure 5). The CI is difficult to interpret because the bootstrap iterations span all 4 quadrants on the cost-effectiveness plane. The probability of the combination of psychoeducation

and CBT tools being cost-effective at the threshold of Aus \$50,000 per QALY was estimated at 51%.

Group 3 was dominated by group 2 in the base case because of higher average costs (Aus \$7798) and fewer QALYs (-0.004;

Table 4 and Figure 6). At the willingness-to-pay threshold of Aus \$50,000 per QALY, the probability that the group 3 intervention would be cost-effective compared with the group 2 intervention was estimated at 7%.

Figure 1. Cost-effectiveness plane, in Australian dollars (Aus \$1=US \$0.7058), for group 2 versus control cost per Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) score improvement bootstrapped from complete cases.



Figure 2. Cost-effectiveness plane, in Australian dollars (Aus \$1=US \$0.7058), for group 3 versus control cost per Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) score improvement bootstrapped from complete cases.





Figure 3. Cost-effectiveness plane, in Australian dollars (Aus \$1=US \$0.7058), for group 2 versus group 3 cost per Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) score improvement bootstrapped from complete cases.



Table 4. Incremental cost-utility ratios, in Australian dollars (Aus \$1=US \$0.7058), by follow-up period and randomized group.

	Health care costs, mean differ- ence (95% CI)	Utilities and QALYs ^a , mean difference (95% CI)	Cost per QALY, ICER ^b (95% CI)
Comparison of group 2 vs group 1 (control)			
3-month follow-up	-19 (-1677 to 1640)	0.0005 (-0.003 to 0.004)	c
6-month follow-up	-1300 (-4721 to 2210)	0.003 (-0.003 to 0.010)	_
9-month follow-up	-879 (-4688 to 2929)	0.004 (-0.003 to 0.01)	_
12-month follow-up	-659 (-3488 to 2170)	0.004 (-0.004 to 0.013)	_
Total 3 to 12 months	-2858 (-10,909 to 5194)	0.012 (-0.009 to 0.033)	Dominant (43,000 to dominant) ^d
Comparison of group 3 vs group 1 (control)			
3-month follow-up	113 (-3804 to 4030)	0.0007 (-0.004 to 0.005)	_
6-month follow-up	-348 (-4639 to 4944)	0.002 (-0.007 to 0.010)	—
9-month follow-up	-601 (-3957 to 2754)	-0.0005 (-0.008 to 0.007)	—
12-month follow-up	743 (-3957 to 2754)	-0.0004 (-0.011 to 0.010)	_
Total 3 to 12 months	-94 (-9422 to 9235)	0.002 (-0.023 to 0.027)	Dominant (dominated to 19,978) ^e
Comparison of group 2 vs group 3			
3-month follow-up	581 (3747 to 4888)	0.002 (-0.002 to 0.006)	_
6-month follow-up	4339 (940 to 7738)	0.004 (-0.004 to 0.012)	—
9-month follow-up	466 (-2853 to 3784)	-0.006 (-0.014 to 0.002)	—
12-month follow-up	2423 (-845 to 5691)	-0.003 (-0.012 to 0.007)	_
Total 3 to 12 months	7798 (-2303 to 17,900)	-0.004 (-0.028 to 0.021)	Dominated (dominated to 21,287)

^aQALY: quality-adjusted life year.

^bICER: incremental cost-effectiveness ratio.

^cIncremental cost ratio not calculated.

^dThe lower CI is a result of lower costs and fewer incremental quality-adjusted life years.

^eThe bootstrap results are spread across all 4 quadrants of the cost-effectiveness plane, making the CI difficult to interpret.

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e36496

XSL•FO RenderX

Chatterton et al

Figure 4. Cost-effectiveness plane, in Australian dollars (Aus \$1=US \$0.7058), for group 2 versus control cost per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) bootstrapped from complete cases.



Figure 5. Cost-effectiveness plane, in Australian dollars (Aus \$1=US \$0.7058), for group 3 versus control cost per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) bootstrapped from complete cases.





Chatterton et al

Figure 6. Cost-effectiveness plane, in Australian dollars (Aus \$1=US \$0.7058), for group 2 versus group 3 cost per quality-adjusted life year (QALY) bootstrapped from complete cases.



Sensitivity Analyses

The results for the comparison of group 2 with the control group were generally robust in the sensitivity analyses as shown in Table 5. The exception was multiple imputation that led to a nonsignificant negative mean difference in QALYs between group 2 and group 1 (control). The probability that the group 2 intervention would be cost-effective compared with the control group at the willingness-to-pay threshold of Aus \$50,000 per QALY in the complete case analysis was estimated at 63% (Figure S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

The intervention cost of group 2 was also varied to assess the threshold when the mean cost difference between group 2 and group 1 would become positive. This occurred when the group 2 intervention cost was Aus \$4500.

The sensitivity analyses for the comparison of group 3 with group 1 (control) were mostly consistent with the base case (Table 5). The analysis using multiple imputation led to negative

incremental cost and QALY differences, both being nonsignificant, but leading to a positive incremental ICER. Across all sensitivity analyses, the probability of group 3 being cost-effective compared with group 1 (control) at the threshold of Aus \$50,000 per QALY was \leq 54% (Figure S3 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

The sensitivity analyses for the comparison of group 2 and group 3 were mixed. The complete case and multiple imputation analyses led to positive mean differences in QALYs and positive ICERs. The probability of group 3 being cost-effective compared with group 2 at the threshold of Aus \$50,000 per QALY was \leq 22% across all sensitivity analyses (Figure S4 in Multimedia Appendix 1).

Using the costs of the group 2 and group 3 interventions, if implemented across the population of people with BD in Australia (Table S7 in Multimedia Appendix 1), led to marginally lower mean differences in costs, which did not substantially change the ICERs.



Chatterton et al

Table 5. Sensitivity analyses, in Australian dollars (Aus \$1=US \$0.7058), on incremental cost-utility ratios by randomized group.

		Health care costs, mean difference (95% CI)	QALY ^a , mean difference (95% CI)	Cost per QALY, ICER ^b (95% CI)
Co	omparison of group 2 vs group 1 (control)			
	Mixed effects model (base case)	-2858 (-10,909 to 5194)	0.012 (-0.009 to 0.033)	Dominant (43,000 to dominant) ^c
	Complete case	-6164 (-12,435 to 108)	0.000 (-0.035 to 0.035)	Dominant (43,000 to dominant) ^c
	Multiple imputation	-2277 (-6568 to 2023)	-0.001 (-0.023 to 0.021)	2,277,000 (19,465 to domi- nant)
	Population-level intervention costs	-3081 (-11,132 to 4970)	0.012 (-0.009 to 0.033)	Dominant (33,370 to dominant) ^c
Co	omparison of group 3 vs group 1 (control)			
	Mixed effects model (base case)	-94 (-9422 to 9235)	0.002 (-0.023 to 0.027)	Dominant (dominated to 19,978) ^d
	Complete case	-2826 (-10,168 to 4516)	0.005 (-0.032 to 0.042)	Dominant (dominated to 19,978) ^{cd}
	Multiple imputation	-831 (-6943 to 5808)	-0.003 (-0.027 to -0.022)	257,361 (dominated to 35,982)
	Population-level intervention costs	-386 (-9714 to 8943)	0.002 (-0.023 to 0.027)	Dominant (dominated to 18,559) ^{cd}
Co	omparison of group 2 vs group 3			
	Mixed effects model (base case)	7798 (-2303 to 17,900)	-0.004 (-0.028 to 0.021)	Dominated (dominated to 21,287)
	Complete case	3338 (-2072 to 8748)	0.005 (-0.033 to 0.043)	667,600 (dominated to 21,287)
	Multiple imputation	2527 (-3415 to 8469)	0.002 (-0.022 to 0.026)	1,263,500 (dominant to 14,129)
	Population-level intervention costs	7729 (-2372 to 17,831)	-0.004 (-0.028 to 0.021)	Dominated (dominant to 16,283)

^aQALY: quality-adjusted life year.

^bICER: incremental cost-effectiveness ratio.

^cComplete case bootstrap CIs were used for both mixed effects model and complete case analyses.

^dThe results are spread across all 4 quadrants of the cost-effectiveness plane, making the CI difficult to interpret.

Discussion

Principal Findings

To our knowledge, this is the first economic evaluation of an internet-based psychoeducation and CBT intervention specific to people with a diagnosis of BD [18,41]. The results suggest that the psychoeducation offered to group 2 through the MoodSwings 2.0 website may be cost-effective compared with an active control group of a moderated internet-based discussion board for people with a diagnosis of BD. The results also suggest that the addition of CBT tools to the psychoeducation component was not cost-effective compared with the moderated internet-based discussion board alone or the combination of psychoeducation plus the moderated internet-based discussion board.

The difference in cost between the participants randomized to the internet-based psychoeducation and the control condition

RenderX

(internet-based forum only), although not significantly different, showed a trend favoring internet-based psychoeducation. This was attributed to lower costs for acute care services such as hospitalizations and emergency room visits. These results are similar to those of research evaluating the costs and outcomes associated with an in-person 21-session group psychoeducation program for people with BD [42]. Over 5 years of follow-up, participants receiving the group psychoeducation had significantly fewer days hospitalized, which led to nonsignificant lower total costs for the psychoeducation group. Our results contrast with another trial-based cost-effectiveness analysis of an in-person 21-session structured group psychoeducation program that found significantly higher total costs and additional gains for the participants receiving group OALY psychoeducation compared with those receiving unstructured group peer support [43].

The MoodSwings 2.0 study group randomized to the psychoeducation modules showed statistically significant

improvements in depression symptoms, as measured by MADRS scores, compared with the control group. These differences were also clinically meaningful, falling within the range of estimated minimal important difference of 3 to 6 points for the MADRS [44]. This is similar to results from the study by Lam et al [45] that found significantly improved scores on the Beck Depression Inventory at 4 and 6 months for the group receiving cognitive therapy versus a control group. The resulting average ICER for the psychoeducation intervention compared with the control group was dominant, meaning that there was improvement in MADRS scores at a cost savings.

Cost-effectiveness ratios such as cost per point change in MADRS score are difficult to interpret because of a lack of value attached to a point change in MADRS score. QALYs have inherent value-for-money connotations because of generally accepted willingness-to-pay thresholds used by health technology assessment agencies such as the United Kingdom's National Institute for Health and Care Excellence and Australia's Medicare Services Advisory Committee.

We did not find significant differences in utility values or QALYs among the groups over the 12-month follow-up. This contrasts with a small significant QALY gain of 0.023 (95% CI 0.001-0.56) associated with a previously evaluated in-person group psychoeducation intervention compared with in-person group peer support [43]. This may be due to the in-person mode of delivery, a longer follow-up of 96 months, use of the EQ-5D instrument, and lower rates of loss to follow-up.

Our results further suggest that the combination of psychoeducation and CBT tools (group 3) would not be considered cost-effective compared with the moderated internet-based discussion board (group 1) based on the cost-utility results. Group 3 had a trend toward lower costs and more QALYs compared with the control group, but there was a great deal of uncertainty around this dominant average cost per QALY ratio, resulting in a 51% probability of being cost-effective at the threshold of Aus \$50,000 per QALY generally accepted as value for money in Australia. These results are comparable to economic evaluations of other unguided internet-based CBT interventions evaluated in people with unipolar depression [46,47].

The combination of internet-based psychoeducation and CBT tools (group 3) would not be considered good value for money compared with internet-based psychoeducation (group 2) based on the dominated average cost-utility ratio. The combination of internet-based psychoeducation and CBT tools (group 3) resulted in an average cost-effectiveness ratio of Aus \$11,140 per point improvement in MADRS compared with internet-based psychoeducation (group 2). Although this seems favorable, it is harder to interpret because we do not have a willingness-to-pay threshold for a point improvement in depression symptom scores.

A prior evaluation of the MoodSwings 2.0 program found within-group improvements in depression and mania symptoms, medication adherence, and quality of life for participants receiving psychoeducation alone and psychoeducation plus CBT-based interactive elements [26]. The lack of an attention

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e36496

control group may explain the difference in findings compared with our evaluation.

Limitations

As with all research, the results of this economic evaluation are subject to limitations. There was a high rate of loss to follow-up over the 12 months of the study period and a higher likelihood of missing cost and utility data for female participants, which may affect the validity of the results. The cost-effectiveness and cost-utility analyses would only be generalizable to the Australian context because of the exclusive use of Australian unit costs. The analytic approach followed published recommendations for the management of missing data. However, the complete case and multiple imputation results differed from the base case for the comparison of group 2 with group 3 as well as multiple imputation results differing from the base case for the comparison of group 3 with group 1 (control). There was also no treatment-as-usual control arm. The cost of programming and delivering the internet-based interventions was estimated based on the available information for this trial but may have been higher because of additional time for programming and system maintenance not captured in our projected costs. However, we found that the average total cost was lower for group 2 than for group 1 (control) until the intervention cost reached Aus \$4500 per study participant, which is 7 times higher than the Aus \$645 base case intervention cost for group 2.

Despite this evaluation's limitations, it is important to report the results of economic evaluations of internet interventions aimed at supporting people with BD. Overall, there is limited literature on the cost-effectiveness of psychosocial interventions for the treatment of BD and none for BD-specific digital interventions [18,31]. People with BD are a unique population because of the symptomatology, medications, and behavioral aspects related to the diagnosis. Psychosocial interventions designed for other mental health conditions (ie, unipolar depression and anxiety) may not be appropriate to extrapolate to people with BD. It is important to tailor the information to the specific issues related to this diagnosis and evaluate program effectiveness and cost-effectiveness.

The availability of internet-based interventions is crucial, given lack of access to mental health professionals because of limited availability, geographic location, and, recently, public health measures related to COVID-19 infection control. The Australian Productivity Commission's Inquiry Into Mental Health report recommended a national digital mental health platform with a gateway to digital and face-to-face treatment and support services. Any interventions provided through this mental health gateway should have evidence of, or at a minimum be concurrently evaluated for. their effectiveness and cost-effectiveness.

Conclusions

The internet-based psychoeducation provided through the MoodSwings 2.0 platform to the group 2 participants has the potential to be a cost-effective intervention for people diagnosed with BD. The group 2 psychoeducation component could be further evaluated in an implementation study for effectiveness

```
XSL•FO
```

and cost-effectiveness. Additional research is needed to understand the lack of effectiveness for the internet-based CBT

tools provided as part of the group 3 intervention.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Emma Lamb for her significant contribution to the MoodSwings 2.0 trial. The research reported in this publication was supported by grants (R34MH091384 and 34MH091284) from the National Institute of Mental Health to MB and TS. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institute of Mental Health or the National Institutes of Health. MB is supported by a National Health and Medical Research Council Senior Principal Research Fellowship (1156072).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplementary materials. [DOCX File, 803 KB - mental v9i11e36496 app1.docx]

References

- 1. Fountoulakis KN. Bipolar Disorder: An Evidence-Based Guide to Manic Depression. Berlin, Germany: Springer; 2015.
- Ferrari AJ, Baxter AJ, Whiteford HA. A systematic review of the global distribution and availability of prevalence data for bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord 2011 Nov;134(1-3):1-13. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jad.2010.11.007</u>] [Medline: <u>21131055</u>]
- 3. Whiteford HA, Ferrari AJ, Degenhardt L, Feigin V, Vos T. The global burden of mental, neurological and substance use disorders: an analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. PLoS One 2015 Feb 6;10(2):e0116820 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116820] [Medline: 25658103]
- 4. Kleine-Budde K, Touil E, Moock J, Bramesfeld A, Kawohl W, Rössler W. Cost of illness for bipolar disorder: a systematic review of the economic burden. Bipolar Disord 2014 Jun;16(4):337-353. [doi: 10.1111/bdi.12165] [Medline: 24372893]
- 5. Vieta E, Günther O, Locklear J, Ekman M, Miltenburger C, Chatterton ML, et al. Effectiveness of psychotropic medications in the maintenance phase of bipolar disorder: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 2011 Sep;14(8):1029-1049 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1461145711000885] [Medline: 21733231]
- Yildiz A, Nikodem M, Vieta E, Correll CU, Baldessarini RJ. A network meta-analysis on comparative efficacy and all-cause discontinuation of antimanic treatments in acute bipolar mania. Psychol Med 2015 Jan;45(2):299-317. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291714001305] [Medline: 25036226]
- Yildiz A, Vieta E, Leucht S, Baldessarini RJ. Efficacy of antimanic treatments: meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials. Neuropsychopharmacology 2011 Jan;36(2):375-389 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/npp.2010.192] [Medline: 20980991]
- Selle V, Schalkwijk S, Vázquez GH, Baldessarini RJ. Treatments for acute bipolar depression: meta-analyses of placebo-controlled, monotherapy trials of anticonvulsants, lithium and antipsychotics. Pharmacopsychiatry 2014 Mar;47(2):43-52. [doi: <u>10.1055/s-0033-1363258</u>] [Medline: <u>24549862</u>]
- 9. Cipriani A, Rendell JM, Geddes J. Olanzapine in long-term treatment for bipolar disorder. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009 Jan 21(1):CD004367. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004367.pub2] [Medline: 19160237]
- Cipriani A, Rendell JM, Geddes JR. Haloperidol alone or in combination for acute mania. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006 Jul 19(3):CD004362. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD004362.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>16856043</u>]
- Cipriani A, Smith K, Burgess S, Carney S, Goodwin G, Geddes J. Lithium versus antidepressants in the long-term treatment of unipolar affective disorder. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006 Oct 18;2006(4):CD003492 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD003492.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>17054174</u>]
- 12. Bond DJ, Lam RW, Yatham LN. Divalproex sodium versus placebo in the treatment of acute bipolar depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord 2010 Aug;124(3):228-234. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.11.008] [Medline: 20044142]
- 13. De Fruyt J, Deschepper E, Audenaert K, Constant E, Floris M, Pitchot W, et al. Second generation antipsychotics in the treatment of bipolar depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Psychopharmacol 2012 May;26(5):603-617. [doi: 10.1177/0269881111408461] [Medline: 21940761]
- 14. Yatham LN, Kennedy SH, Parikh SV, Schaffer A, Beaulieu S, Alda M, et al. Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) and International Society for Bipolar Disorders (ISBD) collaborative update of CANMAT guidelines for the management of patients with bipolar disorder: update 2013. Bipolar Disord 2013 Feb;15(1):1-44. [doi: <u>10.1111/bdi.12025</u>] [Medline: <u>23237061</u>]

- Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists Clinical Practice Guidelines Team for Bipolar Disorder. Australian and New Zealand clinical practice guidelines for the treatment of bipolar disorder. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2004 May;38(5):280-305. [doi: 10.1080/j.1440-1614.2004.01356.x] [Medline: 15144505]
- Chatterton ML, Stockings E, Berk M, Barendregt JJ, Carter R, Mihalopoulos C. Psychosocial therapies for the adjunctive treatment of bipolar disorder in adults: network meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 2017 May;210(5):333-341. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.116.195321] [Medline: 28209591]
- Miklowitz DJ, Efthimiou O, Furukawa TA, Scott J, McLaren R, Geddes JR, et al. Adjunctive psychotherapy for bipolar disorder: a systematic review and component network meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiatry 2021 Feb 01;78(2):141-150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.2993] [Medline: <u>33052390</u>]
- Kraiss JT, Wijnen B, Kupka RW, Bohlmeijer ET, Lokkerbol J. Economic evaluations of non-pharmacological interventions and cost-of-illness studies in bipolar disorder: a systematic review. J Affect Disord 2020 Nov 01;276:388-401 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.06.064] [Medline: 32871669]
- 19. Myhr G, Payne K. Cost-effectiveness of cognitive-behavioural therapy for mental disorders: implications for public health care funding policy in Canada. Can J Psychiatry 2006 Sep;51(10):662-670. [doi: 10.1177/070674370605101006] [Medline: 17052034]
- 20. Etzelmueller A, Vis C, Karyotaki E, Baumeister H, Titov N, Berking M, et al. Effects of internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy in routine care for adults in treatment for depression and anxiety: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 31;22(8):e18100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18100] [Medline: 32865497]
- Donker T, Blankers M, Hedman E, Ljótsson B, Petrie K, Christensen H. Economic evaluations of Internet interventions for mental health: a systematic review. Psychol Med 2015 Dec;45(16):3357-3376. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291715001427</u>] [Medline: <u>26235445</u>]
- 22. Gliddon E, Barnes SJ, Murray G, Michalak EE. Online and mobile technologies for self-management in bipolar disorder: a systematic review. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2017 Sep;40(3):309-319. [doi: 10.1037/prj0000270] [Medline: 28594196]
- Gliddon E, Cosgrove V, Berk L, Lauder S, Mohebbi M, Grimm D, et al. A randomized controlled trial of MoodSwings 2.0: an Internet-based self-management program for bipolar disorder. Bipolar Disord 2019 Feb;21(1):28-39. [doi: 10.1111/bdi.12669] [Medline: 29931798]
- 24. Castle D, White C, Chamberlain J, Berk M, Berk L, Lauder S, et al. Group-based psychosocial intervention for bipolar disorder: randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry 2010 May;196(5):383-388. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.108.058263] [Medline: 20435965]
- Lauder S, Chester A, Castle D, Dodd S, Berk L, Klein B, et al. Development of an online intervention for bipolar disorder. www.moodswings.net.au. Psychol Health Med 2013;18(2):155-165. [doi: <u>10.1080/13548506.2012.689840</u>] [Medline: <u>22712771</u>]
- 26. Lauder S, Chester A, Castle D, Dodd S, Gliddon E, Berk L, et al. A randomized head to head trial of MoodSwings.net.au: an Internet based self-help program for bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord 2015 Jan 15;171:13-21. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.08.008] [Medline: 25282145]
- Lauder S, Cosgrove VE, Gliddon E, Grimm D, Dodd S, Berk L, et al. Progressing MoodSwings. the upgrade and evaluation of MoodSwings 2.0: an online intervention for bipolar disorder. Contemp Clin Trials 2017 May;56:18-24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2017.02.008] [Medline: 28257919]
- Drummond M, Barbieri M, Cook J, Glick HA, Lis J, Malik F, et al. Transferability of economic evaluations across jurisdictions: ISPOR Good Research Practices Task Force report. Value Health 2009 Jun;12(4):409-418 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4733.2008.00489.x] [Medline: 19900249]
- 29. Sanders GD, Neumann PJ, Basu A, Brock DW, Feeny D, Krahn M, et al. Recommendations for Conduct, Methodological Practices, and Reporting of Cost-effectiveness Analyses: Second Panel on Cost-Effectiveness in Health and Medicine. JAMA 2016 Oct 13;316(10):1093-1103. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.12195] [Medline: 27623463]
- 30. Sirey JA, Meyers BS, Teresi JA, Bruce ML, Ramirez M, Raue PJ, et al. The Cornell Service Index as a measure of health service use. Psychiatr Serv 2005 Dec;56(12):1564-1569. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.56.12.1564] [Medline: 16339619]
- 31. Brazier JE, Roberts J. The estimation of a preference-based measure of health from the SF-12. Med Care 2004 Sep;42(9):851-859. [doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000135827.18610.0d] [Medline: 15319610]
- 32. Glick HA, Doshi JA, Polsky D, Sonnad SS. Economic Evaluation in Clinical Trials. 2nd edition. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2014.
- 33. Drummond MF, Sculpher MJ, Claxton K, Stoddart GL, Torrance GW. Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes. 4th edition. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2015.
- Wang H, Zhao H. A study on confidence intervals for incremental cost-effectiveness ratios. Biom J 2008 Aug;50(4):505-514. [doi: <u>10.1002/bimj.200810439</u>] [Medline: <u>18663759</u>]
- 35. Carter R, Vos T, Moodie M, Haby M, Magnus A, Mihalopoulos C. Priority setting in health: origins, description and application of the Australian Assessing Cost-Effectiveness initiative. Expert Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res 2008 Dec;8(6):593-617. [doi: 10.1586/14737167.8.6.593] [Medline: 20528370]

RenderX

- Faria R, Gomes M, Epstein D, White IR. A guide to handling missing data in cost-effectiveness analysis conducted within randomised controlled trials. Pharmacoeconomics 2014 Dec;32(12):1157-1170 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40273-014-0193-3] [Medline: 25069632]
- Brand J, van Buuren S, le Cessie S, van den Hout W. Combining multiple imputation and bootstrap in the analysis of cost-effectiveness trial data. Stat Med 2019 Jan 30;38(2):210-220 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/sim.7956</u>] [Medline: <u>30207407</u>]
- 38. Deb P, Norton EC, Manning WG. Health Econometrics Using Stata. London, UK: Routledge; 2017.
- 39. 3101.0 Australian Demographic Statistics. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2018 Jun. URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/</u> <u>AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/3101.0Jun%202018?OpenDocument</u> [accessed 2022-01-10]
- 40. Mitchell PB, Johnston AK, Frankland A, Slade T, Green MJ, Roberts G, et al. Bipolar disorder in a national survey using the World Mental Health Version of the Composite International Diagnostic Interview: the impact of differing diagnostic algorithms. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2013 May;127(5):381-393. [doi: 10.1111/acps.12005] [Medline: 22906117]
- Shields GE, Buck D, Elvidge J, Hayhurst KP, Davies LM. Cost-effectiveness evaluations of psychological therapies for schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a systematic review. Int J Technol Assess Health Care 2019;35(4):317-326 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0266462319000448] [Medline: 31328702]
- 42. Scott J, Colom F, Popova E, Benabarre A, Cruz N, Valenti M, et al. Long-term mental health resource utilization and cost of care following group psychoeducation or unstructured group support for bipolar disorders: a cost-benefit analysis. J Clin Psychiatry 2009 Mar;70(3):378-386. [doi: 10.4088/jcp.08m04333] [Medline: 19284929]
- 43. Camacho EM, Ntais D, Jones S, Riste L, Morriss R, Lobban F, et al. Cost-effectiveness of structured group psychoeducation versus unstructured group support for bipolar disorder: results from a multi-centre pragmatic randomised controlled trial. J Affect Disord 2017 Mar 15;211:27-36. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.01.005] [Medline: 28086146]
- 44. Hengartner MP, Plöderl M. Estimates of the minimal important difference to evaluate the clinical significance of antidepressants in the acute treatment of moderate-to-severe depression. BMJ Evid Based Med 2022 Apr;27(2):69-73. [doi: 10.1136/bmjebm-2020-111600] [Medline: 33593736]
- 45. Lam DH, Watkins ER, Hayward P, Bright J, Wright K, Kerr N, et al. A randomized controlled study of cognitive therapy for relapse prevention for bipolar affective disorder: outcome of the first year. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2003 Feb;60(2):145-152. [doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.60.2.145] [Medline: 12578431]
- 46. Gerhards SA, de Graaf LE, Jacobs LE, Severens JL, Huibers MJ, Arntz A, et al. Economic evaluation of online computerised cognitive-behavioural therapy without support for depression in primary care: randomised trial. Br J Psychiatry 2010 Apr;196(4):310-318. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.109.065748] [Medline: 20357309]
- 47. Phillips R, Schneider J, Molosankwe I, Leese M, Foroushani PS, Grime P, et al. Randomized controlled trial of computerized cognitive behavioural therapy for depressive symptoms: effectiveness and costs of a workplace intervention. Psychol Med 2014 Mar;44(4):741-752 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S0033291713001323] [Medline: 23795621]

Abbreviations

BD: bipolar disorder
CBT: cognitive behavioral therapy
GLM: generalized linear model
ICER: incremental cost-effectiveness ratio
MADRS: Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale
QALY: quality-adjusted life year
RCT: randomized controlled trial
SF-12: short-form health survey, 12-item version
SF-6D: short-form 6-dimension

Edited by J Torous; submitted 17.01.22; peer-reviewed by C Buntrock, M Birk; comments to author 02.06.22; revised version received 28.07.22; accepted 09.08.22; published 01.11.22.

Please cite as:

Chatterton ML, Lee YY, Berk L, Mohebbi M, Berk M, Suppes T, Lauder S, Mihalopoulos C Cost-Utility and Cost-effectiveness of MoodSwings 2.0, an Internet-Based Self-management Program for Bipolar Disorder: Economic Evaluation Alongside a Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e36496 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e36496 doi:10.2196/36496

PMID:<u>36318243</u>



©Mary Lou Chatterton, Yong Yi Lee, Lesley Berk, Mohammadreza Mohebbi, Michael Berk, Trisha Suppes, Sue Lauder, Cathrine Mihalopoulos. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 01.11.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Viewpoint

Ethical Implications of the Use of Language Analysis Technologies for the Diagnosis and Prediction of Psychiatric Disorders

Alexandre Andrade Loch^{1,2*}, BPhil, MD, PhD; Ana Caroline Lopes-Rocha^{1*}, BSc; Anderson Ara^{3*}, PhD; João Medrado Gondim^{4*}, BSc; Guillermo A Cecchi^{5*}, MSc, PhD; Cheryl Mary Corcoran^{6*}, MD; Natália Bezerra Mota^{7,8*}, MD, PhD; Felipe C Argolo^{1*}, MD, PhD

¹Institute of Psychiatry, University of Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil

²Instituto Nacional de Biomarcadores em Neuropsiquiatria, Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico, Brazilia, Brazil

³Departamento de Estatística, Universidade Federal do Paraná, Curitiba, Brazil

⁵IBM Thomas J. Watson Research Center, Yorktown Heights, NY, United States

⁸Research Department at Motrix Lab, Motrix, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Alexandre Andrade Loch, BPhil, MD, PhD Institute of Psychiatry University of Sao Paulo R. Dr. Ovidio Pires de Campos 785, 4 andar sala 4N60 Sao Paulo, 05403010 Brazil Phone: 55 11996201213 Email: <u>alexandre.loch@usp.br</u>

Abstract

Recent developments in artificial intelligence technologies have come to a point where machine learning algorithms can infer mental status based on someone's photos and texts posted on social media. More than that, these algorithms are able to predict, with a reasonable degree of accuracy, future mental illness. They potentially represent an important advance in mental health care for preventive and early diagnosis initiatives, and for aiding professionals in the follow-up and prognosis of their patients. However, important issues call for major caution in the use of such technologies, namely, privacy and the stigma related to mental disorders. In this paper, we discuss the bioethical implications of using such technologies to diagnose and predict future mental illness, given the current scenario of swiftly growing technologies that analyze human language and the online availability of personal information given by social media. We also suggest future directions to be taken to minimize the misuse of such important technologies.

(JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e41014) doi:10.2196/41014

KEYWORDS

at-risk mental state; psychosis; clinical high risk; digital phenotyping; machine learning; artificial intelligence; natural language processing

Introduction

In 2018, football commentator and former Liverpool defender Mark Lawrenson was alerted to a facial cancerous blemish by one of his viewers [1]. General practitioner Alan Brennan emailed England's BBC and alerted Lawrenson after watching him on TV and spotting the suspicious skin lesion. Lawrenson

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41014

RenderX

successfully treated the skin cancer and later would bring the doctor to the TV show to interview and thank him. In 2020, reporter Victoria Price was on air when a spectator noticed a lump on her neck [2]. The woman promptly emailed the reporter alerting that Price should have her thyroid checked—the spectator reported she also had a neck bulging in the past that was revealed to be cancer. After exams and appointments with oncologists, Price confirmed that the lump was a thyroid cancer

⁴Instituto de Computação, Universidade Federal da Bahia, Salvador, Brazil

⁶Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, United States

⁷Instituto de Psiquiatria, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

and underwent an effective treatment [2]. These are two examples among many others in which signs of someone's undiagnosed disease could be noticed by a third party who seized the opportunity to alert the person about it. Such attitudes are often lifesaving, as they end up in diagnosis and effective treatment. However, what if mental illness could somehow also become perceptible?

In this paper, we discuss the intrinsic privacy protection of mental illnesses and how current technologies, specifically artificial intelligence (AI), allow us to "see" mental illness and potentially bypass this protection. By "see," we mean to view by digital means. Stigma is then addressed, as it is the main issue that makes the ability to "see" mental illness have different consequences as compared to "seeing" other illnesses. Bioethical issues related to both previous items and to the use of such technologies are discussed. We then address the interpretability of AI models, an issue that may threaten bioethical principles. Lastly, we discuss problems related to the use of such technologies outside clinical and research settings.

The Privacy Protection of Mental Illness

We usually think of psychiatric illness as having an intrinsic privacy protection, since we need someone to talk about their thoughts and feelings to make a mental status assessment. However, many psychiatric disorders are somewhat apparent to the trained eye-and ears-of the mental health professional and even to lay people. Appearance and behavior are the first items in the mental status examination, a road map for mental health professionals that is equivalent to the physical exam of the general practitioner [3]. Along this examination, the content and form of what someone says is also carefully assessed, as speech is the main access we have to the patient's thoughts and feelings. These are all items of what we denote in a broad definition as communication: the first is called nonverbal communication (or nonverbal language), and the other is verbal communication [4]. Therefore, the way someone behaves and what someone says, even while not being in a psychiatric interview, can sometimes provide enough data to presume the possibility of a mental disorder. This is similar to the case with jaundice, weight loss, or lumps across the body in other illnesses, for instance. However, confirmation of the diagnosis is dependent upon further examination beyond the signs shown. This confirmation, as well as the disclosure of the diagnosis, is contingent on the patient's acquiescence to be submitted to laboratory tests, imaging, and physical examination, and to reveal their feelings and experiences by further questioning about their mental status during an interview. Nevertheless, this "privacy protection" might be overcome by technology and by the quick and recent progress in AI modeling.

To begin with, the wide use of social media has made an unprecedented amount of private data publicly available. This is not a novel issue, as it has been addressed in movies and publications in diverse fields [5,6], and was recently put in the spotlight of public debate as a consequence of privacy lawsuits against the big information technology corporations [7]. While the use of such personal big data for profiting purposes has been unveiled, its use for mental health purposes remain largely unknown. People share images, videos, and texts on their social media, showing how they behave and what they speak and think. These are the very tools used by mental health professionals to make their diagnosis. Evidently the issues displayed in social media are not the ones investigated in a mental health consultation, but they often overlap as users frequently post their intimate feelings, share their mood, and so on, online. Besides this, AI techniques have evolved to an extraordinary level, and their machine learning (ML) algorithms for verbal and nonverbal language analyses of individuals has evolved likewise [8,9]. A study published in 2020 used language and images posted to Facebook to identify signs associated with psychiatric illness [10]. A ML algorithm was fed with 3,404,959 Facebook messages and 142,390 images across 223 participants with schizophrenia spectrum disorder or mood disorders and healthy volunteers. All data prior to the first psychiatric hospitalization was uploaded to minimize the potential confounds on social media activity of medications, hospitalizations, and relapses, and receiving a formal psychiatric diagnosis. The algorithm was able to differentiate the diagnosis using Facebook activity alone over a year in advance of the first-episode hospitalization, with areas under the curve (AUCs) varying between 0.72-0.77.

Regarding this "visibility" of severe mental disorders, in more clinical/research settings, video diagnosis frameworks have also been tested, with encouraging results. Researchers have found that neuromotor precursors of schizophrenia, for instance, can be traced back to childhood [11]. Accordingly, an analysis of brief videotape footage of children eating lunch suggested that observed movement anomalies were able to discriminate among those children who later developed schizophrenia and those who did not [12]. More recently, verbal language features extracted from video and audio recordings were shown to be important early signs of psychotic illness [13-17]. These features include discourse coherence, syntactic complexity, speech content poverty, metaphorical language, and language structural connectedness [13-17]. Bedi et al [13], for instance, showed that discourse coherence was significantly correlated with subclinical psychotic symptoms. Though derived from a small sample of individuals with at-risk mental states (ARMSs) for psychosis, their model could predict with 100% accuracy progression from the risk state to schizophrenia. This finding of lower speech connectedness in at-risk individuals was also replicated by Spencer et al [17], who used speech graphs in their analyses, another technique to assess syntactic complexity and speech content poverty. These features are commonly referred to as natural language processing and, in larger samples, were used to obtain AUCs as high as 0.88 for predicting which at-risk individuals will develop a psychotic disorder in the future. For individuals at first-episode psychosis, AUCs of up to 0.92 were obtained to predict who would receive the diagnosis of schizophrenia 6 months in advance [16]. Audio features such as pauses [18] and nonverbal behavior such as gestures [19] and movement in general [20] were also seen to be discriminative between healthy and ARMSs. Besides serious mental disorders [21], AI frameworks have also been developed to detect and classify other mental disorders, as shown by numerous publications and challenges to establish an accurate

```
XSL•FO
```

depression estimation from audio, video, and text information [22,23].

Thus, the possibility to "see" mental disorders is, per se, an innovative technology. It could increase access to mental health care and allow for prevention, early diagnosis, and treatment, as in the cases of the illnesses cited in the beginning of this text. It could also aid clinicians in diagnosing, following-up, and prognosing their patients in their daily practice. This would greatly improve the outcome and quality of life for those afflicted with a mental illness. However, one issue distinguishes mental disorders from other illnesses, making the idea of "seeing" them less desirable. This issue is stigma.

Stigma of Mental Illness

Mental illness carries a great deal of social stigma, which most physical illnesses do not [24]. Prejudice and discrimination toward people with mental disorders is historical, existing from before the birth of psychiatry [25,26]. Unfortunately, despite the great advances seen in psychiatry in the last decades, stigma still persists in several forms [27]. Its causes are many, but as mental disorders generate behavioral changes, they often tend to be judged by the public as a moral act of the patient. If one conceives mental illness as a strictly biological disease, with genetic causes, for instance, fear and feelings of insecurity arise toward the mentally ill, as if the person would not have control of their actions [28]. If mental illness is conceived as a sole psychosocial issue, the patients are to blame for their depressive symptoms, anxiety, and so on. The situation is worse for the group of severe mental disorders. Hallucinations and delusions seen in schizophrenia symbolize a mismatch of people with the disorder with the public's common experience, generating fear, perceived danger, and the desire for social distancing [29-31].

As such, stigma constitutes a major treatment barrier for those with mental disorders, hampering preventative initiatives and substantially worsening outcomes. This barrier appears before treatment has begun (low mental health literacy, stereotypes endorsement, and diagnosis delay and denial) and continues thereafter (self-stigma, low treatment adherence, diagnosis disclosure) [32]. Stigma also contaminates those that surround the mentally ill, including family members, friends, and health professionals. Reproducing the prejudice seen in other illnesses such as AIDS and leprosy in the past, mental disorders are often faced as if they were contagious [33]. This worsens discrimination and social isolation as even close people tend to stay away from those with the diagnosis-something called courtesy stigma [34,35]. Due to this multifaceted burden of stigma, revealing that someone may have a depressive disorder, or that someone may be at risk of having schizophrenia in the future, is different from pointing out that someone should seek a doctor because of a suspected thyroid or skin cancer [36].

To make the stigma issue worse, there is the problem of false positives [37]. There is an ongoing debate on the accuracy of one of the most studied preventive paradigms in psychiatry, namely, the ARMS for psychosis concept (or clinical high risk for psychosis) [38]. Researchers are trying to enhance the accuracy of the ARMS criteria, as studies showed that most individuals that fall into the criteria (76%) do not develop a

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41014
```

XSL•FO

psychotic disorder at all [39]. In other words, the use of ARMS criteria alone generates a large number of false positives. The use of language to classify ARMS individuals who will develop a future disorder can potentially predict up to 80%-90% of cases, as seen in some studies-though with small samples. This accuracy is similar to that of a pap smear to screen for cervical cancer, eliciting a false-positive rate of around 20% [40]. However, while pap smears are routinely used as an important preventive public health strategy and concerns are directed toward improving the false-negative ratio [41], "seeing" severe mental disorders through language analysis would still be a concern. Even though language frameworks can substantially reduce the number of false positives, the great stigma related to the condition and the uncertainty regarding intervention at this phase still hinder the implementation of preventive strategies. As such, the number of prevented cases must be weighed against the number of individuals harmed by being misdiagnosed as being at risk [42].

Bioethical Issues

Given that mental disorders might be now "visible" to AI algorithms that analyze communication, and that there is a stigma related to these disorders, one must consider the bioethical implications. The four main principles of bioethics are (1) beneficence, (2) nonmaleficence, (3) autonomy, and (4) justice [43].

Beneficence is the principle that guides physicians to act for the benefit of patients. It also implies several other actions beyond the usual patient-doctor relationship in a clinic, such as rescuing persons in danger, removing conditions that will cause harm, and helping individuals with a disability. Beneficence is a positive concept in the sense that one has to be active, to propose actions and intervene. Nonmaleficence, on the other hand, concerns the obligation physicians have to not harm their patients, not worsen their health, not incapacitate, not cause suffering, and not deprive others of the goods of life. In practice this implicates the weighting of benefits against burdens of all interventions and treatments and in considering not to act [43]. Autonomy asserts that every person has the power to make rational decisions and moral choices, and everybody should be allowed to exercise their capacity for self-determination. The principle of autonomy branches out into three other important principles [43]:

- Informed consent: patients must receive full disclosure and comprehend the disclosure to voluntarily agree to a medical procedure or research.
- 2. Truth-telling: a vital component in a physician-patient relationship, as autonomous patients have the right to know their diagnosis but also the option to forgo this disclosure.
- 3. Confidentiality: physicians are obliged not to disclose any confidential information given by patients to another party without their consent.

Justice is the fourth ethical principle. It encompasses the need for a fair, equitable and appropriate treatment of persons. This principle may encompass microsettings, such as adequately treating individuals in an emergency service, as well as macrosettings involving health care policies.

That being said, the use of language detection algorithms for mental health purposes may pose some bioethical dilemmas, and the use of such tools must still be approached with caution. The role of medical advice and diagnosis in one's disease trajectory is relevant, and the early detection of mental illness can enable health care practitioners to intervene and avoid negative outcomes. On the other hand, the attribution of labels can also increase the chances of self-stigma [42]. Social stigma is a great burden for people with mental disorders and is especially associated with the psychiatric diagnosis (ie, labels) [29], generating poorer outcomes and other negative consequences [44]. This is especially important considering the high rate of false positives among the previously cited ARMS condition [39]. That is, individuals (wrongly) classified as ARMS but who would never develop a mental disorder. Using the ARMS paradigm indiscriminately to diagnose individuals without properly demystifying this information and destigmatizing mental illnesses would constitute a threat to the nonmaleficence principle [42]. Besides, it would also be potentially paternalistic, harming autonomy.

To understand the biological pathways toward psychosis and to develop new treatments, research efforts are being directed to the enhancement of the predictive power of the ARMS concept [45]. This is being done by investigating biological markers or by using ML algorithms. In this sense, the use of AI for natural language processing has produced encouraging results, with a diagnostic accuracy similar or superior to other classifiers used in medicine [14,15]. However, if stigma is not addressed in a comprehensive way, no matter how few false positives there are, they will still be a concern regarding nonmaleficence. Moreover, the use of such algorithms to interpret language data also poses a threat to nonmaleficence and to autonomy, more specifically concerning the lack of comprehension of certain information given by such algorithms, which we depict below.

Interpretability and Validity of Algorithms

The issue that some ML models are impossible to interpret has recently gained a growing interest [46]. There's an ongoing discussion on the repercussions of such algorithms for high-stakes decisions. Such models are called black box models, for their operation with the inputted variables is not completely observable. They are known to learn from subtle metadata, and this may carry the risk of hidden bias (eg, the Clever Hans problem) [47].

Exemplifying this, in 2018, a study aimed to investigate the generalizability across sites of a deep learning model to detect pneumonia in chest radiographs [48]. At first, the model performed very well in distinguishing high-risk patients from non–high-risk patients. However, upon external validation, the performance plummeted. The AI model was not learning from clinically relevant information from the images. Instead, it was learning and basing its decisions on hardware-related metadata tied to a specific x-ray machine. This machine was being used in an intensive care unit (ICU) to image mostly high-risk individuals [49]. That is, the algorithm would attribute a high-risk classification to most images coming from that ICU's

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41014
```

x-ray, instead of using clinical data from the x-rays themselves to make decisions. Several scholars have discussed explainability as a major problem for the use of AI in health care [50].

For some computational problems, it is hard to associate meaningful parameters with individual variables. For instance, in images examined by computer vision, each pixel is meaningless without context, while the full set of pixels taken together contain local (eg, pixels that together form a smile) and global (eg, sources of light inferred from shadow directions) characteristics. Complex models make use of several heuristics to capture abstract notions according to each application. Concepts such as objects in pictures and seasonality in time series are encoded and distributed across different structures within the model. Therefore, simple descriptions such as "anxiety increases as stress increases" are rarely possible, contrary to what happens in familiar regression methods. Since multiple conditional dependencies preclude direct statements about results, additional analytical and experimental steps are required for the interpretation of complex models [51].

In short, it is not enough only to enhance predictive power and avoid false positives but also to understand the real-world underpinnings of black box algorithms [49]. Both machine statements and human statements are congruent with a given ground truth [50]. Taking the above example, we have two statements, accordingly. First, a specific characteristic of some given x-rays is associated with a higher risk for pneumonia (machine statement). Second, we should prioritize patients with those x-rays, as they are at higher odds of having pneumonia according to the ML model (human statement). Both statements are equally used for decision-making. Nevertheless, human models are often based on causality as an aim for understanding underlying mechanisms and for intervention. While the correlation is accepted as a basis for decisions, it is viewed as an intermediate step. For instance, why are those specific patients at higher risk of having pneumonia? We should investigate their characteristics to understand the higher risk of pneumonia and to develop a specific antibiotic. On the other hand, ML algorithms are typically based on probabilistic models and provide only a crude basis for further establishing causal relationships. Upon opening the black box, the relationship between that specific set of x-rays and pneumonia was due to a given x-ray machine located in an ICU service that was working on many more cases of pneumonia than the other machines. That is, ML models offer important decision-making tools, namely, prioritizing those individuals. However, further investigations beyond the simple association should be conducted, opening the black box and addressing physiopathological explainability and causability.

Decisions in health care imply liability, including legal and financial repercussions. Therefore, each decision must be logically reasoned with explainable evidence [49]. AI models might be insightful for scientists, but they should also be sufficiently clear and explainable for end users to support their decisions [52]. Otherwise, it could constitute a threat to the patient's autonomy. Accordingly, traditional algorithms must handle sources of information in an interpretable manner, such as the GRACE score for acute coronary syndrome and the

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Sequential Organ Failure Assessment score for organ failure in ICUs [53,54]. They map higher probabilities of a bad outcome to signs of severity (eg, abnormal values in biological markers). Clinical support decision systems based on opaque ("black-box") algorithms must, as such, provide a clear rationale to be useful for practitioners. Besides carrying hidden bias, the use of opaque algorithms leads to a defensive medical practice. When no underlying rationale is presented [55], physicians tend to agree with the machine to avoid liability. On the other hand, interpretable outputs will help practitioners to treat their patients with fewer overlooked findings and misled predictions.

Post hoc techniques of analysis (local interpretable model-agnostic explanations, Shapley Additive Explanations, multilingual unsupervised and supervised embeddings, etc) are an option when model parameters are numerous and computational processes go beyond elementary functions and operators [51]. Specifically regarding language data, researchers should treat findings from computer based evaluations as they do with traditional indicators. It is crucial, for instance, to have representative data as a basis for normative curves for each proposed behavioral marker. How does it develop through ages; how does it change according to gender or ethnicity; what are the effects of social factors such as socioeconomic status, educational level, neighborhood, or exposure to urban violence? Before jumping to the conclusion on the relationship of some behavioral marker to a pathological factor, we first need to map and understand normative variability across cultures, languages, and countries [56,57]. For example, language structural connectedness that diminishes according to negative symptom severity under psychosis [16] also increases during typical development, being tightly associated with educational levels. Years of formal education are more important to explain this developmental trajectory than years of age to the point that illiterate adults narrate their stories with a structural pattern similar to preschool children [58].

After gaining insights on potential pathological markers and mapping on pathological confounding factors, we still need to discuss potential public policies that protect the individual rights to not be evaluated or even judged without consent.

Legislation and Data Privacy

Otto Hahn won the Nobel Prize for discovering nuclear fission in 1939 and allowing nuclear reactors to produce enormous amounts of energy [59]. However, he is a controversial historical figure once his discovery also allowed the building of the World War II atomic bombs. Arthur W Galston studied the effects of 2,3,5-triiodobenzoic acid on the growth and flowering of soybeans. Later the military developed it into Agent Orange and used it in the Vietnam War as a chemical weapon. This led Galston to become a bioethicist and give talks on the misuse of science [60]. Likewise, internet, smartphones, social media, and search mechanisms revolutionized our relationship with knowledge and with each other as humans. However, unethical misuse of big data to control one's exposure to information, to stimulate consumerism, and to capture someone's time for profiting purposes are the proxies of such inventions' perversion [61]. The number of discoveries—either scientific or not—that

XSL•FC

got misused by third parties other than their inventor is countless. It is easy to figure out how technologies that address mental status through language can follow the same way.

Automated analysis of free speech, for instance, can establish thought disorder indexes based on what someone says or writes [13]. Additionally, these indexes can predict future serious mental disorders like schizophrenia. That is, the data fed into the analysis can be extracted from written text from books, transcripts, or other data sets that are available to the public (eg, social media or personal blogs). This raises the possibility of malicious use, given the online availability of people's written data on the internet. Another example of the possible use of available information to infer the mental status of individuals is the Facebook study mentioned at the beginning. The algorithm could predict a future and severe mental disorder with a 72%-77% level of certainty. All these works importantly advance science and provide the perspective of useful tools to be used by clinicians and policy makers. Additionally these findings are developed in environments strictly guided by ethical standards given by ethics committees and supervised by the scientific community. However, the problem is not related to these regulated settings but when the invention goes beyond scientists.

Likewise, ethical boards review and regulate scientific studies and health professionals' practice; apart from these settings, the law exists to oversee and penalize irregular use of big data [62]. As such, there is now a growing concern about digital privacy, especially after the awareness raised by the lawsuits against big tech claiming too much power over people's lives and personal information a few years ago. This has led to an increase in legislation to regulate access and use of personal information, especially that which is somewhat publicly available in online social networks. However, there is always the risk of a legal gap as cutting-edge inventions are temporally ahead of legislation protecting them from misuse. This is especially evident today as new ML algorithms and technologies arise with increasing frequency. This can potentially foster discrimination of individuals with mental disorders in countries where such a gap is not covered by personal information privacy protection legislation. For instance, allowing the misuse of such technologies in job interviews, academic interviews, and so on, to dismiss people from the selection process based on preconceived ideas about mental disorders.

Conclusion

Summarizing, new technologies derived from AI have the potential to "see" mental disorders by someone's behavior and discourse. These technologies per se would greatly help in early detection and disease outcome. However, the historical and enduring stigma attached to mental disorders hampers the use of such tools. Fighting prejudice and discrimination related to mental disorders should constitute future directions so that stigma does not constitute a barrier for the use of these innovative technologies. Moreover, to comply with nonmaleficence and avoid the stigma, these technologies also need to have low rates of false positives in predicting someone's possibility of future mental illness. There is a further risk that

these ML algorithms turn into black box models. This hidden bias problem could potentially harm the patients' autonomy and disclosure. So, it is necessary to clearly describe the algorithm, to use post hoc interpretation methods, and to conduct bias-checking procedures. Additionally, because of stigma and due to the high online availability of personal information on an individual's verbal and nonverbal language, information derived from the algorithms carries the risk of being misused, such as to discriminate against individuals because of their mental health status. In this sense, awareness should be raised in regulating the use of these technologies in real-world settings. There is a challenge for legislators to catch-up with the ever-renovating new technologies and algorithms designed to decipher human behavior to prevent these inventions from being misused.

Conflicts of Interest

NBM works at the Motrix, an EduTech startup, and has been a consultant to Boehringer Ingelheim. The other authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- 1. Lawrenson M. How Football Focus viewer alerted me to cancer scare. BBC. 2018 Sep 07. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/sport/football/45451518</u> [accessed 2022-05-25]
- 2. Elassar A. TV reporter discovers she has cancer after a viewer noticed a suspicious lump on her neck. CNN. 2020. URL: https://edition.cnn.com/2020/07/24/us/florida-reporter-cancer-viewer-lump-trnd/index.html [accessed 2022-05-25]
- 3. Norris D, Clark MS, Shipley S. The Mental Status Examination. Am Fam Physician 2016 Oct 15;94(8):635-641 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 27929229]
- 4. Bavelas JB, Chovil N. Nonverbal and verbal communication: hand gestures and facial displays as part of language use in face-to-face dialogue. In: Manusov V, Patterson ML, editors. The SAGE Handbook of Nonverbal Communication. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications Inc; 2006:97-115.
- 5. Cohen IG, Mello MM. Big data, big tech, and protecting patient privacy. JAMA 2019 Sep 24;322(12):1141-1142. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.11365] [Medline: 31397838]
- 6. Houser KA, Voss WG. GDPR: the end of Google and Facebook or a new paradigm in data privacy? Richmond J Law Technol 2018;1:25 [FREE Full text]
- Roberts JJ. Big tech vs. big privacy lawsuits. Fortune. 2019. URL: <u>https://fortune.com/2019/02/23/big-tech-vs-big-privacy-lawsuits/</u> [accessed 2022-05-25]
- 8. Shatte ABR, Hutchinson DM, Teague SJ. Machine learning in mental health: a scoping review of methods and applications. Psychol Med 2019 Jul;49(9):1426-1448. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291719000151] [Medline: 30744717]
- Teferra BG, Borwein S, DeSouza DD, Simpson W, Rheault L, Rose J. Acoustic and linguistic features of impromptu speech and their association with anxiety: validation study. JMIR Ment Health 2022 Jul 08;9(7):e36828 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/36828] [Medline: 35802401]
- Birnbaum ML, Norel R, Van Meter A, Ali AF, Arenare E, Eyigoz E, et al. Identifying signals associated with psychiatric illness utilizing language and images posted to Facebook. NPJ Schizophr 2020 Dec 03;6(1):38. [doi: 10.1038/s41537-020-00125-0] [Medline: 33273468]
- 11. Walker EF. Neurodevelopmental precursors of schizophrenia. In: The Neuropsychology of Schizophrenia. London: Taylor & Francis Group; 1994:119-129.
- Schiffman J, Walker E, Ekstrom M, Schulsinger F, Sorensen H, Mednick S. Childhood videotaped social and neuromotor precursors of schizophrenia: a prospective investigation. Am J Psychiatry 2004 Nov;161(11):2021-2027. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.11.2021] [Medline: 15514402]
- 13. Bedi G, Carrillo F, Cecchi GA, Slezak DF, Sigman M, Mota NB, et al. Automated analysis of free speech predicts psychosis onset in high-risk youths. NPJ Schizophr 2015;1:15030. [doi: 10.1038/npjschz.2015.30] [Medline: 27336038]
- Corcoran CM, Cecchi GA. Using language processing and speech analysis for the identification of psychosis and other disorders. Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging 2020 Aug;5(8):770-779 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.bpsc.2020.06.004</u>] [Medline: <u>32771179</u>]
- Corcoran CM, Mittal VA, Bearden CE, E Gur R, Hitczenko K, Bilgrami Z, et al. Language as a biomarker for psychosis: a natural language processing approach. Schizophr Res 2020 Dec;226:158-166 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.schres.2020.04.032</u>] [Medline: <u>32499162</u>]
- Mota NB, Copelli M, Ribeiro S. Thought disorder measured as random speech structure classifies negative symptoms and schizophrenia diagnosis 6 months in advance. NPJ Schizophr 2017;3:18. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41537-017-0019-3</u>] [Medline: <u>28560264</u>]
- Spencer TJ, Thompson B, Oliver D, Diederen K, Demjaha A, Weinstein S, et al. Lower speech connectedness linked to incidence of psychosis in people at clinical high risk. Schizophr Res 2021 Feb;228:493-501. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.schres.2020.09.002</u>] [Medline: <u>32951966</u>]

- Stanislawski ER, Bilgrami ZR, Sarac C, Garg S, Heisig S, Cecchi GA, et al. Negative symptoms and speech pauses in youths at clinical high risk for psychosis. NPJ Schizophr 2021 Jan 22;7(1):3. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41537-020-00132-1</u>] [Medline: <u>33483485</u>]
- Osborne KJ, Bernard JA, Gupta T, Dean DJ, Millman Z, Vargas T, et al. Beat gestures and postural control in youth at ultrahigh risk for psychosis. Schizophr Res 2017 Jul;185:197-199 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.schres.2016.11.028</u>] [Medline: <u>27914727</u>]
- 20. Lopes-Rocha AC, Corcoran CM, Andrade JC, Peroni L, Haddad NM, Hortêncio L, et al. Motion energy analysis during speech tasks in medication-naïve individuals with at-risk mental states for psychosis. Schizophrenia (Heidelb) 2022 Sep 16;8(1):73. [doi: 10.1038/s41537-022-00283-3] [Medline: 36114187]
- 21. Harvey D, Lobban F, Rayson P, Warner A, Jones S. Natural language processing methods and bipolar disorder: scoping review. JMIR Ment Health 2022 Apr 22;9(4):e35928 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/35928] [Medline: 35451984]
- 22. Yang L, Sahli H, Xia X, Pei E, Oveneke MC, Jiang D. Hybrid depression classification and estimation from audio video and text information. In: Proceedings of the 7th Annual Workshop on Audio/Visual Emotion Challenge. 2017 Oct Presented at: AVEC '17; October 23, 2017; Mountain View, CA p. 45-51. [doi: 10.1145/3133944.3133950]
- 23. He L, Guo C, Tiwari P, Su R, Pandey H, Dang W. DepNet: An automated industrial intelligent system using deep learning for video based depression analysis. Int J Intelligent Sys 2021 Oct 06;37(7):3815-3835. [doi: 10.1002/int.22704]
- 24. Kowalski R, Peipert A. Public- and self-stigma attached to physical versus psychological disabilities. Stigma Health 2019 May;4(2):136-142. [doi: 10.1037/sah0000123]
- 25. Shorter E. A History of Psychiatry: From the Era of the Asylum to the Age of Prozac. Oxford, England: John Wiley & Sons; 1997.
- 26. Foucault M, Howard R. Madness and Civilization: A History of Insanity in the Age of Reason. New York: Vintage; 1988.
- 27. Fox AB, Earnshaw VA, Taverna EC, Vogt D. Conceptualizing and measuring mental illness stigma: the mental illness stigma framework and critical review of measures. Stigma Health 2018 Nov;3(4):348-376 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/sah0000104] [Medline: 30505939]
- Larkings JS, Brown PM. Do biogenetic causal beliefs reduce mental illness stigma in people with mental illness and in mental health professionals? A systematic review. Int J Ment Health Nurs 2018 Jun;27(3):928-941. [doi: <u>10.1111/inm.12390</u>] [Medline: <u>28942615</u>]
- 29. Loch AA, Hengartner MP, Guarniero FB, Lawson FL, Wang Y, Gattaz WF, et al. The more information, the more negative stigma towards schizophrenia: Brazilian general population and psychiatrists compared. Psychiatry Res 2013 Feb 28;205(3):185-191. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2012.11.023] [Medline: 23266022]
- Woodberry KA, Powers KS, Bryant C, Downing D, Verdi MB, Elacqua KM, et al. Emotional and stigma-related experiences relative to being told one is at risk for psychosis. Schizophr Res 2021 Dec;238:44-51. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.schres.2021.09.017</u>] [Medline: <u>34598105</u>]
- 31. Larsen EM, Herrera S, Bilgrami ZR, Shaik RB, Crump F, Sarac C, et al. Self-stigma related feelings of shame and facial fear recognition in individuals at clinical high risk for psychosis: A brief report. Schizophr Res 2019 Jun;208:483-485 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.01.027] [Medline: 30700396]
- 32. Setti VPC, Loch AA, Modelli A, de Almeida Rocca CC, Hungerbuehler I, van de Bilt MT, et al. Disclosing the diagnosis of schizophrenia: a pilot study of the 'Coming Out Proud' intervention. Int J Soc Psychiatry 2019 May;65(3):244-251. [doi: 10.1177/0020764019840057] [Medline: 30915887]
- van der Sanden RLM, Bos A, Stutterheim S, Pryor J, Kok G. Experiences of stigma by association among family members of people with mental illness. Rehabil Psychol 2013 Feb;58(1):73-80. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0031752</u>] [Medline: <u>23438002</u>]
- 34. Angermeyer MC, Schulze B, Dietrich S. Courtesy stigma--a focus group study of relatives of schizophrenia patients. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2003 Oct;38(10):593-602. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00127-003-0680-x</u>] [Medline: <u>14564387</u>]
- 35. Wong C, Davidson L, Anglin D, Link B, Gerson R, Malaspina D, et al. Stigma in families of individuals in early stages of psychotic illness: family stigma and early psychosis. Early Interv Psychiatry 2009 May;3(2):108-115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2009.00116.x] [Medline: 19777087]
- Yang LH, Woodberry KA, Link BG, Corcoran CM, Bryant C, Shapiro DI, et al. Impact of "psychosis risk" identification: examining predictors of how youth view themselves. Schizophr Res 2019 Jun;208:300-307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.01.037] [Medline: <u>30792136</u>]
- Corcoran C, Malaspina D, Hercher L. Prodromal interventions for schizophrenia vulnerability: the risks of being "at risk". Schizophr Res 2005 Mar 01;73(2-3):173-184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2004.05.021] [Medline: 15653260]
- Koutsouleris N, Worthington M, Dwyer DB, Kambeitz-Ilankovic L, Sanfelici R, Fusar-Poli P, et al. Toward generalizable and transdiagnostic tools for psychosis prediction: an independent validation and improvement of the NAPLS-2 risk calculator in the multisite PRONIA cohort. Biol Psychiatry 2021 Nov 01;90(9):632-642. [doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2021.06.023] [Medline: <u>34482951</u>]
- Simon AE, Velthorst E, Nieman DH, Linszen D, Umbricht D, de Haan L. Ultra high-risk state for psychosis and non-transition: a systematic review. Schizophr Res 2011 Oct;132(1):8-17. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.schres.2011.07.002</u>] [Medline: <u>21784618</u>]

RenderX

- 40. Jantzen J, Norup J, Dounias G, Bjerregaard B. Pap-smear benchmark data for pattern classification. 2005 Jan 01 Presented at: Proc NiSIS 2005: Nature inspired Smart Information Systems, EU co-ordination action; 2005; Albufeira, Portugal p. 1-9.
- William W, Ware A, Basaza-Ejiri AH, Obungoloch J. A pap-smear analysis tool (PAT) for detection of cervical cancer from pap-smear images. Biomed Eng Online 2019 Feb 12;18(1):16 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1186/s12938-019-0634-5</u>] [Medline: <u>30755214</u>]
- 42. Colizzi M, Ruggeri M, Lasalvia A. Should we be concerned about stigma and discrimination in people at risk for psychosis? A systematic review. Psychol Med 2020 Apr;50(5):705-726. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291720000148] [Medline: 32063250]
- 43. Varkey B. Principles of clinical ethics and their application to practice. Med Princ Pract 2021;30(1):17-28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000509119] [Medline: 32498071]
- 44. Wright A, Jorm AF, Mackinnon AJ. Labeling of mental disorders and stigma in young people. Soc Sci Med 2011 Aug;73(4):498-506. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.06.015</u>] [Medline: <u>21794967</u>]
- 45. Montemagni C, Bellino S, Bracale N, Bozzatello P, Rocca P. Models predicting psychosis in patients with high clinical risk: a systematic review. Front Psychiatry 2020;11:223. [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00223] [Medline: 32265763]
- 46. Wongvibulsin S, Wu KC, Zeger SL. Improving clinical translation of machine learning approaches through clinician-tailored visual displays of black box algorithms: development and validation. JMIR Med Inform 2020 Jun 09;8(6):e15791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15791] [Medline: 32515746]
- 47. Lapuschkin S, Wäldchen S, Binder A, Montavon G, Samek W, Müller KR. Unmasking Clever Hans predictors and assessing what machines really learn. Nat Commun 2019 Mar 11;10(1):1096. [doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08987-4] [Medline: 30858366]
- Zech JR, Badgeley MA, Liu M, Costa AB, Titano JJ, Oermann EK. Variable generalization performance of a deep learning model to detect pneumonia in chest radiographs: a cross-sectional study. PLoS Med 2018 Nov;15(11):e1002683 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002683] [Medline: 30399157]
- Amann J, Blasimme A, Vayena E, Frey D, Madai VI, Precise4Q consortium. Explainability for artificial intelligence in healthcare: a multidisciplinary perspective. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2020 Nov 30;20(1):310 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-020-01332-6] [Medline: 33256715]
- Holzinger A, Langs G, Denk H, Zatloukal K, Müller H. Causability and explainability of artificial intelligence in medicine. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Data Min Knowl Discov 2019;9(4):e1312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/widm.1312] [Medline: 32089788]
- 51. Abdullah TAA, Zahid MSM, Ali W. A review of interpretable ML in healthcare: taxonomy, applications, challenges, and future directions. Symmetry 2021 Dec 17;13(12):2439. [doi: <u>10.3390/sym13122439</u>]
- 52. Arbelaez Ossa L, Starke G, Lorenzini G, Vogt JE, Shaw DM, Elger BS. Re-focusing explainability in medicine. Digit Health 2022;8:20552076221074488 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/20552076221074488] [Medline: 35173981]
- 53. Lambden S, Laterre PF, Levy MM, Francois B. The SOFA score-development, utility and challenges of accurate assessment in clinical trials. Crit Care 2019 Nov 27;23(1):374 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13054-019-2663-7] [Medline: 31775846]
- Tang EW, Wong C, Herbison P. Global Registry of Acute Coronary Events (GRACE) hospital discharge risk score accurately predicts long-term mortality post acute coronary syndrome. Am Heart J 2007 Jan;153(1):29-35. [doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2006.10.004] [Medline: 17174633]
- 55. Grote T, Berens P. On the ethics of algorithmic decision-making in healthcare. J Med Ethics 2020 Mar;46(3):205-211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/medethics-2019-105586] [Medline: 31748206]
- 56. Hitczenko K, Cowan HR, Goldrick M, Mittal VA. Racial and ethnic biases in computational approaches to psychopathology. Schizophr Bull 2022 Mar 01;48(2):285-288. [doi: <u>10.1093/schbul/sbab131</u>] [Medline: <u>34729605</u>]
- 57. Mota NB, Pimenta J, Tavares M, Palmeira L, Loch AA, Hedin-Pereira C, et al. A Brazilian bottom-up strategy to address mental health in a diverse population over a large territorial area an inspiration for the use of digital mental health. Psychiatry Res 2022 May;311:114477. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2022.114477] [Medline: 35245744]
- 58. Mota NB, Sigman M, Cecchi G, Copelli M, Ribeiro S. The maturation of speech structure in psychosis is resistant to formal education. NPJ Schizophr 2018 Dec 07;4(1):25. [doi: 10.1038/s41537-018-0067-3] [Medline: 30531913]
- 59. Walker M. Otto Hahn: responsibility and repression. Phys Perspect 2006 May;8(2):116-163. [doi: 10.1007/s00016-006-0277-3]
- 60. Zierler D. The Invention of Ecocide: Agent Orange, Vietnam, and the Scientists Who Changed the Way We Think About the Environment. Athens, GA: University of Georgia Press; 2011.
- 61. Shannon H, Bush K, Villeneuve PJ, Hellemans KG, Guimond S. Problematic social media use in adolescents and young adults: systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Ment Health 2022 Apr 14;9(4):e33450 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33450] [Medline: 35436240]
- 62. Nicholas J, Onie S, Larsen ME. Ethics and privacy in social media research for mental health. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2020 Nov 23;22(12):84. [doi: 10.1007/s11920-020-01205-9] [Medline: 33225404]

Abbreviations

RenderX

AI: artificial intelligence



ARMS: at-risk mental state AUC: area under the curve ICU: intensive care unit ML: machine learning

Edited by J Torous; submitted 13.07.22; peer-reviewed by A Joseph, K Uludag; comments to author 19.08.22; revised version received 09.09.22; accepted 04.10.22; published 01.11.22.

Please cite as:

Loch AA, Lopes-Rocha AC, Ara A, Gondim JM, Cecchi GA, Corcoran CM, Mota NB, Argolo FC Ethical Implications of the Use of Language Analysis Technologies for the Diagnosis and Prediction of Psychiatric Disorders JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e41014 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41014 doi:10.2196/41014 PMID:36318266

©Alexandre Andrade Loch, Ana Caroline Lopes-Rocha, Anderson Ara, João Medrado Gondim, Guillermo A Cecchi, Cheryl Mary Corcoran, Natália Bezerra Mota, Felipe C Argolo. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 01.11.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Positive Affective Recovery in Daily Life as a Momentary Mechanism Across Subclinical and Clinical Stages of Mental Disorder: Experience Sampling Study

Leonie Ader¹, MSc; Anita Schick¹, PhD; Claudia Simons^{2,3}, PhD; Philippe Delespaul^{2,4}, PhD; Inez Myin-Germeys⁵, PhD; Thomas Vaessen^{5,6}, PhD; Ulrich Reininghaus^{1,7,8}, PhD

¹Department of Public Mental Health, Central Institute of Mental Health, Medical Faculty Mannheim, Heidelberg University, Mannheim, Germany

²Department of Psychiatry and Neuropsychology, School for Mental Health and Neuroscience, Faculty of Health, Medicine and Life Sciences, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

³GGzE Institute for Mental Health Care, Eindhoven, Netherlands

⁴Department of Adult Psychiatry, Mondriaan Mental Health Trust, Heerlen, Netherlands

⁵Center for Contextual Psychiatry, Department of Neuroscience, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

⁶Faculty of Behavioural, Management and Social Sciences, Psychology, Health & Technology, University of Twente, Enschede, Netherlands

⁷ESRC Centre for Society and Mental Health, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

⁸Centre for Epidemiology and Public Health, Health Service and Population Research Department, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Ulrich Reininghaus, PhD Department of Public Mental Health, Central Institute of Mental Health, Medical Faculty Mannheim Heidelberg University J5 Mannheim, 68159 Germany Phone: 49 621 1703 1930 Fax: 49 621 1703 801930 Email: ulrich.reininghaus@zi-mannheim.de

Abstract

Background: Identifying momentary risk and protective mechanisms may enhance our understanding and treatment of mental disorders. Affective stress reactivity is one mechanism that has been reported to be altered in individuals with early and later stages of mental disorder. Additionally, initial evidence suggests individuals with early and enduring psychosis may have an extended recovery period of negative affect in response to daily stressors (ie, a longer duration until affect reaches baseline levels after stress), but evidence on positive affective recovery as a putative protective mechanism remains limited.

Objective: This study aimed to investigate trajectories of positive affect in response to stress across the continuum of mental disorder in a transdiagnostic sample.

Methods: Using the Experience Sampling Method, minor activity-, event-, and overall stress and positive affect were assessed 10 times a day, with time points approximately 90 minutes apart on six consecutive days in a pooled data set including 367 individuals with a mental disorder, 217 individuals at risk for a severe mental disorder, and 227 controls. Multilevel analysis and linear contrasts were used to investigate trajectories of positive affect within and between groups.

Results: Baseline positive affect differed across groups, and we observed stress reactivity in positive affect within each group. We found evidence for positive affective recovery after reporting activity- or overall stress within each group. While controls recovered to baseline positive affect about 90 minutes after stress, patients and at-risk individuals required about 180 minutes to recover. However, between-group differences in the affective recovery period fell short of significance (all *P*>.05).

Conclusions: The results provide first evidence that positive affective recovery may be relevant within transdiagnostic subclinical and clinical stages of mental disorder, suggesting that it may be a potential target for mobile health interventions fostering resilience in daily life.

RenderX

(JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e37394) doi:10.2196/37394

KEYWORDS

experience sampling methodology; ecological momentary assessment; trajectory; transdiagnostic; resilience; stress reactivity; psychosis; depression

Introduction

When developing a mental disorder, an individual is commonly assumed to experience a state in which psychological distress and symptoms gradually increase without fully meeting diagnostic criteria [1,2]. Corresponding to staging models in general medicine, the concept of clinical staging in psychiatry broadens the dichotomous definition of mental health versus ill-health by placing an individual on a continuum that defines thresholds for different stages of mental disorders [3-5]. Especially the identification of early stages of mental disorder marked by psychometric and familial risk criteria has received increasing attention as a potential target group for early intervention and prevention programs [4,6]. Psychometric risk states can be characterized by nonspecific distress and attenuated symptoms that are not disorder specific, thereby implying a transdiagnostic perspective on early stages of mental disorders [4,6,7]. In addition, there is evidence for an increased familial liability to severe mental disorders, such as psychosis [8] and major depression [9,10], suggesting that even relatives without a formal diagnosis of a disorder can be placed closer toward clinical thresholds on the continuum of mental health.

There is consistent evidence on high comorbidity in at-risk individuals, which has been taken to suggest a pluripotent risk state or early shared mechanisms, from which individuals may transition to different, more specific exit syndromes of severe mental disorder, for example, psychotic or affective disorders [1,3,11]. One common underlying mechanism that has been proposed is behavioral sensitization. Specifically, it has been posited that, in individuals exposed to severe and repeated adversity across the life course, the stress response is gradually amplified such that they eventually show a strong response to even minor stressors in daily life [12], which may, in turn, be associated with a greater risk of transitioning to mental disorder. The most commonly used behavioral marker of stress sensitization is elevated stress reactivity, characterized by strong emotional reactions to minor stressors in daily life (eg, [12-15]), measured with experience sampling methodology (ESM), an intensive longitudinal diary technique [16]. Indeed, stress reactivity has been found to be elevated in individuals with an increased risk for [17,18] and a diagnosis of severe mental disorder [13,15,17]. Furthermore, there is evidence pointing toward stress reactivity measured in experience sampling studies being more pronounced in at-risk individuals than in patients [13,18-20].

Focusing on underlying mechanisms, experience sampling studies have emphasized the importance of investigating risk and resilience mechanisms when studying transdiagnostic and subclinical samples in daily life [21,22]. Resilience has been defined as the ability to recover from the effects of significant adversity [23,24]. Translating this definition to the realm of momentary mechanisms measured with experience sampling,

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e37394
```

it is tempting to speculate whether momentary resilience may be reflected in the ability to recover, in the moment, from minor stressors and adverse experiences in daily life.

So far, research into momentary mechanisms has focused on negative affect. There is initial evidence that individuals with early mental health problems may experience extended momentary negative affective recovery from minor stressors in daily life, that is, they take longer to overcome minor adversities in daily life [20]. Indeed, positive affect has been proposed as an important building block of resilience [25,26] that can be relevant when recovering from negative experiences [24,27]. Importantly, patients (see [28]), but also individuals at-risk for mental disorder (eg, [29,30]), have been shown to be less sensitive to positive stimuli and may have a reduced ability to experience positive emotions overall (ie, anhedonia), suggesting that they may potentially show different trajectories of positive affect after experiencing stressors.

Against this background, this study aimed to investigate trajectories of momentary positive affect following exposure to minor stressors in daily life across transdiagnostic stages of mental disorder in a pooled sample of patients with a mental disorder (ie, psychotic disorder, depressive disorder with residual symptoms), individuals with an increased psychometric or familial risk for developing a severe mental disorder, and controls. To examine, in detail, the entire positive affective recovery process from minor stressors through to recovery to baseline levels, we aimed to investigate (1) levels of positive affect prior to reporting a minor daily stressor; (2) initial positive affective reactivity following the stressor-operationalized as the decrease in positive affect associated with minor (i) event-related, (ii) activity-related, and (iii) composite stress (as previously operationalized in experience sampling studies [21,31,32]); and (3) positive affective recovery from stress-operationalized as the average decrease of positive affect from baseline across the period between the occurrence of minor stress and return to baseline. Echoing previous findings that individuals with early stages of mental disorder experience the most pronounced reactions related to stress, marked by reactivity [13,18-20] and negative affective recovery [20], compared with patients with an enduring mental disorder, we aimed to investigate group differences between at-risk individuals and patients. Specifically, we sought to test the following hypotheses (see Multimedia Appendix 1):

H1: Within each group (patients with a mental disorder, at-risk individuals, controls), exposure to (i) event-related, (ii) activity-related, or (iii) composite stress is associated with (a) an initial decrease in positive affect (ie, stress reactivity) and (b) subsequent to initial stress reactivity, lower levels of positive affect before recovering to baseline level (ie, affective recovery).

H2: Baseline levels of positive affect, that is, prior to reporting (i) event-related, (ii) activity-related, or (iii) composite stress,

are lower in (a) patients with a mental disorder than in controls, (b) at-risk individuals than in controls, and (c) at-risk individuals than in patients with a mental disorder.

H3: Positive affective reactivity from minor stress is greater in (a) patients with a mental disorder than in controls, (b) at-risk individuals than in controls, and (c) at-risk individuals than in patients with a mental disorder.

H4: Positive affective recovery from minor stress, that is, the average decrease of positive affect from baseline before returning to baseline levels of positive affect following (i) event-related, (ii) activity-related, or (iii) composite stress, is greater in (a) patients with a mental disorder than in controls, (b) at-risk individuals than in controls, and (c) at-risk individuals than in patients with a mental disorder.

Methods

Samples

The pooled sample comprised participants from 8 previously conducted studies that used a similar protocol and are part of the ESM merge file. These studies included individuals with a mental disorder, that is, psychotic disorder [17,33-38] or depressive disorder with residual symptoms [39]; at-risk individuals, that is, with familial [17,34,36,40] or psychometric risk for psychosis [19,38]; and controls without a personal or family history of mental disorder [17,19,34,36,38,40]. The samples and procedures to obtain diagnoses and risk status of the participants have been described elsewhere (see Multimedia Appendix 2).

Ethical Approval

All 8 studies received approval by their respective medical ethics committees in the Netherlands and Belgium as stated in the original references and all procedures were performed in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible medical ethics committee. This study was registered on OSF (Open Science Framework) before data access [41].

Data Collection

Experience Sampling Method

Data were collected using the ESM, a structured diary technique [16,42]. Participants received a digital wristwatch that sent 10 signals per day at pseudo-random time points in blocks of 90 minutes between 7.30 AM and 10.30 PM for 6 consecutive days. The signal prompted participants to complete questionnaires on their current mood, symptoms, and context that they had previously received in a booklet. To ensure compliance with the experience sampling procedure, only prompts answered within 15 minutes after the programmed signal and participants who answered a minimum of 20 prompts were included in the analysis.

ESM Measures

For the current analysis, experience sampling constructs available in all included studies were selected to measure positive affect, momentary event-related stress, and momentary activity-related stress. Positive affect was measured with 3 items beginning with "I feel" followed by the adjectives "cheerful,"

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e37394
```

"relaxed," and "satisfied" (1=not at all; 7=very much). Based on previous experience sampling studies [15,17,18], momentary stress was operationalized by 2 types of minor stressors. Event-related stress was measured by asking about the most important event for the participant that happened since the last prompt. Participants then indicated how pleasant this event was on a bipolar scale (-3=very unpleasant; 3=very pleasant, which was recoded to 1=very pleasant to 7=very unpleasant, to match the other scales). To measure activity-related stress, participants were asked what they were doing at the moment followed by 4 questions on their current activity: "This costs energy," "I'm skilled at this" (reverse coded), "This is a challenge," and "I prefer doing something else" (1=not at all; 7=very much).

Mean scores of the 3 positive affect items were centered around the person and day means and z standardized. In addition to momentary event– and activity-related stress, after justifying its use by principal component analysis (see Multimedia Appendix 3), a composite stress measure indicating the presence of one or both types of stress combined (0=no stress; 1=one or both types of stress) was created (see [21,31,32]). Individuals who never reported stress and days on which no stress was reported were excluded from the analysis.

Statistical Analysis

Stata version 16.0 (StataCorp LLC) was used for statistical analysis [43]. Experience sampling data have a 3-level structure with individual assessments (level 1) nested within days (level 2), which are, in turn, nested within individuals (level 3). Group differences on level 3 variables (ie, age and gender) were examined using 1-way ANOVAs and chi-square tests as appropriate, whereas group differences on levels 1 and 2 were examined using Stata's "mixed" command for multilevel models.

To test the hypotheses, the procedure described by Vaessen et al [20] was followed. Trajectories of positive affect in response to the first stressor of a day were examined to rule out the potential cumulative impact of consecutive stressors throughout a day on positive affect. A new predictor variable "time_since" was created for each stress measure to mark the time points when positive affect was measured in relation to the first stressor of the day. The time point when the stressor occurred (ie, stress reactivity) was set to t_0 , the time point prior to this (ie, t_{-1}) served as the baseline, and all time points following the stressor were set to t_{1-n} . First, to test H1, in a separate model for each group using time_since to predict positive affect, we compared all time points t_{0-n} with baseline. Second, to test H2, group was added as a predictor in the model and group comparisons of positive affect were calculated at baseline and t₀. Third, to test H3, an interaction between time_since and group was specified in the model to compare affective reactivity at t₀ between groups. Last, affective recovery was compared between groups (H4) using the average decrease of positive affect from baseline across the recovery period. Specifically, a recovery period of 2 prompts was specified as the average deviation of positive affect at these time points from baseline positive affect.

For each momentary stressor (event-related, activity-related, and composite stress), separate models were fitted. For each

model, observations were excluded (i) for participants who never reported the specific type of stress, (ii) for days on which the specific type of stress was not reported, and (iii) for days on which the specific type of stress was reported on the first prompt of the day so that no baseline measure was available.

All models were adjusted for age (centered using the grand mean) and gender (for unadjusted models, see Multimedia Appendix 4). As a sensitivity analysis, the analysis was repeated controlling for subsequent stressors. To this end, dichotomous control variables were created for event- and activity-related, or composite stress indicating the presence (=1) or absence (=0) of the respective stressor at all time points $t_{n>0}$. We used Simes correction [44] to account for multiple tests of significance regarding our 3 stress measures, as all models testing our specific hypotheses were repeated for each stress measure. Therefore, according to the Simes procedure, the most significant P value within each model was compared with $\alpha = .05/3 = .02$ and the second most significant P value was compared with α =.05/2=.03. Results that remain significant after Simes correction are marked with footnotes in tables. A significance level of P<.05 was set for all remaining P values.

Table 1. Basic sample characteristics.

Results

Sample Characteristics

The sample comprised 921 participants. This includes 422 individuals with a mental disorder (ie, 293 with psychotic disorder and 129 with remitted depressive disorder with residual symptomatology), 246 at-risk individuals (ie, 178 with familial and 68 with psychometric risk), and 253 controls. Participants completed a total of 42,778 prompts. Average compliance was 75% (45/60 prompts) for patients, 78% (47/60 prompts) for at-risk individuals, and 82% (49/60 prompts) for controls ($F_{2,918}$ =13.02, P<.001). Across groups, 2304 prompts were not completed within 15 minutes after the signal or all positive affect and stress items were missing (χ^2_2 =21.2, P<.001). In addition, 34 participants completed less than 20 prompts over 6 days (χ^2_2 =2.8, P=.24) and 75 participants never reported any type of stress (χ^2_2 =0.01, P=.95) and were therefore excluded from the analysis.

Hence, the analytic sample consisted of 811 participants (patients/at-risk/controls: n=367/217/227) with a total of 39,903 valid prompts (patients/at-risk/controls: n=16,122/9997/10,784). Sample characteristics of the analytic sample are depicted in Table 1.

Characteristic	Patients (n=367)	At-risk (n=217)	Controls (n=227)	Test statistic	P value	Significant contrasts
Gender, n				$\chi^{2}_{2}=7.7$.02	
Male	187	90	93			
Female	180	127	134			
Age, mean (SD)	38.07 (11.42)	36.41 (13.12)	35.50 (12.56)	$F_{2,806}=3.4$.04	Patients versus controls
Observations per person, mean (SD)	43.93 (10.07)	46.07 (9.21)	47.51 (9.10)	$F_{2,808}=10.3$	<.001	Patients versus controls
Stressful days per person, mean (SD)	5.92 (0.58)	5.96 (0.41)	5.99 (0.48)	$F_{2,808}=1.4$.25	
Time of first stressor ^a , mean	2:59 PM	3:07 PM	2:55 PM	$F_{2,769}=0.3$.72	
Unpleasantness of first stressor ^a , mean (SD)	2.00 (0.62)	1.88 (0.63)	1.91 (0.63)	<i>F</i> _{2,770} =3.1	.04	Patients versus at-risk
Positive affect, mean (SD)	4.27 (0.93)	4.89 (0.94)	5.16 (0.71)	F _{2,808} =79.4	<.001	At-risk versus controls; pa- tients versus controls; pa- tients versus at-risk

^aExcluding stressors that were reported at the first prompt of the day.

Recovery Period Within Groups (H1)

Patients

RenderX

Patients showed a decrease in positive affect in response to all types of stress (event-related stress: b=-0.35, 95% CI -0.43 to -0.28, P<.001; activity-related stress: b=-0.49, 95% CI -0.60 to -0.38, P<.001; composite stress: b=-0.38, 95% CI -0.45 to -0.31, P<.001). Following event-related stress, recovery occurred at t₁, that is, patients had immediately returned to baseline levels of positive affect (b=-0.06, 95% CI -0.13 to 0.02, P=.16). Following activity-related (b=-0.14, 95% CI -0.26

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e37394
```

to -0.02, P=.02) and composite stress (b=-0.11, 95% CI -0.19 to -0.04, P<.01), patients still showed a significant decrease at t₁. At t₂, patients also had returned to baseline levels of positive affect following activity-related stress (b=0.01, 95% CI -0.12 to 0.13, P=.90) and composite stress (b=-0.01, 95% CI -0.09 to 0.06, P=.71).

At-Risk Individuals

At-risk individuals showed a decrease in positive affect in response to all types of stress (event-related stress: b=-0.34, 95% CI -0.43 to -0.26, P<.001; activity-related stress: b=-0.54, 95% CI -0.68 to -0.40, P<.001; composite stress: b=-0.38, 95%

CI –0.46 to –0.30, P<.001). Following event-related stress, recovery occurred at t₁, that is, at-risk individuals had immediately returned to baseline levels of positive affect (*b*=–0.75, 95% CI –0.16 to 0.02, *P*=.10). Following activity-related (*b*=–0.17, 95% CI –0.33 to –0.02, *P*=.03) and composite stress (*b*=–0.11, 95% CI –0.20 to –0.03, *P*=.01), at-risk individuals still showed a significant decrease at t₁. At t₂, at-risk individuals also had returned to baseline levels of positive affect following activity-related stress (*b*=–0.09, 95% CI –0.25 to 0.07, *P*=.27) and composite stress (*b*=–0.05, 95% CI –0.14 to 0.03, *P*=.23).

Controls

As with the other groups, controls showed a decrease in positive affect in response to all types of stress (event-related stress: b=-0.27,95% CI -0.35 to -0.19, P<.001; activity-related stress: b=-0.60,95% CI -0.74 to -0.46, P<.001; composite stress: b=-0.32,95% CI -0.40 to -0.25, P<.001). Similar to patients and at-risk individuals, controls returned to baseline levels of positive affect immediately at t₁ following event-related stress (b=-0.04,95% CI -0.13 to 0.04, P=.32). Controls had also recovered immediately at t₁ following activity-related (b=-0.15,95% CI -0.30 to 0.001, P=.05) and composite stress (b=-0.07,95% CI -0.15 to 0.01, P=.10; Table 2).

Table 2. Within-group analysis of all stress measures comparing positive affect at baseline (t_{-1}) with time points t_0 (stress reactivity), t_1 , and t_2 (all groups recovered) adjusted for age and gender^a.

Stress type	Patients		At-risk		Controls	
	<i>b</i> (CI)	P value	<i>b</i> (CI)	P value	<i>b</i> (CI)	P value
Event-related stress ^b						
t ₀	-0.35 (-0.43 to -0.28)	<.001 ^c	-0.34 (-0.43 to -0.26)	<.001 ^c	-0.27 (-0.35 to -0.19)	<.001 ^c
t ₁	-0.06 (-0.13 to 0.02)	.16	-0.08 (-0.16 to 0.02)	.10	-0.04 (-0.13 to 0.04)	.32
Age	-0.002 (-0.01 to 0.01)	.52	0.01 (0.002 to 0.02)	.01 ^c	0.01 (0.004 to 0.02)	.001 ^c
Gender	-0.13 (-0.28 to 0.03)	.11	0.06 (-0.14 to 0.27)	.56	0.001 (-0.16 to 0.16)	.99
Activity-related stress ^d						
t ₀	-0.49 (-0.60 to -0.38)	<.001 ^c	-0.54 (-0.68 to -0.40)	<.001 ^c	-0.60 (-0.74 to -0.46)	<.001 ^c
t ₁	-0.14 (-0.26 to -0.02)	.02 ^c	-0.17 (-0.33 to -0.02)	.03	-0.15 (-0.30 to 0.001)	.05
t ₂	0.008 (-0.12 to 0.13)	.90	-0.09 (-0.25 to 0.07)	.27	-0.09 (-0.24 to 0.06)	.25
Age	-0.0004 (-0.01 to 0.01)	.92	0.01 (0.004 to 0.02)	.005 ^c	0.009 (0.001 to 0.02)	.03
Gender	-0.22 (-0.42 to -0.02)	.03	0.05 (-0.21 to 0.30)	.72	0.07 (-0.16 to 0.29)	.55
Composite stress measure						
t ₀	-0.38 (-0.45 to -0.31)	<.001 ^c	-0.38 (-0.46 to -0.30)	<.001 ^c	-0.32 (-0.40 to -0.25)	<.001 ^c
t ₁	-0.11 (-0.19 to -0.04)	.004 ^c	-0.11 (-0.20 to -0.03)	.01	-0.07 (-0.15 to 0.01)	.10
t ₂	-0.02 (-0.09 to 0.06)	.66	-0.05 (-0.14 to 0.03)	.23	-0.09 (-0.18 to -0.01)	.03
Age	-0.001 (-0.01 to 0.01)	.71	0.01 (0.004 to 0.02)	.003 ^c	0.01 (0.003 to 0.02)	.002 ^c
Gender	-0.12 (-0.27 to 0.03)	.12	0.07 (-0.12 to 0.27)	.47	-0.01 (-0.17 to 0.14)	.88

^aTime point t_{-1} (ie, baseline) serves as reference category; effect of female gender is depicted.

^bMissing cases: n_{individuals}=30; n_{prompts}=1182.

^cSignificant after Simes correction.

^dMissing cases: n_{individuals}=348; n_{prompts}=7680.

Recovery Period Within Groups Controlled for Subsequent Stressors

When controlling for subsequent stressors in the within-group analysis, that is, the presence or absence of a stressor at the time points after the initial stressor, none of the groups showed a delayed recovery irrespective of the type of stressor. For the composite stress measure, all groups showed a decrease in positive affect at t_0 compared with t_{-1} (controls: *b*=-0.32, 95%)

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e37394

RenderX

CI –0.40 to –0.25, P<.001; at-risk: b=–0.38, 95% CI –0.46 to –0.31, P<.001; patients: b=–0.38, 95% CI –0.45 to –0.31, P<.001). At t₁, all groups had returned to baseline levels of positive affect (controls: b=0.02, 95% CI –0.06 to 0.10, P=.58; at-risk: b=–0.03, 95% CI –0.11 to 0.06, P=.53; patients: b=0.03, 95% CI –0.04 to 0.11, P=.42). Subsequent stress as a control variable was significantly associated with positive affect in all models (controls: b=–0.47, 95% CI –0.54 to –0.39, P<.001; at-risk: b=–0.40, 95% CI –0.48 to –0.32, P<.001; patients:

b=-0.53; 95% CI -0.60 to -0.47, *P*<.001). Similar patterns were found for event-related and activity-related stress (Table 3).

Table 3. Within-group analysis of all stress measures comparing positive affect at baseline (t_{-1}) with time points t_0 (stress reactivity), t_1 , and t_2 (all groups recovered) adjusted for age and gender, and subsequent stress^a.

Stress type	Patients		At-risk		Controls	
	<i>b</i> (CI)	P value	<i>b</i> (CI)	P value	<i>b</i> (CI)	P value
Event-related stress ^b						
t ₀	-0.36 (-0.43 to -0.29)	<.001 ^c	-0.35 (-0.44 to -0.27)	<.001 ^c	-0.29 (-0.37 to -0.21)	<.001 ^c
t ₁	0.07 (-0.01 to 0.15)	.08	-0.02 (-0.11 to 0.08)	.74	0.01 (-0.08 to 0.10)	.82
Age	-0.003 (-0.01 to 0.004)	.45	0.01 (0.002 to 0.02)	.01	0.01 (0.004 to 0.02)	.001
Gender	-0.11 (-0.26 to 0.04)	.16	0.06 (-0.14 to 0.27)	.55	0.01 (-0.14 to 0.17)	0.87
Subsequent stress	-0.54 (-0.61 to -0.47)	<.001 ^c	-0.37 (-0.46 to -0.28)	<.001 ^c	-0.39 (-0.48 to -0.30)	<.001 ^c
Activity-related stress ^d						
t ₀	-0.49 (-0.60 to -0.38)	<.001 ^c	-0.54 (-0.68 to -0.40)	<.001 ^c	-0.61 (-0.75 to -0.47)	<.001 ^c
t ₁	-0.07 (-0.19 to 0.05)	.23	-0.07 (-0.23 to 0.10)	.42	-0.08 (-0.23 to 0.07)	.28
t ₂	0.07 (-0.06 to 0.19)	.30	-0.03 (-0.19 to 0.14)	.74	-0.07 (-0.23 to 0.08)	.35
Age	-0.001 (-0.01 to 0.01)	.90	0.01 (0.003 to 0.02)	.008	0.009 (0.0002 to 0.02)	.04
Gender	-0.21 (-0.41 to -0.01)	.04	0.06 (-0.19 to 0.31)	.65	0.07 (-0.15 to 0.29)	.54
Subsequent stress	-0.58 (-0.73 to -0.44)	<.001 ^c	-0.66 (-0.87 to -0.45)	<.001 ^c	-0.60 (-0.80 to -0.40)	<.001 ^c
Composite stress measure						
t ₀	-0.38 (-0.45 to -0.31)	<.001 ^c	-0.38 (-0.46 to -0.31)	<.001 ^c	-0.32 (-0.40 to -0.25)	<.001 ^c
t ₁	0.03 (-0.04 to 0.11)	.42	-0.03 (-0.11 to 0.06)	.53	0.02 (-0.06 to 0.10)	.58
t ₂	0.08 (0.01 to 0.16)	.04	0.02 (-0.07 to 0.10)	.72	-0.02 (-0.10 to 0.06)	.65
Age	-0.001 (-0.01 to 0.01)	.69	0.01 (0.003 to 0.02)	.004	0.01 (0.003 to 0.02)	.003
Gender	-0.11 (-0.26 to 0.04)	.15	0.073 (-0.119 to 0.265)	.45	-0.003 (-0.155 to 0.148)	.966
Subsequent stress	-0.53 (-0.60 to -0.47)	<.001 ^c	-0.40 (-0.48 to -0.32)	<.001 ^c	-0.47 (-0.54 to -0.39)	<.001 ^c

^aTime point t₋₁ (ie, baseline) serves as reference category; effect of female gender is depicted.

^bMissing cases: $n_{individuals} = 30$; $n_{prompts} = 1182$.

^cSignificant after Simes correction.

^dMissing cases: $n_{individuals} = 348$; $n_{prompts} = 7680$.

Differences in Baseline (H2), Reactivity (H3), and Recovery (H4) Across Groups

Figure 1 shows the trajectories of positive affect in response to composite stress in all groups. A main effect of group was observed for all stress measures (event-related stress: χ^2_2 =1575.64, *P*<.001; activity-related stress: χ^2_2 =48.69, *P*<.001; composite stress: χ^2_2 =200.9, *P*<.001). There were differences in baseline levels of positive affect across all groups, consistent with H2 (Table 4). However, patients and at-risk individuals did not differ as hypothesized. Patients had significantly lower baseline levels of positive affect than at-risk individuals (*P* values for all stress types <.001). There was no evidence for a 2-way interaction (time_since × group) at t₀ for any stress measure. This indicated that the associations of event-related

stress, activity-related stress, or composite stress with positive affect, that is, the initial positive affective reactivity, did not differ across individuals at different stages of mental disorder, leaving H3 unsupported. As all groups had returned to baseline levels of positive affect by t_2 following activity-related and composite stress, marking the end point of the continuous recovery period, t_1 – t_2 were included in the between-group analysis. When examining differences in the average deviation of positive affect from baseline levels during the recovery period t_1 – t_2 in response to activity-related stress and composite stress, we did not find evidence for between-group differences (Table 4). This indicated that positive affective recovery, operationalized as an average deviation from baseline, was similar across the groups at different stages of mental disorder, leaving H4 unsupported.

RenderX

Figure 1. Trajectories of positive affect following composite stress. (Adjusted predictive margins of the multilevel regression analysis for the composite stress measure are displayed. Error bars represent 95% CIs.)



Table 4. Differences in baseline positive affect (t_{-1}) , stress reactivity (t_0) , and affective recovery (average deviation of positive affect from baseline levels during $t_1 - t_2$) between groups^a.

Stress type	At-risk versus controls		Patients versus controls		Patients versus at-risk		
	b (95% CI)	P value	<i>b</i> (95% CI)	P value	b (95% CI)	P value	
Activity stress							
t_1	-0.34 (-0.57 to -0.11)	.003 ^b	-0.74 (-0.95 to -0.54)	<.001 ^b	-0.40 (-0.60 to -0.21)	<.001 ^b	
t ₀	0.06 (-0.15 to 0.27)	.57	0.11 (-0.07 to 0.29)	.23	0.05 (-0.13 to 0.23)	.58	
$t_1 - t_2$	-0.01 (-0.21 to 0.18)	.89	0.05 (-0.12 to 0.22)	.57	0.06 (-0.11 to 0.23)	.46	
Event stress ^c							
t ₀	-0.07 (-0.19 to 0.05)	.27	-0.09 (-0.19 to 0.03)	.13	-0.02 (-0.13 to 0.09)	.76	
Composite stress							
t_1	-0.28 (-0.43 to -0.13)	<.001 ^b	-0.44 (-0.57 to -0.31)	<.001 ^b	-0.44 (-0.57 to -0.31)	<.001 ^b	
t ₀	-0.06 (-0.17 to 0.06)	.35	-0.06 (-0.16 to 0.05)	.30	0.001 (-0.10 to 0.11)	.99	
$t_1 - t_2$	0.01 (-0.10 to 0.12)	.89	0.02 (-0.07 to 0.12)	.62	0.02 (-0.08 to 0.11)	.74	

^aAdjusted for age and gender.

^bSignificant after Simes correction.

^cModel for t_{-1} did not converge.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study aimed to investigate trajectories of positive affect in response to daily life stress across different transdiagnostic clinical stages in a pooled sample of patients with a mental disorder, individuals at psychometric or familial risk, and controls. All groups showed a similar trajectory of positive affect in response to momentary stress, as indicated by a decrease in positive affect to event-related, activity-related, or composite stress, and a continuously lower level of positive affect before recovering to baseline level in response to activity-related or composite stress (H1). We observed a continuous recovery period of 180 minutes on average in patients and at-risk individuals, whereas controls required 90 minutes on average to recover. Comparisons across groups revealed that patients with a mental disorder and at-risk individuals had lower baseline levels of positive affect in daily life compared with controls (H2). Contrary to our prediction, patients had lower levels of positive affect compared with at-risk individuals. Differences in positive affective reactivity to daily stress between groups (H3) and in positive affective recovery fell short of statistical significance (H4).

Methodological Considerations

Several methodological considerations should be taken into account when interpreting the reported findings. First, because this study used existing data, participants with different clinical characteristics were pooled to form transdiagnostic groups as

RenderX

an approximation to representing subclinical and clinical stages of mental disorder based on the literature of clinical staging. To further support the staging approach and ensure that participants with different clinical characteristics form a group regarding severity of symptoms or functional impairment as suggested by clinical staging, latent class analysis may be used in future analysis to identify groups with similar behavioral patterns. Furthermore, participants may be recruited according to recently developed criteria for clinical staging as there is first evidence for their validity as a way of identifying individuals in early stages with predictive power for transition between stages [3].

Second, the dichotomous operationalization of stress as the presence or absence of a stressor does not account for the degree of unpleasantness of a reported activity or event, which reduces variance. An activity or event rated as -3 may impact positive affect longer than an activity or event rated as -1. Similarly, Vaessen et al [45] showed that emotional reactivity to mild, but not intermediate or strong stressors was related to symptom levels in adolescents 1 year later, suggesting that the degree of unpleasantness of a stressor may need to be accounted for in future studies on affective recovery.

Third, stress reactivity at t_0 was modeled in a cross-sectional manner, that is, ratings of stress and positive affect measured at the same time point were used to define stress reactivity. Therefore, temporal order between the first stressor of a day and an associated decrease in positive affect remains unclear as a stressor may lead to a decrease in positive affect, or vice versa. Yet, the cross-sectional modeling does not restrict interpretations regarding the recovery period, which was of main interest in this study, operationalized using time points chronologically before and after the occurrence of stress.

Relatedly, the exploratory finding that positive affective recovery within groups may be accounted for by cumulative stress at the following time points should be interpreted with caution. A recent review showed that experiencing positive affect can impact the neural signaling of stress, which may lead to less self-reported stress [46]. As the temporal order between cumulative stress and positive affect measured at the same time point remains unclear, it may, in turn, be possible that being in the recovery period, that is, in a state of decreased positive affect, may lead participants to report more stress.

Last, the composite stress measure combining event- and activity-related stress may hold restrictions. Both stress types may be related to affective recovery in different ways. Specifically, event-related stress is a retrospective judgment of the most important event that happened since the last prompt. As the time points were approximately 90 minutes apart, the unpleasant event might have happened up to 90 minutes before the rating, meaning that an immediate drop in positive affect after the event and the beginning of the recovery period might not have been recorded by the random sampling procedure. Activity-related stress, by contrast, measures the unpleasantness of the current activity. The sampling procedure does not reveal when an unpleasant activity started or for how long it was continued after the measurement, which may also influence positive affect ratings at baseline or during the recovery period.

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e37394
```

We found no recovery period after event-related stress and effect sizes were lower at t_0 for event-related stress than at the same time point for activity-related stress (Table 2), indicating that the recovery period for event-related stress may have already begun before reporting the event. Taken together, the sampling procedure in this study may have been limited in detecting differences in positive affective recovery between groups. For future research, a design with more frequent measurements or a hybrid event- and time-contingent sampling procedure may provide more fine-grained modeling of affective recovery.

Comparison to Prior Research

In line with previous research [15,47], our study showed that levels of positive affect differed between individuals with a mental disorder, individuals at-risk for developing a mental disorder, and controls across the continuum of mental health, thus broadening findings to a transdiagnostic staging approach for the first time. While all groups reported stress reactivity and a period of affective recovery in response to activity-related and overall stress that was descriptively longer within the patient group and at-risk individuals, these differences fell short of statistical significance in between-group analysis comparing average deviations of positive affect from baseline levels. Yet, levels of positive affect in patients and at-risk individuals were generally lower across the entire recovery period (Figure 1). This may suggest that reactivity of similar magnitude and a recovery period of similar length may be associated more strongly with risk and disorder when operating on lower overall levels of positive affect.

Furthermore, the magnitude of differences in positive affective reactivity and recovery between groups might have been too small to be detected with the number of observations per day in our models. In addition, criteria other than clinical status might be relevant to index risk and identify group differences in trajectories of positive affect in response to minor stressors, such as childhood adversities. In line with the stress sensitization hypothesis [12], stress reactivity as a behavioral marker for stress sensitization has been shown to be amplified in individuals exposed to severe adversity across the life course [22,48-51]. For instance, stress reactivity in early and later stages of psychopathology has been reported to be greater in individuals exposed to high levels of childhood adversity than in controls exposed to high levels of adversity, suggesting they were more resilient [22]. Future research should investigate whether this holds true for differences in positive affective recovery as a transdiagnostic marker for momentary resilience, that is, the ability to recover from minor stressors in the moment. Differences in affective recovery across stages may only become evident when viewed in the context of exposure to adversities across the life course.

To our knowledge, this is the first study to transdiagnostically investigate the trajectories of positive affect after minor stressors in daily life. It has been shown that positive and negative affect can be conceptualized as 2 distinct factors [52] that are related to positive and negative events in daily life in different ways. For example, negative events were found to be less strongly related to positive than to negative affect [53]. Similarly, Wichers et al [54] found that physical activity, which may be

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

regarded as a positive activity, was related to momentary positive affect, but unrelated to momentary negative affect. Adding to previous findings [20], we found a shorter period of positive affective recovery after a negative event than was found for negative affective recovery after a negative event. Furthermore, group differences in negative affective recovery between at-risk individuals and individuals with a mental disorder were not reflected in our findings regarding positive affective recovery. Taken together, this may suggest that the trajectories of positive and negative affect in response to minor daily stressors constitute separate psychological mechanisms. This underlines the differential role of positive affect for psychological well-being [24,27] and highlights the need to investigate, in more detail, how positive and negative affective recovery compare in stages of mental disorder.

Implications

In this study, we found first evidence for different trajectories of positive affect following minor daily stressors in a transdiagnostic sample covering the continuum of mental health. Whether positive affective recovery on the scale of minor stressors in daily life may be a putative indicator for momentary resilience should be investigated further in the context of childhood adversity, specifically focusing on healthy, that is, resilient, individuals exposed to adversities. When disentangling this putative protective mechanism further, trajectories of affective recovery may potentially serve as a target for ecological momentary interventions, a mobile health approach using mobile devices to deliver interventions in daily life [55,56]. Targeting affective recovery, intervention components may potentially be presented in moments when participants experience stress helping them to recover, and ultimately foster resilience in early and later stages of psychopathology. Targeting this putative momentary mechanism in ecological momentary interventions allowing the use of experimental designs in daily life [57] may allow us to understand more fully the role of affective recovery in pathways to severe mental disorder. This will provide evidence for the effectiveness and feasibility of scalable interventions for transdiagnostic populations.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (grant number 01EC1904B) and a Heisenberg professorship from the German Research Foundation (grant number 389624707) to UR. IM-G was supported by an FWO Odysseus grant (G0F8416N). TV was supported by an FWO junior postdoctoral fellowship (ZKD6724). We thank all researchers that substantially contributed to the conception and design of the included experience sampling studies and/or contributed to compile and check the data in this combined ESM data set. In alphabetical order: M. Bak, D. Collip, N. Nicolson, I. Myin-Germeys, N. Geschwind, C. Henquet, N. Jacobs, M. Janssens, M. Lardinois, J. Lataster, T. Lataster, C. Menne-Lothmann, M. van Nierop, M. Oorschot, C.J.P. Simons, V. Thewissen, and M. Wichers. We also thank all research personnel that provided general administrative support in preparing the ESM data set, in particular T. Driesen.

Data Availability

Data pertain to the ESM merge file. The ESM merge file is a data set combining multiple ESM studies that have been performed at Maastricht University. Data are available upon reasonable request from researchers. Researchers can send their request to the Department of Psychiatry & Neuropsychology of Maastricht University, School for Mental Health and Neuroscience, by sending an email to info@esm-maastricht.nl.

Authors' Contributions

LA performed data analysis and drafted the manuscript. AS and UR supervised the study and AS, CS, IM-G, and UR were involved in critical revision of the manuscript. TV provided advice on statistical analysis and LA, AS, and UR interpreted the findings. LA, AS, IM-G, TV, and UR developed the conception and all authors contributed to the design of this study. CS, PD, and IM-G were involved in data acquisition for the data used in the analysis. All authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Graphic illustration of the expected trajectories of positive affect in the context of a minor daily stressor in subclinical and clinical stages of mental disorder. [DOCX File , 60 KB - mental v9i11e37394 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Overview of pooled studies. [DOCX File, 17 KB - mental_v9i11e37394_app2.docx]



Multimedia Appendix 3

Principle component analysis of the composite stress measure. [DOCX File , 15 KB - mental v9i11e37394 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Unadjusted within-group analysis comparing positive affect at baseline (t_{-1}) to time points t_0 (stress reactivity) to t_n (all groups recovered).

[DOCX File, 17 KB - mental_v9i11e37394_app4.docx]

References

- 1. van Os J. The dynamics of subthreshold psychopathology: implications for diagnosis and treatment. Am J Psychiatry 2013 Jul;170(7):695-698. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13040474] [Medline: 23820827]
- Rucci P, Gherardi S, Tansella M, Piccinelli M, Berardi D, Bisoffi G, et al. Subthreshold psychiatric disorders in primary care: prevalence and associated characteristics. J Affect Disord 2003 Sep;76(1-3):171-181. [doi: 10.1016/s0165-0327(02)00087-3] [Medline: 12943947]
- 3. Hartmann JA, McGorry PD, Destree L, Amminger GP, Chanen AM, Davey CG, et al. Pluripotential Risk and Clinical Staging: Theoretical Considerations and Preliminary Data From a Transdiagnostic Risk Identification Approach. Front Psychiatry 2020;11:553578 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.553578] [Medline: 33488413]
- 4. Hartmann JA, Nelson B, Spooner R, Paul Amminger G, Chanen A, Davey CG, et al. Broad clinical high-risk mental state (CHARMS): Methodology of a cohort study validating criteria for pluripotent risk. Early Interv Psychiatry 2019 Jun;13(3):379-386. [doi: 10.1111/eip.12483] [Medline: 28984077]
- McGorry PD, Hickie IB, Yung AR, Pantelis C, Jackson HJ. Clinical staging of psychiatric disorders: a heuristic framework for choosing earlier, safer and more effective interventions. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2006 Aug;40(8):616-622. [doi: 10.1080/j.1440-1614.2006.01860.x] [Medline: 16866756]
- van Os J, Rutten BP, Poulton R. Gene-environment interactions in schizophrenia: review of epidemiological findings and future directions. Schizophr Bull 2008 Nov;34(6):1066-1082 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbn117] [Medline: 18791076]
- van Os J, Linscott RJ. Introduction: The extended psychosis phenotype--relationship with schizophrenia and with ultrahigh risk status for psychosis. Schizophr Bull 2012 Mar 21;38(2):227-230 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr188] [Medline: 22355185]
- 8. Islam MA, Khan MFH, Quee PJ, Snieder H, van den Heuvel ER, Bruggeman R, GROUP Investigators. Familial liability to psychosis is a risk factor for multimorbidity in people with psychotic disorders and their unaffected siblings. Eur Psychiatry 2017 Sep;45:81-89. [doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017.05.001] [Medline: 28750277]
- 9. Sullivan PF, Neale MC, Kendler KS. Genetic epidemiology of major depression: review and meta-analysis. Am J Psychiatry 2000 Oct;157(10):1552-1562. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.157.10.1552] [Medline: 11007705]
- Kendall KM, Van Assche E, Andlauer TFM, Choi KW, Luykx JJ, Schulte EC, et al. The genetic basis of major depression. Psychol Med 2021 Oct;51(13):2217-2230. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291721000441</u>] [Medline: <u>33682643</u>]
- 11. McGorry PD, Hartmann JA, Spooner R, Nelson B. Beyond the "at risk mental state" concept: transitioning to transdiagnostic psychiatry. World Psychiatry 2018 Jun;17(2):133-142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20514] [Medline: 29856558]
- Collip D, Myin-Germeys I, Van Os J. Does the concept of "sensitization" provide a plausible mechanism for the putative link between the environment and schizophrenia? Schizophr Bull 2008 Mar;34(2):220-225 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm163] [Medline: 18203757]
- Reininghaus U, Kempton MJ, Valmaggia L, Craig TKJ, Garety P, Onyejiaka A, et al. Stress Sensitivity, Aberrant Salience, and Threat Anticipation in Early Psychosis: An Experience Sampling Study. Schizophr Bull 2016 May;42(3):712-722 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv190] [Medline: 26834027]
- Klippel A, Viechtbauer W, Reininghaus U, Wigman J, van Borkulo C, MERGE, et al. The Cascade of Stress: A Network Approach to Explore Differential Dynamics in Populations Varying in Risk for Psychosis. Schizophr Bull 2018 Feb 15;44(2):328-337 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbx037] [Medline: 28338969]
- Myin-Germeys I, Peeters F, Havermans R, Nicolson NA, DeVries MW, Delespaul P, et al. Emotional reactivity to daily life stress in psychosis and affective disorder: an experience sampling study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2003 Feb;107(2):124-131. [doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0447.2003.02025.x] [Medline: 12534438]
- Myin-Germeys I, Kasanova Z, Vaessen T, Vachon H, Kirtley O, Viechtbauer W, et al. Experience sampling methodology in mental health research: new insights and technical developments. World Psychiatry 2018 Jun;17(2):123-132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20513] [Medline: 29856567]
- 17. Myin-Germeys I, van Os J, Schwartz JE, Stone AA, Delespaul PA. Emotional reactivity to daily life stress in psychosis. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2001 Dec;58(12):1137-1144. [doi: <u>10.1001/archpsyc.58.12.1137</u>] [Medline: <u>11735842</u>]
- Palmier-Claus JE, Dunn G, Lewis SW. Emotional and symptomatic reactivity to stress in individuals at ultra-high risk of developing psychosis. Psychol Med 2012 May;42(5):1003-1012. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291711001929] [Medline: 22067414]

RenderX
- van der Steen Y, Gimpel-Drees J, Lataster T, Viechtbauer W, Simons CJP, Lardinois M, et al. Clinical high risk for psychosis: the association between momentary stress, affective and psychotic symptoms. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2017 Jul;136(1):63-73. [doi: 10.1111/acps.12714] [Medline: 28260264]
- 20. Vaessen T, Viechtbauer W, van der Steen Y, Gayer-Anderson C, Kempton MJ, Valmaggia L, et al. Recovery from daily-life stressors in early and chronic psychosis. Schizophr Res 2019 Nov;213:32-39. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.schres.2019.03.011</u>] [Medline: <u>30930036</u>]
- 21. Rauschenberg C, van Os J, Goedhart M, Schieveld JNM, Reininghaus U. Bullying victimization and stress sensitivity in help-seeking youth: findings from an experience sampling study. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2021 Apr;30(4):591-605 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00787-020-01540-5] [Medline: 32405792]
- 22. Reininghaus U, Gayer-Anderson C, Valmaggia L, Kempton MJ, Calem M, Onyejiaka A, et al. Psychological processes underlying the association between childhood trauma and psychosis in daily life: an experience sampling study. Psychol Med 2016 Oct;46(13):2799-2813 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S003329171600146X] [Medline: 27400863]
- 23. Connor KM, Davidson JRT. Development of a new resilience scale: the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). Depress Anxiety 2003;18(2):76-82. [doi: 10.1002/da.10113] [Medline: 12964174]
- 24. Tugade MM, Fredrickson BL. Resilient individuals use positive emotions to bounce back from negative emotional experiences. J Pers Soc Psychol 2004 Feb;86(2):320-333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.86.2.320] [Medline: 14769087]
- 25. Rutten BPF, Hammels C, Geschwind N, Menne-Lothmann C, Pishva E, Schruers K, et al. Resilience in mental health: linking psychological and neurobiological perspectives. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2013 Jul;128(1):3-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/acps.12095] [Medline: 23488807]
- 26. Wichers M, Jacobs N, Derom C, Thiery E, van Os J. Depression: Too Much Negative Affect or Too Little Positive Affect? Twin Res Hum Genet 2012 Feb 21;10(S1):19-20. [doi: 10.1375/twin.10.supp.19]
- 27. Tugade MM, Fredrickson BL, Barrett LF. Psychological resilience and positive emotional granularity: examining the benefits of positive emotions on coping and health. J Pers 2004 Dec;72(6):1161-1190 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00294.x] [Medline: 15509280]
- Pelizza L, Ferrari A. Anhedonia in schizophrenia and major depression: state or trait? Ann Gen Psychiatry 2009 Oct 08;8:22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1744-859X-8-22] [Medline: 19811665]
- 29. Liu W, Roiser JP, Wang L, Zhu Y, Huang J, Neumann DL, et al. Anhedonia is associated with blunted reward sensitivity in first-degree relatives of patients with major depression. J Affect Disord 2016 Jan 15;190:640-648 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.10.050] [Medline: 26590511]
- Weinberg A, Liu H, Hajcak G, Shankman SA. Blunted neural response to rewards as a vulnerability factor for depression: Results from a family study. J Abnorm Psychol 2015 Nov;124(4):878-889 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/abn0000081] [Medline: 26214708]
- Pries L, Klingenberg B, Menne-Lothmann C, Decoster J, van Winkel R, Collip D, et al. Polygenic liability for schizophrenia and childhood adversity influences daily-life emotion dysregulation and psychosis proneness. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2020 May;141(5):465-475 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/acps.13158] [Medline: 32027017]
- 32. Paetzold I, Myin-Germeys I, Schick A, Nelson B, Velthorst E, Schirmbeck F, EU-GEI High Risk Study, et al. Stress reactivity as a putative mechanism linking childhood trauma with clinical outcomes in individuals at ultra-high-risk for psychosis: Findings from the EU-GEI High Risk Study. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 2021 May 28;30:e40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S2045796021000251] [Medline: 34044905]
- 33. Lataster J, Myin-Germeys I, Wichers M, Delespaul PAEG, van Os J, Bak M. Psychotic exacerbation and emotional dampening in the daily life of patients with schizophrenia switched to aripiprazole therapy: a collection of standardized case reports. Ther Adv Psychopharmacol 2011 Oct;1(5):145-151 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2045125311419552] [Medline: 23983939]
- Lataster J, Collip D, Ceccarini J, Haas D, Booij L, van Os J, et al. Psychosocial stress is associated with in vivo dopamine release in human ventromedial prefrontal cortex: a positron emission tomography study using [¹ F]fallypride. Neuroimage 2011 Oct 15;58(4):1081-1089. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.07.030</u>] [Medline: <u>21801840</u>]
- 35. Bak M, Delespaul P, Krabbendam L, Huistra K, Walraven W, van Os J. Capturing coping with symptoms in people with a diagnosis of schizophrenia: introducing the MACS-24. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 2009;18(1):4-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/mpr.272] [Medline: 19195049]
- Collip D, Nicolson NA, Lardinois M, Lataster T, van Os J, Myin-Germeys I, G.R.O.U.P. Daily cortisol, stress reactivity and psychotic experiences in individuals at above average genetic risk for psychosis. Psychol Med 2011 Nov;41(11):2305-2315. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291711000602] [Medline: 21733219]
- Lataster T, Valmaggia L, Lardinois M, van Os J, Myin-Germeys I. Increased stress reactivity: a mechanism specifically associated with the positive symptoms of psychotic disorder. Psychol Med 2013 Jul;43(7):1389-1400. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0033291712002279</u>] [Medline: <u>23111055</u>]
- 38. Thewissen V, Bentall RP, Lecomte T, van Os J, Myin-Germeys I. Fluctuations in self-esteem and paranoia in the context of daily life. J Abnorm Psychol 2008 Feb;117(1):143-153. [doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.117.1.143] [Medline: 18266492]

- Geschwind N, Peeters F, Drukker M, van Os J, Wichers M. Mindfulness training increases momentary positive emotions and reward experience in adults vulnerable to depression: a randomized controlled trial. J Consult Clin Psychol 2011 Oct;79(5):618-628. [doi: 10.1037/a0024595] [Medline: 21767001]
- 40. Lataster J, Collip D, Ceccarini J, Hernaus D, Haas D, Booij L, et al. Familial liability to psychosis is associated with attenuated dopamine stress signaling in ventromedial prefrontal cortex. Schizophr Bull 2014 Jan;40(1):66-77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs187] [Medline: 23363687]
- 41. Ader L, Schick A, Reininghaus U. Positive affective recovery in daily life as a momentary mechanism across subclinical and clinical stages of mental disorder v2 (September 1, 2021). OSF Registries. 2021 Sep 1. URL: <u>https://osf.io/wt645</u> [accessed 2022-10-14]
- 42. Myin-Germeys I, Oorschot M, Collip D, Lataster J, Delespaul P, van Os J. Experience sampling research in psychopathology: opening the black box of daily life. Psychol Med 2009 Sep;39(9):1533-1547. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291708004947] [Medline: 19215626]
- 43. StataCorp. Stata Statistical Software: Release 16. College Station, TX: StataCorp LP; 2019.
- 44. Simes RJ. An improved Bonferroni procedure for multiple tests of significance. Biometrika 1986;73(3):751-754. [doi: 10.1093/biomet/73.3.751]
- Vaessen T, van Nierop M, Decoster J, Delespaul P, Derom C, de Hert M, et al. Is sensitivity to daily stress predictive of onset or persistence of psychopathology? Eur Psychiatry 2017 Sep;45:167-173. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.eurpsy.2017.07.002</u>] [Medline: <u>28957783</u>]
- 46. van Steenbergen H, de Bruijn ER, van Duijvenvoorde AC, van Harmelen A. How positive affect buffers stress responses. Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences 2021 Jun;39:153-160. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cobeha.2021.03.014</u>]
- 47. Wigman JTW, van Os J, Borsboom D, Wardenaar KJ, Epskamp S, Klippel A, MERGE, et al. Exploring the underlying structure of mental disorders: cross-diagnostic differences and similarities from a network perspective using both a top-down and a bottom-up approach. Psychol Med 2015 Aug;45(11):2375-2387. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291715000331] [Medline: 25804221]
- Rauschenberg C, van Os J, Cremers D, Goedhart M, Schieveld JNM, Reininghaus U. Stress sensitivity as a putative mechanism linking childhood trauma and psychopathology in youth's daily life. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2017 Oct;136(4):373-388. [doi: 10.1111/acps.12775] [Medline: 28758672]
- 49. Lardinois M, Lataster T, Mengelers R, Van Os J, Myin-Germeys I. Childhood trauma and increased stress sensitivity in psychosis. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2011 Jan;123(1):28-35. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1600-0447.2010.01594.x</u>] [Medline: <u>20712824</u>]
- 50. Wichers M, Schrijvers D, Geschwind N, Jacobs N, Myin-Germeys I, Thiery E, et al. Mechanisms of gene-environment interactions in depression: evidence that genes potentiate multiple sources of adversity. Psychol Med 2009 Jul;39(7):1077-1086. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291708004388] [Medline: 18834553]
- 51. Glaser J, van Os J, Portegijs PJM, Myin-Germeys I. Childhood trauma and emotional reactivity to daily life stress in adult frequent attenders of general practitioners. J Psychosom Res 2006 Aug;61(2):229-236. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpsychores.2006.04.014</u>] [Medline: <u>16880026</u>]
- Rush J, Hofer SM. Differences in within- and between-person factor structure of positive and negative affect: analysis of two intensive measurement studies using multilevel structural equation modeling. Psychol Assess 2014 Jun;26(2):462-473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0035666] [Medline: 24512426]
- Gable SL, Reis HT, Elliot AJ. Behavioral activation and inhibition in everyday life. J Pers Soc Psychol 2000 Jun;78(6):1135-1149. [doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.78.6.1135] [Medline: 10870914]
- 54. Wichers M, Peeters F, Rutten BPF, Jacobs N, Derom C, Thiery E, et al. A time-lagged momentary assessment study on daily life physical activity and affect. Health Psychol 2012 Mar;31(2):135-144. [doi: 10.1037/a0025688] [Medline: 21988094]
- 55. Myin-Germeys I, Klippel A, Steinhart H, Reininghaus U. Ecological momentary interventions in psychiatry. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2016 Jul;29(4):258-263. [doi: <u>10.1097/YCO.00000000000255</u>] [Medline: <u>27153125</u>]
- Reininghaus U. [Ecological Momentary Interventions in Psychiatry: The Momentum for Change in Daily Social Context]. Psychiatr Prax 2018 Mar;45(2):59-61. [doi: <u>10.1055/s-0044-101986</u>] [Medline: <u>29495051</u>]
- Reininghaus U, Depp CA, Myin-Germeys I. Ecological Interventionist Causal Models in Psychosis: Targeting Psychological Mechanisms in Daily Life. Schizophr Bull 2016 Mar;42(2):264-269 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv193] [Medline: 26707864]

Abbreviations

ESM: experience sampling methodology



Edited by J Torous; submitted 22.02.22; peer-reviewed by M Marciniak, S Mangelsdorf; comments to author 29.06.22; revised version received 06.09.22; accepted 06.09.22; published 23.11.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Ader L, Schick A, Simons C, Delespaul P, Myin-Germeys I, Vaessen T, Reininghaus U Positive Affective Recovery in Daily Life as a Momentary Mechanism Across Subclinical and Clinical Stages of Mental Disorder: Experience Sampling Study JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e37394 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e37394 doi:10.2196/37394 PMID:36416883

©Leonie Ader, Anita Schick, Claudia Simons, Philippe Delespaul, Inez Myin-Germeys, Thomas Vaessen, Ulrich Reininghaus. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 23.11.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Development of the First Episode Digital Monitoring mHealth Intervention for People With Early Psychosis: Qualitative Interview Study With Clinicians

Ana Stefancic¹, PhD; R Tyler Rogers², MA; Sarah Styke², MA; Xiaoyan Xu², PhD; Richard Buchsbaum³; Ilana Nossel^{1,2}, MD; Leopoldo J Cabassa⁴, MSW, PhD; T Scott Stroup^{1,2}, MD, MPH; David Kimhy^{5,6}, PhD

¹Department of Psychiatry, Vagelos College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, New York, NY, United States

²Division of Behavioral Health Services and Policy Research, New York State Psychiatric Institute, New York, NY, United States

³Department of Biostatistics, Mailman School of Public Health, Columbia University, New York, NY, United States

⁴Brown School of Social Work, Washington University in St Louis, St Louis, MO, United States

⁵Department of Psychiatry, Icahn School of Medicine, New York, NY, United States

⁶New York Mental Illness Research Education and Clinical Center, The James J Peters Veteran's Affairs Medical Center, Bronx, NY, United States

Corresponding Author:

David Kimhy, PhD Department of Psychiatry Icahn School of Medicine One Gustave L Levy Place Box 1230 New York, NY, 10029 United States Phone: 1 212 659 8752 Email: david.kimhy@mssm.edu

Abstract

Background: Mobile health (mHealth) technologies have been used extensively in psychosis research. In contrast, their integration into *real-world* clinical care has been limited despite the broad availability of smartphone-based apps targeting mental health care. Most apps developed for treatment of individuals with psychosis have focused primarily on encouraging self-management skills of patients via practicing cognitive behavioral techniques learned during face-to-face clinical sessions (eg, challenging dysfunctional thoughts and relaxation exercises), reminders to engage in health-promoting activities (eg, exercising, sleeping, and socializing), or symptom monitoring. In contrast, few apps have sought to enhance the clinical encounter itself to improve shared decision-making (SDM) and therapeutic relationships with clinicians, which have been linked to positive clinical outcomes.

Objective: This qualitative study sought clinicians' input to develop First Episode Digital Monitoring (FREEDoM), an app-based mHealth intervention. FREEDoM was designed to improve the quality, quantity, and timeliness of clinical and functional data available to clinicians treating patients experiencing first-episode psychosis (FEP) to enhance their therapeutic relationship and increase SDM.

Methods: Following the app's initial development, semistructured qualitative interviews were conducted with 11 FEP treatment providers at 3 coordinated specialty care clinics to elicit input on the app's design, the data report for clinicians, and planned usage procedures. We then generated a summary template and conducted matrix analysis to systematically categorize suggested adaptations to the evidence-based intervention using dimensions of the Framework for Reporting Adaptations and Modifications - Enhanced (FRAME) and documented the rationale for adopting or rejecting suggestions.

Results: The clinicians provided 31 suggestions (18 adopted and 13 rejected). Suggestions to add or refine the content were most common (eg, adding questions in the app). Adaptations to context were most often related to plans for implementing the intervention, how the reported data were displayed to clinicians, and with whom the reports were shared. Reasons for suggestions primarily included factors related to health narratives and priorities of the patients (eg, focus on the functional impact of symptoms vs their severity), providers' clinical judgment (eg, need for clinically relevant information), and organizations' mission and culture. Reasons for rejecting suggestions included requests for data and procedures beyond the intervention's scope, concerns regarding dilution of the intervention's core components, and concerns about increasing patient burden while using the app.

Conclusions: FREEDoM focuses on a novel target for the deployment of mHealth technologies in the treatment of FEP patients—the enhancement of SDM and improvement of therapeutic relationships. This study illustrates the use of the FRAME, along with methods and tools for rapid qualitative analysis, to systematically track adaptations to the app as part of its development process. Such adaptations may contribute to enhanced acceptance of the intervention by clinicians and a higher likelihood of integration into clinical care.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04248517; https://tinyurl.com/tjuyxvv6

(JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e41482) doi:10.2196/41482

KEYWORDS

first-episode psychosis; early psychosis; coordinated specialty care; mental health treatment; shared decision-making; mobile health; smartphone apps; qualitative; digital psychiatry; mobile phone

Introduction

Early Intervention for Psychosis and Measurement-Based Care

Early treatment experiences of individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia can have enduring effects on their attitudes toward treatment, potentially altering the course of illness and affecting long-term outcomes [1,2]. Consequently, first-episode psychosis (FEP) is a critical period for optimizing treatment to enhance treatment satisfaction and adherence [3]. Specifically, psychotropic medications are critical core components of early intervention strategies. However, evidence suggests that a significant gap exists between the optimal use of medications and how they are used in real-world practice [4], with many patients receiving higher than recommended dosages of antipsychotic medications, as well as additional psychotropic medications. These practices often result in troubling symptoms and side effects, lower satisfaction with treatment, poorer therapeutic relationship and treatment engagement, and increased rates of discontinuation of treatment [1,4].

One widely promoted approach to improve treatment outcomes is measurement-based care (MBC), which is defined as the systematic evaluation of patient conditions before or during an encounter to inform treatment [5,6]. Typically, MBC relies on the patients' recollection of their clinical status over several days or weeks. However, such retrospective assessments are problematic because they are vulnerable to the influence of memory difficulties, cognitive biases, and reframing [7-9]. These issues are particularly salient among individuals with schizophrenia, given the substantial episodic memory deficits documented in this population [10,11]. In addition, medication management sessions by psychiatrists and other prescribing clinicians typically last <30 minutes, making it difficult for providers to obtain a comprehensive view of the clinical status of patients and develop rapport. The latter is particularly pertinent for patients with FEP, about whom psychiatric care providers may have shorter treatment histories, resulting in less familiarity. Overall, these limitations may contribute to lower treatment satisfaction and adherence, poorer therapeutic relationship, and poorer clinical outcomes.

A promising strategy to overcome many of these challenges is the use of mobile health (mHealth) technologies. Extensive evidence from psychosis research studies using smartphones indicates high feasibility and validity of real-time collection of

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41482
```

clinical information on daily experiences among individuals with psychosis, including symptoms, side effects, mood and affective processing, social activities and context, sleep, and functioning [9,12-15]. Using apps and methodologies, such as experience sampling method (ESM) that present patients with brief assessments that are more frequent and richer in detail and occur during the course of "real-world" functioning, mHealth technologies can provide a more granular and complete picture of clinical status and functioning of patients upon which more effective clinical decisions and pharmacological management can be made [9,13,16,17]. Specifically, mHealth technologies can capture changes in clinical variables across time and social contexts, potentially allowing providers to better tailor interventions. Furthermore, the "real-world" characterization of experiences of patients via mHealth technologies may also enhance shared decision-making (SDM) and therapeutic relationship by providing both clinicians and patients with more accurate clinical data that are more directly related to experiences of patients, potentially allowing for more informed joint treatment decisions.

mHealth Applications in Psychosis Treatment

To date, most apps developed for and used in the treatment of individuals with psychosis, including FOCUS [18-20], CORE [21], Actissist [22], and Acceptance and Commitment Therapy in Daily Life [23], have focused largely on supplementing face-to-face clinical encounters [16,17,24-28]. Most apps have been designed primarily to facilitate patients' self-management of symptoms and recovery by offering psychoeducation, guidelines for practicing of cognitive and behavioral coping strategies (eg, reassessment of dysfunctional beliefs and relaxation exercises), or other skills taught during clinical sessions. Other apps have focused on monitoring symptoms and signs of clinical deterioration or enhancing social functioning [29-32]. In contrast, few apps have sought to enhance the clinical encounter itself. Specifically, to date, no app has aimed to enhance SDM and therapeutic relationships within FEP treatment. SDM has been shown to be a key element contributing to positive clinical outcomes [33,34]. Previous reports have demonstrated that SDM has a positive impact on patient satisfaction, adherence to treatment, quality of life, and empowerment, including among patients with serious mental illness [35-38]. Consistent with this view, Zielesak et al [39] pointed out that there remains a significant gap in understanding clinician needs for information in mental health care decision-making, as well as ways to better integrate apps into

XSL•FO RenderX

routine clinical care and provider workflow. Furthermore, providers' lack of engagement with, or buy-in for, patient-reported health data have been noted as a critical barrier to its use in health care generally, making it a priority to elicit adaptations that may facilitate uptake from the provider perspective [40].

To address these gaps in the literature, we sought to develop an mHealth intervention that provides psychiatric care providers with clinically relevant and time-sensitive information that would enhance MBC, better inform decisions regarding treatment and medication management, and improve therapeutic relationships and SDM. Prior research has demonstrated the benefits of soliciting stakeholder input when developing and refining mHealth apps, including for individuals with schizophrenia [19] and early psychosis [22,31,41]. For example, Ben-Zeev et al [19] used a multistage, multistakeholder input and feedback approach combining survey and qualitative methods to develop the FOCUS app that supports self-management for people with schizophrenia. Similarly, within an early intervention service for psychosis, McClelland and Fitzgerald [41] conducted a staged series of focus groups with patients and clinicians to develop an app that helped patients track their mood and activities, receive reminders and messages, and seek external support.

In this study, we described the systematic process of soliciting inputs from clinician stakeholders to develop and adapt an app as part of a pilot study examining the implementation of a community-based FEP mHealth intervention for adolescents and young adults. As our app focuses on a novel clinical target, the information available to clinicians, and its use in SDM, the views and input of clinicians were critical for elucidating this target. Adaptations may entail changes to interventions, or to implementation strategies, that produce better alignment with factors such as the needs, resources, and cultures of target settings and populations [42]. Specifically, such input may lead to adaptations in multiple aspects of an intervention, including content, frequency, and timing, which may then improve intervention fit (eg, appropriateness), feasibility (eg, successful delivery), acceptability (eg, satisfactoriness), and effectiveness, given a particular practice setting and population served or higher-level contextual factors such as local policies [43]. Changes to implementation strategies can include adding intervention training or modifying workflows, as these focus on methods and activities that seek to maximize the extent to which an intervention is adopted, used, and sustained within routine practice [44]. Overall, adaptations may address several considerations, including clinical judgment, stakeholder preferences, and perception of the intervention, as well as factors associated with the entity or setting (eg, clinic) within which the intervention is embedded, such as an organization's access to resources, social context, or mission. Finally, adaptations can also be responsive to the wider sociopolitical context, such as social norms or mores, and funding policies.

In addition to the practical value of obtaining stakeholder input for intervention design, there are increasing calls for the development, tracking, and reporting of processes and findings regarding adaptations to interventions and implementation strategies as part of efforts to disseminate methods, tools, and

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41482
```

resources that promote rapid and iterative applications of implementation science and translational research [45]. One such tool is the Framework for Reporting Adaptations and Modifications - Enhanced (FRAME) [46,47]. It facilitates the ability of researchers and providers to capture a range of information relevant to adaptation decision-making processes and to catalog ways in which a practice has changed from a previously established iteration or protocol. The FRAME allows for systematic classification of intervention adaptations by guiding researchers and providers to address key questions such as (1) when adaptations are made; (2) who participated in the decision-making process; (3) specifically, what was modified or adapted and to which aspect of the intervention does it relate (eg, context and content); (4) the reasons why an adaptation was made; (5) the goal of the adaptation (eg, increase reach or engagement); and (6) whether the adaptation is consistent with intervention fidelity or an intervention's core principles.

Methods

Context and Setting

This qualitative study was conducted as part of a pilot randomized controlled trial (RCT) to evaluate the feasibility and acceptability of using First Episode Digital Monitoring (FREEDoM), a novel mHealth app designed to enhance MBC and SDM, as well as improve patient satisfaction with pharmacotherapy regimens at 3 clinics delivering coordinated specialty care (CSC) [48,49] for patients with FEP (ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04248517). The clinics, all affiliated with OnTrackNY, provide treatment to adolescents and young adults (aged 16-30 years) experiencing nonaffective FEP [44]. OnTrackNY originated as part of the National Institute of Mental Health Recovery After an Initial Schizophrenia Episode Implementation and Evaluation Study. The CSC programs use an evidence-based, multidisciplinary, and team-based approach that offers pharmacotherapy, psychotherapy, supported employment and education, and peer support and emphasizes an SDM approach to treatment [50]. Semistructured qualitative interviews were conducted with CSC program staff (eg, psychiatric care providers and primary therapists) before initiating the RCT at each site to elicit provider perspectives on the proposed intervention and plans for implementation. Researchers used provider feedback from structured interviews and the FRAME to identify, catalog, track, and implement adaptations to increase the potential feasibility and acceptability of the RCT intervention and protocol.

FREEDoM—a Novel mHealth Intervention

The FREEDoM mHealth intervention project involved patients completing 3-day ESM-based assessments once per month immediately before their appointment with their psychiatric care provider of the CSC program. The goal of the intervention was to provide timely, accurate, and granular information about clinical status; improve communication about pharmacotherapy between patients and clinicians; enhance SDM; and improve patient treatment satisfaction.

During the 3-day assessment, the mHealth app delivered notifications to the participants' smartphones 10 times a day at random times between 10 AM and 10 PM to complete brief

XSL•FO RenderX

questionnaires. Participants had 15 minutes to begin responding to questions presented on the smartphone's screen. The questions asked during each sampling assessment varied based on the time of day and a system of branching logic within each set of questions. The first daily questionnaire included questions about sleep and medications taken the previous day. The middle 8 questionnaires asked about psychiatric symptoms, medication side effects, mood, substance use, social activities, and context, as well as activities and difficulties functioning. The final questionnaire each day asked about side effects that are less transient (eg, constipation and sexual side effects), as well as global functioning. Each questionnaire took 3 to 5 minutes to complete. Following the 3-day ESM assessment, the clinician received a 1-page succinct report summarizing key clinical variables characterizing the current status and functioning of the patient, along with changes from the previous month and the start of the study that could be reviewed and discussed with the patient in the upcoming session. Clinicians were encouraged to share the reports with their patients during clinical sessions and use them as a basis for discussions on clinical status, treatment goals, clinical progress, and SDM.

Sample

A purposive sampling approach was used to identify staff members at each CSC site whose primary role was to provide clinical care to patients. Team leaders served as initial key informants at each site and nominated a psychiatric care provider (either a physician or nurse practitioner) and other clinical staff members, whom they believed would contribute feedback relevant to the proposed intervention and implementation plan, for study participation. All staff members identified for the interviews provided informed consent and participated in the study.

Data Collection

The initial development of the questions and inquiry items included in the FREEDoM app was completed by DK and TSS, with the team members providing additional edits. Next, the CSC providers completed individual semistructured interviews lasting approximately 1 hour each. Interviews were conducted by 2 senior MD or PhD clinician researchers (TSS and DK) who were trained and supported by 2 experts in qualitative methods and implementation science (LJC and AS). The first 2 interviews were conducted in-person before the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions, and subsequent interviews were conducted via videoconferencing (eg, via Zoom) owing to social distancing mandates. Interview guides (Multimedia Appendix 1), which were developed collaboratively by the research team,

were framed to inquire about providers' perspectives on study procedures related to implementation, recruitment, and retention, as well as feedback on the content and structure of both the FREEDoM mHealth app used to deliver the proposed intervention and the report delivered to clinicians. During the interviews, providers were shown screenshots of the mHealth app and a draft of the 1-page clinical report for feedback. The interviews were audio-recorded, transcribed verbatim, reviewed for accuracy, and deidentified.

Pragmatic Data Analysis Procedures

Data analysis and deliberation of adaptations were performed in tandem with data collection (Figure 1). Data were analyzed using a summary template and matrix analysis approach to categorize suggested adaptations using key dimensions of the FRAME. Matrix analysis is a rigorous but pragmatic method for rapidly extracting and reducing qualitative data, allowing researchers to systematically synthesize and catalog content into a template of key topics [51-53].

Following the semistructured interviews, one author (RTR) developed draft interview summaries of each transcript, extracting interview content based on key interview topics. These summaries were then edited by a senior author (AS) with expertise in qualitative analysis to ensure that all information pertinent to potential adaptations from each transcript was captured in the summary. Summaries included providers' assessment of procedures or content (eg, endorsed or had concerns) and systematically outlined each suggested adaptation along with illustrative quotes.

Next, brief descriptions of the suggested adaptations and relevant contextual information from the summaries were entered into a descriptive adaptation matrix (Table 1). The adaptation matrix was a Microsoft Excel table template with column headings representing information that would be needed to classify adaptations along FRAME domains (the adaptation suggested, supporting rationale or contextual information, whether adaptations would vary by study site, and key quotes) and rows outlining potential adaptations organized by project components (eg, "project implementation issues," "app-related," and "report-related") with specific subtopics (eg, "mobile phone and data plan reimbursement" was a subtopic of "project implementation issues"). During this charting process, the authors met every other week to discuss the suggested adaptations and deliberate making changes. Decisions on whether to implement a suggested adaptation were documented by 1 author (RTR) in the adaptation matrix along with a brief description of why the adaptation was incorporated.



Figure 1. Pragmatic analysis for rapid qualitative research. FRAME: Framework for Reporting Adaptations and Modifications-Enhanced.



Table 1.	A sam	ple descri	ptive ada	ptation	matrix	mobile	health	First	Episode	Digital	Monitoring.

Domain		Stakeholder input and feedback	Suggestion for adapted practice	Varies by site	Relevant stakeholder quote	Adaptation implemented
App-relate	ed					
Questi conter	ions or nt	Current app content is fine, but weight gain should be added as a side effect	Add weight gain to the app questions	No	"Would you consider adding weight gain to the list of side-effects? Because that's been something that has been brought up by some participants in the past and the prescriber really tries to, to work with them on that."	Yes
Pingir freque	ng and ency	10 pings a day may be too much	Reduce pings per day	N/A ^a	"I'm just curious if like if you're in college, you're in high school; like how realistic is it that you're go- ing to be? I don't know what's the frequency"	No
Report						
Layou desigr	it or 1	Inclusion of daily aver- ages is useful	Include daily aver- ages in granular graph	No	"I like having the average for the day."	Yes
Acces port	s to re-	It would be helpful for participants to receive a report of their answers within the app itself	Consider providing report directly to participant	No	"Just wondering, like are, are participants able to get like information like this? like maybe like since it's an app like they're able to like see what they said and like past months."	No, consider for future itera- tion
Conte	nt	Caffeine should be includ- ed owing to its effects on sleep	Include caffeine as a substance	No	"[Caffeine and other substances] are relevant for sleep."	Yes

^aN/A: not applicable.

After all the suggested adaptations were entered into the descriptive adaptation matrix, each adaptation was further classified along FRAME domains that were applicable to tracking planned adaptations before implementation for interventions without established fidelity standards (what was modified at what level of delivery, type of contextual adaptation, nature of content modification, reason for adaptation and goal). The FRAME organizes the reasons why an adaptation is made into 4 overarching categories: recipient, provider, organization, or sociopolitical context, with specific subcategories. An

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41482

RenderX

additional subcategory was developed and added under participant-level reasons for adaptation that emerged from the data—"Health narratives and priorities"—to reflect the adaptations that sought to be more responsive to participants' understanding and perspectives on their needs and mental health. Descriptive reasons for not implementing the suggested adaptations were further classified into categories inductively developed by the researchers. To organize and streamline findings, the adaptations were clustered by the reason for suggesting them and by whether or not the suggestion was

adopted. Strategies for maximizing rigor included progressively reducing the data using a series of defined steps (eg, transcribing, summarizing, charting, and categorizing); using multiple researchers at each step to extract, reduce, and categorize the data; conducting frequent debriefing meetings throughout data collection and analysis; and keeping an audit trail [54,55].

Ethics Approval

All the procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Boards of the New York State Psychiatric Institute (#7900) and Northwell Health (#20-0429).

Results

Overview

A total of 11 CSC clinical providers completed the semistructured interviews: 4 staff members each at 2 sites and 3 staff members at a third site. The interviewed staff members represented different disciplines and clinical roles on the treatment team, including team leaders (3/11, 27%), psychiatric care providers (eg, psychiatrist and nurse practitioner; 5/11,

45%), and primary therapists (eg, clinical social workers; 3/11, 27%). In total, the staff members suggested 31 adaptations (Tables 2 and 3): twenty-four were regarding the intervention itself (eg, app questionnaire and data reports), and the remaining 7 were regarding implementation strategies (eg, reiterating instructions and checking smartphone compatibility). Suggestions to modify content were the most frequent (18/31, 58%) and focused on adding or refining content, such as including new survey questions or displaying additional data in the report. This was followed by suggestions for context modification (13/31, 42%), including aspects of format, such as the design of the report, and aspects of the population, such as which staff should have access to the report. Reasons for suggesting modifications included responsiveness to factors at the participant (15/31, 48%), provider (11/31, 35%), organization or setting (3/31, 10%), and sociopolitical (2/31, 6%) levels. Overall, the goals of the suggested adaptations were to improve the fit with recipients or to increase satisfaction, effectiveness, feasibility, reach, and engagement. Ultimately, 58% (18/31) of suggestions were implemented within the study and applied across all sites (ie, adaptations were not specific to or varied by site), whereas 42% (13/31) were not adopted.



Stefancic et al

Table 2. Summary of adaptations suggested and accepted for mobile health First Episode Digital Monitoring.

Reason for suggested adaptation	Goal was to in- crease or improve	What was suggested and adapted	Type of adaptation made
Recipient level			·
Health narratives and priori	ties		
Time burden	Fit with recipients, feasibility	Repeat or reassure that skipping some question- naires is OK	Implementation strategy: content-repeating
Privacy or confidentiality	Reach and engage- ment	Repeat information regarding confidentiality	Implementation strategy: content-repeating
Person-centered care	Fit with recipients, satisfaction	Report: use person-centered, experience-based language vs medicalized language	Content: tailoring or tweaking or refining
Recovery-oriented ap- proach	Fit with recipients, satisfaction	App: ask how bothersome symptom is and impact on functioning	Content: adding elements
Access to resources			
Technology	Reach and engage- ment, feasibility	Check smartphone compatibility before enroll- ment	Implementation strategy: context, format
Crisis or emergent circumst	ance		
Participant safety	Fit with recipients	Include suicidal ideation as exclusionary criteria	Context: population
Comorbidities			
Multiple mental health symptoms or conditions	Effectiveness	Clarify instructions to include multiple psychi- atric medications	Implementation strategy: content-tailoring or tweaking or refining
Physical health side ef- fects	Fit with recipients, satisfaction	App: ask about weight gain as potential side effect	Content: adding elements
Provider level			
Clinical judgment			
Clinically meaningful in- formation	Satisfaction, effec- tiveness	App: ask about timing of medication use and factor in for adherence	Content: adding elements
Clinically meaningful in- formation	Satisfaction, effec- tiveness	Report: include substance use and caffeine use on report	Content: adding elements
Clinically meaningful in- formation	Satisfaction, effec- tiveness	Report: include lines for daily averages on report's granular graphs	Content: adding elements
Previous training or skills	Feasibility	Train providers to read report and include legend	Training content: adding elements
Preferences			
Data visualization	Satisfaction	Report: reduce report or graph density (eg, focus on subset of symptoms or side effects)	Context: format
Data visualization	Satisfaction	Report: use dots on report's granular graphs	Context: format
Organization level			
Service structure			
Team-based care	Feasibility, effec- tiveness	Option to share report with multiple staff	Context: personnel
Mission or culture			
Shared decision-making	Satisfaction, effec- tiveness	Option for clinician to show report to the partic- ipant	Context: format
Sociopolitical level			
Existing policies			
COVID-19 pandemic so- cial distancing mandates	Reach and engage- ment	Attend web-based program meeting for introduc- tion or warm handoff to client for recruitment	Implementation strategy: context, format
COVID-19 pandemic so- cial distancing mandates	Reach and engage- ment	Option to receive an e-gift card as participant reimbursement	Implementation strategy: context, format

XSL•FO RenderX

Stefancic et al

Table 3. Summary of adaptations suggested and rejected for mobile health First Episode Digital Monitoring.

Reason for suggested adapta- tion		Goal was to increase or improve	What was suggested, but not adapted	Type of adaptation not made	Reason why adaptation not made
Recipie	ent level	·			
He	alth narratives and p	riorities			
	Time burden	Fit with recipients, feasibility	Reduce ping frequency	Content: shortening or con- densing (pacing or timing), tailoring	Compromises core compo- nents
	Time burden	Fit with recipients, feasibility	Tailor ping timing around partic- ipant work or school hours	Content: shortening or con- densing (pacing or timing), tailoring	Increases complexity
	Privacy or confiden- tiality	Reach and engage- ment	Offer non-app-based means of collecting information	Context: format	Beyond intervention scope
	Person-centered care	Fit with recipients, satisfaction	App: ask more positively worded questions	Content: adding elements	Increases recipient time burden
	Person-centered care	Fit with recipients, satisfaction	Ask more open-ended questions	Content: adding elements	Increases complexity of data or report
Ac	cess to resources				
	Technology	Reach and engage- ment, feasibility	Provide phones to participants	Implementation strategy: content, adding	Additional resources re- quired (as well as in-person meeting during COVID-19 pandemic)
Lit	eracy or education le	vel			
	Data visualization	Fit with recipients	Report: simplify report so partic- ipants can understand it more easily	Content: tailoring or tweaking or refining	Compromises core compo- nents (may reduce useful- ness to providers as primary targets)
Provide	er level				
Cli	nical judgment				
	Clinically meaning- ful information	Satisfaction, effec- tiveness	App: ask more about negative symptoms	Content: adding elements	Beyond intervention scope and increases time burden
	Clinically meaning- ful information	Satisfaction, effec- tiveness	App: ask about suicidal ideation	Content: adding elements	Additional resources re- quired
	Clinically meaning- ful information	Satisfaction, effec- tiveness	Allow providers to access more information than what is on the report	Content: adding elements	Additional resources re- quired
	Clinically meaning- ful information	Satisfaction, effec- tiveness	Collect data on days more re- moved from clinical session	Content: lengthening or ex- tending (pacing or timing)	Beyond scope
Pro	eferences				
	Data visualization	Satisfaction	Report: use bars on granular graphs	Context: format	Not consistent with most clinicians' preferences
Organi	zation level				
Mi	ssion or culture				
	Shared decision- making	Satisfaction, effec- tiveness	Send report or information direct- ly to participant	Context: format	Additional resources re- quired and beyond interven- tion scope

Adaptations Suggested and Adopted

Adaptations for Participant-Level Reasons

Adaptations that were ultimately adopted were most commonly driven by reasons at the participant level and included the need to address factors such as participants' health narratives and priorities, comorbidities, access to resources, and safety. With

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41482
```

XSL•FO RenderX respect to health narratives and priorities, the most substantive changes were to refine or add intervention content. Staff members emphasized the need to use person-centered and experience-based language, instead of medical language, throughout the intervention, including changing data labels on the report (eg, changing "symptoms" to "experiences" and "hallucinations" to "seeing things"; Multimedia Appendix 2):

[It's important that the] language be recovery-oriented...[many participants] don't agree with our diagnosis. So that's why it's important for us to be able to engage them. It can't always bereflect the language of sort of traditional medical model. [P6]

Beyond refining the wording, staff members highlighted the need for additional app questions that would incorporate participants' own perceptions of their mental health in a more person-centered and recovery-oriented way, potentially making the questionnaire more engaging and relevant to the participants. Suggestions that were adopted included adding questions that would not only assess the frequency of symptoms or side effects but also to inquire the degree to which participants perceived these experiences to be bothersome or interfering in their functioning (ie, how much "[This Experience] gets in the way of what I'm doing"):

Particularly for our population, it's really not about whether or not they have a symptom... It's really about if that symptom is getting in the way of something...our young people don't in general tend to like apps that remind them or conceptualize them as being sick... asking things in a way that might be a little more recovery-oriented might be helpful..."If you do experience this, can you tell us...how much is this thing particularly bothersome or impacting your ability to do the things that you want to do whether you work or school"...That way the person could experience it as, "yes I have voices, but no, it's actually not impacting me" or if something is interrupting your life, it might help you to remind yourself, "okay, this actually is a problem." [P6]

Staff members also noted the need to add questions that would further reflect priorities of the recipients; for example, asking about side effects that were of known concern to them, as subsequently included in the app:

Would you consider adding weight gain to the list of side-effects? Because that's been something that has been brought up by some participants in the past and the prescriber really tries to... work with them on that. [P3]

Staff members also identified the need to reassure participants of confidentiality and voluntariness by repeating content, such as reiterating instructions regarding confidentiality and the ability to skip app questions. Finally, to address concerns regarding participant safety, study exclusionary criteria were modified to include suicidal ideation, whereas concerns regarding the participants' access to technology were addressed by adding a step to check participants' smartphone compatibility with the app before enrollment.

Adaptations for Provider-Level Reasons

Reasons at the provider level included factors such as clinical judgment, previous training or skills, and provider preferences. Most commonly, this entailed suggestions for adding questions to the app or presenting additional data in the report to maximize access to information that providers believed to be clinically meaningful. This included requests for the report to display specific substances beyond illicit drugs (eg, caffeine) that can impact participants' functioning and for the app questionnaire to account for different factors that have a role in medication adherence (eg, route of administration and timing):

It doesn't capture what substance was used. You would have to ask...maybe code each [substance in the report]...show [the participant]...had a cup of coffee...[Caffeine and other substances] are relevant for sleep. [P1]

What if the patient's on a (Long Acting Injectable), like an antipsychotic, how would you capture that?...What if they [were supposed to take] the medication in the morning, but took it in the afternoon... [P11]

Suggestions for how best to depict data in the report generally reflected provider preferences for visualizing data in a certain format to enhance readability or to reduce the density of graphs (eg, display only the subset of symptoms and side effects with highest impact or severity) owing to concerns that the report was "a little overwhelming...lots of bars...the page is completely full." In addition, enhancing training for providers in interpreting reports was identified and incorporated as a key implementation strategy:

At first when I saw the report I'm like, "oh, my gosh, all these dots, all these numbers," but...you guys [actually] explaining it to me...I feel like it's really simple... [P3]

Adaptations for Organization-Level Reasons

Regarding reasons associated with the organization or setting, adaptations were suggested to better align the project with key aspects of the mission or culture of the CSC programs and team service structure, specifically SDM and the use of a team-based approach. For example, staff members suggested that they could show the report to participants during sessions, using it as a "visual" tool for promoting participant engagement and informing SDM processes (eg, discussing options, tailoring pros and cons, and exploring patient fears or expectations):

I could totally see using it. I'm all about transparency. So I would show [the report] to them, and I would try to explain it and everything. "And this is what the data says..." in terms of engaging them into their treatment, it'll help with that...this is...shared decision making. And this gives them more of a connection and participation in their treatment. [P1]

Furthermore, given the multidisciplinary and team-based approach of the CSC programs, providers emphasized that team members other than the psychiatric care provider should have access to the report, which was integrated as an option:

Since we are a team and we talk very openly about each participant...I think all of our team members should get [the report]...it would be like a comprehensive way to say...this person is...experiencing this and this, experiencing this kind

of side-effects, and then we can get together as a team about it during our meeting. [P8]

Adaptations for Sociopolitical Context-Level Reasons

Finally, to respond to the sociopolitical context, adaptations to implementation strategies were suggested to address some of the barriers related to COVID-19 pandemic social distancing mandates. Given the limited in-person services, staff members noted the need to expand options for reimbursing participants (eg, offering electronic gift cards) and for preserving aspects of a warm handoff when linking participants to researchers by adding the option of a web-based handoff:

To introduce the [participant]...we are able to do groups via the [virtual] platform. So if the participant is able to go onto the platform and do our video session...if they agree, [the research assistant] can join and it will be the three of us. [P8]

Adaptations Suggested but Not Adopted

Of the 31 suggestions, 13 (48%) adaptations were ultimately not implemented, which generally reflected suggestions to add content by collecting additional information through the app questionnaire, to adapt aspects of context to facilitate participants' direct access to and understanding of their own data, and to change the pacing or timing of the intervention components. Overall, the reasons for suggesting these adaptations reflected rationales similar to those behind the adaptations that were made, with responsiveness to health narratives and priorities of the participants and clinical judgment of the providers once again being the most frequent. The reasons that researchers did not incorporate these suggested adaptations included additional study resources being required, modifications being beyond the scope of the intervention, concerns regarding compromising core components or mechanisms, managing intervention complexity, managing participant time burden, and adaptations not being consistent with the preferences of most providers. The staff suggested additional questionnaire content, such as asking more about negative symptoms and positive experiences or adding open-ended questions, primarily as a potential way to make the app more engaging for participants:

But it will also be nice to, towards the end, to say oh, "but you did report this other positive thing that happened to you." Or so it's just not about medication. [P10]

Although researchers acknowledged the potential value of collecting this additional data, these additions were ultimately not made owing to concerns that they were outside the primary scope of the pilot trial, would pose an increased time burden for participants, or would unacceptably increase the complexity of the data presented in the report.

The staff also expressed concerns about different aspects of intervention timing, inquiring "how realistic" it was for participants to respond to 10 questionnaires a day, with suggestions to reduce or tailor questionnaire frequency. There was also provider uncertainty about the timing of data collection, with suggestions to space out participant completion of questionnaires and to include time points further removed from

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41482
```

upcoming appointments to potentially capture experiences that may also be relevant but more challenging to remember:

Is there an opportunity to have flexibility with what three days are selected...As opposed to the last three days before they're seeing me...answering those questions [at different points] in real time further away from my appointment...I could see sometimes where [the past three days] might matter, if there's something they want to talk about in their experience more recently. I can see sometimes where it's not as relevant. [P6]

These changes to intervention timing were not adopted, with researchers seeking to preserve the core component of 10 ESM questionnaires based on their prior experience of high frequencies yielding adequate response rates [13], and tailoring questionnaire frequency to participants' changing schedules was too complex to be reliably implemented over time.

Providers also suggested offering alternative means for participants to complete the questionnaire, offering smartphones to participants lacking the technology, as well as providing participants with direct access to their own data and further simplifying the report to make it easier for participants to understand:

Is there an option if participants are hesitant about downloading an app, like a way to do it by email... [P2]

It would be nice if when you're with a particular client to simplify these graphs. Because if you are going to use it as a tool, like this most people would not understand. [P10]

Although these suggestions had the potential to expand intervention reach and enhance participant engagement with the intervention and their own data, they were ultimately not adopted. Researchers determined that offering a non–app-based means of collecting data was beyond the scope of the mHealth intervention and that tailoring the report to participants versus providers could result in a loss of information that potentially compromised core components. Moreover, purchasing smartphones would require additional funding.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study presents our process and findings of using rapid and pragmatic qualitative methods along with the FRAME to systematically solicit, document, deliberate, and report provider-suggested adaptations to FREEDoM, an mHealth app aimed at enhancing treatment for individuals with FEP. This study is one of only a handful of published reports characterizing efforts to incorporate direct stakeholder input (eg, clinicians) into the development process of an app targeting treatment of psychosis and the first to focus on enhancing the therapeutic relationship and improving SDM among patients with FEP and their treatment teams.

With overarching research questions guided by the FRAME, we conducted focused semistructured interviews while

concurrently extracting data from transcripts to interview summaries and then to a descriptive matrix, further condensing the data at each step until we categorized each adaptation along the FRAME domains. This study demonstrates how these methods can facilitate rapid analysis of qualitative research data for intervention adaptation and yield timely findings with high clinical relevance to inform the delivery of care.

Reasons for suggesting adaptations most commonly included responsiveness to health narratives and priorities of patients, clinical judgment of providers, and mission or culture of organizations. Suggestions to add or refine content were most common, including asking participants to rate how bothersome symptoms or side effects were, rewording the report to be person centered and experience based in lieu of medical language, and presenting additional data in the report. Adaptations to context were most often related to an implementation strategy (eg, web-based handoffs during recruitment), the format of the provider report, and with whom the report was shared.

Overall, the adaptations that were suggested and adopted were driven by key aspects of the CSC context to shift the intervention to better reflect the needs and preferences of the population served and the CSC's emphasis on SDM, recovery-oriented practice, and team-based approach to care. In particular, asking additional questions and changing the phrasing of report labels sought to address factors such as patients' perceptions of their mental health conditions, priorities, and existing comorbidities. The inclusion of additional questions also addressed providers' need for more comprehensive and clinically relevant information, as did changes to which data were displayed and how the report was designed. Adaptations implemented also responded to key aspects of the structure, mission, and culture of the CSC programs. For example, the CSC team-based approach to care necessitated the option of sharing the report across providers, whereas the option to review the report collaboratively with participants during a session aligned with SDM. This adaptation to share the report with other providers and patients, as well as the inclusion of patients' perceptions of the impact of symptoms on functioning, may be particularly important to counteract the potential tendency of any one provider to narrowly interpret or selectively focus on certain data, given their particular role, background, or training. Although not fully eliminating factors such as providers' information selection bias, incorporating patients' ratings of functioning and having multiple individuals review and discuss the report, including the patients themselves, may help bridge the gap between what patients and any one provider might perceive as important, relevant, or possible, potentially enhancing SDM.

Adaptations that were suggested but not incorporated most frequently reflected suggestions to collect additional patient information, facilitate patients' access to their own data, or change the timing of the intervention components. The fact that the rationales for suggesting these adaptations, which were ultimately not made, were generally similar to the those for implemented adaptations indicates that the adaptation decision-making process—whether to adapt or not—did not appear to exhibit a systematic bias (eg, consistently rejecting adaptations reflecting participant-level compared with

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41482
```

provider-level factors). Suggested adaptations were not incorporated into the intervention when the research team deemed that they were outside of the current aims or scope of the trial, potentially compromised core components or mechanisms or that they presented a feasibility challenge such as insufficient resources to implement an adaptation in the context of a pilot trial or increased complexity.

The tracking of adaptations not made further helps to highlight key dilemmas that may frequently emerge when deliberating mHealth adaptations within clinical care. For example, in this study, researchers had to weigh the potential benefit of the providers' suggestion that participant engagement could be encouraged by including more positively worded statements or open-ended questions in the app against the potential drawback of increased time required to complete questionnaires, which might discourage participant engagement. Ultimately, the decision was made to not include these extra questions, given that the potential net impact on engagement was unclear. In addition, it hindered the study's ability to expeditiously produce short 1-page clinician reports by having to process and include additional items and free text entries, which would also potentially increase the amount of time that clinicians would need to review a more complex report. Such deliberations illustrate how decision-makers may have to discern how best to balance factors such as the desire to potentially create a more engaging app while not sacrificing feasibility by inadvertently creating an excessive time burden for patients or clinicians. Future studies can further identify the information that decision-makers consider when weighing these factors and explore the feasibility of empirically pretesting different iterations of an intervention when the evidence to support an adaptation decision is unclear. For example, with adequate time and resources, 2 versions of an app could be tested—one with and one without the positive and open-ended questions-providing an empirical basis upon which to accept or reject this suggestion, depending on the respective rates of participant engagement. Overall, tracking adaptations not made provides greater insight into the dilemmas and decision-making processes of intervention adaptation while also offering concrete suggestions that can be considered for future refinement of similar mHealth interventions. Proposing preliminary categories for reasons why adaptations are not made represented the first step toward providing guidelines to standardize this process.

Overall, health care systems and workflows often vary dramatically, necessitating consideration of whether to integrate uniform and standardized interventions or shape interventions around specific aspects of local contexts, for example, the needs, preferences, and training backgrounds of providers in any setting. Adapting interventions to certain contexts and providers may yield several benefits, such as increased intervention uptake, satisfaction, and effectiveness. However, the challenges in engaging in the process of intervention adaptation include the extra time, resources, and expertise required to solicit stakeholder input and make adaptations. By illustrating some of the tools and rapid approaches used in this study, we seek to help minimize some of these challenges.

XSL•FO RenderX

Limitations

This study has several limitations. Although CSC providers with different clinical roles were interviewed, the inclusion of other provider roles representing nonclinical staff (eg, peer specialist and supported employment specialist) could have vielded additional information relevant to adaptation, particularly given the team-based approach of CSC programs. The inclusion of CSC patients was originally planned as part of stakeholder interviews (to be published in a separate manuscript); however, the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic and the enactment of social distancing mandates coincided with the start of the study and interfered with patient data collection. Given that implementation barriers identified by patients and providers can be different, the inclusion of CSC patients would likely have identified additional suggestions that either expanded upon or potentially conflicted with the feedback offered by providers. Future studies, including our pilot trial of the developed FREEDoM app, which includes both stakeholder perspectives, can also offer insights into how best to balance or reconcile suggested adaptations that differ or conflict between patients and providers. Nevertheless, by soliciting CSC clinicians' perspectives, this study addressed a key gap in the literature regarding providers' information needs and strategies that may promote mHealth integration into early psychosis treatment. This gap is particularly important to address given the overarching concerns regarding providers' buy-in for, and use of, patient-generated data in health care more broadly [40]. In addition, although our study contributes to the current understanding of provider preferences regarding MBC within early psychosis treatment and how to deploy mHealth technologies, it represents only an initial step, with much work remaining to identify the factors that influence long-term implementation, acceptability, and sustainability.

By virtue of the research objective, identified adaptations reflect the context of participating CSC programs and the scope of a subsequent clinical trial seeking to provide clinicians with patient information that may impact pharmacological treatment decisions. However, CSC is an established evidence-based practice with well-articulated core components that may support broader applicability of our findings, including a team-based approach, a wide range of multidisciplinary services (eg, psychotherapy, pharmacotherapy, and primary care coordination; supported employment and education; family education and support; and case management), and person-centered, recovery-oriented treatment that emphasizes SDM. In addition, although all 3 CSC study sites were in urban areas and had their fidelity to the model monitored, adaptations were uniform across sites despite variability along other key dimensions, such as the type of organization operating the program (eg, affiliated with a community-based nonprofit organization vs a hospital), aspects of population served (eg, ratio of more newly enrolled CSC patients to more established patients), and psychiatric or medical staffing (eg, nurse practitioner or psychiatrist, one or multiple psychiatric providers on team). Although this suggests the potential for broader generalizability of findings across CSCs, the adaptations may not be applicable for settings using mHealth data for a different purpose or to CSC programs that substantially depart from the model's core functions and components, particularly those that may not adopt the recovery-oriented, person-centered, and SDM approaches that drove many of the adaptations suggested in this study. Finally, the study focused on adaptations suggested before intervention implementation; therefore, results from ongoing clinical trials are needed to evaluate the implementation and effectiveness of the developed mHealth intervention.

Conclusions

This study illustrates a pragmatic and rapid application of the FRAME to track provider-suggested adaptations to FREEDoM, a novel mHealth intervention app, and its implementation within "real-world" FEP treatment programs. The methodology used in this study offers a rigorous, iterative, and rapid approach to solicit, analyze, and incorporate qualitative stakeholder inputs for the development and adaptation of clinical interventions. Systematic tracking of suggested adaptations, including which adaptations were ultimately not implemented (and why), is essential to understanding and enhancing key implementation indicators such as intervention fit, feasibility, and acceptability while also increasing transparency and accountability in the adaptation decision-making processes. The FREEDoM app seeks to enhance the therapeutic relationship and improve SDM between patients with FEP and their treatment teams. Future studies should characterize relevant clinical findings, including measures of therapeutic relationships and SDM.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the National Institute of Mental Health (grant P50MH115843). The authors would like to thank the individuals and coordinated specialty care sites that participated in this study.

Authors' Contributions

DK, TSS, LJC, and AS conceptualized and designed the study. RTR, XX, and RB assisted with data collection, visualization, and coordination. AS, RTR, LJC, TSS, and DK analyzed and interpreted the qualitative data. AS and RTR drafted the initial manuscript, and SS, IL, LJC, TSS, and DK provided the edits. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



Multimedia Appendix 1 Clinician qualitative interview. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 38 KB - mental_v9i11e41482_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Sample participant mobile health reports. [DOCX File , 255 KB - mental v9i11e41482 app2.docx]

References

- 1. Kane JM, Robinson DG, Schooler NR, Mueser KT, Penn DL, Rosenheck RA, et al. Comprehensive versus usual community care for first-episode psychosis: 2-year outcomes from the NIMH raise early treatment program. Am J Psychiatry 2016 Apr 01;173(4):362-372 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2015.15050632] [Medline: 26481174]
- McGorry PD. Early intervention in psychosis: obvious, effective, overdue. J Nerv Ment Dis 2015 May;203(5):310-318 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000000284] [Medline: 25919380]
- 3. Dixon LB, Stroup TS. Medications for first-episode psychosis: making a good start. Am J Psychiatry 2015 Mar 01;172(3):209-211. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.14111465] [Medline: 25727529]
- Robinson DG, Schooler NR, John M, Correll CU, Marcy P, Addington J, et al. Prescription practices in the treatment of first-episode schizophrenia spectrum disorders: data from the national RAISE-ETP study. Am J Psychiatry 2015 Mar 01;172(3):237-248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.13101355] [Medline: 25727536]
- 5. Aboraya A, Nasrallah HA, Elswick DE, Ahmed E, Estephan N, Aboraya D, et al. Measurement-based care in psychiatry-past, present, and future. Innov Clin Neurosci 2018 Nov 01;15(11-12):13-26 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>30834167</u>]
- Lewis CC, Boyd M, Puspitasari A, Navarro E, Howard J, Kassab H, et al. Implementing measurement-based care in behavioral health: a review. JAMA Psychiatry 2019 Mar 01;76(3):324-335 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.3329] [Medline: 30566197]
- Blum LH, Vakhrusheva J, Saperstein A, Khan S, Chang RW, Hansen MC, et al. Depressed mood in individuals with schizophrenia: a comparison of retrospective and real-time measures. Psychiatry Res 2015 Jun 30;227(2-3):318-323 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.03.008] [Medline: 25895490]
- Kimhy D, Delespaul P, Ahn H, Cai S, Shikhman M, Lieberman JA, et al. Concurrent measurement of "real-world" stress and arousal in individuals with psychosis: assessing the feasibility and validity of a novel methodology. Schizophr Bull 2010 Nov;36(6):1131-1139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp028] [Medline: 19429846]
- Kimhy D, Delespaul P, Corcoran C, Ahn H, Yale S, Malaspina D. Computerized experience sampling method (ESMc): assessing feasibility and validity among individuals with schizophrenia. J Psychiatr Res 2006 Apr;40(3):221-230 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2005.09.007] [Medline: 16300791]
- 10. Abdel-Baki A, Lal S, D-Charron O, Stip E, Kara N. Understanding access and use of technology among youth with first-episode psychosis to inform the development of technology-enabled therapeutic interventions. Early Interv Psychiatry 2017 Feb;11(1):72-76. [doi: 10.1111/eip.12250] [Medline: 26011657]
- Greenland-White SE, Ragland JD, Niendam TA, Ferrer E, Carter CS. Episodic memory functions in first episode psychosis and clinical high risk individuals. Schizophr Res 2017 Oct;188:151-157 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.01.035] [Medline: 28143678]
- Kimhy D, Lister A, Liu Y, Vakhrusheva J, Delespaul P, Malaspina D, et al. The impact of emotion awareness and regulation on psychotic symptoms during daily functioning. NPJ Schizophr 2020 Mar 24;6(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41537-020-0096-6] [Medline: <u>32210232</u>]
- Kimhy D, Myin-Germeys I, Palmier-Claus J, Swendsen J. Mobile assessment guide for research in schizophrenia and severe mental disorders. Schizophr Bull 2012 May;38(3):386-395 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbr186] [Medline: 22287280]
- Kimhy D, Vakhrusheva J, Khan S, Chang RW, Hansen MC, Ballon JS, et al. Emotional granularity and social functioning in individuals with schizophrenia: an experience sampling study. J Psychiatr Res 2014 Jun;53:141-148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.01.020] [Medline: 24561000]
- 15. Vakhrusheva J, Khan S, Chang R, Hansen M, Ayanruoh L, Gross JJ, et al. Lexical analysis of emotional responses to "real-world" experiences in individuals with schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 2020 Feb;216:272-278 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2019.11.045] [Medline: 31839556]
- Torous J, Andersson G, Bertagnoli A, Christensen H, Cuijpers P, Firth J, et al. Towards a consensus around standards for smartphone apps and digital mental health. World Psychiatry 2019 Feb;18(1):97-98 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20592] [Medline: 30600619]
- Torous J, Wisniewski H, Liu G, Keshavan M. Mental health mobile phone app usage, concerns, and benefits among psychiatric outpatients: comparative survey study. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Nov 16;5(4):e11715 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11715] [Medline: 30446484]

- Ben-Zeev D, Brian RM, Jonathan G, Razzano L, Pashka N, Carpenter-Song E, et al. Mobile health (mHealth) versus clinic-based group intervention for people with serious mental illness: a randomized controlled trial. Psychiatr Serv 2018 Sep 01;69(9):978-985. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201800063] [Medline: 29793397]
- Ben-Zeev D, Kaiser SM, Brenner CJ, Begale M, Duffecy J, Mohr DC. Development and usability testing of FOCUS: a smartphone system for self-management of schizophrenia. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2013 Dec;36(4):289-296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/prj0000019] [Medline: 24015913]
- 20. Ben-Zeev D, Scherer EA, Gottlieb JD, Rotondi AJ, Brunette MF, Achtyes ED, et al. mHealth for schizophrenia: patient engagement with a mobile phone intervention following hospital discharge. JMIR Ment Health 2016 Jul 27;3(3):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.6348] [Medline: 27465803]
- Ben-Zeev D, Chander A, Tauscher J, Buck B, Nepal S, Campbell A, et al. A smartphone intervention for people with serious mental illness: fully remote randomized controlled trial of CORE. J Med Internet Res 2021 Nov 12;23(11):e29201 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/29201] [Medline: 34766913]
- 22. Berry N, Machin M, Ainsworth J, Berry K, Edge D, Haddock G, et al. Developing a theory-informed smartphone app for early psychosis: learning points from a multidisciplinary collaboration. Front Psychiatry 2020;11:602861 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.602861] [Medline: 33362612]
- 23. Vaessen T, Steinhart H, Batink T, Klippel A, Van Nierop M, Reininghaus U, et al. ACT in daily life in early psychosis: an ecological momentary intervention approach. Psychosis 2019 Mar 19;11(2):93-104. [doi: 10.1080/17522439.2019.1578401]
- 24. Ahmed A, Ali N, Giannicchi A, Abd-alrazaq A, Ahmed M, Aziz S, et al. Mobile applications for mental health self-care: a scoping review. Comput Methods Programs Biomed Update 2021;1:100041 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cmpbup.2021.100041]
- 25. Batra S, Baker R, Wang T, Forma F, DiBiasi F, Peters-Strickland T. Digital health technology for use in patients with serious mental illness: a systematic review of the literature. Med Devices (Auckl) 2017 Oct;10:237-251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/MDER.S144158] [Medline: 29042823]
- 26. Bell IH, Alvarez-Jimenez M. Digital technology to enhance clinical care of early psychosis. Curr Treat Options Psych 2019 Jul 11;6(3):256-270. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40501-019-00182-y</u>]
- Jameel L, Valmaggia L, Barnes G, Cella M. mHealth technology to assess, monitor and treat daily functioning difficulties in people with severe mental illness: a systematic review. J Psychiatr Res 2021 Nov 24;145:35-49. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.11.033] [Medline: 34856524]
- 28. Larsen ME, Huckvale K, Nicholas J, Torous J, Birrell L, Li E, et al. Using science to sell apps: evaluation of mental health app store quality claims. NPJ Digit Med 2019;2:18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0093-1] [Medline: 31304366]
- Alvarez-Jimenez M, Bendall S, Koval P, Rice S, Cagliarini D, Valentine L, et al. HORYZONS trial: protocol for a randomised controlled trial of a moderated online social therapy to maintain treatment effects from first-episode psychosis services. BMJ Open 2019 Feb 19;9(2):e024104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-024104] [Medline: 30782893]
- Buck B, Hallgren KA, Campbell AT, Choudhury T, Kane JM, Ben-Zeev D. mHealth-assisted detection of precursors to relapse in schizophrenia. Front Psychiatry 2021;12:642200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.642200] [Medline: 34135781]
- 31. Eisner E, Drake RJ, Berry N, Barrowclough C, Emsley R, Machin M, et al. Development and long-term acceptability of ExPRESS, a mobile phone app to monitor basic symptoms and early signs of psychosis relapse. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2019 Mar 29;7(3):e11568 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11568] [Medline: 30924789]
- He-Yueya J, Buck B, Campbell A, Choudhury T, Kane JM, Ben-Zeev D, et al. Assessing the relationship between routine and schizophrenia symptoms with passively sensed measures of behavioral stability. NPJ Schizophr 2020 Nov 23;6(1):35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41537-020-00123-2] [Medline: 33230099]
- 33. Fiorillo A, Barlati S, Bellomo A, Corrivetti G, Nicolò G, Sampogna G, et al. The role of shared decision-making in improving adherence to pharmacological treatments in patients with schizophrenia: a clinical review. Ann Gen Psychiatry 2020 Aug 05;19(1):43 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12991-020-00293-4] [Medline: 32774442]
- Stovell D, Morrison AP, Panayiotou M, Hutton P. Shared treatment decision-making and empowerment-related outcomes in psychosis: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry 2016 Jul;209(1):23-28. [doi: <u>10.1192/bjp.bp.114.158931</u>] [Medline: <u>27198483</u>]
- Bär Deucher A, Hengartner MP, Kawohl W, Konrad J, Puschner B, Clarke E, CEDAR study group. Participation in medical decision-making across Europe: an international longitudinal multicenter study. Eur Psychiatry 2016 May;35:39-46. [doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.02.001] [Medline: 27061376]
- Loos S, Arnold K, Slade M, Jordan H, Del Vecchio V, Sampogna G, CEDAR study group. Courses of helping alliance in the treatment of people with severe mental illness in Europe: a latent class analytic approach. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2015 Mar;50(3):363-370. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00127-014-0963-4</u>] [Medline: <u>25242154</u>]
- 37. Matthias MS, Salyers MP, Rollins AL, Frankel RM. Decision making in recovery-oriented mental health care. Psychiatr Rehabil J 2012;35(4):305-314 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2975/35.4.2012.305.314] [Medline: 22491370]
- 38. O'Sullivan MJ, Rae S. Shared decision making in psychiatric medicines management. Mental Health Pract 2014 May 09;17(8):16-22. [doi: 10.7748/mhp2014.05.17.8.16.e889]

- Zielasek J, Reinhardt I, Schmidt L, Gouzoulis-Mayfrank E. Adapting and implementing apps for mental healthcare. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2022 Sep;24(9):407-417 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11920-022-01350-3] [Medline: 35835898]
- 40. Lavallee DC, Lee JR, Austin E, Bloch R, Lawrence SO, McCall D, et al. mHealth and patient generated health data: stakeholder perspectives on opportunities and barriers for transforming healthcare. mHealth 2020;6:8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2019.09.17] [Medline: 32190619]
- 41. McClelland GT, Fitzgerald M. A participatory mobile application (app) development project with mental health service users and clinicians. Health Educ J 2018 Jun 05;77(7):815-827. [doi: 10.1177/0017896918773790]
- 42. Ferrer-Wreder L, Sundell K, Mansoory S. Tinkering with perfection: theory development in the intervention cultural adaptation field. Child Youth Care Forum 2011 Dec 25;41(2):149-171. [doi: 10.1007/s10566-011-9162-6]
- 43. Proctor E, Silmere H, Raghavan R, Hovmand P, Aarons G, Bunger A, et al. Outcomes for implementation research: conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. Adm Policy Ment Health 2011 Mar;38(2):65-76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10488-010-0319-7] [Medline: 20957426]
- 44. Powell BJ, Waltz TJ, Chinman MJ, Damschroder LJ, Smith JL, Matthieu MM, et al. A refined compilation of implementation strategies: results from the Expert Recommendations for Implementing Change (ERIC) project. Implement Sci 2015 Feb 12;10:21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-015-0209-1] [Medline: 25889199]
- 45. Chambers DA, Norton WE. The Adaptome: advancing the science of intervention adaptation. Am J Prev Med 2016 Oct;51(4 Suppl 2):S124-S131 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.05.011] [Medline: 27371105]
- 46. Wiltsey Stirman S, Baumann AA, Miller CJ. The FRAME: an expanded framework for reporting adaptations and modifications to evidence-based interventions. Implement Sci 2019 Jun 06;14(1):58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-019-0898-y] [Medline: 31171014]
- 47. Stirman SW, Miller CJ, Toder K, Calloway A. Development of a framework and coding system for modifications and adaptations of evidence-based interventions. Implement Sci 2013 Jun 10;8:65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-8-65] [Medline: 23758995]
- Mascayano F, Nossel I, Bello I, Smith T, Ngo H, Piscitelli S, et al. Understanding the implementation of coordinated specialty Care for Early Psychosis in New York state: a guide using the RE-AIM framework. Early Interv Psychiatry 2019 Jun;13(3):715-719. [doi: 10.1111/eip.12782] [Medline: 30672144]
- 49. Read H, Kohrt BA. The history of coordinated specialty care for early intervention in psychosis in the united states: a review of effectiveness, implementation, and fidelity. Community Ment Health J 2022 Jul;58(5):835-846. [doi: 10.1007/s10597-021-00891-w] [Medline: 34519947]
- 50. Bello I, Lee R, Malinovsky I, Watkins L, Nossel I, Smith T, et al. OnTrackNY: the development of a coordinated specialty care program for individuals experiencing early psychosis. Psychiatr Serv 2017 Apr 01;68(4):318-320 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201600512] [Medline: 27973999]
- 51. Abraham T, Van Tiem J. Using qualitative summary templates and matrix displays to assess factors that impact the pace of implementation. U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. 2021 Oct 6. URL: <u>https://www.hsrd.research.va.gov/for_researchers/</u> cyber_seminars/archives/video_archive.cfm?SessionID=3996 [accessed 2022-05-02]
- 52. Averill JB. Matrix analysis as a complementary analytic strategy in qualitative inquiry. Qual Health Res 2002 Jul;12(6):855-866. [doi: 10.1177/104973230201200611] [Medline: 12109729]
- 53. Gale RC, Wu J, Erhardt T, Bounthavong M, Reardon CM, Damschroder LJ, et al. Comparison of rapid vs in-depth qualitative analytic methods from a process evaluation of academic detailing in the veterans health administration. Implement Sci 2019 Feb 01;14(1):11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-019-0853-y] [Medline: 30709368]
- 54. Creswell JW, Creswell JD. Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches. 5th edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2018.
- 55. Padgett D. Qualitative and Mixed Methods in Public Health. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2011.

Abbreviations

CSC: coordinated specialty care ESM: experience sampling method FEP: first-episode psychosis FRAME: Framework for Reporting Adaptations and Modifications - Enhanced FREEDoM: First Episode Digital Monitoring MBC: measurement-based care mHealth: mobile health RCT: randomized controlled trial SDM: shared decision-making



Edited by J Torous; submitted 25.08.22; peer-reviewed by T Wykes, D Ben-Zeev; comments to author 31.08.22; revised version received 16.09.22; accepted 19.09.22; published 04.11.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Stefancic A, Rogers RT, Styke S, Xu X, Buchsbaum R, Nossel I, Cabassa LJ, Stroup TS, Kimhy D Development of the First Episode Digital Monitoring mHealth Intervention for People With Early Psychosis: Qualitative Interview Study With Clinicians JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e41482 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41482 doi:10.2196/41482 PMID:36331539

©Ana Stefancic, R Tyler Rogers, Sarah Styke, Xiaoyan Xu, Richard Buchsbaum, Ilana Nossel, Leopoldo J Cabassa, T Scott Stroup, David Kimhy. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 04.11.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Implementation of e–Mental Health Interventions for Informal Caregivers of Adults With Chronic Diseases: Mixed Methods Systematic Review With a Qualitative Comparative Analysis and Thematic Synthesis

Chelsea Coumoundouros¹, MScPH; Erika Mårtensson^{1,2}, MSc; Giulia Ferraris³, MSc; Justine Margaux Zuidberg⁴, MSc; Louise von Essen¹, PhD; Robbert Sanderman^{3,5}, PhD; Joanne Woodford¹, PhD

Corresponding Author:

Chelsea Coumoundouros, MScPH Healthcare Sciences and e-Health Department of Women's and Children's Health Uppsala University MTC-huset: Dag Hammarskjölds väg 14B, 1 tr Uppsala, 751 85 Sweden Phone: 46 729 999 211 Email: chelsea.coumoundouros@kbh.uu.se

Abstract

Background: Informal caregivers commonly experience mental health difficulties related to their caregiving role. e–Mental health interventions provide mental health support in a format that may be more accessible to informal caregivers. However, e–mental health interventions are seldom implemented in real-world practice.

Objective: This mixed methods systematic review aimed to examine factors associated with the effectiveness and implementation of e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers of adults with chronic diseases. To achieve this aim, two approaches were adopted: combinations of implementation and intervention characteristics sufficient for intervention effectiveness were explored using qualitative comparative analysis, and barriers to and facilitators of implementation of e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers were explored using thematic synthesis.

Methods: We identified relevant studies published from January 1, 2007, to July 6, 2022, by systematically searching 6 electronic databases and various secondary search strategies. Included studies reported on the effectiveness or implementation of e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers of adults with cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, dementia, diabetes, heart disease, or stroke. Randomized controlled trials reporting on caregivers' mental health outcomes were included in a crisp-set qualitative comparative analysis. We assessed randomized controlled trials for bias using the Risk of Bias 2.0 tool, and we assessed how pragmatic or explanatory their trial design was using the Pragmatic Explanatory Continuum Indicator Summary 2 tool. Studies of any design reporting on implementation were included in a thematic synthesis using the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research to identify barriers to and facilitators of implementation.

Results: Overall, 53 reports, representing 29 interventions, were included in the review. Most interventions (27/29, 93%) focused on informal cancer or dementia caregivers. In total, 14 reports were included in the qualitative comparative analysis, exploring conditions including the presence of peer or professional support and key persuasive design features. Low consistency and coverage prevented the determination of condition sets sufficient for intervention effectiveness. Overall, 44 reports were included in the thematic synthesis, and 152 barriers and facilitators were identified, with the majority related to the intervention and individual characteristic domains of the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research. Implementation barriers and

¹Healthcare Sciences and e-Health, Department of Women's and Children's Health, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

²Centre for Gender Research, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

³Department of Health Psychology, University Medical Center Groningen, University of Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands

⁴Department of Women's and Children's Health, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

⁵Department of Psychology, Health and Technology, University of Twente, Enschede, Netherlands

facilitators in the inner setting (eg, organizational culture) and outer setting (eg, external policies and resources) domains were largely unexplored.

Conclusions: e–Mental health interventions for informal caregivers tend to be well-designed, with several barriers to and facilitators of implementation identified related to the intervention and individual user characteristics. Future work should focus on exploring the views of stakeholders involved in implementation to determine barriers to and facilitators of implementing e–mental health interventions for informal caregivers, focusing on inner and outer setting barriers and facilitators.

Trial Registration: PROSPERO (International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews) CRD42020155727; https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?ID=CRD42020155727

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.1136/bmjopen-2019-035406

(JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e41891) doi:10.2196/41891

KEYWORDS

informal caregivers; e-mental health; implementation; chronic diseases; systematic review; thematic synthesis; qualitative comparative analysis; Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research

Introduction

Background

Informal caregivers provide essential care and support to individuals with chronic diseases such as cancer and dementia [1,2]. Health care systems rely on informal caregivers to provide a significant portion of the care that individuals with long-term care needs receive [3]. The number of people needed to take on an informal care role is anticipated to increase in the future, as formal care is increasingly shifting to community-based settings [4-6]. Despite the significant societal value of informal care, the informal caregiving role can be a source of burden to informal caregivers [1,2,7,8]. Providing informal care often impacts informal caregivers' mental health, with informal caregivers reporting worse mental health compared with noncaregivers [7,9]. Meta-analyses have estimated the prevalence of depression among dementia and cancer caregivers to be at 31% [10] and 42% [11], respectively. This is substantially higher than that in the general adult population, in which the prevalence of depression has been estimated to be approximately 8% [12,13].

Despite the prevalence of mental health difficulties among informal caregivers, some evidence suggests that few informal caregivers access mental health support [14,15]. Informal caregivers may not seek mental health support because of common access barriers such as stigma and negative views of mental health interventions [16]. However, informal caregivers can experience additional barriers related to the caregiving role, such as competing demands, limited time available for self-care, lack of awareness of available support, and feelings of guilt for seeking support for themselves instead of focusing on the person they are caring for [16-19]. Delivering mental health interventions using internet-based technologies, referred to as e-mental health interventions [20,21], may improve access to mental health support [22,23]. e-Mental health interventions offer flexible access to mental health support by eliminating the need for informal caregivers to spend time traveling to appointments and can often be used according to the informal caregiver's schedule [24].

e-Mental Health Effectiveness and Implementation

e–Mental health interventions can be effective for informal caregivers [25,26]; however, implementation challenges often prevent the integration of e–mental health interventions into practice [27-30]. Implementation challenges span many levels, including factors related to policy (eg, difficulty in navigating regulations), organizations (eg, lack of infrastructure or lack of training), and individual characteristics (eg, negative attitudes and beliefs about e–mental health) [29,31,32]. Evidence suggests that only 3% of evidence-based psychosocial interventions for informal dementia caregivers are translated into practice [30]. Other research suggests that eHealth and e–mental health interventions for dementia caregivers are generally not implementation ready [28].

Currently, the evidence base regarding e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers focuses on intervention effectiveness and efficacy [25,33-38]. Consequently, little is known regarding factors related to the intervention and implementation context that are important to ensure e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers remain effective when implemented. Pragmatic trials may provide more insights into which factors influence intervention effectiveness, given that they are designed to reflect the conditions under which an intervention would be implemented in real-world settings [39]. However, systematic reviews often do not distinguish between evidence derived from pragmatic or explanatory (ie, efficacy) trials [40,41]. Identifying pragmatic trials and examining the conditions under which an intervention was evaluated may provide useful insights into the factors that should be considered when implementing interventions in practice.

Although the literature identifies several barriers to the implementation of e-mental health interventions in real-world settings [28,42-44], few reviews have focused on barriers to and facilitators of implementing eHealth interventions for informal caregivers [27,45-47]. To the best of our knowledge, no review has focused specifically on the implementation of e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers. However, considering contextual factors that may influence intervention effectiveness and implementation is vital for developing interventions optimized for implementation in real-world practice [48]. Implementation is influenced by a variety of

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891
```

XSL•FO RenderX

contextual factors that many frameworks seek to define [49,50]. The widely used Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR) groups factors that influence implementation within five domains: (1) intervention characteristics (eg, the source of the intervention); (2) the outer setting (eg, external policies and incentives); (3) the inner setting (eg, culture of the implementation setting); (4) individual characteristics (eg, knowledge and beliefs about the intervention); and (5) the implementation process) [51]. Consideration of each domain is important for improving our understanding of key factors that influence the implementation of e–mental health interventions for informal caregivers.

Aims

This review adopted two approaches to examine factors related to the effectiveness and implementation of e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers of adults with chronic diseases: (1) a crisp-set qualitative comparative analysis (QCA) to explore the combinations of intervention and implementation characteristics (eg, provision of support) that are sufficient for intervention effectiveness and (2) a thematic synthesis to identify barriers to and facilitators of the implementation of e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers.

Methods

Overview

The protocol for this mixed methods systematic review has been published [52] and reporting follows guidelines defined by PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses; Multimedia Appendix 1) [53] and PRISMA-S (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses-literature search extension; Multimedia Appendix 1) [54], the extension to the PRISMA Statement for Reporting Literature Searches in Systematic Reviews. This review was prospectively registered in PROSPERO (International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews; CRD42020155727). Full details of the methods can be found in the published protocol [52].

Selection Criteria

Selection criteria were defined based on the PICOS (population, intervention, comparators, outcomes, study designs) approach [55,56].

Population

Informal adult caregivers (aged ≥ 18 years) provide unpaid care to adults with cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, dementia, diabetes, heart disease, or stroke. These chronic diseases were selected because they are globally responsible for a significant proportion of disability-adjusted life years due to chronic physical diseases [57] and commonly involve informal care [58,59]. Studies were excluded if they exclusively focused on caregivers who were (1) experiencing severe mental health difficulties, (2) caring for individuals who were non–community dwelling, or (3) caring for an individual near the end of life.

Intervention

e-Mental health interventions were defined as those using internet-based technology; for example, web-based platforms or mobile-based apps [21,60]. Interventions designed to target the treatment of common psychological health difficulties (eg, caregiver anxiety, depression, psychological distress, and stress) were included in the review. Any type of mental health treatment, including active or passive psychoeducation [61], was eligible for inclusion. Therapeutic materials had to primarily be delivered using internet-based technology. However, support may have been provided using any delivery mode such as telephone, videoconferencing, or face-to-face contact. Interventions delivering therapeutic materials exclusively using videoconferencing technologies, telephone, or email were excluded.

Comparators

For the QCA, which incorporates intervention effectiveness (eg, effect sizes) into the analysis, randomized controlled trials (RCTs) with nonactive controls [62] (eg, usual care, waitlist control, or information on the health condition of the care recipient) were included. For the thematic synthesis exploring barriers to and facilitators of implementation, studies with any design, regardless of the presence or absence of any control type, were included.

Outcomes

RCTs included in the QCA reported quantitative data on caregivers' mental health, specifically anxiety, depression, psychological distress, and stress. Outcome measures were required to have at least acceptable reliability (Cronbach $\alpha \ge .7$; Multimedia Appendix 2 [51,63-72]). Studies included in the thematic synthesis reported barriers to or facilitators of implementation and included either quantitative (eg, questionnaires) or qualitative (eg, interviews or focus groups) data. Barriers to and facilitators of implementation were defined as any aspect related to the CFIR framework [51] (Multimedia Appendix 2) or the implementation outcomes framework, which classifies implementation outcomes related to acceptability, adoption. feasibility, fidelity, appropriateness, reach, implementation cost, and sustainability [73]. Papers describing the development or initial usability of an intervention were included only if it was clear that the intervention was an e-mental health intervention and all other inclusion criteria were met (eg, the paper reported on factors within the CFIR or implementation outcomes, such as acceptability).

Study Designs

For the QCA, only RCTs were eligible for inclusion. For thematic synthesis, studies with any type of design (eg, case study or process evaluation) were eligible.

Search Strategy

Electronic database searches were conducted in CINAHL Plus with Full Text, the Cochrane Library, Embase, PsycINFO, PubMed, and Web of Science databases. Additional searches were conducted in clinical trial registries [74,75] and OpenGrey [76] to identify relevant trial registries and gray literature (eg, research reports).



The literature search was constructed based on terms related to the following PICOS criteria: (1) informal caregivers (eg, caregiver, caregiver, spouse, and partner); (2) chronic diseases targeted in this review (eg, dementia, Alzheimer disease, cancer, stroke, diabetes, or cardiovascular disease); (3) technology (eg, internet, app, or eHealth); (4) mental health (eg, depression, anxiety, or stress); and (5) therapy (eg, psychoeducation or counseling, intervention). A librarian was consulted when constructing the search strategy, and the search strategy was peer reviewed by 2 researchers with experience conducting reviews in similar fields according to the Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategies peer review guidelines [77]. The full search strategy for PubMed is provided in Multimedia Appendix 2, and the search strategies used for all databases and Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategies peer review feedback can be found in the protocol [52].

Studies published between January 1, 2007, and July 6, 2022, were eligible for inclusion. Studies in languages other than English, Dutch, German, or Swedish were excluded.

Forward and backward citation screening was conducted for all included studies, in addition to screening the first 3 pages of the *similar articles* function in PubMed. Experts in the field (n=16) were also contacted for recommendations of studies to be included in the review.

Study Selection

Database searches were deduplicated using EndNote X9 (Clarivate) [78] and imported into Rayyan [79] to facilitate independent screening of all records by 2 reviewers (CC and EM, GF, or JMZ). Following title and abstract screening, the full texts of all remaining records were checked for eligibility against all elements of the PICOS selection criteria. Conflicts during the screening process were resolved by discussion, and a third reviewer (JW) was consulted as needed. Authors were contacted, at most, twice if more information was needed to determine eligibility. Abstracts, theses, books, commentaries, editorials, and letters-to-the-editor were excluded because of resource limitations. Reviews, trial registries, and protocols were not included; however, (1) references of relevant reviews were screened for studies of interest to the review, (2) published results of relevant trial registries and protocols were sought, and (3) unpublished results from relevant trial registries and protocols were sought from the authors if published results were not yet available. Secondary search strategies (eg, citation screening) were conducted by CC.

Records retrieved from an updated search for papers published between October 2021 and July 2022 (1858 deduplicated records) were screened by only 1 reviewer (CC).

Data Extraction

Data from the included reports related to (1) study characteristics, (2) participant characteristics, (3) intervention characteristics, and (4) study outcomes were extracted using an Excel spreadsheet (version 2016; Microsoft Corporation). The type of support provided by each intervention was classified based on an adapted version of existing support taxonomies [63,64] (Multimedia Appendix 2). Two independent reviewers (CC and EM, GF, or JMZ) extracted quantitative data to evaluate

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891
```

effectiveness and data related to key intervention characteristics. All other data were extracted by 1 reviewer (CC) and confirmed to be accurate and complete by another reviewer (EM, GF, or JMZ). Data extracted from 6 reports found in the updated search were extracted only by 1 reviewer (CC). The original publication was referred to if differences in extractions were identified, followed by a discussion among reviewers, involving a third reviewer (JW), if needed. Reports with data related to implementation were imported into NVivo (version 1.5.1; QSR International) [80].

Risk of Bias

The Cochrane Risk of Bias 2.0 tool [81] was used to assess the quality of all included RCTs. The robvis web-based tool was used to visualize the risk-of-bias assessment [82].

Scoring was performed by 2 independent reviewers (CC and EM or Oscar Blomberg), followed by a discussion to reach consensus. As required, a third reviewer (JW) was involved in the discussion.

Pragmatic Explanatory Continuum Indicator Summary 2 Tool Scoring

RCTs were assessed to determine how pragmatic they were; that is, how well the trial design reflected the real-world setting in which the intervention was likely to be placed. This was evaluated using the Pragmatic Explanatory Continuum Indicator Summary 2 (PRECIS-2) tool [39]. PRECIS-2 evaluated RCTs across 9 criteria. For each criterion, a study receives a score from 1 (very explanatory) to 5 (very pragmatic). Scoring was conducted by 2 independent reviewers (CC and Tasneem Ishrat or JW) followed by discussions to reach a consensus, involving a third reviewer (JW) when needed.

Data Analysis

Overview

A subset of reports included in the review were used for each analytic approach. The QCA included RCTs that evaluated the effectiveness of e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers. The thematic synthesis included reports on factors related to intervention implementation.

Qualitative Comparative Analysis

Overview

A crisp-set QCA [83] was conducted to explore the sets of conditions that were sufficient for interventions to be effective. QCA is well-suited to the study of complex interventions, such as e-mental health interventions, given that multiple solutions (ie, sets of conditions sufficient for intervention effectiveness) can be identified and contextual factors can be incorporated into the analysis [83,84]. A crisp-set QCA involves dichotomizing intervention outcomes and conditions, producing results that can be interpreted more easily by stakeholders [84]. Effectiveness was measured as the standardized mean difference between the mental health outcomes of the control and treatment groups' mental health outcomes, calculated using Hedges g and Comprehensive Meta-Analysis (version 3; Biostat Inc). Hedges g was determined for all mental health outcomes of interest in this review; however, only the RCT's primary mental health

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

outcome was used in the QCA. If RCTs did not identify a primary outcome, the Hedges g for depression scores, the most frequently reported mental health outcome, was used. Hedges g was calculated using data corresponding to the intention-to-treat or modified intention-to-treat analysis, when possible. Conditions explored in the QCA could be related to intervention (eg, provision of professional support) or implementation (eg, provision of training) characteristics.

Data Table

To complete the data table for the crisp-set QCA, intervention effectiveness and conditions were dichotomized. To dichotomize effect sizes, interventions were classified as effective (Hedges $g \ge 0.3$) or not effective (Hedges g < 0.3). The cutoff used to categorize study effectiveness was based on meta-analyses of e-mental health interventions [85-88]. Conditions were classified as being either present or absent.

Truth Table

Truth tables were created to display (1) all potential combinations of conditions used in an analysis, (2) how many interventions had each combination of conditions, and (3) how many interventions with a particular set of conditions were effective. Consistency and coverage scores of 0.75 were used to identify sets of conditions that could be used for Boolean minimization [89,90].

The software fs/QCA (version 3.0; University of California) was used to perform the analysis [91].

Thematic Synthesis

Overview

The thematic synthesis followed approaches adopted by relevant literature on using qualitative analyses to identify barriers to and facilitators of implementation [92,93]. Data related to implementation were primarily deductively coded using the CFIR. However, data that did not fit within the CFIR were inductively coded. Qualitative and quantitative implementation data were integrated by creating narrative summaries of quantitative data (if not described in the original report) and coding the narrative summary to the relevant CFIR constructs [94]. Initially, approximately 10% (n=4) of the reports included in this analysis were independently coded by 2 reviewers (CC and EM). This was followed by a discussion between 3 reviewers (CC, EM, and JW) to arrive at a shared understanding of the CFIR constructs. The remaining reports were coded by 1 reviewer (CC), with a regular discussion of coding decisions with another reviewer (JW or EM).

After initial deductive coding of data to the constructs within the CFIR, inductive coding was used within each construct to identify a preliminary list of implementation barriers and facilitators. The preliminary list of barriers and facilitators, with all supporting statements from included reports, was shared with a second reviewer (EM) for discussion. A revised set of barriers and facilitators was developed based on these discussions. The revised list of barriers and facilitators was reviewed a final time by a third reviewer (JW), leading to a final set of barriers and facilitators.

Professional Stakeholder Involvement

Professionals with expertise in the fields of eHealth and e-mental health (n=4) were consulted for feedback on the results of the thematic synthesis. Professional stakeholders reviewed identified barriers and facilitators and responded to written questions regarding which of the barriers and facilitators they had encountered in practice and what barriers and facilitators they had experienced that were not identified in this review.

Protocol Changes

After beginning the review process, the following modifications were made to the original protocol [52]:

- Originally, we planned to only include pragmatic RCTs, defined as RCTs with a mean score of ≥3 on the PRECIS-2 tool in the QCA. However, RCTs were not excluded on the basis of their PRECIS-2 scores, as planned, because of the low number of RCTs retrieved. Note that all RCTs included in the review met the planned PRECIS-2 cutoff score for inclusion; therefore, this change did not impact the inclusion or exclusion of any reports.
- After deductive coding of data to the CFIR was completed, only 1 reviewer, rather than 2, independently identified barriers and facilitators with each CFIR construct. However, the barriers and facilitators, with supporting statements initially identified by 1 reviewer (CC), were reviewed in detail by a second reviewer (EM) and were regularly discussed and reviewed by JW.
- The results of the thematic synthesis were only presented to professional stakeholders. Informal caregivers were excluded from the review.

Results

Overview

The database searches yielded 23,962 records (Figure 1). After duplicate records were removed (n=8192), titles and abstracts (n=15,770) were screened before full texts (n=273) were retrieved for eligibility screening. Seven included reports were identified using secondary search strategies (eg, backward and forward citation searching). In total, 53 reports (representing 29 interventions) were included in the review (see Multimedia Appendix 3 for a list of excluded studies). The QCA included 14 reports of RCTs, and the thematic synthesis included 44 reports. Five reports were included in both the QCA and thematic synthesis.



Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) flowchart of the study identification process. QCA: qualitative comparative analysis; RCT: randomized controlled trial.



Descriptive Characteristics

RCT Characteristics

The characteristics of the 14 reports of RCTs (14 interventions) are presented in Table 1. The RCTs included between 31 and 638 participants, with an overall attrition rate between 11% and

67%. Five RCTs included a follow-up observation point beyond the postintervention follow-up time point [65,95-98], and no RCT included a follow-up beyond 6 months after the intervention was completed. Depression was the most commonly measured mental health outcome (n=12), followed by anxiety (n=8), stress (n=6), and distress (n=1). General mental health was measured in 2 RCTs.



Table 1. Descriptive characteristics of randomized controlled trials (n=14).

Caregiver characteristics	Care recipient health condition	Type of control	Follow-up time points, and study attrition rates
Baruah et al [99], 2021; India			
 N=151 (I^a: 74, C^b: 77) Mean age (years)—I: 46.5 (SD 14.1), C: 42.2 (SD 11.9) Female I: 46% (34/74), C: 47% (36/77) Spouse I: 20% (15/74), C: 21% (16/77) Mean baseline mental health score (CES-D^c 10)—I: 10.3 (SD 5.1), C: 11.1 (SD 5.1) 	Dementia	Information	 Postintervention follow-up: I+C: 64% (96/151), I: 61% (45/74), C: 66% (51/77)
Blom et al [100], 2015; Netherlands			
 N=251 (I: 151; C: 100) Mean age (years)—I: 61.5 (SD 11.9), C: 60.8 (SD 13.1) Female—I: 70% (104/149), C: 69% (66/96) Spouse—I: 60% (89/149), C: 56% (54/96) Mean baseline mental health score (CES-D 20)—I: 17.9 (SD 9.1), C: 16.6 (SD 9.7) 	Dementia	Information	 Postintervention follow-up: I+C: 30% (76/251), I: 40% (61/151), C: 15% (15/100)
Bodschwinna et al [98], 2022; Germany			
 N=60 (I: 30, C: 30) Mean age (years): I: 47.7 (SD 8.9), C: 47.7 (SD 10.5) Female—I: 68% (23/30), C: 62% (18/29) Spouse—I: 100% (30/30), C: 100% (29/29) Mean baseline mental health score (PHQ-8^d): I: 8.9 (SD 4.8), C: 8.2 (SD 4.5) 	Cancer	WLC ^e	 Postintervention follow-up: I+C: 18% (11/60), I: 27% (8/30), C: 10% (3/30) 2-month follow-up: I+C: 30% (18/60), I: 33% (10/30), C: 27% (8/30)
Boots et al [101], 2018; Netherlands			
 N=81 (I: 41, C: 40) Mean age (years): I: 67.8 (SD 10.2) C: 70.2 (SD 10.1) Female—I: 71% (29/41), C: 60% (24/40) Spouse—I: 90% (37/41), C: 93% (37/40) Mean baseline mental health score (CES-D 20)—I: 13.1 (SD 8.7), C: 13.1 (SD 9.0) 	Dementia	WLC	 Postintervention follow-up: I+C: 16% (13/81), I: 24% (10/41), C: 8% (3/40)
Christancho-Lacroix et al [95], 2015; France			
 N=49 (I: 25, C: 24) Mean age (years)—I: 64.2 (SD 10.3), C: 59.0 (SD 12.4) Female—I: 64% (16/25), C: 67% (16/24) Child—I: 64% (16/25), C: 54% (13/24) Mean baseline mental health score (PSS^f-14)—I: 24.2 (SD 9.0), C: 24.5 (SD 6.7) 	Alzheimer disease	TAU ^g	 Postintervention follow-up: I+C: 18% (9/49), I: 20% (5/25), C: 17% (4/24) 3-month follow-up: I+C: 31% (15/49), I: 32% (8/25), C: 29% (7/24)

DuBenske et al [65], 2014; United States



Coumoundouros et al

Caregiver characteristics	Care recipient health condition	Type of control	Follow-up time points, and study attrition rates
 N=285^h (I: 144, C: 141) Mean age (years)—I: 56.6 (SD 12.9), C: 54.6 (SD 12.2) Female—I: 66% (82/124), C: 70% (86/122) Spouse—I: 73% (91/124), C: 70% (86/122) Mean baseline mental health score (negative moodⁱ)—I: 0.88 (SD 0.77), C: 1.1 (SD 0.88) 	Lung cancer	TAU and infor- mation	 Postintervention follow-up^j: I+C: 40% (115/285), I: 41% (59/144), C: 40% (56/141) 2-month follow-up^k: I+C: 49% (139/285), I: 48% (69/144), C: 50% (70/141)
• $N=638$ (intervention 1 ¹ , 212 interven	Dementia	Attention	• Postintervention follow-up: intervention
 N=038 (Intervention 1: 213, Intervention 2¹: 213, C: 212) Mean age (years)—intervention 1¹: 60.2 (SD 12.1), intervention 2¹: 60.2 (SD 12.6), C: 59.2 (SD 12.0) Female—intervention 1¹: 85% (182/213), intervention 2¹: 85% (182/213), C: 85% (181/212) Spouse—intervention 1¹: 43% (91/213), intervention 2¹: 48% (102/213), C: 40% (85/212) Mean baseline mental health score (GHQ-12^m): intervention 1¹: 16.3 (SD 4.1), C: 16.5 (SD 3.9) 			1 ¹ +intervention 2 ¹ +C: 67% (430/638), intervention 1 ¹ : 75% (160/213), intervention 2 ¹ : 53% (112/213), C: 75% (158/212)
Gustafson et al [103], 2019; United States			
 N=31 (I: 16, C: 15) Age (years): 55-64 (I: 3/16, 19%, C: 3/15, 20%); 65-74 (I: 7/16, 44%, C: 9/15, 60); ≥75 (I: 6/16, 38%, C: 3/15, 20%) Female—I: 69% (11/16), C: 53% (13/15) Spouse—I: 94% (15/16), C: 87% (13/15) Mean baseline mental health score (PHQ-8): I: 4.1 (SD 3.5), C: 4.4 (SD 4.3) 	Dementia	Information	 Postintervention follow-up: I+C: 16% (5/31), I: 13% (2/16), C: 20% (3/15)
Hepburn et al [96], 2022; United States			
 N=261 (I: 96, control 1ⁿ: 111, control 2ⁿ: 54) Mean age (years): I: 66.0 (SD 10.9), control 1ⁿ: 63.8 (SD 11.6), control 2ⁿ: 63.7 (SD 10.7) Female: I: 75% (72/96), control 1ⁿ: 66% (73/111), control 2ⁿ: 72% (39/54) Spouse: I: 72% (69/96), control 1ⁿ: 61% (68/111), control 2ⁿ: 65% (35/54) Mean baseline mental health score (CES-D-20): I: 13.1 (SD 10.0), control 1ⁿ: 12.1 (SD 10.1), control 2ⁿ: 11.1 (SD 8.3) 	Dementia	Attention; WLC	 1-month follow-up⁰: I+control 1ⁿ+control 2ⁿ: 25% (64/261), I: 26% (25/96), control 1ⁿ: 25% (28/111), control 2ⁿ: 20% (11/54) 4-month follow-up⁰: I+control 1ⁿ+control 2ⁿ: 23% (61/261), I: 24% (23/96), control 1ⁿ: 27% (30/111), control 2ⁿ: 15% (8/54)

Kajiyama et al [104], 2013 United States

 $\label{eq:linear} https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891\\ XSL \bullet FO$

Coumoundouros et al

Caregiver characteristics	Care recipient health condition	Type of control	Follow-up time points, and study attrition rates
 N=150 (I: 75, C: 75) Mean age (years): I: 55.2 (SD 11.3), C: 57.0 (SD 12.5) Female—I: 83% (38/46), C: 86% (49/57) Spouse—I: 56% (26/46), C: 51% (29/57) Mean baseline mental health score (PSS-10)—I: 18.5 (SD 5.2), C: 16.2 (SD 6.9) 	Dementia	Information	 Postintervention follow-up: I+C: 31% (47/150), I: 39% (29/75), C: 24% (18/75)
Kohle et al [105], 2021; Netherlands	-		
 N=203 (intervention 1^p: 67, intervention 2^p: 70, C: 66) Mean age (years): intervention 1^p: 57.0 (SD 9.9), intervention 2^p: 56.4 (SD 11.2), C: 54.2 (SD 11.0) Female: intervention 1^p: 70% (47/67), intervention 2^p: 71% (50/70), C: 70% (46/66) Spouse—intervention 1^p: 100% (67/67), intervention 2^p: 100% (70/70), C: 100% (66/66) Main baseline mental health score (HADS^q): intervention 2^p: 12.4 (SD 0.7), C: 12.7 (SD 0.7) 	Cancer	WLC	 Postintervention follow-up: intervention 1^p+intervention 2^p+C: 32% (64/203), intervention 1^p: 28% (19/67), intervention 2^p: 44% (31/70), C: 21% (14/66)
Kubo et al [106], 2019; United States			
 N=31 (I: 17, C: 14) Mean age (years)—I: 57.1 (SD 17.4), C: 58.2 (SD 18.6) Female—I: 53% (9/17), C: 64% (9/14) Spouse—I: 47% (8/17), C: 79% (11/14) Mean baseline mental health score (HADS-D^r)—I: 5.1 (SD 3.4), C: 5.6 (SD 2.9) 	Cancer	WLC	 Postintervention follow-up: I+C: 16% (5/31), I: 24% (4/17), C: 7% (1/14)
Pensak et al [107], 2021; United States			
 N=72 (I: 36, C: 36) Mean age (years)—I: 53.3 (SD 14.7), C: 55.1 (SD 10.9) Female: I: 73% (19/26), C: 77% (23/30) Spouse—I: 77% (20/26), C: 83% (25/30) Main baseline mental health score (HADS-A⁸)—I: 11.2 (SD 2.5), C: 11.6 (SD 3.0) Smith et al [97], 2012; United States 	Cancer	TAU	 Postintervention follow-up: I+C: 11% (8/72), I: 14% (5/36), C: 8% (3/36)



Coumoundouros et al

Caregiver characteristics	Care recipient health condition	Type of control	Follow-up time points, and study attrition rates
 N=37^t (I: 18^t, C: 19) Mean age (years)—I: 55.3 (SD 6.9), C: 54.9 (SD 12.9) Female—I: 100% (18/18), C: 100% (19/19) Spouse—I: 100% (18/18), C: 100% (19/19) Mean baseline mental health score (CES-D 20)—I: 21.7 (SD 13.2), C: 17.7 (SD 11.7) 	Stroke	Information	 Postintervention follow-up: I+C: 14%^t (5/37), I: 17%^t (3/18), C: 11% (2/19) 1 month follow-up: I+C: 14%^t (5/37), I: 17%^t (3/18), C: 11% (2/19)
^a I: intervention arm.			

^bC: control arm.

^cCES-D: Center for Epidemiological Studies–Depression scale.

^dPHQ-8: Patient Health Questionnaire depression scale 8 items.

^eWLC: waitlist control.

^fPSS: Perceived Stress Scale.

^gTAU: treatment as usual.

^hAdjusted to exclude a dropped treatment arm.

¹Negative mood was based on a modified version of the Short Version Profile of Mood States.

^jPostintervention was defined as the primary end point measurement specified within the study (6 months).

^kCaregivers were followed bimonthly for up to 24 months; however, only measurements up to 8 months of follow-up (2 months after the intervention) were analyzed.

¹In Fossey et al [102], intervention 1 represents the standard intervention and intervention 2 represents intervention with telephone support.

^mGHQ-12: General Health Questionnaire-12 items.

ⁿIn Hepburn et al [96], control 1 represents attention control and control 2 represents WLC.

^oIn Hepburn et al [96], 1-month follow-up is referred to as a 3-month follow-up from baseline in the original paper; 4-month follow-up is referred to as a 6-month follow-up from baseline in the original paper.

^pIn Köhle et al [105], intervention 1 represents an intervention with personalized support and intervention 2 represents an intervention with automated support.

^qHADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale.

^rHADS-D: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale–Depression subscale.

^sHADS-A: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale–Anxiety subscale.

^tAdjusted to exclude 1 participant found ineligible after randomization.

Intervention Characteristics

The characteristics of the included interventions (n=29) are summarized in Multimedia Appendix 4 [65,95-147]. The interventions were investigated in the United States (n=16) [65,96,97,103,104,106-125], Europe (n=10) [95,98,100-102, 105,126-141], Australia (n=2) [142,143], and India (n=1) [99,144,145]. Most interventions were designed for informal caregivers of people with dementia (n=16) [95,96,99-104,112-117,126-134,136,141,143-147] and cancer (n=11) [65,98,105-111,119-125,135,137-140,142], with 2 interventions focused on informal caregivers of stroke survivors [97,118]. Interventions were commonly based on cognitive behavioral therapy (n=10) [98-100,102,104,107,115,124, 125,134,135,137,141-144], stress and coping theory (n=9) [65,95-97,101,103,109,110,113,114,121-123,126-133], mindfulness (n=7) [106,108,111,116-120], or acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT; n=3) [105,112,136,138-140,146]. Most interventions included support (n=22), providing standardized (n=9) [99,105-108,111,116-118,124,125, 138-140,142,144], guided (n=7) [96,97,101,102,113, 114,119,126-132,134], or minimal (n=5)[98,100,105,135-141,146] support. A novel support type

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891
```

RenderX

identified was tailored standardized support that involved automated messages tailored based on information provided by participants while using the intervention (n=2) [65,109,110,122]. Six interventions were fully self-administered [95,103,104,112,115,120,133].

Qualitative Comparative Analysis

In total, 14 reports of RCTs were included in the crisp-set QCA. On the basis of the Hedges g and the cutoff set to classify interventions as effective or not effective, 5 RCTs were classified as effective (Multimedia Appendix 4). The conditions (intervention and implementation characteristics) explored in the QCA included the presence of peer support, professional support, and a selection of persuasive design elements [148] (reminders and tunneling, ie, controlled module order). None of the explored combinations of 2 or 3 conditions resulted in a consistency and coverage above 0.75 (Multimedia Appendix 4); therefore, the analysis could not proceed.

PRECIS-2 Scores

The 14 RCTs included in the study were scored according to the PRECIS-2 tool to examine how pragmatic each trial was. All RCTs had an average PRECIS-2 score of at least 3, meaning

each had at least a mixture of more pragmatic and more explanatory design choices. Domains of the PRECIS-2 tool, which were the most pragmatic across all RCTs, were flexibility of intervention delivery and flexibility of measures taken to monitor and increase adherence (Figure 2). The most

explanatory domains were the eligibility of participants, organization of the intervention, and follow-up procedures (Figure 2). PRECIS-2 scoring for individual RCTs can be found in Multimedia Appendix 4.

Figure 2. Mean Pragmatic Explanatory Continuum Indicator Summary 2 (PRECIS-2) scores from included randomized controlled trials (n=14). Trials were scored between 1 (very explanatory) and 5 (very pragmatic) for each domain of PRECIS-2.



Risk of Bias

As assessed using the Cochrane Risk of Bias 2.0 tool [149], 13 RCTs were found to have an overall high risk of bias [65,95-97,99,101-107], with 1 RCT [100] being rated as having some concerns (Multimedia Appendix 4). Domain 4, which assesses bias in the measurement of the outcome, was the domain that largely contributed to the overall high risk of bias in most reports. Bias related to the randomization process (domain 1) and deviation from the intended intervention (domain 2) was most frequently scored as having a low risk of bias.

Thematic Synthesis

In total, 44 reports (representing 27 interventions) were included in the thematic synthesis (Table 2). The most frequently reported domains were *innovation characteristics* and *individual characteristics*. Barriers to and facilitators of the implementation of e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers are reported in Multimedia Appendix 5 [95,98,104,105,108-147] with relevant example quotations. Within the thematic synthesis, barriers and facilitators were attributed to stakeholders and informal caregivers. The term *stakeholder* is used to describe any professional group, for example, health care professionals and staff, involved in implementation.



 Table 2. Summary of identified barriers and facilitators.

CFIR ^a construct	Reports that identified barriers	Reports that identified facilitators
Domain 1: innovation characteristics	·	
Innovation source	No data	[129,130]
Evidence strength and quality	[128-130]	[114,125,128-130]
Relative advantage	[95,114,121,123,126,128,140,142,146]	[114,117,120,126,127,130,132,136,139,142]
Adaptability	[109,126,127,136,138]	[108,113,120,125-127,131,132,134,136,138-140]
Trialability	No data	[130]
Complexity	[113,114,117,125-128,132,133]	No data
Design quality and packaging	[95,98,108,110,111,114,117-120, 123-140,142-146]	[95,98,104,105,108-111,113-117,119, 120,123-128,130-146]
Costs	[128,129,147]	[130,143]
Domain 2: outer setting		
Needs and resources of those served by the organization	[128,129]	[128,130]
Cosmopolitanism	[129]	[128-130,143]
Peer pressure	No data	[129]
External policy and incentives	No data	[128,130]
Domain 3: inner setting		
Structural characteristics	No data	No data
Networks and communications	[128,130]	[128]
Culture	No data	No data
Implementation climate	No data	[144]
Tension for change	No data	No data
Compatibility	[122,123,127,128,130]	[122,127-129,143,146]
Relative priority	[127,128]	No data
Organizational incentives and rewards	[128]	No data
Goals and feedback	[128]	[128]
Learning climate	No data	[146]
Readiness for implementation	[127,129]	No data
Leadership engagement	[127-129]	No data
Available resources	[127-129]	No data
Access to knowledge and information	[122,123,127,146]	[146]
Domain 4: individual characteristics		
Knowledge and beliefs about the innovation	[95,98,113,114,117,120-123,126-130, 133,138-140,142,146]	[95,98,105,108,109,112-120, 123-133,135-140,143,145,146]
Self-efficacy	No data	[128,129,146]
Individual stage of change	[95,121,124,125,127,138-140]	No data
Individual identification with organization	No data	[114,127,140]
Other personal attributes	[95,98,108,110,113-115,119,121, 125-129,131,133,135,138-144]	[114,127,129-131,139,140,143,144]
Domain 5: process		
Planning	[128,129]	[127,130]
Engaging	[128]	[120,128,129,144]
Opinion leaders	No data	No data

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Ment Health 2022 | vol. 9 | iss. 11 |e41891 | p.103 (page number not for citation purposes)

Coumoundouros et al

CFIR ^a construct	Reports that identified barriers	Reports that identified facilitators
Formally appointed internal implementation leaders	[128]	No data
Champions	[129]	No data
External change agents	No data	[128,129]
Key stakeholders	[128,129]	[127,129,143]
Innovation participants	[128,129,138,144]	[115,129,143,144]
Executing	No data	No data
Reflecting and evaluative	No data	No data

^aCFIR: Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research.

Domain 1: Innovation Characteristics

Facilitators

Interventions that were developed at a trusted source (eg, academic institutions) [129] and originated as a research project [130] were viewed positively by those involved in implementation. Stakeholders and informal caregivers (hereafter referred to as caregivers) valued interventions based on pragmatic evidence [125,130]. However, caregivers also valued the incorporation of knowledge from those with lived experience (eg, other caregivers) as another form of evidence [114].

Interventions tended to be well-designed and easy to use [98,105,108-110,113,116,117,124-127,131-134,136-138,141,143,146]. There were mixed views on whether caregivers preferred dyadic or individual interventions [109,110,125,135,139,140]; however, there was generally a need for space to be created to allow caregivers to express themselves without the presence of care recipients [119,123]. The internet-based nature of interventions was generally well-accepted and offered some advantages over face-to-face interventions [114,117,120,126,127,130,136, 139,142], including (1) no need to travel [114,126] and (2) material being available all the time [127]. Interventions using different forms of media to deliver content [120,127,138,144] and supporting the use of interventions across devices (eg, ability to use intervention on a smartphone and computer) [132,144] made it easier for caregivers to use interventions. Tailored intervention content (eg, tailored to the care recipient's stage of disease) [126,131,138,140,143,144], the provision of professional support [114,119,126,127,131-133,135,136, 138-141,143,144], a positive tone for information that was presented [125,127,138,140], and contact with information from other caregivers [114,120,126,127,131,132,136,138-140, 143,144] were important features to ensure interventions were relevant and met the needs of caregivers.

Interestingly, although caregivers expressed a preference for flexible use options, such as accessing modules on demand based on their needs [108,113,120,125-127,131,132, 134,136,138-140], stakeholders suggested a need to control module access to guide caregivers through the intervention and avoid confusion [127]. Stakeholders also valued interventions with features that supported user tracking to facilitate monitoring and evaluation of the implementation of the intervention [128] (also see inner setting: goals and feedback in Multimedia Appendix 5).

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891

XSL•FO RenderX

Barriers

Evidence suggesting interventions remained effective when implemented in real-world settings [128], and information on outcomes more relevant to health care organizations (eg, number of caregivers receiving support) [129,130] was lacking. Although e-mental health interventions have advantages, both caregivers and stakeholders expressed that communication within e-mental health interventions could be challenging [123,126,128,146]. Unfamiliar technologies and multistep intervention and implementation activities (eg, recruitment of intervention staff) added complexity to e-mental health interventions [113,128]. Stakeholders felt that the economic costs related to e-mental health interventions were unclear [129] and that interventions would not be cost-effective [128,147].

Interventions with content not appropriately tailored to the intervention user [95,114,124,126,127,131,132,135,136,140,142, 144] or that did not capture the diversity of caregivers' backgrounds and care situations [114,124] made it challenging for caregivers to identify with the content. There was also a need for interventions to be linguistically and culturally tailored to meet the needs of different user groups within an implementation setting [143,144]. Interventions often did not meet all caregivers' needs for support and information [95,98,110,114,117,120,123-127,130,133,135,136,138-140,143,144]. In addition, technical difficulties [98,108,114,118,124, 126,129,130,144] and limited viewing options [118,123-127,134,137,138,144], in particular, the lack of downloadable material so that the intervention could be used without active internet access, were important barriers to caregivers using the intervention more flexibly.

Domain 2: Outer Setting

Facilitators

Generally, stakeholders perceived intervention content to fit caregivers' needs [128,130]. Stakeholders also stressed the need for support from cooperating organizations to facilitate implementation activities, with these activities potentially strengthening the relationship between partner organizations [128-130,143]. Additional facilitators included peer pressure due to digitalization in other sectors [129] and the fit between intervention and external policies (eg, informal care policies) [128,130].

Barriers

Stakeholders reported low interest in eHealth technologies among community members within their setting [129] and felt unsure what support services caregivers needed [128,129]. As mentioned, relationships with cooperating organizations were important to facilitate implementation [128-130,143]; however, partner organizations may not have the time available to support implementation [129].

Domain 3: Inner Setting

Overview

Barriers and facilitators within this domain were primarily derived from a series of reports investigating 2 interventions: (1) Partner in Balance, an intervention for informal caregivers of people with dementia [101,126-130] and (2) the Comprehensive Health Enhancement Support System (CHESS) intervention for caregivers of people with lung cancer, which contains a clinician report feature linking the caregiver-care recipient dyad to the care recipient's health care provider [65,121-123].

Facilitators

Open and accessible communication channels within the implementation team facilitated intervention implementation [128]. Stakeholders viewed the ability to monitor intervention use as important to facilitate reporting on concrete intervention outputs [128]. The lack of support available for caregivers created an environment that was receptive to an intervention for caregivers [144]. Implementation was supported by the provision of training and support to stakeholders involved in intervention delivery [146]. Key facilitators related to the compatibility of the intervention within the implementation setting included (1) the integration of the intervention within existing workflows [127,128,143,146], (2) flexible use options for providers [122,127], and (3) alignment between the intervention and the organizations' existing goals and priorities [128,129].

Barriers

Many barriers were not described in detail; however, a lack of internal support networks (eg, implementation teams) to support implementation [128,130], incentives [128], goal setting [128], leadership engagement [127-129], and resources (eg, staff time) [127-129] have been reported. Uncertainties due to upcoming organizational change and restructuring have made it difficult for some organizations to adopt a new intervention [127,129]. Barriers regarding compatibility were raised including the challenge of providing an intervention to caregivers within a system oriented toward patients [127,130], poor integration of the intervention within existing systems and processes [122,123], perceived low digital literacy among implementers [128], and a mismatch between the organizations' clientele and the intervention target population [127,128]. In relation to the clinician report within the CHESS intervention adapted for lung cancer caregivers, unclear clinical guidance regarding how to use information provided within the intervention made it challenging for health care professionals to use the intervention [122,123].

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891

Domain 4: Individual Characteristics

Facilitators

Interventions were identified as benefiting caregivers in many ways (eg, providing information or supporting self-care) [95,98,105,108,109,112,113,115-120,124-127,129-132,136-139,146], with some interventions also facilitating a sense of connection with other caregivers [113,114,120,136,140,143] and reducing feelings of isolation [113,114,124,127,131,133,136,143]. Interventions normalized and validated caregivers' lived experiences by depicting scenarios that intervention users had personally experienced [114,124,125,127,131,132,135,136, 138,140,145]. Interventions, including support from a trained professional, were perceived as also benefiting the trained professional and had a positive impact on the relationship between the trained professional and caregiver [123,127-129,131,146]. Provision of support was viewed as an important source of motivation for caregivers to use the intervention [98,127,132,138,140]. It was perceived that interventions would be best suited for caregivers who were young [114,127,129,130,139], employed [127], experiencing difficulties (eg, burden) [139,140], or not receiving adequate support from their social network [140]. Stakeholders held positive views of e-mental health [98,129], perceiving interventions as time efficient [128,146] and as a way to improve access to support [131,146], including improving support for caregivers in rural communities [143].

Barriers

Both caregivers and stakeholders reported concerns related to e-mental health interventions, including privacy and liability concerns [98,120-123,128], feeling that web-based interventions are impersonal [95,113,114,126,138,139,142], and concerns that the intervention could have a negative impact (eg, increase isolation) [98,120,126,127,133] or be emotionally challenging [95,117,126,127,138-140] for caregivers. Stakeholders had little experience with eHealth technologies, making implementation challenging [129]. In addition, some stakeholders found it challenging to create a therapeutic relationship within the e-mental health intervention [146]. For some caregivers, the intervention had come at the wrong time (eg, the information was no longer relevant or they had already moved past certain challenges) [95,121,124,125,127,138,140], whereas others were not ready to accept help [121,140] or face difficult emotions that an intervention may prompt [95,127,139]. Caregivers also reported individual challenges engaging with e-mental health interventions such as having too many other responsibilities [108,110,113-115,125,127,131,135,138,139,142-144], feelings of shame stopping them from sharing their experiences [119,127,138], and care recipient related challenges (eg, not wanting their care recipient to know they are receiving the intervention) [98,126,127,140]. Some caregivers were not in need of an e-mental health intervention [95,121,135,138-140,142] and had their support needs met in other ways [138-141]. Low digital literacy, and lack of access to internet or computers among caregivers were also challenges for caregivers using e-mental health interventions [95,114,121,126-129,133,140,142-144]. In contrast, 1 study

[144] reported that caregivers' skills and familiarity with using the internet could facilitate implementation.

Domain 5: Process

Facilitators

Financial planning [127,130] and a sense of ownership toward the intervention [128,129] were perceived as facilitators of implementation. Engaging external organizations to assist with intervention implementation [128,129] and training and retention of key staff members who deliver the intervention [127,129] were important elements of the implementation process. Strategies to reach a diverse group of caregivers from different backgrounds were perceived as valuable by both caregivers and stakeholders [115,129]. Engagement strategies included the engagement of caregivers and stakeholders in early decision-making stages [129,143], seeking feedback from caregivers about the intervention [144], engaging the entire informal care network (eg, rather than focusing on primary caregivers) as potential users of the intervention [143], and speaking with caregivers face-to-face to build a connection with caregivers and integrate intervention referral into any interaction professionals have with caregivers [129,143].

Barriers

Inadequate implementation planning [128,129], low engagement of organization leaders [128], intervention champions [129], intervention providers [128,129], and informal caregivers [128,129,144] were barriers to implementation. Both caregivers and stakeholders felt face-to-face strategies to engage caregivers in the intervention (eg, during recruitment or at the start of the intervention) were needed [138]. In 1 study [128], training provided to intervention providers lacked focus on the practical skills needed to implement and deliver the intervention.

Professional Stakeholder Involvement

Overview

Professional stakeholders (n=4) with experience working in the field of eHealth and e-mental health recognized many barriers and facilitators identified in the thematic synthesis. For example, stakeholders had encountered facilitators such as (1) e-mental health and eHealth interventions being easy to use, (2) the ability of interventions to easily facilitate data collection, and (3) national policy changes enabling flexible implementation of e-mental health interventions throughout a country. Stakeholders also recognized several barriers to implementation identified in the thematic synthesis, such as (1) negative views about e-mental health, (2) technical difficulties, and (3) lack of organizational incentives to implement e-mental health interventions.

However, stakeholders also identified additional implementation barriers and facilitators they have experienced and areas they felt that future research should focus on.

Facilitators

Intervention characteristics, including (1) the ability to adapt interventions to expand their use among different populations and (2) low complexity for stakeholders to provide interventions, were facilitating factors when implementing e-mental health

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891
```

interventions in practice. Within the inner setting, the provision of training materials was a facilitator. e–Mental health interventions were also perceived to add variety to work routines of staff involved in intervention delivery. Engagement of formally appointed implementation leaders, endorsement of the intervention by influencers or celebrities, and a positive web-based presence (eg, reviews and social media presence) were valuable to facilitate implementation.

Barriers

Key factors related to the inner setting were referred to as additional barriers, including (1) changes to work routines that negatively impact how well the intervention fits within the implementation setting; (2) changing the priority of the intervention as it competes with other interventions and initiatives for resources; (3) challenging implementation climate due to staff being overwhelmed by numerous new digital tools; and (4) poor fit between the intervention and internal policies and regulations. Barriers related to negative knowledge and beliefs regarding e-mental health interventions were identified within the thematic synthesis; however, one negative belief not reported in the literature was the perception that e-mental health interventions are a cheaper but not more effective alternative to face-to-face interventions. Linked to this was the importance of recognizing that e-mental health interventions should be offered as a choice to users, rather than the sole treatment option available. The lack of realistic implementation planning and knowledge about the amount of resources needed to implement an e-mental health intervention was also a challenge. Lack of evidence and knowledge about implementation strategies that effectively enhance the implementation of e-mental health interventions was also viewed as a barrier to implementation.

Areas for Future Research

Professional stakeholders identified the following areas for future research: (1) how to best combine e-mental health interventions with other interventions (both eHealth and face-to-face interventions); (2) defining core elements needed for e-mental health interventions to maintain effectiveness; (3) methods to maximize the engagement and retention of e-mental health users; (4) how to influence individuals' views of e-mental health; and (5) further research on the benefits of eHealth for both users and stakeholders (eg, how they impact quality of care).

Discussion

Principal Findings

Overview

This mixed methods systematic review identified 53 reports that investigated the effectiveness or implementation of e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers of adults with chronic diseases. Interventions were most often tailored for informal caregivers of people with dementia or cancer, with few interventions focused on informal caregivers of people with other chronic conditions included in this review (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, diabetes, heart disease, and stroke). Interventions were commonly theory based and varied in terms of the type of support provided to intervention users.

A unique type of support identified in this review was tailored standardized support, which provides intervention users with standardized support messages, but tailors messages based on information provided by an individual user.

Overall, 14 RCTs were included in the review. RCTs contained a mixture of pragmatic and explanatory design features, as assessed using the PRECIS-2 tool, and most were evaluated as having a high risk of bias (discussed further in the Limitations section). The PRECIS-2 scoring showed that the domains of intervention delivery and adherence were very pragmatic, with no measures to ensure adherence to the intervention beyond what would be expected outside a trial environment. The trial setting was often pragmatic because most trials allowed participants to be located in a variety of geographic areas and did not focus on a single recruitment site. Trials commonly used a variety of recruitment methods (eg, via health care and community settings), which was viewed as a pragmatic design choice, given that informal caregivers would ideally be able to find out about available support services through a variety of pathways. Despite PRECIS-2 scores demonstrating that all RCTs contained some pragmatic design features, RCTs were frequently conducted within academic settings without indications as to how the interventions could be integrated into routine practice.

The QCA could not be fully conducted because of low consistency in which conditions were sufficient for intervention effectiveness. In cases where consistency was high enough to proceed with the analysis, solution coverage (ie, coverage of the set of conditions with a consistency of at least 0.75) was low, as the solutions were based on only 1 to 2 RCTs. The challenges encountered in the QCA analysis were mainly due to the low number of RCTs (n=14) included in the analysis. In addition, poor reporting of key intervention features posed a challenge to including implementation-related conditions in the QCA analysis.

Poor reporting of key intervention features and intervention targets presented a challenge in determining whether interventions were designed to target informal caregivers' mental health. For example, in one case, the intervention target differed across cultural adaptations of the intervention [99,150,151]; however, the rationale as to why intervention targets differed and whether this impacted the intervention content was unclear. Poor intervention reporting is a common problem in the wider literature, despite the development of reporting guidelines such as CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) [152] and Template for Intervention Description and Replication (TIDieR) [153]. In 1 review of reviews [154], it was found that almost 88% of the included studies had below-optimal levels of reporting in accordance with CONSORT. Another review of reviews [155] showed variation in reporting quality based on each item of the TIDieR. Incomplete reporting based on the TIDieR was most often observed regarding (1) intervention modifications, (2) planned and actual intervention adherence and fidelity, (3) tailoring, (4) descriptions of the intervention provider, and (5) where the intervention occurred [155]. Poor reporting in some of these areas was observed in this review. For example, a description of the training provided to intervention providers was often vague or absent, and fidelity

and adherence to the intervention among intervention providers and users was underreported. A similar finding was reported in a study using the ImpRess checklist to assess the implementation readiness of 12 eHealth interventions for informal dementia caregivers [28]. Poor intervention reporting may pose a challenge to future implementation given that the details needed to implement and deliver interventions are lacking.

Implementation Barriers and Facilitators

Most identified barriers and facilitators were related to the intervention or individual characteristic domains within the CFIR. Implementation determinants related to the inner and outer setting and the implementation process were rarely reported. The lack of information on implementation barriers and facilitators related to the implementation setting can be partly related to the nature of the included reports, which commonly focused on intervention acceptability during the development or adaptation of an intervention. Although implementation determinants were reported in development studies, these determinants represent anticipated barriers and facilitators, rather than actual barriers and facilitators encountered implementation. Intervention during implementation outside of a research setting was rarely explored. Other reviews focused on the implementation of eHealth interventions for different groups of informal caregivers [27,46,47] similarly found that there was a lack of reporting of implementation determinants related to the inner and outer setting.

Overall, the literature indicates that intervention development is done well, with the views of informal caregivers and stakeholders being included in the development process in a variety of ways (eg, surveys, focus groups, and usability testing). This aligns with the current Medical Research Council framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions, which places the engagement of all stakeholders (including intervention users) as a core element that should be included in each phase of intervention development and evaluation [48]. Although intervention development did engage stakeholders, data collection rarely explored implementation barriers and facilitators with stakeholders beyond intervention acceptability. As such, many aspects of another core element of the current Medical Research Council framework, that is, context, remain largely unexplored [48].

Recruitment of informal caregivers in intervention research is well-established as challenging [121,156-158], and this challenge can persist after interventions are implemented. Within the CFIR, recruitment of intervention users falls within the construct *engaging* under domain 5: process. Recruitment strategies, such as face-to-face contact, were identified as potential facilitators of the implementation of e-mental health interventions. However, the effectiveness of strategies to recruit and sustain intervention engagement was not explored. Strategies to recruit informal caregivers and improve awareness of available e-mental health interventions require further research, and critical examination of whether e-mental health interventions are being accessed by informal caregivers experiencing mental health difficulties should be explored in future studies.

XSL•FO RenderX

Several barriers to and facilitators of implementation indicated the importance of tailoring intervention content, visuals, and support for informal caregivers' individual needs and preferences. Internet-based interventions offer not only opportunities to tailor intervention content but also preferences regarding information delivery format (eg, video, audio, and text) [159]. In addition, tailoring has been shown to have a positive impact on the effectiveness of behavior change interventions [160]. Tailoring should be explored as an approach to enhance effectiveness and user engagement with e–mental health interventions.

Reflection on Updates to the CFIR

In 2022, after the thematic synthesis for this review was completed, an addendum to the CFIR was published [161] and an updated version of the CFIR was produced [162]. In the addendum, the authors specified that the CFIR is not appropriate for data from intervention users (ie, informal caregivers within the context of this review) unless intervention users play a role in intervention delivery or implementation [161]. CFIR authors classified data from intervention users as representing innovation determinants rather than implementation determinants [161]. The decision to exclude data from intervention users from the CFIR framework was motivated by the implementation of interventions primarily influenced by professional stakeholders involved more directly in activities related to intervention delivery or implementation [161]. Considering this addendum, it could be argued that the data included in this thematic synthesis, derived from informal caregivers, should have been excluded. However, given that e-mental health interventions rely on informal caregivers using interventions independently in their home environment, the perspective of informal caregivers could influence implementation and sustainability.

The CFIR defines contextual factors that can influence implementation; however, context is a broad concept, and different definitions and frameworks exist to define it [49]. In a scoping review that sought to review multiple implementation frameworks to comprehensively define the dimensions of implementation context [49], context was divided into 3 levels: micro, meso, and macro. Intervention users (eg, their views, needs, and preferences) were considered to fall within the microlevel [49]. Factors related to the implementing organization were classified within the mesolevel, with the wider implementation setting representing the macrolevel [49]. The CFIR framework captures the mesolevel and macrolevel of context; however, it does not include microlevel contextual factors. Researchers may wish to consider whether microlevel contextual factors may be important to consider in their implementation context.

Limitations

RCTs were retrospectively assessed using the PRECIS-2 tool to evaluate how pragmatic or explanatory each trial design was. Although the PRECIS-2 tool can be used retrospectively [163], poor reporting regarding the intended implementation context of the intervention under investigation within the trial posed a challenge to using the PRECIS-2 tool accurately. PRECIS-2 scores are dependent on understanding the intended implementation context of each intervention to assess how

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891
```

pragmatic design decisions within the trial were given the intended implementation context [39]. The intended implementation context is not often described in RCTs; therefore, assumptions about the intended implementation context were made to facilitate the PRECIS-2 scoring. For example, reviewers assumed that interventions were generally intended to be implemented across the entire country, unless otherwise specified in the trial. As the authors of the PRECIS-2 tool recognize [163], the use of the CONSORT extension for pragmatic trials [164] would facilitate the retrospective assessment of RCTs using PRECIS-2.

Risk of bias was evaluated using the Cochrane Risk of Bias 2.0 tool [81] in line with recommendations from the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions [165]. However, research has shown that the Risk of Bias 2.0 tool can have low interrater reliability [166], which may impact the interpretation of the risk-of-bias assessments included in this review. Domain 4 of the Risk of Bias 2.0 assessment was often rated as high because the outcome assessors (which in the context of self-reported outcomes is the participant) were not blinded. The blinding of outcome assessors and others involved in RCTs is often a challenge, especially for RCTs of mental health interventions [167]. Various approaches to blinding participants and intervention providers in mental health trials have been proposed (eg, recruiting participants with no knowledge of mental health interventions, requiring that intervention providers have limited experience with mental health interventions); however, these approaches can be difficult to implement and have a negative impact on how pragmatic and generalizable the trial is [167,168]. Although the lack of blinding is a source of bias, participants not being blinded is a more pragmatic design choice and more closely reflects the conditions that could be expected if interventions were used in real-world settings.

Although OpenGrey was searched for gray literature, relevant gray literature, such as government reports, may have been missed, as these reports are not included in OpenGrey, and certain gray literature publication types, such as theses and abstracts, were not eligible for inclusion in this review. In addition, as searches were only conducted using English terms, gray literature in languages other than English may have been difficult to capture.

As discussed, given the recent addendum to the CFIR [161], some data included in the thematic synthesis (ie, data from informal caregivers) may not be universally considered relevant for implementation. However, this information provides important insights into the views of informal caregivers within the microlevel of context [49] and provides guidance on important design and implementation characteristics to consider to ensure the acceptability and uptake of e-mental health interventions among informal caregivers.

Conclusions

Although considerable attention has been given to the usability and acceptability of e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers of adults with chronic diseases, few studies have explored other factors that may influence implementation. In particular, factors related to outer and inner implementation
settings and the implementation process have rarely been explored. The views of professional stakeholders who are or will be involved in intervention implementation or delivery should be investigated to fill this gap. Given the challenges faced by e-mental health interventions when implemented in practice, implementation science research exploring not only implementation determinants but also implementation strategies are urgently needed.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program under the Marie-Sklodowska Curie grant 814072 and supported by U-CARE, a strategic research environment funded by the Swedish Research Council (dnr 2009–1093). The funders played no role in the design, conduct, or decision to publish this review.

The authors would like to thank the professional stakeholders who provided feedback on the thematic synthesis: Jonathan Baker (Iona Mind Inc), Anders Henriques (Chorus AB), Ella Thiblin, and Kristofer Vernmark. They also thank Tasneem Ishrat for assisting with PRECIS-2 scoring and Oscar Blomberg for assisting with some risk-of-bias assessments.

Authors' Contributions

CC was responsible for conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, investigation, data curation, and writing—original draft, visualization, and project administration. EM was responsible for validation, formal analysis, investigation, and writing—review and editing. GF was responsible for validation, investigation, and writing—review and editing. JMZ was responsible for validation, investigation, and writing—review and editing. LvE was responsible for the methodology and writing—review and editing, supervision, and funding acquisition. RS was responsible for the methodology and writing—review and editing, supervision, and funding acquisition. JW was responsible for the conceptualization, methodology, validation, formal analysis, investigation, and writing—review and editing.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) checklists. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 472 KB - mental v9i11e41891 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Outcomes, Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research, search, support taxonomy. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 431 KB - mental v9i11e41891 app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Reasons for exclusion. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1016 KB - mental v9i11e41891 app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Intervention characteristics, qualitative comparative analysis, Pragmatic Explanatory Continuum Indicator Summary 2, and risk of bias.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1522 KB - mental_v9i11e41891_app4.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Barriers and facilitators. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 394 KB - mental_v9i11e41891_app5.pdf]

References

RenderX

- 1. Lambert SS, Levesque JV, Girgis A. The impact of cancer and chronic conditions on caregivers and family members. In: Koczwara B, editor. Cancer and Chronic Conditions: Addressing the Problem of Multimorbidity in Cancer Patients and Survivors. Singapore, Singapore: Springer; 2016:159-202.
- Brodaty H, Donkin M. Family caregivers of people with dementia. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2009;11(2):217-228 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2009.11.2/hbrodaty] [Medline: 19585957]
- 3. Hoffmann F, Rodrigues R. Informal carers: who takes care of them? Policy brief. European Centre for Social Welfare Policy and Research. Vienna, Austria: European Centre for Social Welfare Policy and Research; 2010. URL: <u>https://www.euro.centre.org/publications/detail/387</u> [accessed 2019-07-08]

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891

- 4. Spasova S, Baeten R, Coster S, Ghailani D, Peña-Casas R, Vanhercke B. Challenges in long-term care in Europe: a study of national policies. European Commission. 2018. URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=738&langId=en&pubId=8128&furtherPubs=yes</u> [accessed 2019-08-02]
- 5. Broese van Groenou MI, De Boer A. Providing informal care in a changing society. Eur J Ageing 2016;13(3):271-279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10433-016-0370-7] [Medline: 27610055]
- 6. Colombo F, Llena-Nozal A, Mercier J, Tjadens F. Help Wanted? Providing and Paying for Long-Term Care. Paris, France: OECD Publishing; 2011.
- Berglund E, Lytsy P, Westerling R. Health and wellbeing in informal caregivers and non-caregivers: a comparative cross-sectional study of the Swedish general population. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2015 Jul 29;13:109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12955-015-0309-2] [Medline: 26216099]
- Northouse LL, Katapodi MC, Schafenacker AM, Weiss D. The impact of caregiving on the psychological well-being of family caregivers and cancer patients. Semin Oncol Nurs 2012 Nov;28(4):236-245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2012.09.006] [Medline: 23107181]
- 9. Pinquart M, Sörensen S. Differences between caregivers and noncaregivers in psychological health and physical health: a meta-analysis. Psychol Aging 2003 Jun;18(2):250-267. [doi: <u>10.1037/0882-7974.18.2.250</u>] [Medline: <u>12825775</u>]
- Collins RN, Kishita N. Prevalence of depression and burden among informal care-givers of people with dementia: a meta-analysis. Ageing Soc 2019 Jun 06;40(11):2355-2392. [doi: <u>10.1017/s0144686x19000527</u>]
- Geng HM, Chuang DM, Yang F, Yang Y, Liu WM, Liu LH, et al. Prevalence and determinants of depression in caregivers of cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018 Sep;97(39):e11863 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000011863] [Medline: 30278483]
- Busch MA, Maske UE, Ryl L, Schlack R, Hapke U. Prevalence of depressive symptoms and diagnosed depression among adults in Germany: results of the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Adults (DEGS1). Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz 2013 May;56(5-6):733-739. [doi: 10.1007/s00103-013-1688-3] [Medline: 23703492]
- 13. Brody DJ, Pratt LA, Hughes JP. Prevalence of depression among adults aged 20 and over: United States, 2013-2016. NCHS Data Brief 2018 Feb(303):1-8 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29638213]
- Mosher CE, Champion VL, Hanna N, Jalal SI, Fakiris AJ, Birdas TJ, et al. Support service use and interest in support services among distressed family caregivers of lung cancer patients. Psychooncology 2013 Jul;22(7):1549-1556 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.3168] [Medline: 22941782]
- Lethin C, Leino-Kilpi H, Roe B, Soto MM, Saks K, Stephan A, RightTimePlaceCare Consortium. Formal support for informal caregivers to older persons with dementia through the course of the disease: an exploratory, cross-sectional study. BMC Geriatr 2016 Jan 29;16:32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-016-0210-9] [Medline: 26832354]
- 16. Mosher CE, Given BA, Ostroff JS. Barriers to mental health service use among distressed family caregivers of lung cancer patients. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2015;24(1):50-59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ecc.12203] [Medline: 24761985]
- 17. Carduff E, Finucane A, Kendall M, Jarvis A, Harrison N, Greenacre J, et al. Understanding the barriers to identifying carers of people with advanced illness in primary care: triangulating three data sources. BMC Fam Pract 2014 Apr 02;15:48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2296-15-48] [Medline: 24690099]
- 18. Greenwood N, Smith R. Barriers and facilitators for male carers in accessing formal and informal support: a systematic review. Maturitas 2015 Oct;82(2):162-169 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2015.07.013] [Medline: 26271710]
- Greenwood N, Pound C, Smith R, Brearley S. Experiences and support needs of older carers: a focus group study of perceptions from the voluntary and statutory sectors. Maturitas 2019 May;123:40-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2019.02.003] [Medline: 31027676]
- Lal S. E-mental health: promising advancements in policy, research, and practice. Healthc Manage Forum 2019 Mar;32(2):56-62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0840470418818583] [Medline: 30739487]
- Riper H, Andersson G, Christensen H, Cuijpers P, Lange A, Eysenbach G. Theme issue on e-mental health: a growing field in internet research. J Med Internet Res 2010 Dec 19;12(5):e74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1713] [Medline: 21169177]
- 22. Sin J, Henderson C, Spain D, Cornelius V, Chen T, Gillard S. eHealth interventions for family carers of people with long term illness: a promising approach? Clin Psychol Rev 2018 Mar;60:109-125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2018.01.008] [Medline: 29429856]
- 23. Rebello TJ, Marques A, Gureje O, Pike KM. Innovative strategies for closing the mental health treatment gap globally. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2014 Jul;27(4):308-314. [doi: <u>10.1097/YCO.000000000000068</u>] [Medline: <u>24840160</u>]
- 24. Lal S, Adair CE. E-mental health: a rapid review of the literature. Psychiatr Serv 2014 Jan 01;65(1):24-32. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201300009] [Medline: 24081188]
- Sherifali D, Ali MU, Ploeg J, Markle-Reid M, Valaitis R, Bartholomew A, et al. Impact of Internet-based interventions on caregiver mental health: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jul 03;20(7):e10668 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10668] [Medline: 29970358]

- 26. Zhao Y, Feng H, Hu M, Hu H, Li H, Ning H, et al. Web-based interventions to improve mental health in home caregivers of people with dementia: meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019 May 06;21(5):e13415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13415] [Medline: 31066680]
- Christie HL, Bartels SL, Boots LM, Tange HJ, Verhey FJ, de Vugt ME. A systematic review on the implementation of eHealth interventions for informal caregivers of people with dementia. Internet Interv 2018 Sep;13:51-59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.07.002] [Medline: 30206519]
- Christie HL, Martin JL, Connor J, Tange HJ, Verhey FR, de Vugt ME, et al. eHealth interventions to support caregivers of people with dementia may be proven effective, but are they implementation-ready? Internet Interv 2019 Dec;18:100260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2019.100260] [Medline: 31890613]
- 29. Folker AP, Mathiasen K, Lauridsen SM, Stenderup E, Dozeman E, Folker MP. Implementing internet-delivered cognitive behavior therapy for common mental health disorders: a comparative case study of implementation challenges perceived by therapists and managers in five European internet services. Internet Interv 2018 Mar;11:60-70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.02.001] [Medline: 30135761]
- Gitlin LN, Marx K, Stanley IH, Hodgson N. Translating evidence-based dementia caregiving interventions into practice: state-of-the-science and next steps. Gerontologist 2015 Apr;55(2):210-226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnu123] [Medline: 26035597]
- Gaebel W, Lukies R, Kerst A, Stricker J, Zielasek J, Diekmann S, et al. Upscaling e-mental health in Europe: a six-country qualitative analysis and policy recommendations from the eMEN project. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2021 Sep;271(6):1005-1016. [doi: 10.1007/s00406-020-01133-y] [Medline: 32393997]
- Vis C, Kleiboer A, Prior R, Bønes E, Cavallo M, Clark SA, et al. Implementing and up-scaling evidence-based eMental health in Europe: the study protocol for the MasterMind project. Internet Interv 2015 Nov;2(4):399-409. [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2015.10.002]
- Ploeg J, Ali MU, Markle-Reid M, Valaitis R, Bartholomew A, Fitzpatrick-Lewis D, et al. Caregiver-focused, Web-based interventions: systematic review and meta-analysis (part 2). J Med Internet Res 2018 Oct 26;20(10):e11247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11247] [Medline: 30368439]
- Aldehaim AY, Alotaibi FF, Uphold CR, Dang S. The impact of technology-based interventions on informal caregivers of stroke survivors: a systematic review. Telemed J E Health 2016 Mar;22(3):223-231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2015.0062] [Medline: 26274910]
- 35. Tang WP, Chan CW, So WK, Leung DY. Web-based interventions for caregivers of cancer patients: a review of literatures. Asia Pac J Oncol Nurs 2014;1(1):9-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/2347-5625.135811] [Medline: 27981077]
- Kaltenbaugh DJ, Klem ML, Hu L, Turi E, Haines AJ, Hagerty Lingler J. Using Web-based interventions to support caregivers of patients with cancer: a systematic review. Oncol Nurs Forum 2015 Mar;42(2):156-164. [doi: <u>10.1188/15.ONF.156-164</u>] [Medline: <u>25806882</u>]
- Hopwood J, Walker N, McDonagh L, Rait G, Walters K, Iliffe S, et al. Internet-based interventions aimed at supporting family caregivers of people with dementia: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 12;20(6):e216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9548] [Medline: 29895512]
- Boots LM, de Vugt ME, van Knippenberg RJ, Kempen GI, Verhey FR. A systematic review of Internet-based supportive interventions for caregivers of patients with dementia. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2014 Apr;29(4):331-344. [doi: 10.1002/gps.4016] [Medline: 23963684]
- Loudon K, Treweek S, Sullivan F, Donnan P, Thorpe KE, Zwarenstein M. The PRECIS-2 tool: designing trials that are fit for purpose. BMJ 2015 May 08;350:h2147. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.h2147</u>] [Medline: <u>25956159</u>]
- Sajobi TT, Li G, Awosoga O, Wang M, Menon BK, Hill MD, et al. A comparison of meta-analytic methods for synthesizing evidence from explanatory and pragmatic trials. Syst Rev 2018 Jan 25;7(1):19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-017-0668-3] [Medline: 29370830]
- 41. Yoong SL, Wolfenden L, Clinton-McHarg T, Waters E, Pettman TL, Steele E, et al. Exploring the pragmatic and explanatory study design on outcomes of systematic reviews of public health interventions: a case study on obesity prevention trials. J Public Health (Oxf) 2014 Mar;36(1):170-176. [doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdu006] [Medline: 24574064]
- 42. Ugalde A, Gaskin CJ, Rankin NM, Schofield P, Boltong A, Aranda S, et al. A systematic review of cancer caregiver interventions: appraising the potential for implementation of evidence into practice. Psychooncology 2019 Apr;28(4):687-701 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.5018] [Medline: 30716183]
- Vis C, Mol M, Kleiboer A, Bührmann L, Finch T, Smit J, et al. Improving implementation of eMental health for mood disorders in routine practice: systematic review of barriers and facilitating factors. JMIR Ment Health 2018 Mar 16;5(1):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.9769] [Medline: 29549072]
- Sander J, Bolinski F, Diekmann S, Gaebel W, Günther K, Hauth I, et al. Online therapy: an added value for inpatient routine care? Perspectives from mental health care professionals. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2022 Feb;272(1):107-118
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00406-021-01251-1] [Medline: 33725165]
- 45. Heynsbergh N, Heckel L, Botti M, Livingston PM. Feasibility, useability and acceptability of technology-based interventions for informal cancer carers: a systematic review. BMC Cancer 2018 Mar 02;18(1):244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4160-9] [Medline: 29499663]

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891
```

- 46. Bastoni S, Wrede C, da Silva MC, Sanderman R, Gaggioli A, Braakman-Jansen A, et al. Factors influencing implementation of eHealth technologies to support informal dementia care: umbrella review. JMIR Aging 2021 Oct 08;4(4):e30841 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/30841] [Medline: 34623314]
- 47. Miao M, Rietdijk R, Brunner M, Debono D, Togher L, Power E. Implementation of web-based psychosocial interventions for adults with acquired brain injury and their caregivers: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2022 Jul 26;24(7):e38100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/38100] [Medline: 35881432]
- 48. Skivington K, Matthews L, Simpson SA, Craig P, Baird J, Blazeby JM, et al. A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2021 Sep 30;374:n2061 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n2061] [Medline: 34593508]
- 49. Nilsen P, Bernhardsson S. Context matters in implementation science: a scoping review of determinant frameworks that describe contextual determinants for implementation outcomes. BMC Health Serv Res 2019 Mar 25;19(1):189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4015-3] [Medline: 30909897]
- 50. Nilsen P. Making sense of implementation theories, models and frameworks. Implement Sci 2015 Apr 21;10:53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-015-0242-0] [Medline: 25895742]
- 51. Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. Implement Sci 2009 Aug 07;4:50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-50] [Medline: 19664226]
- 52. Coumoundouros C, von Essen L, Sanderman R, Woodford J. Implementation of e-mental health interventions for informal caregivers of adults with chronic diseases: a protocol for a mixed-methods systematic review with a qualitative comparative analysis. BMJ Open 2020 Jun 21;10(6):e035406 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-035406] [Medline: 32565461]
- 53. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021 Mar 29;372:n71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71] [Medline: 33782057]
- Rethlefsen ML, Kirtley S, Waffenschmidt S, Ayala AP, Moher D, Page MJ, PRISMA-S Group. PRISMA-S: an extension to the PRISMA Statement for Reporting Literature Searches in Systematic Reviews. Syst Rev 2021 Jan 26;10(1):39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-020-01542-z] [Medline: 33499930]
- 55. Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. Systematic Reviews: CRD's Guidance for Undertaking Reviews in Health Care. York, UK: Centre for Reviews and Dissemination; 2011.
- 56. Costantino G, Montano N, Casazza G. When should we change our clinical practice based on the results of a clinical study? Searching for evidence: PICOS and PubMed. Intern Emerg Med 2015 Jun;10(4):525-527. [doi: 10.1007/s11739-015-1225-5] [Medline: 25833085]
- 57. GBD compare data visualization. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. Seattle, WA, USA: University of Washington; 2018. URL: <u>https://www.healthdata.org/data-visualization/gbd-compare</u> [accessed 2019-07-10]
- 58. Sinha M. Portrait of caregivers, 2012. Statistics Canada. 2013 Sep. URL: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/89-652-x/89-652-x2013001-eng.pdf?st=UF0D52ia</u> [accessed 2019-07-11]
- 59. Kim Y, Schulz R. Family caregivers' strains: comparative analysis of cancer caregiving with dementia, diabetes, and frail elderly caregiving. J Aging Health 2008 Aug;20(5):483-503. [doi: 10.1177/0898264308317533] [Medline: 18420838]
- 60. Eysenbach G. What is e-health? J Med Internet Res 2001;3(2):E20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3.2.e20] [Medline: 11720962]
- 61. Donker T, Griffiths KM, Cuijpers P, Christensen H. Psychoeducation for depression, anxiety and psychological distress: a meta-analysis. BMC Med 2009 Dec 16;7:79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-7-79] [Medline: 20015347]
- 62. Mohr DC, Spring B, Freedland KE, Beckner V, Arean P, Hollon SD, et al. The selection and design of control conditions for randomized controlled trials of psychological interventions. Psychother Psychosom 2009;78(5):275-284. [doi: 10.1159/000228248] [Medline: 19602916]
- 63. Glasgow RE, Rosen GM. Behavioral bibliotherapy: a review of self-help behavior therapy manuals. Psychol Bull 1978 Jan;85(1):1-23. [Medline: <u>343144</u>]
- 64. Farrand P, Woodford J. Impact of support on the effectiveness of written cognitive behavioural self-help: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Clin Psychol Rev 2013 Feb;33(1):182-195. [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2012.11.001] [Medline: 23238023]
- 65. DuBenske LL, Gustafson DH, Namkoong K, Hawkins RP, Atwood AK, Brown RL, et al. CHESS improves cancer caregivers' burden and mood: results of an eHealth RCT. Health Psychol 2014 Oct;33(10):1261-1272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0034216] [Medline: 24245838]
- 66. Bjelland I, Dahl AA, Haug TT, Neckelmann D. The validity of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. An updated literature review. J Psychosom Res 2002 Feb;52(2):69-77. [doi: 10.1016/s0022-3999(01)00296-3] [Medline: 11832252]
- 67. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav 1983 Dec;24(4):385-396. [doi: <u>10.2307/2136404</u>] [Medline: <u>6668417</u>]
- 68. Goldberg DP, Williams P. A User's Guide to the General Health Questionnaire. Glasgow, UK: Nfer-Nelson; 1988.
- 69. Hankins M. The reliability of the twelve-item general health questionnaire (GHQ-12) under realistic assumptions. BMC Public Health 2008 Oct 14;8:355 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-8-355] [Medline: 18854015]

- 70. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Sep;16(9):606-613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x] [Medline: 11556941]
- 71. Radloff LS. The CES-D scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. Appl Psychol Meas 1977 Jun;1(3):385-401 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/014662167700100306]
- 72. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1983 Jun;67(6):361-370. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x] [Medline: 6880820]
- 73. Proctor E, Silmere H, Raghavan R, Hovmand P, Aarons G, Bunger A, et al. Outcomes for implementation research: conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. Adm Policy Ment Health 2011 Mar;38(2):65-76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10488-010-0319-7] [Medline: 20957426]
- 74. International Clinical Trials Registry Platform Search Portal. World Health Organization. 2021. URL: <u>https://trialsearch.who.int/Default.aspx</u> [accessed 2021-09-20]
- 75. ClinicalTrials.gov. U.S. National Library of Medicine. 2021. URL: <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/</u> [accessed 2021-09-20]
- 76. OpenGrey. 2021. URL: https://opengrey.eu/ [accessed 2021-09-20]
- McGowan J, Sampson M, Salzwedel DM, Cogo E, Foerster V, Lefebvre C. PRESS peer review of electronic search strategies: 2015 guideline statement. J Clin Epidemiol 2016 Jul;75:40-46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.01.021] [Medline: 27005575]
- 78. Bramer WM, Giustini D, de Jonge GB, Holland L, Bekhuis T. De-duplication of database search results for systematic reviews in EndNote. J Med Libr Assoc 2016 Jul;104(3):240-243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3163/1536-5050.104.3.014] [Medline: 27366130]
- 79. Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyan-a web and mobile app for systematic reviews. Syst Rev 2016 Dec 05;5(1):210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-016-0384-4] [Medline: 27919275]
- 80. NVivo qualitative data analysis software. QSR International. 2014. URL: <u>https://www.qsrinternational.com/</u> <u>nvivo-qualitative-data-analysis-software/home</u> [accessed 2020-05-01]
- 81. Sterne JA, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, et al. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2019 Aug 28;366:14898. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.14898] [Medline: 31462531]
- 82. McGuinness LA, Higgins JP. Risk-of-bias VISualization (robvis): an R package and Shiny web app for visualizing risk-of-bias assessments. Res Synth Methods 2021 Jan;12(1):55-61. [doi: 10.1002/jrsm.1411] [Medline: 32336025]
- Thomas J, O'Mara-Eves A, Brunton G. Using qualitative comparative analysis (QCA) in systematic reviews of complex interventions: a worked example. Syst Rev 2014 Jun 20;3:67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2046-4053-3-67] [Medline: 24950727]
- 84. Hill LG, Cooper BR, Parker LA. Qualitative comparative analysis: a mixed-method tool for complex implementation questions. J Prim Prev 2019 Feb;40(1):69-87. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10935-019-00536-5</u>] [Medline: <u>30671752</u>]
- 85. Davies EB, Morriss R, Glazebrook C. Computer-delivered and Web-based interventions to improve depression, anxiety, and psychological well-being of university students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2014 May 16;16(5):e130 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3142] [Medline: 24836465]
- 86. van Beugen S, Ferwerda M, Hoeve D, Rovers MM, Spillekom-van Koulil S, van Middendorp H, et al. Internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy for patients with chronic somatic conditions: a meta-analytic review. J Med Internet Res 2014 Mar 27;16(3):e88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2777] [Medline: 24675372]
- 87. Lorenzo-Luaces L, Johns E, Keefe JR. The generalizability of randomized controlled trials of self-guided Internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy for depressive symptoms: systematic review and meta-regression analysis. J Med Internet Res 2018 Nov 09;20(11):e10113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10113] [Medline: 30413400]
- Linde K, Sigterman K, Kriston L, Rücker G, Jamil S, Meissner K, et al. Effectiveness of psychological treatments for depressive disorders in primary care: systematic review and meta-analysis. Ann Fam Med 2015;13(1):56-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1719] [Medline: 25583894]
- 89. Schneider CQ, Wagemann C. Parameters of fit. In: Schneider CQ, Wagemann C, editors. Set-Theoretic Methods for the Social Sciences: A Guide to Qualitative Comparative Analysis. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; 2012:119-150.
- 90. Legewie N. An introduction to applied data analysis with Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA). Forum Qual Soc Res 2013 Sep 26;14(3):15. [doi: 10.17169/fqs-14.3.1961]
- 91. Ragin CC, Davey S. User's guide to Fuzzy-Set/Qualitative Comparative Analysis 3.0. University of California. Irvine, CA, USA: Department of Sociology, University of California; 2017 Jul. URL: <u>http://www.socsci.uci.edu/~cragin/fsQCA/index.shtml</u> [accessed 2019-07-12]
- 92. Thomas J, Harden A. Methods for the thematic synthesis of qualitative research in systematic reviews. BMC Med Res Methodol 2008 Jul 10;8:45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-8-45] [Medline: 18616818]
- 93. Kerins C, McHugh S, McSharry J, Reardon CM, Hayes C, Perry IJ, et al. Barriers and facilitators to implementation of menu labelling interventions from a food service industry perspective: a mixed methods systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2020 Apr 15;17(1):48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-020-00948-1] [Medline: 32295647]
- 94. Popay J, Roberts H, Sowden A, Petticrew M, Arai L, Rodgers M, et al. Guidance on the conduct of narrative synthesis in systematic reviews: a product from the ESRC methods programme. Lancaster University. 2006 Apr. URL: <u>https://www.</u>

lancaster.ac.uk/media/lancaster-university/content-assets/documents/fhm/dhr/chir/NSsynthesisguidanceVersion1-April2006. pdf [accessed 2019-07-31]

- 95. Cristancho-Lacroix V, Wrobel J, Cantegreil-Kallen I, Dub T, Rouquette A, Rigaud A. A web-based psychoeducational program for informal caregivers of patients with Alzheimer's disease: a pilot randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2015 May 12;17(5):e117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3717] [Medline: 25967983]
- 96. Hepburn K, Nocera J, Higgins M, Epps F, Brewster GS, Lindauer A, et al. Results of a randomized trial testing the efficacy of Tele-Savvy, an online synchronous/asynchronous psychoeducation program for family caregivers of persons living with dementia. Gerontologist 2022 Apr 20;62(4):616-628 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnab029] [Medline: 33640979]
- 97. Smith GC, Egbert N, Dellman-Jenkins M, Nanna K, Palmieri PA. Reducing depression in stroke survivors and their informal caregivers: a randomized clinical trial of a Web-based intervention. Rehabil Psychol 2012 Aug;57(3):196-206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0029587] [Medline: 22946607]
- 98. Bodschwinna D, Lorenz I, Bauereiß N, Gündel H, Baumeister H, Hönig K. A psycho-oncological online intervention supporting partners of patients with cancer (PartnerCARE): results from a randomized controlled feasibility trial. Psychooncology 2022 Jul;31(7):1230-1242. [doi: 10.1002/pon.5917] [Medline: 35233880]
- 99. Baruah U, Varghese M, Loganathan S, Mehta KM, Gallagher-Thompson D, Zandi D, et al. Feasibility and preliminary effectiveness of an online training and support program for caregivers of people with dementia in India: a randomized controlled trial. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2021 Apr;36(4):606-617. [doi: 10.1002/gps.5502] [Medline: 33491811]
- 100. Blom MM, Zarit SH, Groot Zwaaftink RB, Cuijpers P, Pot AM. Effectiveness of an Internet intervention for family caregivers of people with dementia: results of a randomized controlled trial. PLoS One 2015 Feb 13;10(2):e0116622 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116622] [Medline: 25679228]
- 101. Boots LM, de Vugt ME, Kempen GI, Verhey FR. Effectiveness of a blended care self-management program for caregivers of people with early-stage dementia (Partner in Balance): randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jul 13;20(7):e10017 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10017] [Medline: 30006327]
- 102. Fossey J, Charlesworth G, Fowler JA, Frangou E, Pimm TJ, Dent J, et al. Online education and cognitive behavior therapy improve dementia caregivers' mental health: a randomized trial. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2021 Jul;22(7):1403-9.e1. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jamda.2020.10.009</u>] [Medline: <u>33288467</u>]
- 103. Gustafson DH, Gustafson DH, Cody OJ, Chih MY, Johnston DC, Asthana S. Pilot test of a computer-based system to help family caregivers of dementia patients. J Alzheimers Dis 2019;70(2):541-552. [doi: <u>10.3233/JAD-190052</u>] [Medline: <u>31256126</u>]
- 104. Kajiyama B, Thompson LW, Eto-Iwase T, Yamashita M, Di Mario J, Marian Tzuang Y, et al. Exploring the effectiveness of an internet-based program for reducing caregiver distress using the iCare Stress Management e-Training Program. Aging Ment Health 2013;17(5):544-554 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2013.775641] [Medline: 23461355]
- 105. Köhle N, Drossaert CH, Ten Klooster PM, Schreurs KM, Hagedoorn M, Van Uden-Kraan CF, et al. Web-based self-help intervention for partners of cancer patients based on acceptance and commitment therapy and self-compassion training: a randomized controlled trial with automated versus personal feedback. Support Care Cancer 2021 Sep;29(9):5115-5125 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06051-w] [Medline: <u>33608762</u>]
- 106. Kubo A, Kurtovich E, McGinnis M, Aghaee S, Altschuler A, Quesenberry Jr C, et al. A randomized controlled trial of mHealth mindfulness intervention for cancer patients and informal cancer caregivers: a feasibility study within an integrated health care delivery system. Integr Cancer Ther 2019;18:1534735419850634 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1534735419850634] [Medline: 31092044]
- 107. Pensak NA, Carr AL, Jones J, Mikulich-Gilbertson SK, Kutner JS, Kilbourn K, et al. A pilot study of mobilized intervention to help caregivers of oncology patients manage distress. Psychooncology 2021 Apr;30(4):520-528. [doi: <u>10.1002/pon.5597</u>] [Medline: <u>33217070</u>]
- 108. Kubo A, Altschuler A, Kurtovich E, Hendlish S, Laurent CA, Kolevska T, et al. A pilot mobile-based mindfulness intervention for cancer patients and their informal caregivers. Mindfulness (N Y) 2018 Dec;9(6):1885-1894 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12671-018-0931-2] [Medline: 30740187]
- 109. Zulman DM, Schafenacker A, Barr KL, Moore IT, Fisher J, McCurdy K, et al. Adapting an in-person patient-caregiver communication intervention to a tailored web-based format. Psychooncology 2012 Mar;21(3):336-341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pon.1900] [Medline: 21830255]
- 110. Northouse L, Schafenacker A, Barr KL, Katapodi M, Yoon H, Brittain K, et al. A tailored Web-based psychoeducational intervention for cancer patients and their family caregivers. Cancer Nurs 2014;37(5):321-330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000159] [Medline: 24945270]
- 111. Price-Blackshear MA, Pratscher SD, Oyler DL, Armer JM, Cheng A, Cheng MX, et al. Online couples mindfulness-based intervention for young breast cancer survivors and their partners: a randomized-control trial. J Psychosoc Oncol 2020;38(5):592-611. [doi: 10.1080/07347332.2020.1778150] [Medline: 32552446]
- Fauth EB, Novak JR, Levin ME. Outcomes from a pilot online acceptance and commitment therapy program for dementia family caregivers. Aging Ment Health 2022 Aug;26(8):1620-1629. [doi: <u>10.1080/13607863.2021.1942432</u>] [Medline: <u>34233133</u>]

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891
```

- 113. Griffiths PC, Whitney MK, Kovaleva M, Hepburn K. Development and implementation of tele-savvy for dementia caregivers: a department of veterans affairs clinical demonstration project. Gerontologist 2016 Feb;56(1):145-154. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/gnv123</u>] [Medline: <u>26566806</u>]
- Kovaleva M, Blevins L, Griffiths PC, Hepburn K. An online program for caregivers of persons living with dementia: lessons learned. J Appl Gerontol 2019 Feb;38(2):159-182. [doi: <u>10.1177/0733464817705958</u>] [Medline: <u>28460557</u>]
- 115. Kajiyama B, Fernandez G, Carter EA, Humber MB, Thompson LW. Helping Hispanic dementia caregivers cope with stress using technology-based resources. Clin Gerontol 2018;41(3):209-216. [doi: <u>10.1080/07317115.2017.1377797</u>] [Medline: <u>29236621</u>]
- 116. Kozlov E, McDarby M, Pagano I, Llaneza D, Owen J, Duberstein P. The feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy of an mHealth mindfulness therapy for caregivers of adults with cognitive impairment. Aging Ment Health 2022 Oct;26(10):1963-1970. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2021.1963949] [Medline: 34428993]
- 117. Sikder AT, Yang FC, Schafer R, Dowling GA, Traeger L, Jain FA. Mentalizing imagery therapy mobile app to enhance the mood of family dementia caregivers: feasibility and limited efficacy testing. JMIR Aging 2019 Mar 21;2(1):e12850 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12850] [Medline: 31518275]
- 118. Demers M, Pagnini F, Phillips D, Chang B, Winstein C, Langer E. Feasibility of an online Langerian mindfulness program for stroke survivors and caregivers. OTJR (Thorofare N J) 2022 Jul;42(3):228-237. [doi: <u>10.1177/15394492221091266</u>] [Medline: <u>35485301</u>]
- Dragomanovich HM, Dhruva A, Ekman E, Schoenbeck KL, Kubo A, Van Blarigan EL, et al. Being Present 2.0: online mindfulness-based program for metastatic gastrointestinal cancer patients and caregivers. Glob Adv Health Med 2021 Nov 3;10:21649561211044693 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/21649561211044693] [Medline: 35174001]
- 120. Beer JM, Smith KN, Kennedy T, Mois G, Acena D, Gallerani DG, et al. A focus group evaluation of Breathe Easier: a mindfulness-based mHealth app for survivors of lung cancer and their family members. Am J Health Promot 2020 Sep;34(7):770-778. [doi: 10.1177/0890117120924176] [Medline: 32406241]
- 121. Buss MK, DuBenske LL, Dinauer S, Gustafson DH, McTavish F, Cleary JF. Patient/Caregiver influences for declining participation in supportive oncology trials. J Support Oncol 2008 Apr;6(4):168-174. [Medline: <u>18491685</u>]
- 122. DuBenske LL, Gustafson DH, Shaw BR, Cleary JF. Web-based cancer communication and decision making systems: connecting patients, caregivers, and clinicians for improved health outcomes. Med Decis Making 2010;30(6):732-744 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0272989X10386382] [Medline: 21041539]
- Dubenske LL, Chih MY, Dinauer S, Gustafson DH, Cleary JF. Development and implementation of a clinician reporting system for advanced stage cancer: initial lessons learned. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2008;15(5):679-686 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M2532] [Medline: 18579837]
- 124. Carr AL, Jones J, Mikulich Gilbertson S, Laudenslager ML, Kutner JS, Kilbourn K, et al. Impact of a mobilized stress management program (Pep-Pal) for caregivers of oncology patients: mixed-methods study. JMIR Cancer 2019 May 03;5(1):e11406 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11406] [Medline: 31066678]
- 125. Pensak NA, Joshi T, Simoneau T, Kilbourn K, Carr A, Kutner J, et al. Development of a web-based intervention for addressing distress in caregivers of patients receiving stem cell transplants: formative evaluation with qualitative interviews and focus groups. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Jun 22;6(6):e120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.7075] [Medline: 28642213]
- 126. Boots LM, de Vugt ME, Withagen HE, Kempen GI, Verhey FR. Development and initial evaluation of the web-based self-management program "Partner in Balance" for family caregivers of people with early stage dementia: an exploratory mixed-methods study. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Mar 01;5(1):e33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5142] [Medline: 26932438]
- 127. Boots LM, de Vugt ME, Smeets CM, Kempen GI, Verhey FR. Implementation of the blended care self-management program for caregivers of people with early-stage dementia (Partner in Balance): process evaluation of a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2017 Dec 19;19(12):e423 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7666] [Medline: 29258980]
- 128. Christie HL, Boots LM, Tange HJ, Verhey FR, de Vugt ME. Implementations of evidence-based eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia in municipality contexts (Myinlife and Partner in Balance): evaluation study. JMIR Aging 2021 Feb 05;4(1):e21629 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21629] [Medline: 33544085]
- 129. Christie HL, Schichel MC, Tange HJ, Veenstra MY, Verhey FR, de Vugt ME. Perspectives from municipality officials on the adoption, dissemination, and implementation of electronic health interventions to support caregivers of people with dementia: inductive thematic analysis. JMIR Aging 2020 May 13;3(1):e17255 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17255] [Medline: 32401217]
- 130. Christie HL, Boots LM, Peetoom K, Tange HJ, Verhey FR, de Vugt ME. Developing a plan for the sustainable implementation of an electronic health intervention (Partner in Balance) to support caregivers of people with dementia: case study. JMIR Aging 2020 Jun 25;3(1):e18624 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18624] [Medline: 32584261]
- 131. Bruinsma J, Peetoom K, Boots L, Daemen M, Verhey F, Bakker C, et al. Tailoring the web-based 'Partner in Balance' intervention to support spouses of persons with frontotemporal dementia. Internet Interv 2021 Dec;26:100442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100442] [Medline: 34430221]

- 132. Bruinsma J, Peetoom K, Bakker C, Boots L, Millenaar J, Verhey F, et al. Tailoring and evaluating the web-based 'Partner in Balance' intervention for family caregivers of persons with young-onset dementia. Internet Interv 2021 Sep;25:100390 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2021.100390] [Medline: 33996507]
- 133. Cristancho-Lacroix V, Moulin F, Wrobel J, Batrancourt B, Plichart M, De Rotrou J, et al. A web-based program for informal caregivers of persons with Alzheimer's disease: an iterative user-centered design. JMIR Res Protoc 2014 Sep 15;3(3):e46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.3607] [Medline: 25263541]
- 134. Hales SA, Fossey J. Caring For Me and You: the co-production of a computerised cognitive behavioural therapy (cCBT) package for carers of people with dementia. Aging Ment Health 2018 Oct;22(10):1287-1294. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2017.1348475] [Medline: 28691520]
- 135. Denzinger A, Bingisser MB, Ehrbar V, Huggenberger HJ, Urech C, Woessmer B, et al. Web-based counseling for families with parental cancer: baseline findings and lessons learned. J Psychosoc Oncol 2019;37(5):599-615. [doi: <u>10.1080/07347332.2019.1602576</u>] [Medline: <u>31010412</u>]
- 136. Contreras M, Van Hout E, Farquhar M, McCracken LM, Gould RL, Hornberger M, et al. Internet-delivered guided self-help Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for family carers of people with dementia (iACT4CARERS): a qualitative study of carer views and acceptability. Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being 2022 Dec;17(1):2066255 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/17482631.2022.2066255] [Medline: 35435153]
- 137. Bingisser MB, Eichelberger D, Ehrbar V, Huggenberger HJ, Urech C, Alder J. Web-based counseling for families with parental cancer: a case report. Psychooncology 2018 Jun;27(6):1667-1669. [doi: 10.1002/pon.4679] [Medline: 29476583]
- 138. Köhle N, Drossaert CH, Jaran J, Schreurs KM, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Bohlmeijer ET. User-experiences with a web-based self-help intervention for partners of cancer patients based on acceptance and commitment therapy and self-compassion: a qualitative study. BMC Public Health 2017 Feb 28;17(1):225 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4121-2] [Medline: 28245794]
- Köhle N, Drossaert CH, Van Uden-Kraan CF, Schreurs KM, Hagedoorn M, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, et al. Intent to use a web-based psychological intervention for partners of cancer patients: associated factors and preferences. J Psychosoc Oncol 2018;36(2):203-221. [doi: 10.1080/07347332.2017.1397831] [Medline: 29336704]
- 140. Köhle N, Drossaert CH, Oosterik S, Schreurs KM, Hagedoorn M, van Uden-Kraan CF, et al. Needs and preferences of partners of cancer patients regarding a web-based psychological intervention: a qualitative study. JMIR Cancer 2015 Dec 29;1(2):e13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/cancer.4631] [Medline: 28410157]
- 141. Pot AM, Blom MM, Willemse BM. Acceptability of a guided self-help Internet intervention for family caregivers: mastery over dementia. Int Psychogeriatr 2015 Aug;27(8):1343-1354. [doi: 10.1017/S1041610215000034] [Medline: 25648589]
- 142. Scott K, Beatty L. Feasibility study of a self-guided cognitive behaviour therapy Internet intervention for cancer carers. Aust J Prim Health 2013;19(4):270-274. [doi: 10.1071/PY13025] [Medline: 23796231]
- 143. Xiao LD, McKechnie S, Jeffers L, De Bellis A, Beattie E, Low LF, et al. Stakeholders' perspectives on adapting the World Health Organization iSupport for Dementia in Australia. Dementia (London) 2021 Jul;20(5):1536-1552. [doi: <u>10.1177/1471301220954675</u>] [Medline: <u>32864991</u>]
- 144. Baruah U, Shivakumar P, Loganathan S, Pot AM, Mehta KM, Gallagher-Thompson D, et al. Perspectives on components of an online training and support program for dementia family caregivers in India: a focus group study. Clin Gerontol 2020;43(5):518-532. [doi: 10.1080/07317115.2020.1725703] [Medline: 32081097]
- 145. Baruah U, Loganathan S, Shivakumar P, Pot AM, Mehta KM, Gallagher-Thompson D, et al. Adaptation of an online training and support program for caregivers of people with dementia to Indian cultural setting. Asian J Psychiatr 2021 May;59:102624. [doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2021.102624] [Medline: <u>33770675</u>]
- 146. Contreras M, Van Hout E, Farquhar M, Gould RL, McCracken LM, Hornberger M, et al. Therapists' perceptions and acceptability of providing Internet-delivered guided self-help acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) for family carers of people with dementia (iACT4CARERS): a qualitative study. Cogn Behav Ther 2021 Dec 15;14:E38. [doi: 10.1017/s1754470x21000337]
- 147. Henderson C, Knapp M, Fossey J, Frangou E, Ballard C. Cost-effectiveness of an online intervention for caregivers of people living with dementia. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2022 Sep;23(9):1468-1473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2022.03.002] [Medline: 35395216]
- 148. Oinas-Kukkonen H, Harjumaa M. Persuasive systems design: key issues, process model, and system features. Commun Assoc Inf Syst 2009;24:28. [doi: 10.17705/1CAIS.02428]
- 149. Higgins JP, Altman DG, Gøtzsche PC, Jüni P, Moher D, Oxman AD, Cochrane Bias Methods Group, Cochrane Statistical Methods Group. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2011 Oct 18;343:d5928 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.d5928] [Medline: 22008217]
- 150. Teles S, Ferreira A, Seeher K, Fréel S, Paúl C. Online training and support program (iSupport) for informal dementia caregivers: protocol for an intervention study in Portugal. BMC Geriatr 2020 Jan 08;20(1):10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-019-1364-z] [Medline: 31914936]
- 151. Omachi Y. Evaluation of the effectiveness of an internet-based self-learning and psychological assessment program for dementia caregivers. UMIN Clinical Trials Registry. 2021 Jan 11. URL: <u>https://center6.umin.ac.jp/cgi-open-bin/ctr_e/ctr_view.cgi?recptno=R000049040</u> [accessed 2020-05-24]

```
https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891
```

- 152. Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D, CONSORT Group. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. BMJ 2010 Mar 23;340:c332 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.c332] [Medline: 20332509]
- 153. Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, Milne R, Perera R, Moher D, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. BMJ 2014 Mar 07;348:g1687. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.g1687</u>] [Medline: <u>24609605</u>]
- 154. Jin Y, Sanger N, Shams I, Luo C, Shahid H, Li G, et al. Does the medical literature remain inadequately described despite having reporting guidelines for 21 years? - a systematic review of reviews: an update. J Multidiscip Healthc 2018 Sep 27;11:495-510 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/JMDH.S155103] [Medline: 30310289]
- 155. Dijkers MP. Overview of reviews using the Template for Intervention Description and Replication (TIDieR) as a measure of trial intervention reporting quality. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2021 Aug;102(8):1623-1632. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.apmr.2020.09.397</u>] [Medline: <u>33245937</u>]
- 156. Sygna K, Johansen S, Ruland CM. Recruitment challenges in clinical research including cancer patients and their caregivers. A randomized controlled trial study and lessons learned. Trials 2015 Sep 25;16:428 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13063-015-0948-y] [Medline: 26407547]
- 157. Hazell CM, Jones CJ, Pandey A, Smith HE. Barriers to recruiting and retaining psychosis carers: a case study on the lessons learned from the Caring for Caregivers (C4C) trial. BMC Res Notes 2019 Dec 17;12(1):810 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13104-019-4832-9] [Medline: 31847874]
- 158. Farrand P, Woodford J, Coumoundouros C, Svedin F. Supported cognitive-behavioural therapy self-help versus treatment-as-usual for depressed informal caregivers of stroke survivors (CEDArS): feasibility randomised controlled trial. Cogn Behav Ther 2020 Jul 14;13:E23. [doi: 10.1017/S1754470X20000239]
- 159. Smit ES, Linn AJ, van Weert JC. Taking online computer-tailoring forward: the potential of tailoring the message frame and delivery mode of online health behaviour change interventions. Eur Heal Psychol 2015;17:25-31 [FREE Full text]
- 160. Noar SM, Benac CN, Harris MS. Does tailoring matter? Meta-analytic review of tailored print health behavior change interventions. Psychol Bull 2007 Jul;133(4):673-693. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.133.4.673] [Medline: 17592961]
- 161. Damschroder LJ, Reardon CM, Opra Widerquist MA, Lowery J. Conceptualizing outcomes for use with the Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research (CFIR): the CFIR outcomes addendum. Implement Sci 2022 Jan 22;17(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-021-01181-5] [Medline: 35065675]
- 162. Damschroder LJ, Reardon CM, Widerquist MA, Lowery JC. The updated Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research based on user feedback. Implement Sci 2022 Oct 29;17(1):75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-022-01245-0] [Medline: 36309746]
- 163. Zwarenstein MZ, Thorpe K, Treweek S, Loudon K. PRECIS-2 for retrospective assessment of RCTs in systematic reviews. J Clin Epidemiol 2020 Oct;126:202-206. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jclinepi.2020.06.023</u>] [Medline: <u>32565215</u>]
- 164. Zwarenstein M, Treweek S, Gagnier JJ, Altman DG, Tunis S, Haynes B, CONSORT group, Pragmatic Trials in Healthcare (Practihc) group. Improving the reporting of pragmatic trials: an extension of the CONSORT statement. BMJ 2008 Nov 11;337:a2390 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.a2390] [Medline: 19001484]
- 165. Higgins JP, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Sterne JA. Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in a randomized trial. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. 2nd edition. London, UK: The Cochrane Collaboration; 2019:205-227.
- 166. Minozzi S, Cinquini M, Gianola S, Gonzalez-Lorenzo M, Banzi R. The revised Cochrane risk of bias tool for randomized trials (RoB 2) showed low interrater reliability and challenges in its application. J Clin Epidemiol 2020 Oct;126:37-44. [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2020.06.015] [Medline: 32562833]
- 167. Juul S, Gluud C, Simonsen S, Frandsen FW, Kirsch I, Jakobsen JC. Blinding in randomised clinical trials of psychological interventions: a retrospective study of published trial reports. BMJ Evid Based Med 2021 Jun;26(3):109. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjebm-2020-111407</u>] [Medline: <u>32998993</u>]
- 168. Christian JB, Brouwer ES, Girman CJ, Bennett D, Davis KJ, Dreyer NA. Masking in pragmatic trials: who, what, and when to blind. Ther Innov Regul Sci 2020 Mar;54(2):431-436. [doi: <u>10.1007/s43441-019-00073-7</u>] [Medline: <u>32072597</u>]

Abbreviations

CFIR: Consolidated Framework for Implementation Research CHESS: Comprehensive Health Enhancement Support System CONSORT: Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials PICOS: population, intervention, comparators, outcomes, study designs PRECIS-2: Pragmatic Explanatory Continuum Indicator Summary 2 PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses-literature search extension PROSPERO: International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews QCA: qualitative comparative analysis RCT: randomized controlled trial

TIDieR: Template for Intervention Description and Replication

Edited by J Torous, G Eysenbach; submitted 15.08.22; peer-reviewed by N Kaufman, S Bannon; comments to author 18.10.22; accepted 25.10.22; published 30.11.22.

Please cite as:

Coumoundouros C, Mårtensson E, Ferraris G, Zuidberg JM, von Essen L, Sanderman R, Woodford J Implementation of e–Mental Health Interventions for Informal Caregivers of Adults With Chronic Diseases: Mixed Methods Systematic Review With a Qualitative Comparative Analysis and Thematic Synthesis JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e41891 URL: https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41891 doi:10.2196/41891 PMID:36314782

©Chelsea Coumoundouros, Erika Mårtensson, Giulia Ferraris, Justine Margaux Zuidberg, Louise von Essen, Robbert Sanderman, Joanne Woodford. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 30.11.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

The Implementation of Measurement-Based Care in the Context of Telemedicine: Qualitative Study

Jen Van Tiem^{1,2*}, PhD; Elizabeth Wirtz^{1,2*}, PhD; Natalie Suiter^{1,2*}, BSc; Amanda Heeren^{2,3*}, MSW; Lindsey Fuhrmeister^{2,3*}, BA; John Fortney^{4,5*}, PhD; Heather Reisinger^{1,6,7*}, PhD; Carolyn Turvey^{1,2,3*}, PhD

¹Department of Veterans Affairs, Health Services Research & Development, Center for Access and Delivery Research and Evaluation, Iowa City Veterans Affairs Health Care System, Iowa City, IA, United States

²Department of Veterans Affairs Office of Rural Health, Veterans Rural Health Resource Center-Iowa City, Iowa City VA Healthcare System, Iowa City, IA, United States

³Department of Psychiatry, Carver College of Medicine, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States

⁴Department of Veterans Affairs, Health Services Research & Development, Center of Innovation for Veteran-Centered and Values-Driven Care, Veterans Affairs Puget Sound Health Care System, Seattle, WA, United States

⁵Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, WA, United States

⁶Institute for Clinical and Translational Science, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States

⁷Department of Internal Medicine, Carver College of Medicine, University of Iowa, Iowa City, IA, United States

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Jen Van Tiem, PhD Department of Veterans Affairs, Health Services Research & Development Center for Access and Delivery Research and Evaluation Iowa City Veterans Affairs Health Care System 601 Highway 6 West Iowa City, IA, 52246 United States Phone: 1 434 227 7720 Email: jennifer.vantiem@va.gov

Abstract

Background: The Measurement Based Care in Mental Health Initiative launched by the Department of Veterans Affairs in 2016 is an example of an evidence-based practice that uses patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) to improve patient outcomes. The acceptance of measurement-based care (MBC) among Veterans Affairs providers is relatively high. However, there are barriers to MBC for telehealth providers. Health information technologies might afford opportunities to address some of the barriers related to the uptake of MBC.

Objective: This paper reports on an implementation effort to integrate MBC into mental health care telehealth practice using eHealth solutions.

Methods: Qualitative data were generated from 22 semistructured interviews with psychiatrists (n=4), psychologists (n=3), social workers (n=3), nurses (n=6), a pharmacist (n=1), and administrative staff (n=5) who provide telemental health care through a community-based outpatient clinic in the rural Midwestern United States. The interviews were conducted during the pilot phase of an implementation initiative to increase the adoption of MBC by revising clinic workflows to integrate the use of eHealth technologies. Data were analyzed using thematic analysis.

Results: Time burden and workflow issues were the most common barrier to provider adoption of MBC; sharing and reviewing pencil-and-paper measures and results in the same room was no longer possible in novel telehealth workflows necessitated by the COVID-19 pandemic. Providers voiced concerns about how long it would take to collect, adequately score, interpret, share, and document the PROMs during the telehealth visit. Concerns about time might also correspond to a gap in providers' familiarity with these assessments, greater comfort in assessing symptoms through clinical interviews, and being accustomed to using the assessments as screening tools more so than longitudinal outcome measures. Capacities associated with eHealth technologies may address workflow concerns and promote providers' understanding and use of the measures as tracking tools.

Conclusions: The need to use limited appointment time well was a top priority for telemental health providers. eHealth technologies provided operative supports that protect time in appointments by shifting when and how PROMs are collected. Bolstering providers' familiarity with how to use PROMs in the course of treatment may impact providers' buy-in by encouraging them to reconsider how sharing and acting on PROMs could be time well spent.

(JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e41601) doi:10.2196/41601

KEYWORDS

telehealth; patient-reported outcome measures; measurement-based care; health information technology; data visualization

Introduction

The Measurement Based Care in Mental Health (MBC in MH) Initiative launched by the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) in 2016 is an example of an evidence-based practice that uses patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) to improve patient outcomes [1-3]. In measurement-based care (MBC) systems, patients complete standardized assessments such as the 9-Item Patient Health Questionnaire at regular intervals, and providers and patients use the results of these assessments to help them understand symptom presentation, identify targets for intervention, and monitor progress toward treatment goals [4]. By reviewing trends over time, providers and patients discern positive or negative changes to inform clinical decisions and psychotherapy approaches [4-6]. The VA MBC in MH Initiative highlights 3 essential components through a campaign using the slogan "Collect, Share, Act" [7].

VA providers are agreeable to MBC, but use is low and varies by discipline [8]. Early documented barriers ranged from an objective lack of resources (eg, protected time) to subjective concerns about the utility of the assessments relative to direct clinical interview [9]. Low provider use of MBC persists [10,11], even as evidence about the positive impact on outcomes supports the use of MBC [6,12]. Research has consistently documented that patients generally appreciate MBC, especially how it promotes shared decision-making [13-16]. The use of MBC dropped among VA providers at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic [17], presumably because of the increase in telemental health [18], although the full impact on the delivery of clinical care, for both patients and providers, is still being understood [19-21].

Health information technologies might address some of the barriers related to the uptake of MBC especially in the context of telehealth [22,23]. Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, there was a call to better understand "remote measurement-based care (RMBC)" [24], that is, obtaining measures independent of appointment time using patient-facing electronic platforms to deliver assessments. Following the expansion of telemental health during the COVID-19 pandemic, researchers have just begun to publish findings about the integration of MBC into telemental health [20,25]. More research needs to be done, especially given the potential of eHealth technologies to address persistent time burden and workflow barriers by automating the asynchronous administration of PROMs. As well, there is very little information on the perceived utility or functionality of the visualizations that these technologies can produce to show a graphical representation of a patient's reported symptoms over time [24,26].

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41601

The VA is promoting the use of electronic capture of PROMs via eHealth solutions. Using these technologies, providers can administer PROMs electronically. The results are immediately scored and available for integration into the medical record without requiring synchronous administration or data entry by providers. This paper reports on an implementation effort to integrate RMBC into clinical telehealth practice using eHealth solutions. Our analysis explores the full meaning of providers' perceptions of time and workflow barriers and makes a novel finding about how the visualizations that the eHealth applications produce offer providers the opportunity to develop a narrative of treatment.

Methods

MBC in VA

The MBC in MH Initiative in VA launched in 2016; the goal of the initiative was to rapidly implement MBC and position MBC as the new standard of care [2]. To achieve this goal, members of the initiative rolled out MBC to 176 general and specialty care mental health programs, as well as Primary Care Mental Health Integration programs [2]. Researchers and implementation scientists involved in the implementation effort have published on the barriers and facilitators, as well as lessons learned during implementation [2,8,10,27]. They identified a lack of appropriate "technology" as a barrier to the implementation of MBC, although they suggested that "provider attitudes" and "organizational climate" also likely served as barriers [2].

The software platforms that were available at the VA in 2016 (Mental Health Assistant, VA Office of Information and Technology; and Behavioral Health Lab, Capital Solution Design) lacked both patient- and provider-facing features that would have facilitated a robust MBC practice [2]. Both Mental Health Assistant and Behavioral Health Lab were provider-facing software platforms, meaning that providers had to collect the data from patients, usually through direct interview or asking patients to complete pencil-and-paper forms. Providers or administrative assistants then had to enter the data into the medical record manually. Although some clinics were able to implement collection via a tablet in the waiting room, the predominant form of data collection was through direct assessment by the provider and hand entry into the medical record. Data from PROMs had to either be manually entered by the provider during appointments, entered with a tablet in the waiting room and then entered into the electronic medical record, or collected via pen and paper [10]. Some clinics explored using secure messaging via the patient portal (My HealtheVet; United States Veterans Health Administration) to

XSL•FO RenderX

share assessments between patients and providers [25], but this method did not resolve either the time burden or workload barriers. At the time, patient-facing eHealth applications that have been used in the context of RMBC [24] were not available in VA and were not part of the initial implementation of MBC.

The VA has only recently started exploring patient-facing eHealth applications such as BHL Touch (Capital Solution Design) and MH CheckUp (VA Mobile). MH CheckUp was first rolled out in December 2020 and BHL Touch was rolled out in July 2021. Our implementation effort entailed understanding how to use these eHealth applications to facilitate the workflow processes associated with MBC, including collecting, sharing, and acting on PROMs. Human/user-centered design processes structured our implementation according to 4 phases: "Discover," "Design," "Build," and "Test" [28]. The purpose of our study was to develop workflows for clinicians that addressed the potential technological, organizational, and attitudinal barriers to the use of MBC. This paper reports on data generated during the "Discover" phase.

Setting

We conducted a rapid ethnographic assessment [29] of the workflows of providers based in rural community-based outpatient clinics (CBOCs) that served as satellite clinics for VA Medical Centers often located in urban settings. Providers were familiar with the routine collection of patient-reported outcomes in the context of protocols for evidence-based practices such as cognitive processing therapy, although this was not necessarily labeled as MBC. They had all also been made aware of new eHealth technologies such as MH CheckUp and BHL Touch; however, their engagement with these applications was dependent upon their own interest. Of all of the clinicians we talked to (n=18), there were 5 people who already had some experience using these eHealth applications in the context of treatment.

This work supported the operational goals of the Office of Mental Health and Suicide Prevention and the Office of Rural Health within the VA.

Ethical Considerations

Our project procedures were reviewed by the University of Iowa Institutional Review Board (# 202009601) and determined to be non-human subjects research. Additionally, the project was reviewed by the Iowa City VA Research and Development Committee.

Participants

We recruited staff members (n=26) who provide telemental health services to patients at 2 CBOCs in the rural Midwestern United States. A total of 22 staff members agreed to participate; they included psychiatrists (n=4), psychologists (n=3), social workers (n=3), nurses (n=6), a pharmacist (n=1), clerical staff (n=2), program managers (n=2), and the regional telehealth point of contact (n=1). Although we only report on interview data with psychiatrists, psychologists, social workers, pharmacists, and the telehealth point of contact in this paper, it was important to speak with clerical staff, nurses, and program managers to understand the organizational climate of the

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41601

CBOCs. Not only did interviews with these individuals help us ask better questions of the providers, but they will also inform the decisions we make in subsequent phases of the study, including "Design" and "Build." Moreover, some of these supporting staff members were part of the workflow related to collecting PROMS from patients.

Procedure

We conducted direct observations of weekly web-based team meetings and semistructured interviews over videoconferencing. The program managers on each of the teams facilitated our entry into the weekly team meetings. We started observing weekly team meetings in December 2020 and continued through 2022. We took detailed field notes of the discussion of workflows that shaped the day-to-day work of the teams. Attending weekly team meetings served four purposes: (1) it acclimated the qualitative analysts (who are both trained in anthropology and not clinicians) to the technical language that the team members used when talking about their work; (2) it helped in the development of rapport, so that it was ultimately easier to recruit participants for interviews, and during those interviews, both the participant and interviewer had a sense of shared experience; (3) it helped us notice potential workflow and organizational barriers to the implementation of the eHealth technologies; and (4) in helping us notice those potential barriers, we were able to tailor our interview probes to the context. We maintained our presence in weekly meetings even after the interviews were completed to track emerging workflow and organizational barriers as we moved into the "Design" phase of our implementation. We used this method as a workaround when our original plan to conduct site visits was derailed due to COVID-19 travel restrictions.

Our early field notes informed the development and refinement of our interview guide (Multimedia Appendix 1). Our interviews addressed staff perceptions of using PROMs in clinical care; their experiences integrating standard assessments into individual appointments, as well as treatment over time; and finally, their techniques for reviewing the assessments with their patients. We recruited staff members via email and conducted interviews from May 2021 to October 2021. Participation was voluntary and we obtained verbal consent. Interviews were recorded and transcribed; they ranged from 18 minutes to 60 minutes and averaged 35 minutes.

Data Analysis

In all, 2 qualitative analysts conducted a thematic analysis [30] of the interview data. The analysts coded each interview together. Using inductive and deductive coding [31], we identified themes related to workflow, time, patient flow, data management, technology, job role, protocols, treatment approach, and perceptions of MBC.

Results

Overview

The barriers that have been documented for in-person care were also barriers to MBC in the context of telehealth. We heard providers voice concerns about how long it would take and how much coordination it would entail to adequately score, interpret,

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

share results with patients and document the PROMs. We also found that the providers who were already engaging with eHealth applications noticed how these technologies can help resolve some of the time burden and workflow barriers in both telehealth and in-person visits.

In asking providers to reflect on their experiences with MBC, we surfaced latent barriers couched within the larger umbrellas of workflow and time. Concerns about time might correspond to providers' training and preference in assessing symptoms through clinical interviews rather than standard assessments. These characteristics, combined with being accustomed to using the assessments as screening tools more so than longitudinal outcome measures, might contribute to providers' hesitancy to use MBC as a tool for shared decision-making and treatment planning.

In our discussions with providers, we made a novel finding about the potential of the visualizations that the eHealth technologies can create. Researchers have noted how tracking patient's responses over time using visualizations is an unexplored potential benefit of RMBC with eHealth technologies [24,26]. We found that the visualizations helped providers develop a narrative about the course of the patient's illness and understand trends of symptom severity over time.

Telehealth, MBC, and Workflow

At the time of the interviews, providers were still adjusting to changes in their workflow precipitated by the COVID-19 pandemic. The workflows providers had been using to administer PROMs were no longer possible. One psychiatrist explained how, prior to the pandemic,

Usually the patients...would check in in a kiosk and that would flag them to fill out or to receive a paper copy of a questionnaire, And then the patient [would] fill it out on paper and then someone physically on site would upload that into...our electronic medical record, and then we would get it that way. And then the pandemic hit and everyone's doing video visits to home, which is very exciting. And now trying to catch up and find a way to capture um, that workflow, but all electronically. [Psychiatrist and telehealth point of contact, multiple CBOCs]

When we spoke with providers, they had been using several telehealth formats, including phone visits and video-based visits such as video telemedicine and VA Video Connect (VA Mobile) visits. For video telemedicine visits, patients come into the CBOC and have their visit via video chat with a provider who is either in another room or at another clinic location. For VA Video Connect visits, patients stay at home and have their visit with a provider who is at a clinic or at home. Providers anticipated workflow barriers to integrating PROMs into telehealth appointments, including questions about when to distribute the PROM, how to get it back, and how to get it back in time for it to be used during the appointment. One psychiatrist described their experience in using MBC during in person visits and how "there's a lot of pieces." They said,

So when I think about Tele Health, there's the phone which we're trying to go away from, and then there's

https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41601

[VA's telehealth platform]. So some of my patients like I log in, it's the start of the appointment we're both there, fantastic. We're having an appointment that's great and I'm trying to get through everything that I need to do to actually take care of a patient. I'm trying to throw in some clinical reminders when I remember. I'm trying to schedule them for their next appointment. And then how I would actually do the measurement based care part? I'm not sure because I'm used to being able to like throw them a measure while I multitask and now I can't...in a perfect scenario, if they show up, it's possible that if we had a way for [our teleadministrative staff] to know, like "hey, this person needs XY and Z," then maybe [the *Veteran]* could be handed that, but then they're like trying to do it during the appointment. Do they turn it in after? Where does it go? Uhm, is there something that they could be sent ahead of time that they could do at home and it could be ready in time for the appointment? [Psychiatrist, CBOC 1]

The use of electronic applications to conduct assessments prior to scheduled visits addressed many of the workflow issues that this provider described. Some providers were already making use of available eHealth technologies on an individual basis. With these technologies, providers schedule assessments in advance of appointments. Patients receive a link over email or SMS text message, and they complete the assessments; the results are shared and discussed in the upcoming mental health visit. Some applications allow the provider to sync results directly into the electronic medical record, so a patient's responses to assessments are easily documented, integrated into the visit note, and shared with all the different providers that care for that patient within that institution. A few providers we spoke to had already started using some of the eHealth applications. One of these psychiatrists said,

When I ask Veterans, "Oh how did it go on your end?" the majority answer on their phones...So it seems like text is the best--, has had the most success or the easiest for them to respond. I like that I don't have to do anything. I can just upload it and it's right there. [Psychiatrist and telehealth point of contact, multiple CBOCs]

A social worker reported a similar experience:

What I like about it is I can schedule as many...I can have them do more than one...like if I'm seeing somebody weekly and I want to know how they're doing with whatever one of the assessments I choose to use. I'm able to put it on a weekly basis without having to go back in there and redo it. So that's what I like about it and then I'm able to see it in [the electronic medical record]...so that morning...before their appointment I can see what the results were. [Social worker 1, CBOC 2]

Providers who had already started using some of the eHealth solutions helped us notice how the functionality of the applications could solve some of the workflow barriers identified

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

by providers who had not yet tried to use the eHealth technology.

Telehealth, MBC, and Time

Confirming findings already published about the use of MBC, many providers mentioned how time burden was a potential barrier. However, we also noticed that when providers talked about time, they often talked about how they already used the clinical interview to generate the same information the assessments would capture. The relative value of MBC to clinical interviews was not clear. A psychologist described how,

It is time consuming and...it's either, it doesn't add as much as I would want it to the clinical interview...and I have to ask those questions anyway, um, PHQ-9 [9-item Patient Health Questionnaire] and GAD [General Anxiety Disorder], I feel like I do them and they don't always lead to a more in-depth conversation. [Psychologist 1, CBOC 2]

Providers felt that it took a long time to do the assessments because they were not sure why they were doing them, or what value the assessments added. For example, one psychiatrist talked about how,

It takes time to do it, and then once you get it, you have to then take more time to understand...what it's actually saying. Meanwhile, you could just do like a narrative thing or subjective interview where you're...you talk to them about their sleep and you immediately get to, 'I'm sleeping too much' and then you have the conversation about sleeping. [Psychiatrist 3, CBOC 1]

eHealth technologies addressed this concern somewhat by moving some of this work outside of the appointment, as patients were encouraged to complete the PROMs on their own time.

Telehealth, MBC, and Building a Narrative

Helping to resolve workflow and time barriers would not address providers' preferences for understanding a person's lived experience through clinical interview. On the one hand, providers voiced concern that the score on an assessment is a snapshot in time and often decontextualized from a person's lived experience. One psychiatrist worried how,

They come in and they're under a lot of stress because their dog died, and their scores are gonna shoot up...with time it should come, you know, back down, and I do the treatment, it will keep improving. But that'll take time to track. [Psychiatrist 3, CBOC 1]

The use of the same PROMs as both a screening tool and an MBC tool led to persistent confusion. Rather than using the assessments to shape a meaningful treatment plan and inform clinical decision-making, most providers continue to view standard assessments as screening tools rather than tools for longitudinal assessments of patient-reported treatment outcomes. Moreover, many providers lacked training about the specific content validity and psychometrics of the available measures. Another psychiatrist remembered how,

I think initially I had to like look [many of the scales] up, --not all of them, but lots of them. Like I [didn't] know what [some were]...like are these useful scales?...So that took a lot of time and then [it] ended up being like most of them [were] not really useful for my purposes...and also I don't think...the information [for] interpreting the results...you have to look that up separately if needed. [Psychiatrist 1, CBOC 2]

Providers that used the assessments as more than screening tools talked about using the patient's responses to shape a narrative about treatment. One social worker, adept at cognitive processing therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder, explained how the assessments help her understand how treatment was going. She described how,

I'm doing something like cognitive processing therapy, and I do a consistent uh, PCL [posttraumatic stress disorder symptom rating scale]...I expect those symptoms when we start to increase and spike, and then I expect to see them decrease and so if I don't see that happening, if I don't see that spike, then I-I know we're not really touching on things that are bothering them, that we're still really surface and if over time I don't see a decrease, I know that we're really not scratching what we need to hit to get them to process the information well enough. [Social worker 1, CBOC 1]

eHealth technologies offer providers the ability to visualize data from the assessments to track the trajectory of a patient's symptoms over time. The graph might be very useful for helping providers build an account of the course of treatment. One social worker reflected on their experience with visualizations provided by eHealth technologies prior to working with the VA; they remembered how,

I had one guy...it was actually pretty amazing...he was super depressed and then...you could see...right along with his mood...his chart totally changed, and he actually got to a point where [he said] "I'd rather actually pay for going to jujitsu classes than therapy. At this point, I'm feeling pretty good."...I thought that was a cool way to be able to do it. [Social worker 2, CBOC 1]

The visual functionality reinforces the assessments as tracking tools, as the graph potentially facilitates conversations about "trends over time." Providers no longer have to analyze and create a way to present the long-term data, making it easier to visualize a patient's progress over time. One psychiatrist who had already started using one of the eHealth technologies reflected how,

I like how quickly it shows the trend...very user-friendly...I think a big value is having the response before the start of the appointment...it's really nice going into the appointment knowing at least on paper things look better, things look worse, than when I last saw them...So you're already kind of thinking a little bit about what the next step might be...it kind of helps tailor [my plan] right off the bat a little. [Psychiatrist and telehealth point of contact, multiple CBOCs]

Our findings indicate that not all providers were sure how to use the assessments as a method for developing an understanding of a patient's lived experience and may have perceived the time spent doing the assessments as time not spent effectively. The above reflection, from a psychiatrist who felt successful using the PROMs to shape their clinical decisions, suggests that eHealth technologies can help providers develop a narrative of treatment that they can use to tailor their treatment plans.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Promoting the uptake of MBC in telehealth requires addressing the issue of time burden, which necessitates both (1) acknowledging the limited time in appointments by facilitating the administration of PROMs via SMS text messaging or email before appointments and (2) satisfying telemental health providers' need to use time well by increasing their familiarity with how to use the assessments to measure response to treatment. eHealth technologies facilitate the administration of assessments prior to appointments and, thus, pose a pragmatic solution to concerns about time, especially in the context of telehealth. The additional functionality associated with eHealth technologies (eg, graphs that visualize patients' responses over time) has the potential to increase providers' awareness of assessments as tracking tools that can facilitate setting goals and following progress toward those goals rather than simply as screening tools.

Comparison With Prior Work

Our findings confirm and extend findings in the extant literature about how time burden is a formidable barrier to the adoption of MBC [9,10]; further, our findings suggest that provider perceptions of time burden are related to unfamiliarity with PROMs as means for tracking symptoms over time. Not all mental health care providers receive training about psychometrics and the validity and reliability of standard mental health assessments. Targeted training on specific PROMs, as well as increasing awareness of the aspects of MBC, including Collect, Share, and Act, may increase provider use. Providers may reconsider the time it takes to administer (Collect) and discuss (Share and Act) as an invaluable use of time if they better understand how the information gleaned from the assessments (ie, objective measures of symptoms) can be used in concert with clinical interviews (ie, patient-lived experience) to shape treatment.

Limitations

Although we recruited a diversity of providers from different disciplines and roles within the clinic, our sample is small and only represents 2 CBOCs, both of which were part of the VA health care system. Although our findings would be strengthened by comparison to more diverse clinic settings, our findings reflect previous studies' findings in different settings; moreover, our qualitative methods allowed us to expand upon and clarify this previous work. Our sample size will grow as our implementation effort continues and we continue to report on our findings.

Conclusions

The adoption of MBC into existing professional practice and the implementation of such programming into a telehealth workflow is a complex process. Promoting the uptake of MBC in telehealth requires addressing the issue of time burden, which necessitates both (1) acknowledging the limited time in appointments by facilitating the administration of PROMs before appointments and (2) satisfying telemental health providers' need to use time well by increasing their familiarity with how to use the assessments to set treatment goals. eHealth technologies facilitate the administration of assessments prior to appointments and, thus, pose a pragmatic solution to concerns about time. The additional functionality (eg, graphs that visualize patients' responses over time) has the potential to increase providers' awareness of assessments as tracking tools that can facilitate setting goals and following progress toward those goals.

Acknowledgments

The views expressed in this article are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the position or policy of the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) or the United States Government.

This project was funded by the VA Quality Enhancement Research Initiative (#QUE 20-007) from the US VA Health Services Research and Development Service and the VA Office of Rural Health.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Interview guide. [DOCX File , 15 KB - mental v9i11e41601 app1.docx]

References

RenderX

1. Resnick SG, Oehlert ME, Hoff RA, Kearney LK. Measurement-based care and psychological assessment: using measurement to enhance psychological treatment. Psychol Serv 2020 Aug;17(3):233-237. [doi: 10.1037/ser0000491] [Medline: 32881578]

- 2. Resnick SG, Hoff RA. Observations from the national implementation of Measurement Based Care in Mental Health in the Department of Veterans Affairs. Psychol Serv 2020 Aug;17(3):238-246. [doi: 10.1037/ser0000351] [Medline: 31058519]
- Connors EH, Douglas S, Jensen-Doss A, Landes SJ, Lewis CC, McLeod BD, et al. What gets measured gets done: how mental health agencies can leverage measurement-based care for better patient care, clinician supports, and organizational goals. Adm Policy Ment Health 2021 Mar 12;48(2):250-265 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10488-020-01063-w] [Medline: 32656631]
- 4. Lambert MJ, Whipple JL, Kleinstäuber M. Collecting and delivering progress feedback: a meta-analysis of routine outcome monitoring. Psychotherapy (Chic) 2018 Dec;55(4):520-537. [doi: <u>10.1037/pst0000167</u>] [Medline: <u>30335463</u>]
- Boswell JF, Kraus DR, Miller SD, Lambert MJ. Implementing routine outcome monitoring in clinical practice: benefits, challenges, and solutions. Psychother Res 2015 Jul 26;25(1):6-19. [doi: <u>10.1080/10503307.2013.817696</u>] [Medline: <u>23885809</u>]
- Krägeloh CU, Czuba KJ, Billington DR, Kersten P, Siegert RJ. Using feedback from patient-reported outcome measures in mental health services: a scoping study and typology. Psychiatr Serv 2015 Mar 01;66(3):224-241. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201400141] [Medline: 25727110]
- 7. Barber J, Resnick SG. Collect, Share, Act: a transtheoretical clinical model for doing measurement-based care in mental health treatment. Psychol Serv 2022 Feb 24;34(19):1608-1616. [doi: 10.1037/ser0000629] [Medline: 35201811]
- Oslin DW, Hoff R, Mignogna J, Resnick SG. Provider attitudes and experience with measurement-based mental health care in the VA Implementation Project. Psychiatr Serv 2019 Feb 01;70(2):135-138. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ps.201800228</u>] [Medline: <u>30373495</u>]
- Jensen-Doss A, Hawley KM. Understanding barriers to evidence-based assessment: clinician attitudes toward standardized assessment tools. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2010 Nov 06;39(6):885-896 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15374416.2010.517169] [Medline: 21058134]
- Brooks Holliday S, Hepner KA, Farmer CM, Ivany C, Iyiewuare P, McGee-Vincent P, et al. A qualitative evaluation of Veterans Health Administration's implementation of measurement-based care in behavioral health. Psychol Serv 2020 Aug;17(3):271-281 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/ser0000390] [Medline: 31424241]
- 11. Goldstein DA, Meyers K, Endsley M, Zerth EO. Measurement-based care implementation in a Veterans Affairs primary care-mental health integration program. Psychol Serv 2020 Aug;17(3):323-331. [doi: <u>10.1037/ser0000370</u>] [Medline: <u>31318239</u>]
- 12. Fortney JC, Unützer J, Wrenn G, Pyne JM, Smith GR, Schoenbaum M, et al. A tipping point for measurement-based care. Psychiatr Serv 2017 Feb 01;68(2):179-188. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201500439] [Medline: 27582237]
- Cuperfain AB, Hui K, Berkhout SG, Foussias G, Gratzer D, Kidd SA, et al. Patient, family and provider views of measurement-based care in an early-psychosis intervention programme. BJPsych open 2021 Sep 17;7(5):E171. [doi: 10.1192/bjo.2021.1005]
- Dowrick C, Leydon GM, McBride A, Howe A, Burgess H, Clarke P, et al. Patients' and doctors' views on depression severity questionnaires incentivised in UK quality and outcomes framework: qualitative study. BMJ 2009 Mar 19;338(mar19 1):b663-b663. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.b663] [Medline: 19299474]
- 15. Unsworth G, Cowie H, Green A. Therapists' and clients' perceptions of routine outcome measurement in the NHS: a qualitative study. Couns Psychother Res 2012 Mar;12(1):71-80. [doi: <u>10.1080/14733145.2011.565125</u>]
- 16. Solstad SM, Castonguay LG, Moltu C. Patients' experiences with routine outcome monitoring and clinical feedback systems: a systematic review and synthesis of qualitative empirical literature. Psychother Res 2019 Feb 19;29(2):157-170. [doi: 10.1080/10503307.2017.1326645] [Medline: 28523962]
- 17. U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. URL: <u>https://www.hsrd.research.va.gov/for_researchers/cdw.cfm</u> [accessed 2022-11-21]
- Heyworth L, Kirsh S, Zulman D, Ferguson JM, Kizer K. Expanding access through virtual care: the VA's early experience with COVID-19. NEJM Catal Innov Care Deliv 2020 Jul 01;1(4):1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/CAT.20.0327]
- Chen JA, Chung W, Young SK, Tuttle MC, Collins MB, Darghouth SL, et al. COVID-19 and telepsychiatry: early outpatient experiences and implications for the future. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2020 Sep;66:89-95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2020.07.002] [Medline: 32750604]
- Kablinger AS, Gatto AJ, O'Brien VC, Ko H, Jones S, McNamara RS, et al. Effects of COVID-19 on patients in adult ambulatory psychiatry: using patient-rated outcome measures and telemedicine. Telemed J E Health 2022 Oct 14;28(10):1421-1430 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2021.0642] [Medline: 35167369]
- 21. Puspitasari AJ, Heredia D, Gentry M, Sawchuk C, Theobald B, Moore W, et al. Rapid adoption and implementation of telehealth group psychotherapy during COVID 19: practical strategies and recommendations. Cogn Behav Pract 2021 Nov;28(4):492-506 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cbpra.2021.05.002] [Medline: 34188434]
- 22. Turvey CL, Lindsay JA, Chasco EE, Klein DM, Fuhrmeister LA, Dindo LN. Current practices in electronic capture of patient-reported outcomes for measurement-based care and the use of patient portals to support behavioral health. Psychiatr Clin North Am 2019 Dec;42(4):635-647 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2019.08.006] [Medline: 31672213]
- 23. Torous J, Powell AC, Rodriguez-Villa E. Health information technology resources to support measurement-based care. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2020 Oct;29(4):763-773. [doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2020.06.011] [Medline: 32891375]

- Goldberg SB, Buck B, Raphaely S, Fortney JC. Measuring psychiatric symptoms remotely: a systematic review of remote measurement-based care. Curr Psychiatry Rep 2018 Aug 28;20(10):81. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11920-018-0958-z</u>] [Medline: <u>30155749</u>]
- 25. Douglas S, Jensen-Doss A, Ordorica C, Comer JS. Strategies to enhance communication with telemental health measurement-based care (tMBC). Pract Innov (Wash D C) 2020 Jun;5(2):143-149 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/pri0000119] [Medline: 34888414]
- 26. Callaly T, Hyland M, Coombs T, Trauer T. Routine outcome measurement in public mental health: results of a clinician survey. Aust Health Rev 2006 May;30(2):164-173. [doi: 10.1071/ah060164] [Medline: 16646765]
- Brooks Holliday S, Hepner KA, Farmer CM, Mahmud A, Kimerling R, Smith BN, et al. Discussing measurement-based care with patients: an analysis of clinician-patient dyads. Psychother Res 2021 Feb 11;31(2):211-223. [doi: 10.1080/10503307.2020.1776413] [Medline: 32522100]
- Lyon AR, Munson SA, Renn BN, Atkins DC, Pullmann MD, Friedman E, et al. Use of human-centered design to improve implementation of evidence-based psychotherapies in low-resource communities: protocol for studies applying a framework to assess usability. JMIR Res Protoc 2019 Oct 09;8(10):e14990 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14990] [Medline: 31599736]
- 29. Reisinger H, Fortney J, Reger G. Rapid ethnographic assessment in clinical settings. In: Foster B, Graham S, Donaldson J, editors. Paths to the Future of Higher Education. Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing; 2021.
- 30. Braun V, Clarke V, Rance N. How to use thematic analysis with interview data. In: Vossler A, Moller N, editors. The Counselling and Psychotherapy Research Handbook. New York, NY: SAGE Publications; 2015:183-197.
- 31. Saldaña J. The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers. New York, NY: SAGE Publications; 20221.

Abbreviations

CBOC: community-based outpatient clinic MBC: measurement-based care MBC in MH: Measurement Based Care in Mental Health PROM: patient-reported outcome measure RMBC: remote measurement-based care VA: Department of Veterans Affairs

Edited by J Torous; submitted 01.08.22; peer-reviewed by A Jensen-Doss, J Cerimele; comments to author 17.09.22; revised version received 21.10.22; accepted 09.11.22; published 24.11.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Van Tiem J, Wirtz E, Suiter N, Heeren A, Fuhrmeister L, Fortney J, Reisinger H, Turvey C The Implementation of Measurement-Based Care in the Context of Telemedicine: Qualitative Study JMIR Ment Health 2022;9(11):e41601 URL: <u>https://mental.jmir.org/2022/11/e41601</u> doi:<u>10.2196/41601</u> PMID:<u>36422884</u>

©Jen Van Tiem, Elizabeth Wirtz, Natalie Suiter, Amanda Heeren, Lindsey Fuhrmeister, John Fortney, Heather Reisinger, Carolyn Turvey. Originally published in JMIR Mental Health (https://mental.jmir.org), 24.11.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Mental Health, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://mental.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

